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HEALTH PROFESSIONS AND NURSE EDUCATION

THURSDAY, MAY 30, 1991

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:45 a.m. in room
2123, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Henry A. Waxman
(chairman) presiding.

Mr. WAXMAN. Today the subcommittee is meeting to receive tes-
timony on Federal health professions programs authorized by titles
VII and VIII of the Public Health Service Act.

Title VII provides suDport for education in the fields of medicine,
osteopathy, dentistry, veterinary medicine, optometry, podiatry,
pharmacy, public health, allied health and health administration.
Support for students comes in the form of loans, loan guarantees,
and scholarships. Institutional support is provided through grants
and contracts.

Title VIII authorizes assistance for nursing education through
direct 'Assistance to students and institutional support for schools.

These programs embody a wide spectrum of the health care, yet
all share a common characteristic: Each has been slated by the ad-
ministration for repeal. Actually, this is old news. The Bush admin
istration proposal for fiscal year 1992 merely carries on a traditioi
originating from the Reagan administration.

This tradition has found little favor with Congress. Hiscorically,
',his committee has repeatedly and firmly expressed its rial,port for
continuing Federal funding for education and training of health
professions students.

While it is unlikely the administration's current proposal will be
endorsed, the reauthorization process does provide an opportunity
to consider the direction of these activities and the need for adjust-
ment.

Change is nothing new to these programs. Many owe their ori-
gins to congressional initiatives in the 1960's, when their purpose
was to increase enrollments at health professional schools and pro-
mote the financial viability of these schools. Over time, the focus
changed to emphasize education of primary care physicians and ad-
vanced nurse education.

The year 1991 marks a new decade where the demands of a
budget crisis and the excitement of new opportunities are in con-
stant struggle. It is not unreasonable that we begin this reauthor-
ization process by asking if our existing priorities are properly tar-
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geted to the most pressing, uost productive health professions
needs.

This morning, we will hear about critical shortages in training
allied health personnel. We will hear about personnel shortages in
clinical laboratories serving in rural hospitals. We will hear about
continuing problems encouraging disadvantaged and minority stu-
dents to enter a health sciences career, particularly in the field of
nursing.

We will hear about the need to expand the training of midlevel
nurses, nurse practitioners and midwives, to help alleviate critical
primary care shortages in underserved communities.

All are legitimate concerns. All warrant our attention and sup-
port. And all will require either an increase in current appropria-
tions or a reallocation of existing priorities.

If we are to consider new initiatives, and I hope we will, it should
be in the context of their impact on existing programs and on the
goal of promoting the most effective investment of what funding is
available.

We look forward to the testimony of our witnesses this morning.
And let me call on members of the subcommittee for opening state-
ments.

Mr. Richardson.
Mr. RICHARDSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, I commend you for holding today's hevring on the

reauthorization of title VII and title VIll, the Health Manpov
and Nurse Education titles of the Public Health Service Act. These
titles authorize critically needed Federal funds to provide health
education for primary care practitioners and nursing professionals.

I would like to take this opportunity to offer a special welcome to
Allison Kozeliski, a registered nurse from Gallup, N. Mex., which is
in my district. I look forward to hearing her suggestions on how we
might improve the Nurse Education Act, her insight on how we
might begin to provide better access to health care to the under-
served, and the impact the nursing shortage is having in New
Mexico and nationwide.

Having said that, I would like to reiterate that point: There is a
nursing shortage and it is having q negative impact on our ability
to provide quality health care and to provide access to care for
those most in need, the low-income women, children, and elderly.

Recent reports on the nursing profession by the American
Nurses Association and others indicate that one of every eight reg-
istered nurse positions in hospitals goes unfilled. The scenario is
even worse in nursing homes, where one in every five RN positions
goes unfilled.

Moreover, we are now in the fifth year of a "chronic" nursing
shortage that began in 1986. The only other nursing shortage of
equal duration occurred in the 1950's.

I will shortly be introducing legislation to reauthorize the Nurse
Education Act. I will be particularly interested in the testimony
today. I would like to welcome Dr. Fitzhugh Milian with the
Public Health Service. He is indirectly a constituent, having served
as former Secretary of Health and Human Services in the State of
New Mexico.

7
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Mr. Chairman, I am also interested in seeing how the Minority
Centers of Excellence have been implemented, legislation we au-
thored last year, with your help, and the primaty health care and
primary health care system. Thank you.

Mr. WAXMAN. Mr. Synar.
Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to welcome two mem-

bers of the Rural Health Care Coalition, Congressman Jim Cooper
and Congressman Jim Slattery, to testify in front of the subcom-
mittee. I commend both these gentlemen on their leadership and
commitment to exposing the inadequacies that exist when it comes
to serving the 60 million Americans who live in rural areas.

The legislation they have introduced is extremely important to
rural communities, and the focus of the Rural Health CarJ Coali-
tion. There is a nationwide shortage of rural primary care provid-
ers, almost 1,800, and as many as 25 percent of rural physicians
are scheduied to retire in the next several years.

H.R. 2231 serves to address this problem by requiring, as a condi-
tion for receiving PHS funds, that medical schools have Depart-
ments of Family Practice and require clinical experience in family
medicine.

I am also concemed about the continued shortage of clinical lab-
oratory personnel in rural areas. H.R. 2405 provides a rational ap-
proach to solving these shortage problems. Accessibility to basic,
primary care services is absolutely critical to combat health man-
power shortages in rural areas.

I look forward, Mr. Chairman, to continuing working with you
and the subcommittee members and the Rural Health Care Coali-
tion on these issues and other legislation to benefit rural areas.

Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much.
Our first witnesses are colleagues. Jim Cooper is a member of

our Energy and Commerce Committee, and the author of H.R.
2231, a bill to improve primaLy care training programs. Jim Slat-
tery is also a member of the committee, and author of H.R. 2405,
the Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel Shortage Act. Mervyn
Dymally is a Representative for the State of California, and long
been interested in these issues.

Congressman Solarz, author of H.R. 2438, will join us this after-
noon.

I understand Mr. Cooper, unfortunately, couldn't be with us be-
cause he has to chair the session of the House. And without objec-
tion, his testimony will be pui; in the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Cooper follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. Jim COOPER

Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding this important hearing. I appreciate very
much your persistent efforts to finc: creative solutions to the problems affecting our
health care systemboth in our rural areas and on a national level.

As Chairman of the House Rural Health Care Coalition's Task Force on Health
Professions and Medical Education, I want to remind you of the acute shortages of
health professionals in rural areas. I would also like to discuss some ideas I have to
use Public Health Service funds even more effectively to rec:luce shortages of health
personnel in both rural and urban areas.

A major health problem in ruial areas is the shortage of qualified health person-
nel. Rural hospitals are closing because they can not find enough registered nurses.
Accident victims are twice as likely to die in rural than urban areas because of
scarce emergency medical Jervices. And as a result of a decline in training pro-
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grams and recent regulations, the demand for leboratory technologists and other
Allied Health Professionals greatly exceeds the supply. Altogether there are nearly
2,000 medically underserved areas in the country-70 percent ruralwith more
than 35 million people.

Most critically, there is shortage of primary care physiciansthe backbone of
our health delivery systema shortage which extends beyond rural boundaries ant,
affects the nation as a whole. Most experts agree that we have enough doctors over-
all, but that we don't have enough primary care doctors. In 1963, 49 percent of doc-
tors were in primary care. By 1986 it was down to 34 percent. And nearly half of
our family doctors are older than 55, so a critical shortage will be getting even
worse.

The shortage hurts us in two main ways. 'The first and most obvious way is re-
duced access to care. When people have to drive 30 miles to see a family doctor, it's
little wonder they put off treatment until they are very sick. And that's where
we're hurt a second timein cost. Preventing an illness is much cheaper than treat-
ing it. And primary care physicians are the key to providing preventive medicine.

You probably know the U.S. has the highest per capita medical expenditures in
the world. But we also have the world's highest ratio of specialists to primary care
doctors. That's no coincidence: Primary me medicine is cost-effective medicine, and
we need more of it.

My are there so few primary care physicians? As you might expect, the answer
is G combination of disincentives, including longer, more irregular hours, and lower
pay than specialists.

We in Congress can't remove all the disincentives, but we have been successful in
reducing mime of them. For example, we will soon begin to phase in payments under
the new Relative Value scale, designed to reduce the gap between primary care phy-
sicians and specialists. And, thanks to your leadership, Mr. Chairman, we were able
last year to substantially revitalize the National Health Service Corps, which helps
remove the disincentive of the tremendous debts the.% stut nts face.

But there is a further disincentive Congress should help reduce, and that is a dis-
incentive posed by some medical schoolsincluding many of our most prestigious
schools--who send a message to their students that the glamour and prestige are in
the medical subspeciaities and that family medicine is somehow a less desirable
career.

While schools like the University of Minneeeta, University of California Davis
and Michigan State average more than 20 percent of their graduates in family med-
icine each year, others like Yale, Johns Hopkins and Harvard bring up the rear
with an average of 2 to 4 percent of their students in famav medicine. In 1989, for
example, 1 student from Yale, 3 from Harvard and 3 from Johns Hopkins went into
family medicine.

One thing those prestigious schools have in common is that they lack a depart-
ment of family medicine. Furtherroore, they don't even require their students to
have clinical experience in family medicine. In fact, of the 20 schools which send the
fewest students into family medicine, 14 lack family medicine departments. Of the
50 best, all have departments.

The lack of a family medicine department and lack of required clinical experience
are important obstacles, because they make it len likely that students will get the
sort of early exposure to farey medicine which could positively influence their deci-
sions Less than 15 percent of medical students know what area of medicine they
want to practice at the time they enter medical school, and they, like all students,
are influenced by their classroom and clinical experience and by role models at
their schools.

How can we get the medical schools to establish departments and place a greater
emphasis on family medicine? I suggest that we use Public Health Service funds as
a tool. The Primary Care Training legislation I have introduced --H.R. 2231would
require medical schools, as a condition of receiving certain funds under Title VII, to
have departments of Wilily medicine and to iequire clinical experience in family
medicine. These funds were originally intended to promote primary care; we need to
restore their original purpose.

Harvard, Yale and Johns Hopkios, which educated a total of 7 students in family
medicine in 1989, received a combined average of more than $600,000 annually of
those scarce Title VII funds in the years 1985-89. Those schools would continue to
receive fundo only if they are willing to make a greater effort to educate the physi-
cians we most need. Hopefully, this legislation will nudge them in the right direc-
tion.

The chief drawback to my proposal may be that it does not go far enough. The $17
million in Public Health Service funds it affects is small change to medical schools

9
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with budgets driven by their share of billions from the NIH. But my legislation,
which requires no additional money, is twtainly a step in the right direction, and
should encourage medical schools to do their best to produce the national shortage
of family physicians.

Table One.-RANK ORDER OF MEDICAL SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO ENTER FAMILY PRACTICE

Medical sclaol
Amp Mninistritive
mut stmcbirv

Wright State 29.1 kialfmei

Seutheni Illinois 28.3 Departmen

East Carolina 25.4 *Rim
klississippi 24.8 Depadmen

Minnesota 24.6 Waft Imp

khansas 24.2 Department

Iowa 23.4 Departmea

California, D3Vis 23.3 Departmen

Washington Urnversity 22.6 Department

North Dakota 22.4 Department

Michigan State 22.1 Department

South Carolina University 22.0 Department

Kanto* 21.9 Department

Morehouse 21.1 Department

Mercer 20.3 Department

Nebraska 19.7 Derrtment

Virgin Medical College 19.5 Department

Marshall 19.4 Department

South Dakota 19.0 Department

Tem, San Antonio .
18.9 Department

California, Irvine 18.8 Department

flew Ohio 18.7 Department

Indiana 18.7 Department

Loma Uncle 18.6 Department

Texas Tech 18.5 Department

Kansas 18.2 Department

Tens, Houston 18.0 Department

South Carolina, Melk.ai ...... ...... 17.7 Department

Colorado 17.6 Department

Eastern Vuginia 17.2 Department

Missouri, Columbia 17.1 Department

East Tennessee 16.5 Department

Jefferson 16.4 Deadment

Mayo 16.4 Department

Oklahoma 16.3 Decarbnen

Ohio 15.5 DePartment

Unifamed Services 15.1 Departmen

Vermont 14.9 Departmen

Texas PAM 14.9 Departmen

Cakfornia, San Fran 14.9 Depadmen

Ohio State 14.8 Departmen

Rush 14.8 Departmen

Arizona 14.8 Departmen

Wistonsin 14.6 Departmen

Strada 14.6 *admen

Texas, Galveston.. 14.5 Derange

South Folio 14 3 Department

Florida 14.3 Departmen

Louisiana, Shreveport 14.0 *admen
California, lA 13.9 Division

Pennsylvania State 13.6 DeParimen

Bowman Cray 13.6 *admen

Temple 13.5 *admen

South Plabarra 13.2 Depadmen

West Virginia 13.1 Departmen

Wginia 13.1 Depadmen

Creighton 13.0 Departmen

1 0
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Table One.-RANK ORDER OF MEDICAL SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO ENTER FAMILY PRACTICE-

Continued

Hued schce mvege Penieurratin
perm gum

SUNY, Syracuse 12.8 Department
California, San Diego 12.A Mien
UKIDNJ-RVIJ 11.9 Department
Wisconsin Merkel Coliege 11.8 Department
Pennsylvania Medical (Age 11.8 (')
LouisVille 11.7 Department
North CaroNna 11.6 Department
Wayne State 11.6 Department
Northeastern Ohio 11.5 Department
Cincinnati 11.5 Department
Missouri, Kansas City 11.4 Department
Utah 11.3 Prominent
Southern California 11.3 Department
*ea 11.2 Department
Cow 10.9 Department
Materna 10.9 Department
Tennessee 10.8 Department
Georgia Medical College 10.8 Department
Maryland 10.7 Department
Wary 10.6 Department
Massachusetts 10.4 Department
SONY, Buffalo 10.3 Deparhnent
Louisiana, New Orleans 10.2 Department
Howard 10.2 Department
Pittsbirgh 9.9 Diesion
Texas, Southwestern 9.8 Division
Hahnemann 9.6 Divisice
Chicago Medr.al 9.6 DePadmen
14013 9.5 Section
Wier 9.2 Departmen
Dartmouth 9.1 Departuren
George Washington 8.9 (')
Michigan

8.1 Departmen
SUNY, Stony Brook 7.8 Departmen
SI. Louis 7.8 ($)
Georgetown 7.4 Departmen
*any 7.3 Departmen
Rochester 7.2 Departmen
HaViii 7.2 *admen
Brown 7.0 Derertmen
Duke 6.8 Departmen
Case Western 6.6 Deotmen
Connizticut 6.5 Departmen
UMONJ-New Jersey 6.4 Section
Tufts 6.2 ()
Miami

5.8 Department
Emory 5 7 (*)
Pennsylvania 5.4 (*)
Boston 5.4 Section
Stanfud 5.4 DiVisiAn
Einstein

5.1 ($)
Vanderbilt 4.6 (1
Tulane 4.1 (')
Northwestern 4.0 Section
Washington, St. Louis 31 ()
Harvard 3.9 (')
Chicago, Pritzker. 3.8 (*)
New York Medical 3,3 Department
SUNY, Brooklyn 2.9 Department
Mount Sinai 2.8 ($)

1 1



Table One.RANK ORDER OF MEDICAL SCHOOL GRADUATES WHO ENTER FAMILY PRACTICE

Continued

leedical school
Average
cowl

AdministraM,
stmture

Mr" York University 2.5 (*)
Johns Hopkins 2.3 VI
Columbia 2.2 (*)
Yale 2.1 (*)
WWI 1.1 (*)

Noks Del npresint Ihe average percent of graduates from 1980-8e who enter famity practice residency programs.

(°) The stood has no department, section or division of fam*/ medicine.

Mr. WAXMAN. And I would like to ask Mr. Slattery to come for-
ward, if he would, to give us his testimony.

Before you begin, Mr. Slattery, I want to recognize Mr. Bliley to
deliver his opening statement.

Mr. BLILEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I will make my statement brief. I have awaited this hearing for

some time because I feel it is necessary that we hear testimony on
a topic vital to America's future: Health care education.

We must make sure that moneys are available so that disadvan-
taged and minority students can go to school and become health
.care professionals. This is an aim of lifer goal I take very serious-
ly.

Furthermore, nurse education should be a priority of this Con-
gress. In Richmond, the Medical College of Virginia runs an out-
standing nursing program. I have seen the great work that they do.
It is our duty to ensure that these sorts of programs continue.

So, I await today's testimony. In this critical time, I would love
to be able to tell you we will spend x on these programs and train-
eeships, but I just don't know what will be available in this time of
fiscal constraint. I expect to move a few steps closer to finding the
answer this morning.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. BlPov. All memL,rs will have an

opportunity to submit an opening stt. ement for the record.
[The prepared statements of Hon. Stephen J. Solarz and Hon.

Terry L. Bruce follow]

PREPARED STATEMENT Oi HON. STEPHEN J. SOLARZ, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF NEW Yon

Thank you for the invitation to testify before your committee. I believe that your
decision to conduct these timely hearing') speaks to the importance of health man-
power issues. In particular, I would like today to cite the importance of the enor-
mous contributions that international medical graduates [IMGs] have made to the
health of all Americans.

Mr. Chairman, I originally introduced the "Fair Physician Reciprocity Standards
Act," a bill to prohibit discrimination against international medical graduates, in
the 99th Congreas. The purpose of this legislation was to prohibit States from dis.
criminating against internatirmal medical graduates in granting licensing by en-
dorsement, with the sole exception of the additional years of graduate medical edu.
cation that a State can require. It was my view then, as it is now, that America
cannot afford to discriminate against international medical graduates, who now
compri3e 22 percent of the nation's practicing physicians, and who serve in some of
the country's most impoverished areas.

1 2
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In fact, "The Fair Physician Reciprocity Standards Act," as well as legislation in-
troduced by my colleagues, has rlayed a significant role in eroding discrimination
against IMGs. In particular, there have been three major developments.

First, beginning in 1992, IMGs and U.S. medical graduates will be able, for the
first time, to take the same testthe so-called "sirgle pathway" examinationfor
licensure. Second, the American Medical Association, as well as a number of State
Medical Societies, have becoh o increasingly receptive to the concerns of IMGs and
have created offices within th...r organizations to address IMG-related issues.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, as a direct result of your hearings on this critical issue
during the 100th Congress, legislation was paesed that Mandated the General Ac-
counting Office [GAO] report, "Medical Licensing by Endorsement," released in
1990.

The GAO study clearly documented that most states have different ent ,weement
requirements for graduates of international medical schools and for U.S. medical
graduates. The report also highlighted the consensus for a clearinghouse for physi-
cian credentials and documentation. Finally, it noted the woeful lack of data on
both international and U.S. medical graduates who apply for licensure by endorse-
ment with state medical boards.

In fact, the GAO report cites the case of an IMG who, while licensed to practice
medicine in five states, was denied licensure in a sixth state because the state's
medical licensing board determined that his medical education was not equivalent
to that provided to U.S. medical graduates. The GAO notes that the board arrived
at its decision by displacing the burden on the physician to prove the equivalency of
his education." The physician found it difficult to address the board's numerous in-
quiries, such as the credentials of the faculty in his medical school, and whether his
school made a practice of issuing fraudulent certificates of graduation.

Furthermore, the report states that several officials of the sh state boards visited
by the GAO acknowledged that some IMG applications for endorsement required as
long as two years to process.

Mr. Chairman, therein lies the rub. The GAO report has uncovered the fact that
while some State officials maintain that the process for applying for licensure by
endorsement worke for international medical graduates, there is little hard data to
support this contention. Meanwhile, IMGs continue to face expensive and time-con-
suming delays and insurmountable obstacles while impoverished communities
across the country clamor for additional physicians.

Mr. Chairman, yesterday I introduced the "International Medical Graduate
Equity Act of 1991." This legislation is designed to alleviate the most critical aspects
of discrimination faced by the international medical community. This revised legis-
lation will include four major elements. First, it bans states from discriminating
against IMG physicians who have been licensed and practicing for five years or
more and who meet the same criteria in licensure by endorsement as U.S. medical
graduates. Second, the IMG Equity Act will mandate Federal funds necessary for
the establishment of a national clearinghouse and advisory council to verify and
maintain original education documents and credentials for all physicians. This will
eliminate time-consuming, costly, and burdensome obstacles that practicing IMGs
must now face when state licensing boards require them to verify their educational
credentials from schools that are, in some cases, half a world away. In fact, the
American Medical Association is currently conducting a pilot program in this area.

Third, my bill will require st.ates to maintain and report data to the Secretary of
Health and Human Services on the number of IMGs and U.S. medical graduates
who appl;i for and are denied licenses, as well as the length of time this process
takes. This information will aid Congress in tracking and evaluating discrimination
against IMGs.

Finally, my bill will bar medical institutions from denying residencies, when
there are vacancies not filled by U.S. medical graduates, to qualified IMGs simply
because they attended a medical school outside the United States.

In sum, my legislation will provide real remedies for the real discrimination that
IMGe currently encounter. I hope, Mr. Chairman, that you will consider this legisla-
tion during the reauthorization of the Health Professions Act later this year.

Mr. Chairman, quality and affordable health care is increasingly becoming a pri-
ority for all Americans. In our cities, as well as in the more rural areas of our
nation, qualified internationally trained physicians are reaching out with their edu-
cation, expertise, and experience to provide this greatly needed care. At a recent
gathering of the international medical community, a beleaguered physician asked,
"When will this discrimination ever end?" I hope for the sake of those who could
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benefit from this care, and for the sake of fairness to these caring and committed
doctors, we will be able to answer, "Soon."

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. TERRY L. BRUCE

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I ask unanimous consent to submit my full statement
for the record.

The reauthorization of title VII and title VIII is needed desperately. In a time of
severe budget constraints, many of these important programs are being cut. The
population is growing, but health care facilities are facing severe personnel short-
ages. The new budget rules do not allow any new spending but allow us to shift
money around. We must prioritize which fields and programs have the most need
and have been the most effective.

In March, I introduced as part of the title VII (seven) program, the "Allied Health
Professions Promotion Act of 1991." This field has been severeb, overlooked. The
allied health groups comprise more than 65 percent of the entire health professions
field, yet they received a paltry sum of $700,000 in 1989 and $1.4 million in 1990 for
special projects.

The shortage of allied health professionals has had a detrimental effect of the
quality of the U.S. health care system. Studies and reports from the American Medi-
cal Association, the American Hospital Association, the National Institute on Aging
and many others, show that the United States faces a diminishing pool of allied
health personnel.
Examples of shortages

(1) Shortages of health care personnel include: 16.3 percent for physical therapists,
14.7 percent for occupational therapists, 9.2 percent for speech-language therapists,
9.3 percent for medical technologists and 13.6 percent for cytotechnologists. Current-
ly there are six physical therapy jobs for every one person.

(2) In the past few years, some hospitals have had to close emergency moms and
intensive care beds, cancel elective surgery temporarily and send patients to other
hospitals because of personnel shortages.

(3) Forty-eight percent of hospitals nationwide have difficulty recruiting physical
therapists, and twenty-five percent of them have problems retaining those they cur-
rently employ. The Veterans Administration reported a vacancy rate of 26.3 percent
for physical therapists and 19.1 percent for occupational therapists in the V.A.
system.

(4) The demand for physical therapists and radiological technologists is projected
to rise by 87 percent and 65 percent, respectively, by the year 2000.

The U.S. health care system is being weakened by widespread and sometimes dan-
gerous shortages of skilled health care workers who are needed in hospitals, nursing
homes and home care agencies. The proportion of the U.S. population 18 to 23 years
old has been declining since the beginning of this decade, and will continue to de-
cline through the ,mid-1990s.

As a member or the rural health care coalition, I am particularly concerned about
the increasing shortages. In my district of 18 counties, 10 are medically underserved
and an additional 3 are partially underserved. My bill, H.R. 1466, will begin to ad-
dress the needs faced in these areas.

As our country's population begins to age and our medicine becomes more sophis-
ticated, the need for physical therapists, occupational therapists and many more
health care professionals increases. Congress must not wait for this crisis to become
a subject for "60 Minutes" before acting.

Mr. WAXMAN. We would like to hear from Mr. Slattery.

STATEMENT OF HON. JIM SLATTERY, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF KANSAS

Mr. SLATTERY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the
committee.

I appreciate the opportunity to testify here today, and I would
first like to commend you, Mr. Chairman, for your sensitivity to
these issues that affect rural America and underserved areas of
this country.

17 4
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You have been a true champion and true leader of this area. I
appreciate it. I would like to acknowledge I am here today repre-
senting the Rural Health Care Coalition, specifically the Hospital
Health Care Task Force that I chair.

Representative Richardson, Representatives Synar and Cooper,
who are other members of the Energy and Commerce Committee,
have been in the past and continue to be outstanding spokesmen. I
thank you for your leadership. You all are playing key roles, and I
appreciate it.

Today I would like to summarize my testimony and comment
just briefly on H.R. 2405, legislation which I and other members of
the Rural Health Care Coalition have introduced.

My testimony today will be focused more on the shortage of
allied health professionals in rural areas. Let me observe H.R.
2405, as it is currently written, is designed to apply only to rural
areas.

I would certainly welcome an amendment to broaden that to
apply to all underserved areas in this country, because I know that
many inner city areas suffer from the same health care personnel
shortages that rural areas suffer from, and in my judgment should
be treated the same. I just acknowledge that as I begin my testimo-
ny.

Allied health professionals serve an important function and play
a critical role in the health care network. Allied health personnel
constitute more than 64 percent of the health care workforce, ex-
cluding nurses, yet there has been a glaring lack of Federal sup-
port for allied health education.

During the period of 1981 to 1989, there were no Federal pro-
grams offering such support.

During the last reauthorization of title VII, Congress authorized
$6 million for each of 3 years to be shared by over 100 allied health
profession groups. But only $737,000 was appropriated for fiscal
year 1990 and $1.66 million for the current fiscal year. This $6 mil-
lion authorization compares to a total authorization of $150 million
for title VII programs.

The American Hospital Association, the American Society of
Allied Health Professionals, and the Bureau of Health Professions
and many other professional organizations have all documented ex-
treme shortages of allied health professionals.

I am concerned that these shortages will adversely affect the
ability of hospitals, which oftentimes serve as ihe central base for
health care in rural areas, to provide complete and quality care to
their patients.

Specifically, I would like to share my concerns regarding the sub-
stantial shortage of clinical laboratory te:thnologists and the need
for increased attention and authorization to this area.

Both the American Society for Medical Technology and the
American Society for Clinical Pathology have documented nation-
wide shortages of clinical laboratory personnel. These surveys have
documented a medical technologist vacancy rate of 11.6 percent, ex-
ceeding the nursing vacancies of 11.3 percent experienced at the
height of the nursing shortage.

The shortage in rural areas is even more severe. For example, in
my home State, the Kansas Hospital Association has reported va-
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cancy rates of medical technologists of approximately 26.2 percent,
twice the national average. This shortage of clinical laboratory per-
sonnel threatens access to care in rural hospitals.

Compounding the escalating shortage is an increased need for
laboratory personnel. The Bureau of Labor Statistics predicts that
an additional 100,000 medical technologisth will be needed by the
year 2000. These estimates do not take into account personnel re-
quirements under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amend-
ments of 1988, which will vastly expand the need for qualified labo-
ratory personnel.

At the same time that demand is growing, schools of medical
technology are having difficulty recruiting students. The total
number of medical technologist graduates in 1989 was 6,305, repre-
senting almost a 50-percent decrease from the number of medical
technolorists graduated in 1977.

In Kat as, we have witnessed the closure of five medical technol-
ogy programs between 1978 and 1990. Kansas, which has gone from
eight schools offering such programs to three over 12 years, is a
typical example of the decline in this area of health education.

The proposed regulations implementing CLIA 88, published on
11,1ay 21, 1990, are likely to have a significant impact on personnel
shortage of rural hospitals. These regulations require virtually
every hospital and most physicians' offices to employ medical tech-
nologists who either hold 4-year degrees in laboratory technology
or demonstrate that they have successfully passed a Department of
Health and Human Services proficiency exam. Currently, however,
HHS is not authorized to administer a proficiency exam.

A rural hospital which is unable to fully staff its laboratory must
send laboratory tests offsitr which increases turnaround time, in-
creases patient stay and drives up health care costs.

With these considerations in mind, Mr. Chairman, I have recent-
ly introduced comprehensive legislation to address the shortage of
clinical laboratory personnel in rural areas.

H.R. 2405, the Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel Shortage Act,
with bipartisan support from 49 cosponsors, gives Congress the op-
portunity, under title VII reauthorization, to affirm its commit-
ment to increase the supply of formally educated and certified clin-
ical laboratory personnel. At the same time, thiE bill provides
mechanisms to alleviate immediate and future compliance prob-
lems with the implementation of CLIA 88 personnel standards.

H.R. 2405 is designed to reduce both the long-term and immedi-
ate shortage of laboratory technologists by:

One, providing $4 million for a loan repayment program for clini-
cal laboratory personnel who agree to serve a minimum of 2 years
in a rural area and, I would suggest, any underserved area, and $2
million in grants to schools for outreach programs, MLTI'MT ar-
ticulation programs and interdisciplinary training programs for
allied health personnel. It is estimated that these programs could
bring an additional 700 students a year into the workforce.

Two, directing the Secretary of HHS to develop within 30 months
an accreditation program for personnel certification agencies that
would include minimum education, training and experience re-
quirements.

1;
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Three, by authorizing the Secretary of HHS to develop, in consul-
tation with relevant organizations, a competency-based exam which
measures knowledge and skill, thus providing an alternative route
of certification for individuals who do not have a 4-year degree in
laboratory technology.

This examination will be administered annually during the 30-
month period in which the Secretary is developing the accredita-
tion program for personnel certification agencies.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, this legislation is the culmination
of extensive meetings and consultations with diverse groups repre-
senting laboratory and hospital interests. It outlines a consensus
agreement among these groups regarding the most responsible way
to ensure an adequate supply of qualified clinical laboratory per-
sonnel.

I hope that H.R. 2405 will be given serious consideration by the
subcommittee, and request that it be included in the chairman's
package when title VII if reported out.

I have attached a copy of H.R. 2405 to my testimony and request
that it be made a part of the record. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
look forward to working with you on this and related health care
issues.

[Testimony resumes on p. 23.]
[The text of H.R. 2405 and a letter to Mr. Slattery follow:]
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102» CONGRESS H. R. 24051ST SESSION

To amend the Public Health Service Act to provide for an increase in
the nuinber of qualified allied health professionals serving in technical
positions in clinical laboratories serving rural areas, and for other pur-
poses.

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

MAY 20, 1991

Mr. SLATTERY (for himself, Mr. DORGAN of North Dakota, Mr. PENNY, Mr.
STENHOLM, Mr. BAKER, Mr. MOLLOHAN, Mr. EVANS, Mr. JOHNSON of
South Dakota, Mrs. VUCANOVICH, Mr. PoSHARD, Mr. BRUCE, Mr. WIL.
LIAMS, Mr. COMBEST, Mr. ENGLISH, Mr. WILSON, Mr. MCCLOSKEY, Mr.
SvNAK, Mr. BOUCHER, Mr. EMERSON, Mr. ROBERTS, kr. THOMAS of
Wyoming, Mr. ORTIZ, Mr. HALL of Texas, Mr. PRICE, Mr. BARTON of
Texas, Mr. BEREUTER, Mr. BARRETT, Mr. ALEXANDER, Mr. SKELTON,
Mr. HAMMERSCHMIDT, Mr. FALEOMAVAEGA, Mr. Nussi.,E, Mr. SMITH of
Texas, Mr. MORRISON, Mr. UPTON, Mr. SARPALIUS, Mr. HOLLOWAY, Mr.
RAHAIA Mr. CHAPMAN, Mr. LAUGHLIN, Mr. CRAMER, Mr. COSTELIA),
and Mr. LIGHT030T) introduced the following bill; which was referred to
the Committee on Eneru and Commerce

A BILL
To amend the Public Health Service Act to provide for

an increase in the number of qualified allied health pro-
fessionals serving in technical positions in clinical labora-

tories serving rural areas, and for other purposes.

1 Be it °enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
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2

1 SECTION I. SHORT TITLE.

2 This Act may be cited as the "Rural Clinical Labora-

3 tory Personnel Shortage Act".

4 SEC. 2. ESTABLISHMENT OF PROGRAMS REGARDING CLINI.

5 CAL LABORATORIES IN RURAL AREAS.

6 Part I or title lin or Lhe Public Health Serviee Act

7 (42 U.S.C. 295j et seq.) is amended by adding at the end

8 Lhe following new section:

9 "SEC. 799B. INCREASING NUMBER OF QUALIFIED PERSON-

1 0 NEL FOR CLINICAL LABORATORIES SERVING

1 1 RURAL AREAS.

"(a) LOAN REPAYMENT PROGRAM.

13 "(1) IN GENERALThe Secretary shall estab-

14 Usti a program of entering into contracts with allied

15 health professionals under which, subject to para-

16 graphs (2) and (3), such professionals agree to serve

17 in technical positions as employees or clinical labora-

18 tories that principally serve rural areas in consider-

19 ation of the Federal Government agreeing to pay,

20 for each year of such service, riot more than $7,500

21 of the principal and interest of the educational loans

22 of' such professionals.

23 "(2) SERVICE IN RURAL AREAS WITH SHORT-

24 AnES.--The Secretary may not enter into a contract

25 under paragraph (1) with an allied health proles--

26 sional unless the clinical laboratory with which the

effit 2405 III
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3

1 individual has entered into a contract pursuant to

2 paragraph (3) serves a rural area that has a signifi-

3 cant shortage of individuals employed in technical

4 positions with clinical laboratories.

5 "(3) CONTRACT FOR EMPLOYMENT; MININIMA

6 PERIOD OF SERVICE.The Secretary may not enter

7 into a contract under paragraph (1) unkss the allied

8 health professional involved-

9 "(A) has entered into a contract. with a

10 clinical laboratory described in such paragraph

11 to serve in a technical position as an employee

12 of the laboratory, and the contract specifies a

13 period of employment with the laboratory of not

14 less than 2 years; arid

15 "(B) agrees not to breach the contract en-

16 terod into by the professional pursuant to sub-

17 paragraph (A).

18 "(4) DEPINITIoNs.For purposes of this sub-

19 section:

20 "(A) The term 'clinical laboratory' means

21 a elinieal laboratory that meets the appliatible

22 requirement of certification established in see-

23 tion 353(b).

24 "(B) The term 'technical position', with re-

25 speet to an employee of a clinical laboratory,
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4

1 means an individual that carries out laboratory

2 examinations or other procedures f6r purposes

of section 353(f)(1)(C).

4 "(5) AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS.

5 For the purpose of carrying out this subsection,

6 there are authorized to be appropriated $4,000,000

7 for fiscal year 1992, and such sums as may be nec-

8 essary for each of the fiscal years 1993 and 1994.

9 "(b) GRANTS REGARDING EDUCATION AND TRAIN-

10 ING.

11 "(1) IN GENERAL.The Secretary shall make

12 grants and enter into contracts with appropriate

13 public and nonprofit private entities to assist the en-

14 Lilies, with respect to the education and training of

15 clinical laboratory personnel, in meeting the costs W.

projects for-

17 "(A) the creation of innovative outreach

18 programs that link academie resources with

19 rural clinic settings to provide community based

20 education (such as provide medical technology

21 education courses through telecommunications

via satellite);

23 "(B) additional education and training of

24 medical laboratory technicians, laboratory as-

25 sistants, and other paraprofessional laboratory
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1 personnel with priority given t.o rapid articula-

2 tion programs that award baccalaureate degrees

3 in medical technolou; and

4 "(C) the development of interdisciplinary

5 training programs that promote allied health

6 personnel in other disciplines (such as radiology

7 technologists) to become formally educated and

8 certified as clinical laboratory personnel so that

9 they can serve dual functions within an institu-

10 tional setting.

11 "(2) AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS.

12 For the purpose of carrying out this subsection,

13 there is authorized to be appropriated $2,000,000

14 for fiscal year 1992, and such sums as may be nec-

15 essary for each of the fiscal years 1993 and 1994.".

16 SEC. 3. ACCREDITATION OF CERTIFYING ORGANIZATIONS.

17 Section 799B of the Public Health Service Act, as

18 added by section 2 of this Act, is amended by adding at

19 the end the following new subsection.

20 "(e) ACCREDITATION OF CEIn'IFYING ORGANIZA-

21 TIONS.

22 "(1) DEVELOPMENT OF PROGRAM.Not later

23 than 30 months after the date of the enactment of

24 the Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel Shortage

25 Act, the Secretary shall develop a program for the
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1 accreditation of State and nonprofit private entities

2 engaged in the certification of clinical lghoratory

3 personnel.

4 "(2) MINIMUM CERTIFICATION STANDARDS.

5 In developing the accreditation program required

6 under this subsection, the Secretary shall establish

7 criteria for evaluating State and nonprofit private

8 entities. Such criteria shall be designed to ensure

9 that certificants of accredited aertifieation programs

10 possess adequate education, training, clinical experi-

11 enee, and other measures of proficiency to assure

12 minimally acceptable levels of competence in the

13 Clods to which they are certified. Such criteria may

14 include equivalency standards for non-degreed per-

15 sonnel. Individuals certified by an entity accredited

16 under this subsection shall be deemed qualified

17 under regulations promulgated by the Secretary pur-

18 suant to seetion 353(f)(1)(C).

19 "(3) ANNUAL APPROVALThe Secretary shall

20 annually evaluate each entity approved under this

21 subsection to determine if the entity continues to

22 meet the standards established under this subsection

23 and shall withdraw the approval of any entity that

24 no longer meets such standards.

2i
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1 "(4) REPORT TO CONGRESS,Not less than 90

2 days prior to formal implementation of the accredi-

3 tation program required under this subsection, the

4 Secretary shall submit to the Committee on Energy

5 and Commerce of the House of Representatives, and

6 to the Committee on Labor and Human Resources

7 of the Senate, a report listing those State and non-

8 profit private certifying entities whose certilication

9 programs appear to qualify for accreditation. The

10 report shall also list any existing certification enti-

11 ties that have been determined not to qualify for ac-

12 creditation, and the reasons therefor.".

13 SEC. 4. INTERIM ALTERNATIVE ROUTE OF CERTIFICATION.

14 Section 799B(c) of the Public Health Service Act, as

15 added by section 3 of this Act, is amended by adding at

16 the end the following new paragraph:

17 "(5) INTERIM ALTERNATIVE ROUTE OF CERTI-

18 FICATION.

19 "(A) The Secretary, in consultation with

20 relevant organizations, shall develop and con-

21 duet a competency-based examination designed,

22 except as provided in subparagraph (B), to de-

23 termine the proficiency of individuals who do

24 not meet the formal educational qualifications

0 4
'
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1 under section 353(f)(1)(C) for clinical laborato-

2 ry technologists.

3 "(B) Subparagraph (A) shall not apply in

4 the case of clinical laboratory technologists per-

5 forming testing in the areas of cytology,

6 histopathology, histocompatability, or cytogenet-

7 ics.

8 "(C) The Secretary shall administer the

9 examination developed under this subsection

10 within 180 days of the date of the enactment

11 of the Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel

12 Shortage Act, and annually thereafter, until

13 such time as the Secretary establishes accredi-

14 tation standards under this subsection.".

15 SEC. 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.

16 The amendments made by this Act shall take effect

17 October 1, 1991, or upon the date of the enactment of

18 this Act, whichever occurs later.

0
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Arnericon Society for Medical Technology

2021 1 Street, N.W.

Suite 400

Wominglon, CC 20036
(202) 785-3311

(202) 466-2254 (FAX)

The Honorable Jim Slatteiy
United States House of Representatives
1512 Longworth House Office Bldg
Washington, D.C. 20515-1602

May 16, 1991

Dear Congressman Slattery:

The American Society for Medical Technology (ASMT) is

pleased to endorse H.R.2409, The Rural Clintcal Laboratory
Personnel Shortage Act.

Your leadership on behalf of the Rural Healthcare Coalition
has resulted in the introduction of comprehensive legislation to
address shortages of clinical laboratory personnel in rural and
underserved areas. Rather than presenting a "quick fix" to the
problem, this legislation attempts to forge realistic solutions
for both the short and long term.

ASMT is particuarly encouraged that the Coalition's bill
includes educational funding initiatives for clinical laboratory
students and schools to promote service in rural areas. The
CAHEA division of Allied Health Education and Accreditation has
documented a 25% decline in accredited programs over the past
five years, the vast majority of which are hospital based
programs. Recent state budget deficits are also I inning to
affect university programs, many of whom see thei xistence
threatened as states are forced to cut back educational support.

The proposed regulations under CL1A 88 are likely to have a
significant impact on personnel staffing of rural hospital
laboratories which rely heavily on military trained veterans and
other non-traditional laboratory personnel. While ASMT supports
the inclusion in the legislation ot a limited time period interim
examination to determine the competency of individuals who would
not qualify under CLIA 88 standards, we seek assurances from the
Coalition that any such examination is developed in conjunction
with professional organisations, measures both theoretical and
scientific knowledge as well as technical skills, and utilizes
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The Honorable Jim Slattery
May 14, 1991
Page 2

recognized methods of validation an.1 grading criteria to
safeguard the integrity of tne examination process.

We hope that the Coalition will impress upon HCFA the need
to move quickly in developing standards for personnel
certification agencies and will direct the Department to
undertake an expeditious review of all nationally recognized
certification agencies. ASMT firmly believes that the
,7erLification of laboratory personnel belongs in the private
sector and not with the government, and we strongly support the
accreditation provisions of this legislation.

ASMT appreciates the thoughtful approach you have taken in
introducing this legislation and we applaud your perserverance
and integrity, and that of your utaff, in attempting to develop a
consensus among diverse laboratory and hospital interests. We
believe that this legislation outlines an agreement among these
groups regarding the most responsible way to ensure an adequate
supply of qualified clinical laboratory personnel.

ASMT looks forward to working with the Coalition to ensure
passage of this important piece of legislation.

Sincerely yours,

41-/n4,_ L7,27. (4r5'le-,

Roma Hall, President
American Society for Medical Technology

cc: The Honorable Charles Stenholm
The Honora'Ae Pat Roberts

2 7
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Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Slattery, for your testi-
mony.

I think the points you raised are very important ones for us to
take into consideration. I appreciate the leadership you have given
on this issue, time and time again, and it is certainly my &sire to
work with you to accomplish the objectives you sa out.

I know you have other things on your schedule. Let me see if any
member has a quick question. Mr. Richardson.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Just also would like to join in commending Jim
Slattery. Now that he is off the Budget Committee, he can spend
more time with us here.

Mr. SLATITRY. I look forward to that.
Mr. RICHARDSON. For that reason, Mr. Chairman, his leadership

is extremely important, and he has been very generous in tossing
bouquets at everybody but himself. He has been a real leader.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Richardson.
Mr. Slattery, thank you very much.
Our next witness is Dr. Harmon, Administrator, Health Re-

sources and Services Administration, accompanied by Dr. Fitzhugh
Mu llan, Director of HRSA's Bureau of Health Professions, and Mr.
Michael Heningburg, Director of the Bureau's Division of Student
Assistance.

Dr. Harmonthe bells just rang to indicate there is a vote on
the House floor. Rather than have you start and interrupt he tes-
timony or questions, we will now run to the floor and vote, come
back as quickly as possible, and then we will be pleased to receive
your testimony at that point.

We will recess only for as long as it takes to vote and return.
[Brief recess.]
Mr. WAXMAN. Dr. Harmon, we have your prepared statement,

and that will be in the record in full. We would like to ask of you,
if you would, to limit your oral presentation to us to no more than
5 minutes, so we can have a full opportunity for questions and an-
swers.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT G. HARMON, ADMINISTRATOR, HEALTH
RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION, ACCOMPANIED
BY MICHAEL HENINGBURG, DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF STUDENT
ASSISTANCE, AND FITZHUGH MULI,AN, DIRECTOR, BUREAU OF
HEALTH PROFESSIONS

Mr. HARMON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the
committee. With me are Dr. Fitzhugh Mullan, Director of our
Bureau of Health Professions, and Mr. Michael Heningburg, Direc-
tor of the Bureau's Division of Student Assistance.

HRSA is responsible for implementing health professions and
nurse training authorities under titles VII and VIII, as well as car-
rying out a variety of other health services and resource programs
relating to access, equity and cost of care.

Over the past 25 years, titles VII and VIII authorities have
played a major role in helping to assure access to adequate health
care services for the people of the United States.
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Historically, titles VII and VIII programs have been responsive
to new requirements for Federal collaboration with State and local
governments, educational institutions, professional organizations,
and other interested groups to prepare health professionals to meet
changing perceptions of national needs.

While initially the emphasis was on increasing overall supply of
personnel, each reauthorization has brought new focus on particu-
lar, evolving geographic and specialty shortages.

At this time, the highest priorities of HRSA as an agency are to
help assure that all Americans have access to core clinical preven-
tive and primary care health services, to reduce infant mortality
through appropriately targeted maternal and child health pro-
grams, to expand and improve services to persons with HIV infec-
tion, and to promote reform in health professions training pro-
grams.

In each of these areas, we must attempt to improve minority
health, increase access to health services for families living in pov-
erty, prevent disease and promote health consistent with Healthy
People 2000, and reach out to people in rural areas and to other
groups having special problems.

An essential component of this strategy is to promote an appro-
priate supply, geographic distribution, and balance, by discipline, of
health professionals. The most recent information available indi-
cates continuing shortages of primary care providers in many areas
of the country.

Scarce Federal health professions resources must be targeted
toward meeting the needs of the most severely underserved popula-
tions.

Within the context of overall departmental priorities and goals,
and taking into account existing fiscal constraints, the administra-
tion proposes to continue, with modest increases in funding, certain
titles VII and VIII programs that liave helped most directly to im-
prove the health status of minorit, and disadvantaged populations;
to phase out the HEAL loan program, while targeting available
low-cost loan support more specifically toward health professions
students from disadvantaged backgrounds; and to provide contin-
ued authority for support of training in relation to HIV/AIDS.

I would like to give you a brief update on certain aspects of this.
The disadvantaged health profession initiatives are well under
way, helping those who need assistance the most. We are seeking
to extend the authority of the Health Careers Opportunity Pro-
gram, which would continue to provide for educational assistance
to help individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds to undertake
and complete education in the health professions.

We would also hope to continue the Exceptional Financial Need
Scholarship Program, EFN, consolidating it with the Financial As-
sistance for Disadvantaged Health Profession Students [FADHPS]
program now being carried out from a setaside of funds from the
Health Careers Opportunity Program.

Third, we would seek to reauthorize the Nursing Education Op-
portunities for Individuals from Disadvantaged Backgrounds Pro-
gram, which has supported nursing schools and related assistance
activities in the nursing profession.

2 9
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And HEAL and related student loan programs, as I said, we are
proposing the phaseout of the HEAL program because it continues
to place an unreasonable debt burden on individuals from disad-
vantaged backgrounds and because, despite considerable effort, we
have been unable to reform the program to make it self-supporting.

Given current budget constraints, we believe thLt the limited
Federal dollars available should be targeted for providing low-cost
aid to disadvantaged students, including minorities.

To support the training of health professionals for care of per-
sons with HIV/AIDS infection, we propose to continue the title VII
authority that has provided for establishment of HRSA's program
of AIDS Education and Training Centers, AIDS/ETC's. The 17 cur-
rently funded AIDS/ETC's provide for training of primary care
health professionals in the prevention, early diagnosis, and treat-
ment of HIV/AIDS, not only in high-incidence metropolitan areas,
but also in emerging statistically significant areas, including cer-
tain rural areas.

Other important aspects of our approach would be to collaborate
with other agencies, like the Health Care Financing Administra-
tion. We are having discussions with HCFA regarding graduate
medical education financing, and we are considering certain ap-
proaches to that for the future.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I and members of my staff look for-
ward to working with you in the coming weeks to develop legisla-
tion consistent with the policies of the President's fiscal year 1992
budget for titles VII and VIII.

At this time, 1 would be pleased to answer any questions you
might have.

[Testimony resumes on p. 38.]
[The prepared statement of Mr. Harmon follows:]
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STATEMENT

BY

ROBERT G. HARMON, M.D.

MR. C,HAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE:

I am Dr. Robert G. Harmon, Administrator of the Health Resources and Services

Administration iHRSA) of the Public Health Service. HRSA is responsible for

implementing the health professions and nurse training authorities in Titles

VII and VIII of the Public Health Serwioe Act, as well as for carry'ng out a

range ,,;f other nealth service and resource programs relating to access,

equity, and cost of care. I am accompanied uy Dr. Fitzhugh Mullen, Director

of HRSA's Bureau of Health Professions, and Mr. Micnael Heningburg, Director

of the BureaL's Division of Student Assistance.

I am pleased to have the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss tne

reaothcrization of the Title VII and MI authorities, most of which eApire at

tne end of fiscal year 1901. For more than 25 years, 3ver $3 biin from

orLgrams carried out under Title VII and VIII authorities have played a major

in nelping to assure access tc adequate health services for the people of

thu Naton. Modified to take account of emerging national priority health

needs, the programs should continue to serve this objective in the future.

HIstorically, Title VII and VIII programs have been responsive to new

requirements for Federal collaboraticn with State and local governments,

educational institutions, professional organizations, and other interested

drcups to prepare health professionals to meet changing perceptiohs of

national needs. eihile initially the emphans was on increasing overall supply

of personnel, each reauthorization has brceght new focus on particular,

evp1;ing ideographic and specialty shcrtajes.

31
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The Context

At this time, the highest priorities jf HRSA as a7., Agency are to help assure

that all Americans have access to core clinical preventive and primary care

health services, to reduce infant mortality through appropriately taejeted

maternal and child health programs and related service activities, to expand

and improve services to persons with HIV infection, and to promote reform in

health professions training programs to accomplish these other priorities.

In each of these areas, we must attempt, in accordance with Program Directions

of the Secretary, tc nnprove minority health, increase access to health

:iervices for families living in poverty, prevent disease and promote health

consistent with HeaithL reople 2000, and reacn out to people in rural areas

and to other groupc having special problems.

Kr. essential component of a comprehensive strategy is to P romote an

appropriate supply, geographic distribution, and balance, by discipline, of

health professionals. The most recent information available indicates

:cntinuing shortages of primary care providers throughout many areas of the

:ountry. Scarce Federal health professions resources must be targeted toward

meeting the needs of the most severely underserved populations.

t),



28

- 3 -

Prioritj Health Professiqns Needs

Mr. Chairman, you and the members of the Subcommittee are well aware of the

continuing disparities in health status of individuals from disadvantaged

backgrounds, Including racial and ethnic minorities. rour strenuous efforts

in support of the enactment by the Congress of the Disadvantaged Minority

Health Improvement Act of 1990 are evidence of your recognition of the

gaps that remain between the health status of minorities and nonminorities in

the United States.

You also are aware that studies have shown that underrepresented minority

health professionals are more likely than other health professionals to

orovide primary care and to practice in underserved areas. In the field of

medicine, for example, a significantly larger proportion of minorit) ,.aduates

practice in the primary care specialties. Significantly more minority

physicians practice in designated health professional shortage areas and serve

more Medicaid recipients.

To bring about a significant increase in the supply of health care providers

who will serve the disadvantaged will require intensified efforts to identify

potential students and to help them enter and complete health professions

training. With respect to provision of appropriate financial assistance to

needy health professions students, special issues have arisen as to the

continued viability and usefulness of the Federally insured Health Education

Assistance Loan (HEAL) programs.

3
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r-lealt personnel trained to align:se treat persons with HIv/A/Os infection

a,e also in srort supply n the Nation. -ne ,une 1.)38 Report of President

Reagan's Commission on AIDS cited a need for training of faculty, basic

teadvng of professional students,
de,Copmert of -linioal training programs

in new treatment settings, and cont'nuing education of practIclng physioians

and other health pets3nnel. To date, HRSA has obligated nearly $60 million

for such trainirg.

the c:mte't Jf overall Departmental
priorities and goals, and taking

into account existing fiscal constraints, tre Administration proposes:

o to r.cntinue--with wdest increases in funding--oertaln Title VII

and VIII programs tnat ha\,e helped most directly to Improve the

nealth status of minorityyli:alantageo populations;

to phase out the HEAL loan program, whilp targeting available low-

:est !owl support more specific,ally toward health professions

students frcm disadvantaged tackgrounds; and

to provide continued authority for support of training in relation

to HIV/AID

Disadvantaged Health Professions Initiatives

The Administration proposes to continue
several ongoing Title VII and VIII

authorities for programs to recruit disad.antaged students, including

minorities, help those students complete their training, and otherwise Promote

attertion tre health needs of individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds.

Simply Put, we seek to target assistance to those who need it most.

't
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By ewtending tne authority for the Hea;th Careers 0;portunity.Proaram tHCOP:,

we would continue to provide for jrants and contracts to health professions

schools and other health or educational entities to assist individuals from

disadvantaged backgrounds to undertake And complete education in the healtn

professions. The HCOP program supports the recruitment of students and the

provision of educational serdices alng those students to complete their

professional training.

The exist'ny priority in funding fcr HCOP programs that can demonstrate

effectiveness in training of disadvantayed students would be retained. We

would add a preference cor applicants who, as appropriate, have developed

Plans and priorities In cooperation with State and local government

authorit,es dnd will provide a growing share of the funding for drowsed

initiatives from non-Federal sources.

The main hange that we would make tc the hCOP authority would be tc eliminate

tre existing set-asIde for grants to soLools of medicine, osteQpdthic

medicine, and dentistry for schola,sh,ps t) students who are exceptionally

needy and from disadvantaged bdokgrounds. This set-Aside has provided for the

funding of a scholar5h1p program that, since 1g88, has been ve,-y similar to

the Exceptional Financial Need Scholarship program discussed later in this

testimony. we propose tc ccmbine these two scholarship programs.
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we would continue the Exceptional Financial Need 1.EFNJ Scholarship program, as

noted earlier, combining it with the scholarship program now being carried cut

under the set-aside of HCOP funds. Adallable evidence suggests the utility of

some form of nonservice-conditional
scholarship aid as one means of recruiting

disadvantaged students, including minorities. Such aid will help to attract

some students otherwise deterred by fear cf Inability to complete training or

by relsictoce to incur heavy debts to cover educational costs. In order to

compensate for the elimination of the set-aside for scholarships tc

ercePtionally needy and disadvantaged students, we would amend the EFN

scholarship program to increase Its funding level and to require that the

preponderance of EFN scholarships be awarded to students from disadvantaged

backgrounds .

we would reauthorize the Nursing. Education Opportunities for Individuals from

Visadvantaged Backgrounds program, which, as a counterpart to the HCOP

program, has supported nursing schools and molated entities in recruitment and

educational assistance activities in tne nursing profession. As in the case

of the HCOP program, we would add a preference fr applicants that nave

developed plans and priorities 'n 000peratisn with State and local government

autnorities and will provide a grGwing share of the funding for proposed

initiatives from non-Federal sources.
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In implementing the new minority/disadvantaged programs authorized by the

Disadvantaged Minority Health Improvement Act, we 3ve :onsidering a revised

regulatory definition of -disadvantaged, for purposss of determining if an

individual Is from a disadvantaged na>gr;iund. Buildi-ig on the deflnition

curt. itly used in the HCOP and certain related programs, we would include also

individuais who come from certain ra::,a1 and economic groups with

partioular health status and access problems.

HEAL and Rel.ited Student_Loan P,ogracrs

we are propcsing tile phase-out cf the HEAI program beCause it continues to

p4ace an unreasonable debt burder cn ind,,'duals from disadvantaged

OaJgrounds and because, despite consideraCe effort, we have been unable to

refcrai the Grogram to make it self-sut;ourt :oven current budget

ocrst'aints, we believe that the limited Federal dollars available should Le

targeted for providing low-cost aid tc dIsaavantaged students, including

A't,icugn HEAL loans have represented an important source cf 'last dollar-

sJpport for health professions students who have exhausted other less

e'peri,e means uf financing their education, such loans ha.:e placod

neavy debt burdens on minority indlviduals. For example, among

TeJ1-,i1 it,Jents 9r3duatny in '981, 50 Gers:ent uf m:rity students had

depended at least in Gatt on HEAL loans, uumpared with 38 percent uf all

medival students.

3 7
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The HEAL program has been significantly more difficult and costly to

administer than the Federally subsidized Health Professions Student Loan

(HPSL) program, in which the greater part of administrative avers ght on

individual borrowers is provided by participating schools. Although the HEAL

program was intended to be self-supporting, claims against the program

recently have seriously exceeded income from insurance premiums and other

sources. If HEAL were to continue at current levels, between fiscal year 1992

and fiscal year 1996, the average annual appropriation needed to maintain HEAL

in cordance with the requirements of the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990

will be an estimated $60 to $80 million per year.

Tc meet the demand by disadvantaged students for loans now being met under the

HEAL program, we propose additional capital contributions to student loan

funds established pursuant to the HPSL program. New loans would be targeted

primarily to students from disadvantaged backgrounds. Making increased

amounts of low-cost HPSL loans available to these students would help to

promote their entry into the health professions and to minimize any "high

indebtedness" deterrent to their practicing in underserved areas.
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We would emphasize the need for HP5L scncols to establish an environment

conducive to the completion of professional training by individuals from

disadvantaged backgrounds. As a precedent: Schools participating in the new

Loans for Disadvantaged Students and Scholarships for Disadvantaged Students

programs must have program; for recruitment and retention of disadvantaged

students and faculty and meet .equirements also for instruction regarding

minority nealtn issues, service to the underserved, and mentor programs.

For non-disadvantaged students who have depended on HEAL in the past, we

believe aid would continue to be ava'lable through several alternative

sources. The Admin,stration has proposed that the maximum allowable loan to a

graduate Audent under Department of Education's Supplemental Loans for

Students program be increased from $4,000 to $10,000 a year--an amount that

would cover the HEAL borrowing of a subtantial proportion of health

professions students.

Anotner s..,urce of support for certan miodle-income students would be the much

expanded National Health Service Corps Scholarship and Loan Repayment

programs. Finally, several private sector organizations have indicated a

Strong degree of interest in implementing private programs similar to HEAL.

while theae private loans would be market-rate loans, they would take the

place of market-rate HEAL loans as a -last dollar form of aid for individuals

who had exhausted other resources.

3(,)
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Training_Authorltles

To support the training of health professionals for care of persons with

HIV/AIDS infection, we propose to continue the Title VII authority that has

provided for establishment of HRSA's program of AIDS Education and Training

Centers (AIDS/ETCs). The seventeen currently funded AIOS/ETCs provide for

training of primary care health professionals in the prevention, early

diagnosis, and treatment of HIV/AIDS not only in high-incidence Metropolitan

Areas but also in emerging statistically significant areas including certain

rural areas.

With the passage of the Ryan White Act, it is anticipated that there will be

an Increased demand for clinical training of primary care providers

particularly in those cities which have bean identified as ma)or epicenters of

infection. Consistent with the findings and recommendations of the 1990

Report of the National Commission on AIDS and a fiscal year 1990 Evaluative

Study (John Snow, Inc.), among other studies, current project requirements are

designed to direct Federal resources where the greatest needs ex1st.

Our purpose is to continue to develop an educational intervention that will

orcy.'de a sustained, multidisciplinary source of personnel relating to the

primary health care needs of high risk and infected HIV/AIDS individuals.

Emphasis wil7 continue to be placed on the development of appropriate clinical

training experiences. It has been shown that health care providers overcome

barriers to treating AIDS patients if the/ c-In be prepared in an educational

environment where their concerns can be addressed and their skills practiced.

4 ir
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The AIDS/ETCs program was originally funded under the general authority of

section 301 of the PHS Act. In 1988, specific Title VII legislation was

enacted lsection 788A) which limited eligibility to schools and academic

health science centers and provided for support of certain types of AIDS

training only. The current AIDS/ETCs are supported under both section 788A

and section 301. Cther approaches to :ontinue this support are under

consideration.

Dcllaporation With Other Agencies

As we look ahead at ways to assure a supply of primary care providers and

other health personnel to provide health care to underserved populations, it

is c'ear that we must collaborate with other Federal agencies as well as win

d range of non-Fedei-al entities in addressing needs. Such collaborative

approaches are needed not only to allow us to draw on the maximum variety of

fxiding resources but also to provide for the development of training programs

that are responsive to national anJ community health problems and priorities.

with respect to the training of primary care providers, including non-

phys,cian as well as plrfsluian providers, we are particularly interested in

further examinlIg the linkages between our programs and those of the Health

Care Financing Administration (HCFA) in the nurturing of primary care training

and practice. HCFA recent:y sponsored an invitational conference to address

the issue of Medicare financing of uraduate medical education. Included in

the discussions were options for encouraglny primary care education and

service.

41
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Alsc, the Public Health Service and the Health Care Financing Admini,-tration

plan to c.invene neAt year a major national conference on primary

with the objective of strengthening the role primary care plays in the

delivery of health care to all Americans. This conference wi'l examine

primary care from the varied but interrelated perspectives of health

professions education, financing, services deliery, and research. Among the

iLsue that will be addressed will be questions relating to the content and

flnancing of education in primary care.

In the field cf nurs-ing, the Commission on the National Nursing Shortage,

whiJi Was established to assist in implementing the recommendations of the

19E8 Sec!'etary's Commission on Nursing, recently held its final meeting and

wIll be reporting to the Secretary soon on its recommendations to address

remaining nurse shortage problems. The .^..ommission was charged specifically

wIth promoting and identifying specific commitments from private seCtor

organizations and the range of governmental authorities for support of

proposed projects.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman, I and members of my staff look forward to working with you in

the coming weeks to develop legislation consistent with the policies in the

?resident's fiscal year 1992 budget for Titles V:I and VIII. At this time,

1 would be pleased to try to answer any questions you may wish to ask.
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Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much.
The administmtion has proposed, again, to terminate support for

vii tually all title VII and title VIII health manpower programs.
Total funding was reduced by $183 million. The only programs
funded by the President's 1992 budget were those providing Feder-
al support for disadvantaged and minority hr.alth professions edu-
cation. Nursing is particularly hard hit with cut from $60 million
to $4.1 million.

Maybe you could answer a few questions on this point. Is it your
view that the nursing crisis is over?

Mr. HARMON. We have seen a steady increase in the overall
supply of nurses in the United States. Unfor. ,iately, the demand
has increased even faster. It is the administration's position to seek
to support disadvantaged nursing assistance and to also support
such specialists as nurse practitioners and certified nurse mid-
wives, through service-related scholarships and other means under
the National Health Service Corps program.

Mr. WAXMAN. Let me ask the same question with regard to the
need for Federal assistance to promote the education of nurse prac-
titioners and nurse midwives.

How do you justify eliminating similar supp:,rt for nurse anes-
thetists when the hearing we had earlier in the year on the Per-
sian Gulf War demonstrated that shortages of n arse anesthetists
often had more to do with curtailing rural hospital services than
shortages of doctors?

Mr. HARMON. Again, these are tough decisions. We have sought
to target our resources in the primary care area and service-related
scholarships. We have other rural health programs under way,
such as rural health outreach grants, which can be used to help re-
cruit and retain personnel such as nurse anesthetists in needy
rural areas.

Mr. WAXMAN. In the HEAL program, there are variations in de-
fault rates by individual health professions schools or within pro-
fessions. For example, are default rates for medicine or osteopathy
different than for chiropractic or dentistry?

Mr. HARMON. I would like to turn to my colleagues here. Perhaps
Mike Heningburg, who is our program manager, would seek to ad-
dress that one.

Mr. HENINGBURG. Mr. Chairr an, in terms of the major profes-
sions participating in HEAL, c ropractic, dentistry, and podiatry
have the highest default rates, ii the vicinity of 13 percent. Allo-
pathic and osteopathic medicine are in the vicinity of 5 to 5.5 per-
cent.

Mr. WAXMAN. The rates of default are specifically higher among
chiropractic school than any other health school. You said efforts
have been made to make the program self-supporting. Have you
-onsidered proposals to disqualify particular schools from partici-
pating in HEAL whose default rates are high.

You have also indicated to us that inadequate income at the time
of repayment is the major reason for default. Have you considered
efforts to increase the length of time HEAL loans can he deferred?

Mr. HENINGBURG. We are developing a performance standard
which would speak to those participants in the HEAL program
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with unusually high default rates, and terminate their future par-
ticipation in the program.

In terms of deferrals, there are several provisions in the existing
regulations for forbearance and graduated repayment in case of
need.

Mr. MULIAN. If I might, Mr. Chairman, while we are not by any
means insensitive to the financial burden of getting through health
profession schools, the HEAI instrument has been felt to be one
that is very burdensome in the long run to the student and to soci-
ety.

It will cost us roughly $50 to $60 million this year to keep the
program solvent, and each succeeding year, and that is in the order
of magnitude of the funding of the entire National Health Service
Corps. We are talking about a very substantial, cost to society for
the bad debt of the program, and we think there are ways that we
can continue to support students and use those dollars in better
ways.

Mr. WAXMAN. During the last reauthorization of the nursing pro-
gram, a provision was added requiring that an independent evalua-
tion be conducted on the extent to which each of the nursing pro-
grams have met the legislative objectives. The conclusion of the
report, expressed to the committee in a letter from Secretary Louis
Sullivan, is that:

kederal nuning support is seen as an important source of development and start-
up funds in graduate nurse education, and that it serves as an incentive and cata
lyst for innovation in nursing practice.

My question is twofold: One, are similar independent evaluations
conducted on the title VII programs? If not, should a similar eval-
uation be required for title VII programs, and, two, are the Secre-
tary's flattering characterizations of Federal support for nursing
programs consistent with the President's 1992 budget recommenda-
tion that these programs be largely discontinued?

Mr. MULLAN. In the matter of the evaluation of title VII pro-
grams, there are specific evaluations being carried out relating to
title VII programs, which are broader in scope and in numbers of
disciplines involved than the nursing programs.

Evaluations have been conducted in such areas as family medi-
cine training, area health education centers, and the like.

It would be our position that an omnibus title VII evaluation re-
quirement probably would not be useful. We would be happy to
submit for the record the var .ous evaluations that have been con-
ducted of parts of title VII in the last several years.

I would say in general, we are fairly vigilant about evaluating
those programs. As to the question of the evaluation of' title VIII
programs and the President's budget, certainly the value in the
past of the title VIII programs is indisputable.

The question as to the future funding of those programs, I be-
lieve, has been addressed by Dr. Harmon.

Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much.
Mr. Towns?
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Why has the emphasis for Federal support been on graduate edu-

cation in nursing, rather than in career ladder type of approaches?
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Mr. HARMON. Dr. Mu Ban, take that.
Mr. MULLAN. That, Mr. Towns, is an important question, one

that I asked when I first was privileged to superintend these pro-
grams. The feeling of the nursing community has been that one of
the very significant impediments to expanding the population of
practicing nurses, the bottlenecks as it were, is in education of suf-
ficient faculty to train the number of nurses that we need in this
country, so that the dollars spentas you correctly observed, they
are for the most part under tit!' VIII, dedicated to graduate train-
ingare seen as an effort to continue to increase the size of the
faculty pool within schools of nursing, and thereby combat the im-
pediment of insufficient faculty to educate adequate numbers of
nurses.

That is, I believe, the philosophy.
Mr. TOW NS. What is the rationale for requiring undergrad nurs-

ing scholarships to have a 2-year service payback for each year of
Federal support? It is my understanding that other programs only
require a year-for-yea. payback. Isn't this an unfair financial
burden for nursing students?

Mr. HENINGBURG. Mr. Towns, the law requires a year-for-year
payback but a minimum of 2 years of service. The requirement has
not proven to be unacceptable to the students. We are always over-
subscribed to participate in the program. Most students who gradu-
ate and are licensed do in fact practice. The list of places where
scholarship recipients may practice encompasses practically every
health care institution in this country, to include hospitals, to in-
clude military, to include community health centers.

Mr. TOWNS. The fairness didn't bother you?
Mr. HENINGBURG. The fairness did not bother us, and we did not

receive any comment from the public about that issue.
Mr. HARMON. I could comment. Although there is a year-for-year

service requirement for a National Health Service Corps scholar-
ship, there is still a minimum of 2 years of payback required. If
there are 2 years of scholarship aid, it is still 2 years of service.

Mr. TOWNS. Let me ask this, and my final question, Mr. Chair-
man. Does the administration have a strategy to enhance greater
student interest in the primary care specialties?

Mr. HARMON. Yes, we do, and Dr. Mullan could comment on
that.

Mr. MULLAN. It is generally felt that we are deficient, broadly
speaking, in this country in terms of our primary care physicians,
nurses and other health care providers. That we perhaps are too
specialty-oriented, and unfortunately, growing more specialty-ori-
ented as you look at the figures of recent graduates of medical
school and other health profession schools.

We have begun to talk actively within the last 6 months within
the administration about how programs within the administration,
within the Bureau of Health Professions, in particular, and HRSA,
can be managed in a fashion that will be more effective in promot-
ing primary care education and continued practice in primary care
after training, as well as efforts to collaborate with others, includ-
ing some very significant foundation efforts.

The Pew Foundation is very interested, and we have talked with
our colleagues in the various professional organizatiols such as the
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American Academy of Family Practice. We have worked with vari-
ous nursing organizations. We are attempting to craft a strategy
that would put a great deal more focus On the primacy of primary
care, building a firm foundation for our health system for primary
care, to try to reverse the erosion in primary care that has taken
place in recent years.

Mr. HARMON. The centerpiece of the administration's primary
care effort would be National Health Service Corps scholarship and
loan repayment programs, which strictly require primary care
practice in health professional shortage areas, where you know
what you are getting and you get service in return for scholarship
aid; plus community and migrant health service programs.

Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much.
I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Towns.
Mr. Kostmayer?
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I wanted to ask, I guess you, Dr. Harmon, about some of the cuts

in the programs whifth helped to fund the medical education, and I
guess you probably spoke about those in your testimony. I am sorry
I wasn't here.

Programs like the HEAL program, you are eliminating that, is
that right?

Mr. HARMON. Right. We are proposing that, and as an alterna-
tive, we would propose to expand the Health Profession Student
Loan Program as a better approach, better use of scarce Federal
resources.

Mr. Heningburg might want to elaborate.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Targeted towards minorities?
Mr. HARMON. Disadvantaged, including minorities.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. How about good old-fashioned middle-class

people?
Mr. HARMON. We have some proposals in that area, as well, that

there are other alternatives.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Such as?
Mr. HARMON. National Health Service Corps scholarships in

return for service, for one.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. That program you just mentioned is being held

at existing levels?
Mr. HARMON. The Corps is expanding dramatically, as a matter

of fact, with the administration's proposals. The scholarship went
from 10 million to 50 million in the past to the current fiscal year,
and--

Mr. KOSTMAYER. The proposal for next year?
Mr. HARMON. A $5 million increase. The field budget for paying

salaries for NHSC people has also gone up accordingly.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Let me ask you about the increase for next

year, that brings it up to the 1980 level?
Mr. HARMON. It will not be ip to peak level.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. It won't be up to the 1980 level, and we have

had inflation in the country since 1980; is that right?
Mr. HARMON. True. But again, we are seeking to approach those

previous levels.
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Mr. KOSTMAYER. You are not making it. So what we are talking
about is programs to send young people in this country to medical
school, which are now below the levels at which they were in 1980,
and that is not taking into account inflation.

Do you think it is really fair to characterize the administration's
approach as increasing these programs, Doctor?

Mr. HARMON. They are certainly on the increase.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. On the increase, compared to what? Don't you

think it is more honest to say the programs have been pretty dra-
matically cut over the last decade, and you are now making an
effort to get them up to where they were in the 1980's?

Mr. HARMON. That is true. There were major cutbacks in the
eighties, but we are trying to rebuild those programs and do other
things at, well.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Let me give you a hypothetical example.
Mr. and Mrs. Smith have a daughter and they want to send her

to medical school, and Mr. Smith drives a cab in Philadelphia, Pa.,
and Mrs. Smith is a school teacher.

He makes about $20,000. She makes about $25,000. They make a
total of $45,000 a year.

Take-home is $30,000.
They have three children.
The first year of medical school at the University of Pennsylva-

nia will cost $18,200, I am told, with $8,000 for living costs, books,
cleaning and food and housing; $8,000 a year.

That comes to $26,000 a year.
According to your people, they can get 7,500 bucks from GSL and

$3,000 from the Perkins loan.
That comes to $10,500.
They don't qualify for HPSL and you are going to eliminate

HEAL.
So young Miss Smith is short $15,500.
Mr. HARMON. This person could apply for a National Health

Service Corps scholarship.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. How much could she get there?
Mr. MULLAN. Full tuition and a stipend for living.
Mr. HARMON. Another alternative would be a less expensive--
Mr. KOSTMAYER. To qualify for that program, she would have to

commit herself to practicing in a given area.
Mr. HARMON. Correct.
Another alternative would be a less expensive State-supported

medical school, and then there are private sector loans also avail-
able.

Mike might want to comment on those alternatives.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. We know that the private sector hasn't done ev-

erything they are supposed to.
We were told in 1981 that the private sector would make up for

the loss, that if poor people needed care, they could show up t. f: the
doctor's back door and that churches would fill in.

Of course, that turned out to be totally untrue.
It turned out that people with more money contributed less than

people with less money.
Mr. HARMON. It is true that the problem of uninsured care has

not been headed in the right direction.

4 7
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We are supporting an expansion of community and migrant
health centers in shortage areas, in inner city and rural areas, in
an attempt to address that as well.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. But you are cutting those programs from the
inner cities, 40 percent of the people that some of the university
funded programs, for example in Philadelphia, Temple University
of Pennsylvania, where they have set up clinics in poor neighbor-
hoods, those programs are, being cut.

People have told me they may have to close several of their com-
munity clinics if those cuts go through.

Mr. HARMON. Are you referring to support for primary care?
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Primary care, residential programs, family med-

ical, internal medicine, pediatrics, all those programs which serve
the great universities in America's large cities, 40 percent of people
they serve are poor and if those programs are cut and universities
get less, they will have to close these programs or reduce them.

Mr. HARMON. Those are tough decisions.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. What is tough about that?
That is the easiest decision in the world.
I have no problem with that decision at all, nothing easier.
Mr. HARMON. We are looking at other sources of funding for

some of the programs.
The biggest funder of graduate medical education is the Medi-

care program.
A total of $4.7 billion goes into indirect and direct costs of gradu-

ate medical education and other costs of health professions train-
ing; and we are discussing how those funds could be used to en-
hance primary care in shortage areas.

We are looking for new approaches there and may have some
proposals in the future.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. My time is about to expire.
I am not picking on you. I am sure privately you agree with me

more than you agree with the people you work for, but we are talk-
ing about making it much more difficult for middle-class people to
go to medical school.

The Bush administration's programs will make it much more dif-
ficult for middle-class students to enter medical school in the
United States and the Bush administration programs attack the
very weakest and poorest people in our society, especially poor mi-
nority children in our great cities.

It is a disgraceful program, in my opinion.
Mr. HARMON. Our programs here are targeted on disadvantaged

and minority students and other service programs, such as Healthy
Start, are targeted on the highest risk communities, so we are
trying to focus on the most needy.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you.
Mr. WAXMAN. You are trying to focus on disadvantaged students

under titles VII and VIII.
Could you give us the Aministration's technical and working

definition of disadvantaged, including any income standards used?
What percentage of the current health profession students fit

that definition?
:Mr. HARMON. Mike might want to comment.

:)
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I could say that the definition is undergoing revision based on
recent legislation.

Meanwhile, we are using the existing definition.
Mr. WAXMAN. Are you redefining disadvantaged out of exist-

ence?
Mr. HARMON. No.
Mr. WAXMAN. Then what is the existing definition that you are

using?
Mr. HARMON. This would be an individual who comes from an

environment that has inhibiteti the individual from obtaining the
knowledge, skill and abilities required to enroll in or graduate
from a health professional school or program or comes from a
family with an annual income below a level based on Federal
standards.

Mr. HENINGBURG. That is essentially the definition that we are
now using.

We use that in the Financial Assistance to Disadvantaged Health
Professions Student program and propose to use that definition, at
least initially, in the minority disadvantaged health programs.

Mr. WAXMAN. What is a disadvantage, an economic disadvan-
tage?

Mr. HENINGBURG. There may be an economic disadvantage in
terms of the family income or a cultural disadvantage in terms of
the individual's educational backgroundthe individual's testing
on national examinations and the way the institution views the in-
dividual.

Mr. WAXMAN. Mr. Kostmayer gave an example of a young
woman who may want to go to medical school. Her father is a taxi
cab driver. Her mother is a teacher.

He gave figures as to income.
Would that young woman be considered disadvantaged:
Mr. HENINGBURG. You mentioned a mother and father with two

children. They would probably nut qualify as being disadvantaged.
If I may, I would like to--
Mr. WAXMAN. If that family were Hispanic, would that make a

difference in whether they axe disadvantaged?
Mr. H2NINGBURG. There may be an economic disadvantage in

terms of the family income or a cultural disadvantage in terms of
the individual's educational backgroundthe individuals testing on
national examinations and the way the institution views the indi-
vidual.

Mr. WAXMAN. Mr. Kostmayer gave an example of a young
woman who may want to go to medical school. Her father is a taxi
cab driver. Her mother is a teacher.

He gave figures as to income.
Would that young woman be considered disadvantaged?
Mr. HENINGBURG. If the family were Hispanic, if the daughter

scored less than the national average on the aptitude test or had a
grade roint average below that the University of Pennsylvania nor-
mally would be looking for, yes, that individual would be disadvan-
taged.

On the cultural disadvantaged end of it--
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Mr. WAXMAN. If she were Hispanic, but didn't have a low score
and the income were the same, would she be considered disadvan-
taged?

Mr. HENINGBURG. We would leave that determination up to the
school, and they again would use the criteria that we have been
talking about.

The school may decide that the individual is disadvantaged.
They may deckb that the individual is not.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. If her moth2 were Hispanic, but her father

Polish--
Mr. WAXMAN. If her parents were Polish or from an Eastern Eu-

ropean country and didn't fit into the disadvantaged categories
that this administration talks so much about, traditional ones, and
their economic situation was tough, she would be out of luck.

Does the fact that she is a woman make a difference?
Mr. HARMON. That is not one of the criteria.
Mr. WAXMAN. What if it were a real low-income family, not in

any of the racial ethnic categories, but their income is fairly low.
Mr. HENINGBURG. That individual under the current definition

would qualify as disadvantaged.
Mr. WAXMAN. How low do they have to be?
Mr. HENINGBURG. We use the Bureau of Labor Statistics guide-

lines geared to the size and income of the family.
We could provide the figure for the record.
Mr. WAXMAN. If they qualify, what does the individual get?
Mr. HENINGBURG. If they qualify, the school develops a financial

aid package for that individual taking into account the Department
of Education program and the various programs administered by
the Bureau of Health Professions. This year we are awarding $6
million for the FADHPS program and $10 million for the EFN pro-
gram; and 60 HPSL schools have $65 million in their revolving
health professions student loan funds.

Mr. IVAXMAN. You indicated you're working on changing this
definition.

What are you looking to do to change this definition?
Mr. HENINGBURG. The report language accompanying the Disad-

vantaged Minority Health Improvement Act of 1990 encouraged us
to broaden the definition so that it is more inclusive and not so
much dependent on an individual's income status.

There will be a notice published for public comment.
Mr. WAXMAN. If you are of a certain ethnic racial category, you

could be wealthier?
Mr. HENINGBURG. I would rather not comment on that since the

definition is not cleared through the Department.
Mr. WAXMAN. You are changing the definition to make it orient-

ed toward ethnic and racial disadvantaged as opposed to economic
disadvantaged?

Mr. HENINGBURG. That is a major emphasis in the new defini-
tion.

Mr. WAXMAN. This is at a time when you are recommending that
the HEAL loans, which would go to anybody be reduced from $260
mill:on to $60 million?

Mr. HENINGBURG. If I might add something on our proposal to
terminate the HEAL program, the administration has proposed
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that the funding for the SLS program be increased from $4,000 to
$10,000 a year.

In addition, we have identified at least three private organiza-
tions that are willing to pick up a good part of the HEAL portfolio
at this point and it would be our intention that the middle-income
students that Mr. Kostmayer was talking about would continue to
have access to programs, but they would be run by the private
sector rather than guaranteed by the Federal Government.

Mr. WAXMAN. What programs are run by the private sector?
Are you talking about going to a bank and getting a loan?
Mr. HENINGBURG. No, there are several organizations that run

guaranteed loan programs.
We have identified at least three that are interested in pursuing

this.
Mr. WAXMAN. We would like to have the three that are available

and how much money would be available and their criteria for
lending money.

[The following information was received for the record]
The following private firms have expressed interest in providing market rate

loans to health professions students in the absence of HEAL: HEMAR Insurance
Corporation, Sioux Fall, S. Dak.; University Support Services, Herndon, Va.; and
The Education Resource Institute [TERI], Boston, Mass. The firms have not present-
ed the detailed information requested by the chairman. University Support Services
has expressed an interest in meeting with committee members or staff to further
discuss their interest in providing loans to health professions students.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. The SLS program you are increasing from
$4,000 to $10,000?

Mr. HENINGBURG. That is part of the administration's proposals;
yes.

Mr. WAXMAN. That is the amount that an individual student
could borrow?

Mr. HENINGBURG. Yes.
Mr. WAXMAN. But you are not increasing the amount of money

you want to spend on the program?
Mr. HENINGBUiter. The current maximum limit for the SLS pro-

gram is $4,000 a year.
The administration is proposing to increase that to $10,000 a

year.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Within the framework, fewer people will qualify

for money.
Mr. HENINGBURG. SLS is a guaranteed loan program.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. You are not increasing the pie.
Mr. MULLAN. It is a guaranteed program in which the loan

comes from a third party.
The Government role is to guarantee $10,000 as opposed to the

previous $4,000.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Would they guarantee more o Trail?
Mr. HENINGBURG. We understand that, yes, they would.
Mr. MULLAN. That isthe HEAL program is a guaranteed loan

program, so the loans--
Mr. KOSTMAYER. That is the one you are going to eliminate?
Mr. MULLAN. Yes.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. That serves 38 percent of Americans going to

medical school; is that right?

5 1
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Mr. HENINGBURG. Of medical students graduating in 1989, 38
percent had relied in part on HEAL loans to finance their 4 years
of education. Medical student HEAL borrowers in fiscal year 1990
represented 19 percent of all medical students enrolled in that
year.

Mr. MULLAN. The current situation with the loan is that the
funds are guaranteed by the Government.

The other participants outside of the students which are banks
and intermediate institutions as well as schools do not risk-share in
any fashion. So the $57 million requested in this year's budget to
make up for past bad HEAL loans is an amount of the order of
magnitude that will continue to be required each year for years to
come if the HEAL prcbram continu srepresenting a savings and
loan kind of situation for the Federal Government. We are not un-
sympathetic to the needs of students by any means.

We are asking with this proposal---
Mr. KOSTMAYER. They don't want your sympathy. They want

your money.
Mr. MULLAN. We are asking with this proposal that we examine

the ways in which the Government administers this effort to assist
students. Our arguments for phasing out HEAL are that there are
better ways to provide student aid. It is not an all-or-nothing phe-
nornenon.

There are many ways that this program could be fixed. We have
proposed those in legislative amendments as well as in regulatory
form.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. None of these programs can be fixed by these
dramatic cuts.

Mr. MULLAN. We argue and I think with fair credibility given
the material Mr. Heningburg gave you, that there are other guar-
antors in the marketplace who will step in and in a fashion very
similar, with more discipline, manage these programs which are
costing more than the total cost of the National Health Service
Corps every year to bail them out.

That represents a substantial leakage of dollars that otherwise
could go tc support programs or students--

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Let me go back to Mr. and Mrs. Smith.
They own a house. That is an asset.
Mrs. Smith, a teacher, has a modest pension fund.
Do those assets count against them in their daughter's ability to

borrow from these programs?
Do they i.educe the likelihood that she can borrow?
Mr. HENINGBURG. I believe that the family would be encouraged

to use those assets.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. How are they going to use their house?
Mr. HENINGBURG. You mentioned a pension fund that they draw

some money from.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. They are not retired.
Mr. HENINGBURG. I would like to respond for the record.
There is a complicated analysis system--
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Give me a general answer.
Does it count against them that they are homeowners and have a

pension fund?
Mr. HENINGBURG. Not necessarily.
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I would like to clarify that answer in the record.
[The information follows:j
To determine financial need for the HEAL program, HHS uses the congressional-

ly mandated need analysis system that was established for Department of Education
programs as part of the Higher Education Act. Under this system, home equity and
pension funds of a student's parents are evaluated as potential resources for depend-
ent students, but are not evaluated for independent students. (It should be noted
that the majority of graduate students qualify as independent, in accordance with
criteria set forth in the Higher Education Act.) Where parents' assets are consid-
ered, there is an allowance which protects a certain amount of the pension funds
based on the ages of the parents. In addition, financial aid administrators are au-
thorized by law to use their professional judgment to make adjustments to any part
of the need analysis computation to more accurately reflect the student's actual fi-
nancial situation.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. My conclusion, which may not be correct, is the
opposite, that it does count against them.

In general, do you think this program goes in the right direction
or the wrong direction?

Do you think it is good that they are going to have such a diffi-
cult time sending their child to medical school?

Mr. HARMON. I previously mentioned some other options they
may have in this regard and I wish we had the resources to assist
families like this, but with tight resources, we have to put them
where the need is greatest, with the disadvantaged, minority popu-
lations, and service-related programs.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. We have the resources, Doctor.
We are just spending them wrong.
Than I. you.
Mr. WAXMAN. IS the need greater for the family that has fewer

economic opportunities available to them?
In other words, a poorer family economically, or is the need

greater with a family that is wealthier in comparison, but fits into
certain racial ethnic categories?

Mr. HENINGBURG. The need is greater with the poorer family in
the scenario you described.

Mr. WAXMAN. You are changing your definition of disadvantaged
to move away from that kind of balance you said.

Mr. HENINGBURG. We are directed by law to make sure that the
funds which we administer go to families with the greatest econom-
ic need.

Mr. WAXMAN. Say that again.
Mr. HENINGBURG. We are directed by law and by the regulations

that govern these programs to make sure that the available funds
go to the families with the greatest need.

Mr. WAXMAN. The greatest need is an economic need?
Mr. HARMON. I believe we are also directed, in connection with

the enactment of the new disadvantaged minority health law, to
redo the definition as well.

In addition to the family's needs and the students' needs, we
have to look at the general population's need. Minority popula-
tions, with all their disparities in health status and gaps in access
to care, need more minority health practitioners.

We think that is justified.
Mr. WAXMAN. Mr. Richardson, did you want to ask questions?
Mr. RICHARDSON. Yes.
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Mr. WAXMAN. You are recognized for that purpose.
Mr. RICHARDSON. Dr. Harmon, would you give me a status report

on the minority centers of excellence, your recruitment efforts,
how far you have gone since we passed the bill last year?

Mr. HARMON. I believe that program is well underway and we
are seeking to establish these centers.

Dr. Mu llan would probably want to comment specifically.
Mr. MILIAN. Yes.
Mr. Richardson, under the new legislation we have initiated a

cycle of applications.
We have received 32 applications under the Hispanic-Native

American and Other Centers of Excellence portion of that legisla-
tion.

Twenty-two of those centers have been Hispanic; 8, Native Amer-
ican; and 2 other centers.

A peer view process is underway and awards will be made in the
near future.

We anticipate that there will be something on the order of six or
seven Hispanic Centers awards made for a total of $2.5 million and
about 4 Native American awards made for a total of about $1 mil-
lion.

Mr. RICHARDSON. This is a good start, but what are the projected
plans for the next 5 years?

This is a rather modest effort. Do we have a budget problem?
Mr. MULLAN. The administration's budget for fiscal year 1992

calls for a modest increase in appropriations for all of the Centers
of Excellence programs, and we would anticipate that this support
would be a strong part of the administration's budget proposals in
years to come.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Richardson.
Gentlemen, we appreciate your testimony and we look forward to

working with you on this legislation.
[Questions from Mr. Waxman and answers from Health Re-

sources and Services Administration follow:]

HEAL PROGRAM

(1) What percentage of the HEAL defaults are due to bankruptcy? Is there abuse
of the use of bankruptcy as a means to avoid paying these student loans? If so, how
should the Public Health Service Act be changed to prevent abuse?

Please include information for the two most recent fiscal years on the number of
defaults paid by DUllS that were due to bankruptcy.

Answer: Approximately 20 percent of the HEAL claims are due to borrowers filing
for bankruptcy. Although there is no way to prevent an individual from filing for
bankruptcy, HEAL borrowers have been largely unsuccessful in using bankruptcy
as a means to avoid paying these student loans, due to an existing provision of the
Public Health Service Act which makes it extremely difficult to discharge a HEAL
loan due to bankruptcy. Accordingly, no changes are needed in the Public Health
Service Act to prevent abuse. It should be further noted that the HEAL regulations
currently allow lenders to file a claim as soon as they receive court notice that a
borrower has filed for bankruptcy, even though the HEAL loan generally is not eli-
gible for discharge. The Administration is in the final stages of amending the HEAL
regulations to require lenders to hold the HEAL loan if a borrower files for bank-
ruptcy under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, and to continue pursuing collec-
tions upon completion of the bankruptcy proceedings. It is expected that this will
significantly reduce the claims filed due to bankruptcy, since Chapter 7 bankrupt-
cies have accounted for approximately 60 percent of the bankruptcy claims filed in
the 2 most recent fiscal years.
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For the 2 most recent fiscal years, the number of claims paid by DHHS that were
due to bankruptcy are as follows:

Frscal yea( Number Dollar value

1990 255 $10.5 million

1989 159 $6.9 million

(2) After the litigation and poatjudgment collection requirements are met, the
lender/holder is pa'i by DHHS. Most of the defaulters of HEAL loans are or will
become health care professionals. Although their earnings are constrained during
residencies and during their initial years of practice, many of these individuals will
eventually earn substantial incomes.

Why are defaults occurring? Are incomes of health professionals inadequate to
repay their student loans? Is income inadequate for a period of time at the begin-
ning of repayment? Are defaults due to failure to complete training significant? Are
technical defaults (re: failure to file a deferral form) significant factors in total de-
faults?

Please explain the methodology used in gathering information to answer this
question.

Answer: A 1988 survey Of HEAL defaulters showed inadequate income at the
time repayment begins as the number one reason borrowers default. Major reasons
cited for inadequate income included licensing delays, the high costs of practice
startup and business/practice financial problems. These results would indicate that,
at least for some health professionals, income might be inadequate at the beginning
of repayment to sustain HEAL loan payments. Borrowers do have graduated repay-
ment options and may request forbearance for up to two years to (wercome tempo-
rary financial difficulties, and substantial numbers of borrowers make use of these
HEAL loan program features. Approximately eight percent of all defaults are by
borrowers who have failed to complete their health professions educations. While
the specific percentage of defaults which are technical defaults is not known, techni-
cal defaults are known to occur, and DHHS has taken steps to minimize technical
defaults. In particular, special efforts have been made, working with health profes-
sions associations, to identify delinquent borrowers in the litigation process who
should actually be in defe-ment. Further detection of potential technical defaults
occurs at the time a claim is submitted for payment. At that time, verification is
sought that the borrower is not in a deferrable status.

information used to answer this question was derived from the results of a
1988 survey of HEAL defaulters on the reasons for defaults, as well aa from Health
Resources and services Administration [HRSA] financial operating reports.

(3) To what extent are losses to the Student Loan Insurance Fund due to defaults
or to the failure to pursue judgments ir later years?

Please provide for fiscal year 1989, 1990, 1991 and projected 1992 losses to the Stu-
dent Loan Insurance Fund. Provide this information for each type of health profes-
sion school.

Answer: Approximately 70 percent of all claims paid have been Uafaults. Defaults
which occur in later yearv, i.e several years after a borrower enters repayment,
have not been a major default activity to date. Current data shows that 85 to 90
percent of all defaults to date occur within 3 years of entry into repayment. On a
cumulative basis, however, it is expected that later defaults will make up a more
substantial portion of the total as th.e 33-year life cycle of a HEAL loan continues.
Judgments are pursued in later years if it is determined that the pursuit of a judg-
ment immediately after ?a, ;ng a default claim would not be productive.

Claims by health professions discipline, by thousands of dollars, are provided in
the following table for the years 1989, 1990, 1991 and 1992:

Disool;ne
Fixal year Fiscal year hscal year Fiscal year

1989 1990 1991 (est ) 1992 (est )

Wcixactic $2.900 $9,257 $16,096 $20,811

Alicoathy 2,300 6,002 10,436 13,494

Dentistry 2,300 5,294 9,205 11,902
Podiatry 1,400 2,825 4,912 6,351

Weopalby 700 1,468 2.553 3,300
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Discipline
Fiscal year Fiscal year Fisul year Fmal year

1989 1990 1991 ;esl.) 1992 (est.)

Other

Total

560

10,100

1,264

26,110

2,198 2,842

58,700

_

45,400

(4) For fiscal years 1989-91 please provide data on the number of HEAL defaults
and their dollar value referred to the Department of Justice for collection.

For fiscal years 1989-91 please provide the percentage of HEAL loans on which
the Department of Justice [D0J] has taken action and the amount that has been
recovered by DOJ.

Answer: For fiscal years 1989-91 the number of HEAL defaults and their dollar
value referred to DO(1 for collection were as follows:

Fiscal year Number Dollar value

1989.
N/A N/A

1990
294 $10.4 milhon

1991 (through 3/31/91) 797 $37,5 million

Data is not available on the percentage of HEAL loans on which DOJ has taken
action for fiscal years 1989-91 However, the following table indicates the number,
dollar value, and amount recovered on claims in repayment status at DOJ at the
end of fiscal years 1989-91:

Fiscai year Number Mar value Amounl recovered

1989... 281 $6.1 million Not aveable

1990 341 $9.1 million $1.7 million

1991 (thru 3/31/91) ....... ........ . ..... . 501 $11.3 miltion $1.0 rnillion

_
(5) To what extent are shortfalls in. the Student 1Anin Insurance Fund due to

lower SLIF payments charged in the early years of the program?
Answer: The approximate amounts of HEAL loans made at various premium

rates through Fiscal Year 1990 are shown below:

Rate
HEAL lendIng

One-quarter of 1 percent pet year of in-school and grace (0.15 percent effechve flat rate) $178.5 million

One percent per year of in-school and grace-(3 percent effective flat rate) $398.1 million

Two percent per year of in-school and yace-(6 percent effective flat rate) $525.8 million

Eight percent Hal rate
$1,052.4 million

Eight percent of the HEAL loans in repayment have not been repaid and have
resulted in claims against the insurance fund. An 8 percent insurance premium
since the program's inception would have reduced, but not eliminated, the potential
SLIF shortfall, due to the accrual and compounding of interest.

(6) Are you aware of other Federal loan programs that nse their own attorneys or
outside contractors to pursue defaulted loans? Please identify such programs and
provide information on their relative effectiveness.

In this regard, dies the Department of Justice have authority to hire outhide at-
torneys for debt collections? If got is DOJ using this authority for the REAL pro-
gram?

Answer: We are not aware of other Federal loan programs that use their own at-
torneys or outside contractors to take legal action against borrowers who are in de-
fault. It is our understanding that only the Attorney General is authorized to take
legal action against debtors who have defaulted on loans owed to the Federal Gov-
ernment.

It is also our understanding that DOJ has authority to hire outside attorneys for
debt collections, and has used this authority on a pilot basis (i.e., in 7 out of 94 juris-
dictions) for the HEAL program.

(i)t)
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(7) To what extent are SLIF payments charged to students of one health profes-
sion subsidizing the defaults of students from another health profession? What
would be the effect of individually ackjusting the SLIF rate to reflect the relative
default rates of each class of health profession school?

Answer: The extent to which SL1F payments charged to students of one health
profession subsidize the defaults of students from another health profession can be
estimated by looking at the following data, which indicates, by discipline, the total
amount of insurance premiums thato have been paid into the SLIF compared with
the total amount of claims filed against the SLIF as of September 30, 1990:

Discipline
Insurance premiums

Claims paid
Paid

Antipathy $49.0 million $28.6 Nihon
Osteopathy $19.6 million $8.1 million

Dentistry $20.8 million.. ,,,,,, .... $31.1 minion

Chiropfactic $16.8 minion $38.8 million

Podiatry $10.0 million $14.1 million

Other 1.3 minion $8.2 million

Adjusting the insurance premium rate to reflect the relative default rates of each
discipline would be a more equitable way of assessing this charge, but would also be
very costly for students in the disciplines with the highest default rates.

Mr. WAXMAN. Our next panel will comment on some of the con-
troversial issues raised by the President's budget proposal to phase
out the HEAL program.

Our witnesses will be Gerard W. Clum and Sid Williams, repre-
senting the Association of Chiropractic Colleges; and Kurt He-
getschweiler, representing the American Chiropractic Association;
Anthony J. McNevin, representing the American Association of
Colleges of Podiatric Medicine.

We are pleased to welcome you to the hearing.
Your prepared statements will be entered into the record.
Please limit the oral presentation to no more than 5 minutes.
Mr. Clum.

STATEMENTS OF GERARD W. CLUM, PRESIDENT, ASSOCIATION
OF CHIROPRACTIC COLLEGES, ACCOMPANIED BY SID E. WIL-
LIAMS, CHAIRMAN, LEGISLATIVE TASK FORCE; KURT HE-
GETSCHWEILER, CHAIRMAN, COMMISSION ON LEGISLATION,
AMERICAN CHIROPRACTIC ASSOCIATION; AND ANTHONY J.
McNEVIN, PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF COLLEGES
OF PODIATRIC MEDICINE

Mr. Cum. Thank you, Mr. Chi irman.
We appreciate the opportunity o be here today with you to dis-

cuss the concerns of the Association of Chiropractic Colleges rela-
tive to the budget proposal as it reflects on the HEAL program.

We are in opposition to the budget proposal to remove the HEAL
program and to stop the program after so many years of activity.

We feel that the responsibility of the association is to bring to
this table today and to your attention a series of reforms that
would assist you in crafting a better and more functional program
for all of the persons involved, for the students at Chiropractic Col-
leges, for the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Smith, referenced by Mr.
Kostmayer, and for all of the persons who have participated in the
program.
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One of the most important considerations is an extension of the
deferment period or the initial time frame before which repayment
of the loans begins.

If you look at the reporth from the Bureau of Health Professions,
it is obvious that the major problem that leads to default is the
time frame between earning reasonable income to be in a position
for prepayment and the start of the repayment cycle itself.

VI/ith the addition of a 1-year deferment period that would pre-
cede the existing 9-month period, we feel that this would be a rea-
sonable approach to allowing the individual to establish themselves
in practice and be in a position for meaningful repayment.

It was pointed out earlier that the groups of pediatric students,
chiropractic students and dental students have more serious repay-
ment default concerns.

These are students impacted by the time frame problem.
They enter private practice directly and as a result are most im-

pacted by the timing sequence.
The second consideration is the involvement of chiropractic stu-

dents in the HPSL program.
At the present time, they do not have access to the HPSL pro-

gram.
As a result, the loan of last resort, which was the HEAL loan,

becomes very economically a loan of first resort in that the HPSL
program is a more cost-effective program, it is less burdensome to
the students, and it provides for the opportunity for the student to
provide funding for their education 1.i a less burdensome fashion.

The third factor has been spoken of this morning, although not
the jurisdiction of this committee, but the increase in the SLS pro-
gram.

We feel that that would be a significant factor in helping to ease
the dependence on HEAL and, therefore, help rectify some of the
problems that have existed with the program itself.

The final consideration that the Association would like to bring
to your attention is the standardization of default rate calculation.

There has been a great deal of discussion and comment over the
past year on default rates in all loan programs for students and
one of the problems is that we encounter is that the Stafford pro-
gram, for example, their method of default calculation is different
than the HEAL program and when you sit down to compare apples
and oranges, it is very difficult to do.

We propose that standardization of the default rate basis would
be an appropriate move to give you greater oversight capacity and
greater ability to understand what the status of the individual pro-
grams is when they are compared to one another.

The other considerations that I would ask, that when you consid-
er the question of the dollars or the percentages of the program
that chiropractic students are involved in that are in default com-
pared to other disciplines at this time, one of the most important
aspects that has to be considered is the percentage of chiropractic
loans that are in repayment versus the percentage of loans of other
disciplines that are in repayment.

At the present time, approximately 47 percent of all loans made
to chiropractic students are in repayment as opposed to 19 percent
of loans made to students at Allopathic Institutions?
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As a result, when one starts to compare the dollars in default,
they are skewed tremendously.

If the playing field was level and the calculation brought out to
what the number would be when 47 percent of each group is in re-
payment as chiropractic is then the num.,.T situation would be
more equitable and would not be as marked as it appears to be in
the budget proposal that has already come out.

Mr. Chairman, at this time, I would like to ask that the remain-
ing time that I have be allotted to Dr. Sid Williams. He is chair-
man of the Legislative Task Force of the Association of Chiroprac-
tic Colleges and chairman of the Board of Directors of the Interna-
tional Chiropractors Association.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Clum follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DR. GERARD W. CLUM, PRESIDENT, ASSOCIATION OF
CHIROPRACTIC COLLEAGUES

On behalf of the Association of Chiropractic Colleges [ACC) and the nearly 10,000
students currently attending our member institutions, I wish to thank the Commit-
tee for this opportunity to provide information on the federal student loan issue
from the unique perspective of the chiropractic college community.

The Chiropractic Profession
Chiropractic is an efficient, cost-effective primary health care alternative which

offers consumers and third-party payment agencies a drug-free, nonsurgical health
care option that is highly inappropriate for a wide range of conditions. Doctors of
Chiropractic, thanks to our present system of quality chiropractic education, are in-
tensively trained in the basic sciences, anatomy, physiology, diagnostic procedures
and public health issues, and are unique amr primary health care providers in
their curricular emphasis on the structure am .chanics of the human spine.

Chiropractic students have an average age of 27 years, 30 percent are married,
and 30 percent are women. Our educational institutions are private colleges. The
only federal support for chiropractic education is through the present limited provi-
sions of the student loan program.

After the successful completion of established undergraduate prerequisites similar
to those required in medical and dental programs, chiropractic students must com-
plete a four year program of full time residential instruction at an accredited chiro-
practic college. Upon completion of this program, students are awarded a first pro .
fessional degree as a Doctor of Chiropractic:.

The process of obtaining a license to practice chiropractic begins with the qualify-
ing examination conducted by the National Board of Chiropractic Examiners
[NBCE]. The NBCE examinations are accepted in whole or in part by all 50 states
and the District of Columbia, but the majority of states require additional examina-
tion in clinical competency and other areas before a state license is granted.

Public acceptance and consumer confidence in the chiropractic profession are at
an all time high. As public understanding of the positive benefits of chiropractic
care increases, so does the effective consumer demand for chiropractic services. For
example, as the risks of routinely applied surgical solutions to common back prob-
lems become more clearly understood, and as the costs of such procedures continue
to explode, the conservative alternative offered by chiropractic is being actively
sought out by millions of Americans every year.

Recent research findings fully document the efficacy and appropriateness of the
chiropractic alternative for a host of patient conditions. Furthermore, chiropractic
strongly emphasizes patient responsibility, health education, prevention and health
maintenance in a drug-free environment.

We in the chiropractic profession were dismayed, and indeed somewhat puzzled by
the charactethation of chiropractic recently published by the Bush Administration
in their 1992 Budget proposal. Describing chiropractic as a "low demand" profes-
sion, this document gives an incorrect impression of the viability of chiropractic in
today's confusing and increasingly competitive health care marketplace. It is very
important to note that throughout its nearly 100 years of existence, the chiropractic
profession has sustained itsel!' almost entirely with private sector dollars. In 1991,
the average; doctor of medicine will receive over half of his or her income from fed-
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eral, state or local government payments. For the doctor of chiropractic, this figure
is somewhere around eight percent.

If there is one primary herith care profession that can point to private sector
demand and to marketplace viability for economic validation, it is chiropractic.
Every day, thousands of American consumers decide to spend money out of their
own pockets for chiropractic services, when traditional medical care is available to
them through insurance or government programs at a subsidized cost, or no coat at
all. They make this choice because they believe in what chiropractic has to offer.
The HEAL Program and Chiropractic Education

We in the chiropractic college community find it difficult to understand how the
elimination of one vitally important professional funding mechanism, the Health
Education Assistance Loan [HEAL] Program, could, in any conceivable way, be in
the best interest of the consuming public, which we in the health care disciplines
strive to serve.

To help you understand why we hold this position, I wish to focus the attention of
the committee on the exact context in which the chiropractic college student finds
him or herself in the process of funding a professional education and to convey, in
as clear and concise a way as possible, the vital importance of the HEAL Program
to the chiropractic student and to the thousands of individual patients each one will
ultimately serve.

When the HEAL loan program was initiated in 1976, it was viewed by all parties
as the loan of last resort. It did provide significant borrowing capacity, but it carried
a devastating interest rate which currently stands at T-Bill plus three percent (9.25
percent as of May 30, 1991).

For many disciplines, HEAL was the loan of last resort, due to the availability of
other more favorable programs. Among these programs is the Health Professions
Student Loan Program [HPSL], which carries an interest rate of 5 percent and
allows borrowing to the level of tuition plus $2500 per nine month academic year.
But for chiropractic students, who have been excluded from participation in HPSL
and have had very few, if any, options, the HEAL program is the loan of first and
last resort.
The HEAL Timing Problem for Chiropractic Graduates

It is this forced dependence on the HEAL Program that has contributed to some
of the problems experienced by chiropractic students in the program. For chiroprac-
tic students, the HEAL Program has contained a critical design flaw from the very
beginning. It reflects a standard medical model of education, providing deferrals for
graduates during periods of internship and residency. This allows a graduate of a
medical school to be licensed and earning meaningful income well before the person
moves into repayment. On the other hand, a typical June graduate of a chiropractic
college seeking to practice in California would be eligible for li :ensure examination
in November, would receive the examination results in January or February, and
would be required to begin HEAL loan repayment in March.

For those who doubt the impact of an inappropriate licensure/loan repayment
cycle, one only needs to review the performance of chiropractic students in states
where licensure is available immediately after graduation.

The befit performance on HEAL loans in chiropractic is seen with the graduates
of New York Chiropractic College. In New York, students are eligible to take the
licensure examination during their last term. As a result, a successful candidate is
licensed within days after graduation, as opposed to months in the example cited
from California. The result is a lower default rate due to greater income potential.
Chiropractic Default Rates

We would like to make two important observa, is concerning chiropractic stu-
dent default rates. First, in contrast to the stater!) nts made by the Office of Man-
agement and the Budget [OMB], chiropractic default rates are not the highest rates
being experienced by the HEAL program. For example, in an October 1990 report
issued by the Bureau of Health Professions' Division of Student Assistance, default
rates were noted as follows: Public health, 15.7 percent; health administration, 11.7
percent; podiatry, 10 percent; chiropractic, 9.7 percent; dentistry, 7.7 percent; and
medicine, 5 percent.

Chiropractic default rates relative to other professions are still over:stated. We be-
lieve that as other professions, most notably medicine, reach the stage that chiro-
practic graduates have that have our relative position among the professions in
terms of default rates will improve.

The second point we would like to make concerning chiropractic default rates is
that through the efforts of our colleges, they have significantly improved over the
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last four years. Every year since 1986, chiropractic students have borrowed fewer
HEAL dollars than the year before. Aggressive debt awareness and debt manage-
ment strategies have been presented to chiropractic students across the country. As
a result, yearly default rates have gone down in four of the last five years.
Further Reforms in the HEAL Program

As taxpayers and citizens we realize that current HEAL default rates must be im-
proved beyond the reductions that we have made in the last four years. To this end.,
on behalf of the Association of Chiropractic Colleges, we urge, in the strongest possi-
ble way, that serious consideration be given to the following reforms: (1) Amend the
provisions of the HEAL Program to provide all disciplines with a standard one year
or more deferment before the tolling of the present nine month grace period. As
previously discussed this reform would "level the playing field" and allow chiroprac-
tic graduates to establish themselves before beginning repayment.

(2) Access and appropriate funding be provided for the participation of chiroprac-
tic students in the Health Profession Student Loan [HPST..] Program.

(3) Increase the borrowing capacity for all eligible students under the supplemen-
tal loan to assist students [SLS] from the current $4,000 per year to $10,000 per
year. An increase in the SLS borrowing capacity and inclusion in the HPSL Pro-
gram would decrease dependence on the HEAL program and make it truly a 'last
resort' option. These two reforms would increase chiropractic students access to pro-
grams that have both fairer interest rates (good for the students) and who have sig-
nificantly lower default rates than the HEAL program (good for taxpayers).

(4) Standardize the process by which default levels are calculated in all federal
student loan programs according to the process employed by the Department of
Education. Part of the HEAL programs "default problem" stems from the method
used to calculate the default rates. HEAL program dcfault rates should be calculat-
ed in the same manner as other programs.

We believe the above requests are reasonable and serve the publics' interest.
These reforms would result in increased access to health care, lower costs of health
care due to lower educational funding costs and greater levels of student loan repay-
ment.

A Devastating Reform
We are aware of a "reform" being prepared that would have a devastating effect

on the HEAL program. The Department of Health and Human Services is prepar-
ing a regulation that would arbitrarily implement a cutoff lewd of default on an
institutional or discipline basis. We ask you to thoroughly and carefully consider the
wisdom of allowing that regulation to be implemented. Such a broad axe approach
to this issue would serve to disenfranchise some of the most needy students in disci-
plines across the spectrum of health care. Minority and female students would be
impacted to an extreme. We implore you to consider a moratorium on regulations
regarding default rates and for you to continue to monitor the progress of the pro-
fessions in dealing with this matter after the reforms suggested above are imple-
mented.

To do our part, we pledge our continuing riipport in implementing default reduc-
tion programs at each of our Colleges. Federal assistance for chiropractic education
provides a door of opportunity through which thousands of young men and women
have passed into careers as health professionals and productive taxpayers. We im-
plore you to keep this door open as wide and as obstacle free as possible.

We thank you for your consideration.

STATEMENT OF SID E. WILLIAMS

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and distinguished
members of the committee. I take this great opportunity to repre-
sent the International Chiropractors Association. I appreciate the
opportunity.

In this process of default rate reduction, the Congress has an im-
portant role to play. It is vitally important that the members of
this committee recognize that there are critical flaws in the design
of the HEAL loan program as it applies to chiropractic students.

We emphatically believe that the legislative correction of these
inherent programmatic problems will allow the chiropractic profes-
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sion to bring the HEAL default rate down to the impressively low
levels we are recording in other student loan programs.

For example, the general student loan default rate for Life Col-
lege, of which I am president, is below 3 percent.

What is urgently required is the amendment of the payback
schedule to reflect the realities of the postgraduation process of ob-
taining a chiropractic license and establishing a practice, or secur-
ing employment in an existing chiropractic practice or institution.

This is a process that can easily take a full year, or perhaps even
longer, depending on the time of graduation and the State in which
the graduate is seeking licensure.

The HEAL loan payback schedule is designed to fit the circum-
stances of the typical medical school student, providing generous
deferrals for graduates during periods of internship, residency and
postgraduate study.

These are reasonable provisions, and we support their continu-
ance.

However, in fairness, we call upon the Congress to deal with the
chiropractic college graduate with the same sensitivity, recogr izing
the fact that it is routinely quite difficult and often quite impossi-
ble for chiropractic graduates to be licensed and in a position to
earn a professional income 9 molths after graduation.

To correct this unfortunate imbalance in the HEAL program, we
urge the Congress to enact amendments to the current program to
provide all disciplines with a standard 1-year deferment before the
start of the present 9-month grace period.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Williams follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF Sm E. WILIAAMS, CHAIRPF.RSON OF THE BOARD,
INTERNATIONAL CHIROPRACTORS ASSOCIATION

I am pleased to have the opportunity to share with the Committee important in-
formation about chiropractic and our system of professional education, in the hope
that you will better understand the importance of the Health Education Assistance
Loan [HEAL] program not only to our students and practicing Doctors of Chiroprac-
tic in active practice, but ultimately to the consuming public as well.

For sixty-six years, the International Chiropractors Association has sought to set
the highest technical, professional and ethical standards for the chiropractic proies-
sion. The primary means through which these goals have been addressed is through
the system of chiropractic education. Quality education is, without question, the pri-
mary element essential to insure the delivery of quality service. This is as true, in
chiropractic as it is in medicine, dentistry or any other licensed health care profes-
sion.

Chiropractic educational standards are strict and demanding, requiring a thor-
ough background in the basic sciences roughly equivalent to medical, dental and os-
teopathic programs and four years of fulltirne, residential instruction in human
anatomy, physiology, biology, biomechanics, chiropractic diagnosis, adjustive tech-
niques, public health issues and chiropractic philosophy.

Chiropractic college students must complete a rigorous and uniquely specialized
program of classroom and practical training that includes more tnan 'i,000 hours of
specific study of the anatomy, dynamics and biomechanics of the human spine and
the nature, and components of the spinal subluxation complex. No other health care
professional devotes this level of serious scientific study to the human spine. The
process of adjusting the human spine to correct spinal subluxation(s) is chiroprac-
tic's unique contribution to health care.

Chiropractic students are thoroughly trained in the appropriate use of sophisticat-
ed diagnostic technology including x-ray, therrnography, video-fluoroscopy and other
state-of-the-art investigative technologies and procedures. The capacity to fully
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evaluate the health care needs of the chiropractic patient, including appropriate re-
ferrals to other health professionals, when necessary, is an imp atent objective of
chiropractic education.

Nearly 10,000 students attend the 14 chiropractic colleges accredited by the Coun-
cil on Chiropractic Education [CCE]. CCE is recognized by the U.S. Department of
Education and the Council on Post Secondary Accreditation [COPA] and is the
world's oldest and most respected academic standards organization for chiropractic.

Most of our colleges have sought to further certify their academic strength by
qualifying for recognition and accreditation by regional accrediting agencies. For ex-
ample, Life College in Marietta, Georgia, is additionally accredited by the Southern
Association of Colleg and Schools and Palmer College in Daverirmt, lowe, is ac-
credited also by the North Central Association of Colleges and Sch00%.

Chiropractic educational institutions operate largely without the benefit of federal
or other public grant monies. The chiropractic profession is unique among licensed
primary health care professions in that its educational system has historically been
funded almost entirely through private sources. Despite this unfortunate and in-
equitable handicap, the system of chiropractic education has, in recent years, grown
dramatically and developed both in size and in the quality of the programs offered
as well as in the professional excellence of its graduates.

Research into the fundamental components of chiropractic science and the effica-
cy of chiropractic care is an important element in the mission of U.S. chiropractic
colleges. Again, without public funding on any significant level, chiropractic colleges
engage in wide-ranging health research activities at the highest technical and pro-
fessional level.

This is the world a new student encounters when he or she enters chiropractic
college. However, a demanding curriculum fine high academic standards are not the
only challenges facing these young people. Finding the money to pay for a profes-
sional health care education is becoming increasingly difficult. It is somewhat dis-
heartening to appear before you today for discussions on the future of federal fund-
ing programs for health education, in the context of the Administration's proposal
to eliminate one of the most effective and important of the publicly funded assist-
ance options available to people seeking a professional health education.

We at the International Chiropractors Association were deeply disturbed by the
proposf Is made by the Bush Administration in their 1992 Budget regarding the
elimination of the Health Education Assistance Loan [HEAL] Program. We were
equally alarmed by the Administration's plan to expressly exclude chiropractic and
podiatric students from the programs proposed to fill the void left by HEAL's termi-
nation.

It would appear that the reasoning behind the Administration's proposal regard-
ing HEAL is based on an inaccurate or incomplete understanding of the chiroprac-
tic situation, particularly with regard to the default rate.

The chiropractic college community shares the Administration's concern over the
issue of HEAL loan defaults. Reducing this rate has been and continues to be one of
the highest priorities of our college administrators, myself included. Sound debt
management programs, debt awareness education, the aggressive pumuit of alterna-
tive funding sources and enhanced practice and business management assistance
programs have combined to both reduce the amount of new HEAL dollars borrowed,
and to bring the yearly defauit rates down in four of the past five years.

We are working hard to make the HEAL loan the option of last resort that it vrts
intended by Congress to be. We are proud of the progress we are making. We also
realize there is much work yet to be done.

In this process of default rate reduction, the Congress has an important role to
play. It is vitally important that the memberi of this Committee recognize that
there are critical flaws in the design of the HEAL loan program as it applies to
chiropractic students. We emphatically believe that the legislative correction of
these inherent programmatic problems will allow the chiropractic profession to
bring the HEAL default rate down to the impressively low levels we are recording
in other student loan programs. For example, the GSL [General Student Loan] de-
fault rate for Life College, of which I am President, is below three percent.

What is urgently required is the amendment of the payback schedule to reflect
the realities of the postgraduation procesa of obtaining a chiropractic license and
establishing a practice, or securing employment in an existing chiropractic practice
or institution. This is a process that can easily take a full year, or perhaps even
longer, depending on the time of graduation and the state in which the graduate is
seeking licensure.

The HEAL loan payback schedule is designed to fit the circumstances of the typi-
cal nmdical school student, providing generous deferrals for graduates during peri-
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ods of internship, residency and postgraduate study. These are reasonable provi-
sions, and we support their continuance. However, in fairness, we call upon the Con-
gress to deal with the chiropractic college graduate with the same sensitivity, recog-
nizing the fact that it is routinely quite difficult and often quite impossible for
chiropractic graduates to be licensed and in a position to earn a professional income
nine months after graduation. To correct this unfortunate imbahaice in the HEAL
program, we urge the Congress to enact amendments to the current program to pro-
vide all disciplines with a standard one year deferment before the start of the
present nine month grace period.

We also have serious concerns about the way in which default records and aggre-
gate default statistics are calculated in HEAL. We understand that once a chiro-
practic loan is recorded as being in default, it remains in that category even if the
recipient repays the obligation in full. Clearly this type of procedure makes for a
distorted picture of the true repayment situation. We urge the Congress to standard-
ize the process by which default levels are calculated in all federal student loan pro-
grams according to the methodology utilized by the U.S. Department of Education.

To truly make HEAL the funding option of last resort, we urge the inclusion of
chiropractic students in other federal programs, such as the Health Professions Stu-
dent Loan Program [HPSL], and the expansion of the borrowing capacity for eligible
students in the Supplemental Loans for Students [SLS] program. We urge the Con-
gress to seriously consider the importance of these program changes in addition to
the HEAL program reforms outlined above.

Finally, it is important to address the Administration's contention that the HFAL
program does little to assist disadvantaged and minority students to obtain a profes-
sional health education. While we are in no position to offer data on other profes-
sions, in chiropractic education, HEAL is without question the primary means by
which minority enrollment is underwritten.

Doctors of Chiropractic in general and the ICA in particular are committed to the
establishment of a chiropractic profession in the U.S. that reflects the differences
and diversity in our society. For many years, ICA has funded a minority scholarship
program, in cooperation with the American Black Chiropractors Association, and
ICA affiliated colleges have led the way in minority recruitment, including assist-
ance in obtaining preprofessional educational requirements. The HEAL Program
has served to fund the professional education of the vast majority of Hispanic,
Native American, Asian and African American chiropractic students when other
avenues of public funding were closed and when private resources were not ade-
quate or not available at all.

The elimination of the HEAL Program and the arbitrary exclusion of any health
profession from the HPSL Program or any other federal assistance program will
serve only to slam another door in the faces of able, intelligent, courageous young
men and women who want nothing more than the opportunity to work and to strive
as health care professionals.

In closing, .1 urge the Committee to consider all those HEAL loan borrowers who
do successfully repay their obligations, in full and on time. Their achievements, in
the face of genuine adversity and at great cost because of the high interest rates
and premiums attached to the HEAL loan are a national success story, in chiroprac-
tic and in all the other professions. Their entry into America's pool of health pen
sonnel has helped to keep national health care costs down and played an important
role in meeting the growing need for quality service in a health care delivery
system under serious pressure.

On behalf of the officers, directors and membership of the International Chiro-
practors Association, which includes nearly 3,000 chiropractic college students, I
wish to thank the Committee for this opportunity to present our perspective on this
vitally important issue. We will be happy to provide any additional information you
may require and to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. WAXMAN. Now, let's hear from Mr. Hegetschweiler.

STATEMENT OF KURT HEGETSCHWEILER
Mr. HEGETSCHINEILER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for providing

the American Chiropractic Association to testify on the issue of
Federal student loans.

Mr. Chairman, the issues which we are addressing today deserve
a serious and thorough analysis. Although a full understanding of
the HEAL loan program requires a detailed examination of many
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technical issues--the message we wish to deliver today is very
simple:

One, the HEAL program serves many admirable and important
policy objectives, and as such, deserves to be ( )ntinued.

Two, the default raths in the program are unacceptably high
and Congress should address this problem through the enactment
of meaningful legislative reform.

Three, no single health care profession, or group of professions,
should be singled out for pumtive treatment which would bar
them, as a class, from participation in the program.

All institutions, regardless of profession, should remain eligible
to participate in the program, as long as they remain in compli-
ance with any new eligibility standards established by Congress.

All institutions should be treated fairly and should be made to
adhere to the same rules and regulationsregardless of profession.

Mr. Chairman, we categorically reject the OMB position on this
matter, as stated in their fiscal year 1992 budget submission.

The recommendation, to exclude the chiropractic profession from
the HEAL program, was an unfortunate method by which to solve
a complex public policy issue and constitutes little more than gra-
tuitous "profession-bashing."

In any other arena, OMB's choice to delete an entire class of pro-
viders or group of professionals from a Government program would
have been seen as discriminatory and as such totally unacceptable.

In attempting to address the legitimate concerns about the
HEAL program, the American Chiropractic Association has tried
to play a constructive and positi ve role, by helping to craft a series
of possible program reforms which could be instituted.

We have included a suggested list of reforms as an attachment to
this testimony for your review.

We have made a good faith effort to craft reforms which are all
inclusive, and we believe we have offered substantial and credible
suggestions.

We do not claim that our list of possible reforms is perfecthow-
ever, it would seem reasonable to assume that if this committee
were to positively signal its strong intent to reform the program
rather than abolish itthen other parties might be encouraged to
develop helpful reform suggestions as well.

We encourage any constructive dialogue which might result from
this approach. Whatever Congress does, it should be guided by two
principles: fairness and incentives to all participants in the pro-
gram.

I wish to make one point absolutely clear. We recognize and fully
accept the legitimate need to address the problem of unacceptably
high default rates within our profession.

We do not seek to evade or shift the emphasis off the compelling
need to address this problem.

We fully support the imposition of needed reforms to the HEAL
programwhich will strengthennot weaken the program in
order to guarantee that the program continues to fulfill those
policy objectives for which it is intended, by providing continued
access to a critical source of student loan funds for students of all
health care disciplines, including chiropractic.

(1)



61

One of the major reforms which has surfaced involves the estab-
lishment of a default rate capor other capping mechanisms,
which would preclude institutions with excessively high default
rates from participation in the program.

We have no problem supporting this concept, as long as any cap-
ping mechanism or rate is applied equally to all institutions, re-
gardless of discipline.

The actual capping rate, which might be established and the
mechanisms used to define or compute default rates are a matter
of concern to our profession.

Any cap established should be both realistic and consistent with
meeting the public policy needs and objectives of the progi am.

Before concluding our testimony, I would like to make note of
the following observations which we feel should be given consider-
ation by the con-Imittee in its deliberations:

One, an incentive-based system to encourage institutions to bring
down their default rates should be enacted. Systematic exclusion
from the HEAL program or other draconian measures do nothing
to encourage the many schools with low HEAL default rates from
continuing their work to bring default rates down. One idea is to
establish a differential insurance premium rate and allow a 3- to 5-
yea r phasein to bring down the default rate to an acceptable level.

Two, all eligible provider groups should be treated equally across
the board.

Three, default rates should be calculated on a cohort basis simi-
lar to the Department of Education calculations.

Four, while we feel current chiropractic default rate are unac-
ceptable, other classes of providers have a higher percentage of de-
faulting students or a comparable percentage rate.

Five, all HEAL eligible disciplines should be less expensive
HPSL loan program.

It makes sense that students who are paying higher rates are
having more difficulty repaying their student loans.

Put all disciplines on the same playing field before comparing
them. Provide additional incentives. If an institution meets the
HPSL standards, the institution should be eligible.

End the professionwide exclusion of chiropractic from HPSL;
that is not only fair, but adds incentives to schools to continue to
bring down their default rates.

Mr. WAXMAN. The rest of that statement will be in the record.
Your time has expired.
I have to respond to a vote on the House floor, so I will recess

the meeting now and if Mr. Kostmayer comes in we will get started
again and I will return as soon as I can.

[Testimony resumes on p. 73.]
[The prepared statement and attachment of Mr. Hegetschweiler

follow:]

45-904 0 - 91 3
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TESTIMONY OF

KURT HEGETSCHWEILER, D.C.

CHAIRMAN, COMMISSION ON LEGISLATION

AMERICAN CHIROPRACTIC ASSOCIATION

Mr. Chairman, the issues which we are addressing today deserve a serious and thorough

analysis. Although a full understanding of all aspects of the HEAL loan program

requires a detailed examination of many technical issues -- the message we wish to

deliver today is very simple...

One -- The HEAL program serves many admirable and important policy

objectives -- and as such, Ceserves to be continued.,.

The default rates in the program are unacceptably high -- and

Congress should address this problem through the enactment of

meaningful legislative reform...

No single health care profession, or group of professions should be

singled out for punitive treatment which would bar them -- as a class

-- from participation in the program. All institutions, regardless of

profession, should remain eligible to participate in the program, as

long as they remain in compliance with any new eligibility standards

established by Congress. All institutions should be treated fairly and

should be made to adhere to the same rules and regulations

regardless of profession.

Mr. Chairman, we categorically reject the OMB position on this !natter, as stated in

their FY92 Budget submission. The recommendation., to exclude the chiropractic

profession from the HEAL program, was an unfortunate method by which to solve a

6 7
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complex public policy issue and constitutes little more than gratuitous "profession-

bashing." In any other arena, 0MI3's choice to delete an entire class of providers or

group of professionals from a government program would have been seen as

discriminatory and as such totally unacceptable.

In attempting to address the legitimate concerns about the HEAL program, the Americar

Chiropractic Association has tried to play a constructive and positive role, by helping to

craft a series of possible program reforms which could be instituted. We have included

a suggested list of reforms as an attachment to this testimony, for your review. We have

made a good faith effort to craft reforms which are all inclusive, and we believe we have

offered substantial and credible suggestions. We do not claim that our list of possible

reforms is perfect -- however, it would seem reasonable to assume that if this committee

were to positively signal its strong intent to reform the program -- rather than abolish

it -- then other parties might be encouraged to develop helpful reform suggestions as

well. We encourage any constructive diaiogue which might result from this approach.

Whatever Congress does, it should be guided by two principles: fairness and incentives

to all participants in the program.

I wish to make one point absolutely clear. We recognize and fully accept the legitimate

need to address the problem of unacceptably high default rates within our profession.

We do not seek to evade or shift the emphasis off the compelling need to address this

problem. We fully support the imposition of needed reforms to the HEAL program -

- which will strengthen not weaken the program -- in order to guarantee that the

2
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program continues to fulfill those policy objectives for which it is intended, by providing

continued access to a critical source of student loan funds for students of all health care

disciplines -- including chiropractic.

One of the major reforms which has surfaced involves the establishment of a default

rate cap or other capping mechanisms, which would preclude institutions with

excessively high default rates from participation in the program. We have no problem

supporting this concept, as long as any capping mechanism or rate is applied equally to

all institutions, regardless of discipline. The actual capping rate which might be

established and the mechanisms used to define or compute default rates are a matter

of concern to our profession. Any cap established should be both realistic and consistent

with meeting the public policy needs and objectives of the program.

Before concluding our testimony I would like to make note of the folk wing observations

which we feel should be given consideration by the committee in its deliberations:

* An incentive-based system to encourage institutions to bring down their default

rates should be enacted. Systematic exclusion from the HEAL program or

other draconian measures do nothing to encourage the many schools with low

HEAL default rates from continuing their work to bring default rates down.

One idea is to establish a differential insurance premium rate. Allow a three-

five year phase-in to bring down thc default rate to an acceptable level.

* All eligible provider groups should be Ireated equally across the board.

3
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" Default rates should be calculated on a cohort basis similar to the Department

of Education calculations.

While we feel current chiropractic default rates are unacceptable, other classes

of providers have a higher percentage of defaulting students or a comparable

percentage rate.

e All HEAL eligible disciplines should he part of the less expensive IIPSL loan

program. It makes sense that students who are paying higher rates are having

more difficulty repaying their student loans. Put all disciplines on the same

playing field before comparing them. Provide additinnal incentives: if an

institution meets the HPSL standards, thr institution should be eligible. End

the profess:on.wide exclusion of chiropractic from HPSL; that is not only fair

but adds incentives to schools to continue to bring down their default rates.

Allow forgiveness of the Joan if one provides service in a designated medically

underserved area, a certain amount for each year served. 29% of ACA's

members practice in communities with populations of 25,000 or less. These are

the types of communities that need portal of entry health care providers like

doctors of chiropractic.

A chiropractic-specific amendment to allow an additional one-year grace period

is needed so that practioners have enough time to set up a practice and

4
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become established prior to repayment commencement. Other disciplines have

their residency and internship grace periods and this provision would be

comparable.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I would like to reemphasize that the American Chiropractic

Association strongly feels that the reauthorization of the HEAL loan program and the

issue of default rates can be dealt with successfully -- through common sense and good

faith reforms which are fair to all parties involved. Towards this end, we have engaged

in a productive dialogue with as many of the key players involved as possible. We have

met privately with departmental officials in charge of administering the program,

members of Congress and their staffs, college administrators, student participants in the

programs. associations representing other professions, and other parties interested in the

HEAL loan program. For us, this has been an encouraging process, as we have been

told time and time again, that were on the right track. Our profession has a compelling

need to participate in the HEAL and HPSL programs -- and we are sincere in our strong

desire to see that those student loan programs to which we have access are fi scal I y

responsible and sound, so that they can continue to fulfill the important policy objectives

for which they were intended. In this regard, we stand willing to do our part and to

continue to work with others towards a positive common objective.

We thank the subcommittee for its indulgence, and its willingness to provide us with an

opportunity to present our views on this important matter.

5
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1991 HEAL REFORM SUGGESTIONS

Among the proposals and suggested reforms in this list are strategies aimed at many
of the complex factors and policies which contribute to students defaulting on their

HEAL loans. While this list is not assumed to be all-inclusive, we feel it offers many

substantive solutions to the HEAL default problem. These proposals cover many
differing aspects leading to student defaults, some require legislative action, some can

be achieved through regulation, and others can be achieved by the educational
institutions and organizations representing each profession. These reforms are not
chiropractic specific just as the default problem is not profession-specific but rather is

an institution by institution concern. We believe that all parties involved, colleges,
lending institutions, professional organizations, and policy-makers should take
responsibility to effect reform within their sphere to return this valuable program to

financial solvency and budget-neutrality.

LEGISLATIVE/REGULATORY REFORMS

o Simplify loan process by allowing lending institutions to consolidate HEAL

loans with other student loans

HEAL loans may currently be combined, but not consolidated with other loans.
The book keeping process needs to be streamlined for lending institutions in order
to simplify the collection of loans as well as helping to encourage the repayment of
loans by allowing the borrower to make one easy payment.

o Institute an early intervention program through outreach efforts

During the crucial interval between graduation and the beginning of the repayment
schedule a stepped-up educational intervention program must be put into place.
Students who find themselves in a financial bind and are unable to pay should
be educated about alternatives available to them. A helpful "hotline" manned by
the educational institutions, lenders, or the Department of HHS can assist in
keeping an open dialogue with such former students. Educational materials
explaining options should be made available.
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ACA HEAL Proposed reforms page 2

o Allow a one year deferment before grace period for students of disciplines not
eligible for internship or residency deferment.

Currently many HEAL borrowers do not even have the opportunity to sit for
licensure prior to the arbitrary deadline for initiation of repayment. An additional
one year deferment from repayment should be instituted for those
health professions which are not eligible for deferment on the basis of a residency
or internship program. This deferment period would allow the student sit for
licensure, to establish his/her practice and be in a better position to repay the
loans. Policies which set unfair deadlines making it more difficult for first-year
practitioners to meet their obligations must be corrected.

o Standardize the Departments of Education (USDE) and Health & Human Services
default calculations. USDE procedures for Stafford plogram should be applied.

Standardizing the loan programs will allow for uniform reviews of the various
programs and to properly assess those procedures which are working to reduce the
default rates. Default rates for institutions should be calculated on a cohort basis
rather than cumulatively, thus a more accurate representation of institution's
progress toward lowering defaults would be clearly seen.

o Provide eligibility fur rtudents of chiropractic in the HPSL program and
alternative loan programs to make HEAL a program of last resort. With the 5%
default cap under HPSL, this would provide market incentive for institutions to
take corrective action.

All borrowers eligible for the HEAL program should be eligible for the IIPSI,
program. The less expensive nature of the HPSL program will help reduce overall
indebtedness, thus the HEAL program will be used only as a last resort.

o Institute default rate performance standards at a percentage that would insure the
solvency of the insurance fund (SLIF) (phased-in over a 3-5 year period).

A cap rate of default should be put in place to encourage schools to take positive
action to collect on defaulted loans. The rate should take into account efforts of
those institutions which are taking steps to reduce defaults. The performance
standard should be phased-in with a procedure similar to that implemented under
the IIPSI. program whereby an institution is permitted to retain loan eligibility
if they succeed in lowering their rate by one-half until they are in compliance with
the standard.
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ACA HEAL Proposed Reforms page 3

o Mandate that lenders provide student borrowers who drop out of school
a supplemental repayment agreement which bases the amount of the borrower's
payments on his or her income.

The reauthorization should provide that HEAL program have flexibility to
promulgate regulations which allow lendir.g institutions to effectively
renegotiate a new agreement with students who have dropped out basing the
agreement with the borrowers current ability to pay. The lending institution should
have the flexibility to readjust the agreement during the term of the note Oa the
same basis of ability to pay.

o Provide borrowers with the option of either serving in a geographic
underserved area of the country or providing public service in return for
forgiveness of a portion of their loan.

In a measure that would improve access to health care while providing an incentive
for providers to locate in medically underserved areas, borrowers should be
forgiven a portion of their indebtedness in return for practicing in a medically
underserved area. Further, all borrowers eligible for the HEAL program should be
eligible for service in the Public Health Service Corps.

o Permit HEAL borrowers to refinance their loans. Borrowers would be required to
pay the lender the market rate for refinancing.

In order to encoarage HEAL borrowers to repay their loans, lenders should be
allowed wide latitude to develop innovative repayment schedules.

o The federal government should partially subsidize the time r.cctued interest
on the loan while the borrower is in school and during periods of authorized
deferments.

Recommended by the Bureau of Health Professions (BHPr) report "A Review of
Defaulters..." Part II of November 3, 1985. This recommendation (#21) would
reduce monthly payments for borrowers, Cost trade-offs between the amount of
decreased defaults and the cost of such a subsidy are uncertain.

o Support H.R. 747 which provides for the taxdeductibility of interest on
student loans.

The tax deductibility of interest paid on student loans provides another incentive

for repayment.
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ACA HEAL Reform Proposals - page 4

o Encourage states to consider allowing students to sit for licensure during last
trimester of college.

State legislation currently enacted in 20 states allows students to take their boards
prior to graduation. This helps establish the borrower at an earlier time. Thus
allowing him to establish and develop a practice prior to commencement of
repayment.

o Provide incentives to encourage lending institutions to aggressively pursue
defaulters.

Currently there is little incentive for lending institutions to take an active interest
in lowering default rates. These :nstitutions have the experience and personnel
necessary to have a significant impact on the collection of defaulted loans, but the
current system discourages any interest in the problem.

INSTITUTION OR ORGANIZATIONAL EFFORTS

o Develop educational booklets for all students outlining options

Educational institutions can be an effective distribution network for the HEAL
program. A stepped-up distribution of educational materials during and
immediately after graduation is needed. Tne government could design such a
package and the institutions could print the necessary copies for its students.

o Require follow up on defaulters by the educational institution

Schools should be encouraged to pursue their former students who are in default
through mailings and other outreach efforts.

o Have professional association write defaulters to urge their repayment.

State and national organizations should be able to contact defaulters to inform
them of thier options, and help facilitate repayment. This would require Ishat
131-11Pr make the names and addresses of defualters available. Professions should
be encouraged to aid in the collection process and by focusing attention on the
issue of non-payment of loans.
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ACA HEAL Reform Proposals - page 5

o Encourage colleges to withhold the transcripts of defaulters.

The law should permit colleges to withhold transcripts from defaulters.

o Develop introductory consumer information to potential students during
admissions process.

Consumer information for prospective students is an early preventive measure
against default. A fact sheet outlining the loan programs as well as prospective
living expenses and other costs should be made available during the admissions\
process to enable the prospective student to estimate costs and total indebtedness.

o Print articles in professional publications about default problem and
educate defaulters on the process to re-enter the repayment process.

A profession's publications can reach some parties who have not come into
repayment. Thus publications can be used as another educational tool on how

defaulters can be brought back into repayment.

o Institute mandatory debt management workshops at each school

Debt management workshops which educate students on loan choices, budgeting,
interest rates, and repayment obligations should be offered each semester/trimester
Many lenders offer brochures and have trained student loan representatives which

could be utilized in this regard.

We feel that the following recently adopted policies have not been enacted long

enough to have had a measurable effect on default rates; we feel they should be

continued.

o Continue to report default information to the credit record.

Under relatively recent law a defaulting student's credit record
would be adversely affected due to the reporting of the defaulteo loan.
This practice should be continued.
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ACA HEAL Reform Proposals - page 6

o Continue attachment of tax refunds through IRS.

Tax refunds should continue to be attached when the taxpayer is in default
on his/her student loan.

o Continue mandatory litigation prior to claim payment.

The litigation prucess of lenders obtaining a court judgement against defaulters
is only now beginning to have a statistical impact. It should be carried forward.

o Eliminate the statute of limitations on penalizing defaulters.

Any remaining statute of limitations which defers lenders and governments from
pursuing HEAL defaulters should be removed from the books.

o Continue to garnish federal employees' wages.

Garnishment of federal wages is an effective tool for enhancing loan compliance
and should be continued.
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Mr. KOSTMAYER [presiding]. The subcommittee will come to
order.

The chairman is on his way back.
I think you were next, Mr. Mc Nevin.

STATEMENT OF ANTHONY J. McNEVIN

Mr. McNEvoi. Mr. Kostmayer, my name is Anthony Mc Nevin. I
am pleased to report to you that I am not an employee of the ad-
ministration, rather I am the president of the American Associa-
tion of Colleges of Podiatric Medicine.

The association represents the Nation's seven colleges of podia-
tric medicine and over 200 teaching hospitals throughout the
United States.

Allow me to describe briefly the educational process in podiatric
medical education because it explains, in large part, the reasons
behind the problems we are addressing today.

The majority of students selected for admission into the colleges
of podiatric medicine have completed 4 years of undergraduate
work.

While an enrolled student at a college of podiatric medicine, they
spend 4 years in a traditional medical program devoting the first 2
years to basic science education and the last 2 years studying clini-
cal sciences.

Five of the colleges of podiatric medicine are freestanding insti-
tutions while two are part of private university health science cen-
ters.

Upon receiving the Doctor of Podiatric Medicine Degree, the
graduate will continue his or her education in a residency program
normally 1 year in duration and in a hospital setting.

Some of the graduates go on to 3 and 5 years of advanced clinical
training; however, most complete a 1-year program and enter into
practice immediately thereafter.

Not unlike other health disciplines, podiatric medical students
rely significantly upon the HEAL program to finance their podia-
tric medical education.

In some cases, 75 percent of the students finance their education
with HEAL loans.

In his fiscal year 1992 budget proposal, the President called for
the demise of the HEAL program because he states the program,
contrary to its original design, has not been self-supporting.

The President als,) proposes a revitalized Health Profession's Stu-
dent Loan program, with less than modest capitalization, targetod
toward disadvantaged student populations.

Within this context, he cites podiatric medicine as a "leader" in
HEAL defaults, implies that the country is oversupplied with po-
diatric physicians and that podiatric medical schools do not enjoy
the "public trust" and are therefore not "worthy of receiving tax-
payer support."

It is difficult to acknowledge these comments in a gracious
manner given the millions of patients, particularly elderly patients
as well as U.S. veterans and Federal employees, who visit and ben-
efit from the care rendered by podiatric physicians yearly.
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In effect, the President's budget is saying that the Federal Gov-
ernment should not engage in supporting and assisting the many
young people, particularly middle-class people, who embark upon a
career in a healing profession like podiatric medicine.

I believe that the members of this subcommittee must feel the
indignation that those in podiatric medicine experienced upon the
promulgation of the President's budget.

We strenuously disagree with the President's proposal.
He is denying access to the primary source of capital which

health profession students need to finance their education.
Podiatric medicine has been a participant in the HEAL program

since its inception.
In fact, a proposal developed by the association served as the pro-

genitor of the HEAL concept.
It is ironic, therefore, that the President is calling for the exclu-

sion of the profession at this time.
Although an original participant, podiatric medicine represents a

rather modest user of the program.
According to the Department's fiscal year 1990 report, since the

beginning of the program only 8 percent of all disbursements have
gone to podiatric students while 41 percent have gone to students
in allopathic medicine, 15 percent to students in osteopathic medi-
cine, 17 percent in dentistry and 14 percent in chiropractic medi-
cine.

In claim rates, the podiatric profession falls behind chiropractic,
allopathic, and dental medicine while the profession does not even
rank high enough to be place,. on the roster of the top 10 partici-
pating HEAL schools.

However, the very real ragedy about the HEAL program is its
default rate.

Increasing claims against the program's insurance or SLIF fund
are exceeding the balances in the fund.

In November 1989, the Congress appropriated $25 million to
shore it up.

Although the Department has sought to address the matter in
many ways, a definitive explanation for the phenomena is still to
be told.

Again, and according to the Department's report, since the incep-
On of the HEAL program, podiatric student borrowers paid $10
million into the insurance fund while the Department paid out
$14.7 million in claims.

In the case of allopathic medicine, $49 million was paid in, $29
million paid out; in dentistry, $20 million as compared to $31 mil-
lion and in the case of chiropractic medicine; $16 million versus
$38 miaion.

Thr,e years ago, the Association of Colleges of Podiatric Medi-
cine re.lognized this problem and initiated a program with the
Pennsytv ania Higher Education AssisAince Agency.

The program allows students in each of the seven colleges to
;:btain their HEAL loans.

The a,;sociation chose this course of aet;on because PHEAA
en;Gys an outstanding reputation in the field oF student loan servic-
ing

Y- .uever, the reason for this choice goes deepec.
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The association has always found it difficult to impose upon its
member colleges the responsibility for the total explanation for de-
faults among its graduates.

Defaults occur normally within the first 3 years beyond gradua-
tion.

In the case of podiatric medicine, where the majority of gradu-
ates spend 1 year in residency training, the obligation to begin the
repayment of loans occur outside of an institutional setting.

In other words, by the time the student is at repayment, and
many students are in repayment at much earlier times than other
disciplines, he or she is out of the training and educational setting,
attempting to establish a viable practice.

Under these circumstances, the options available to the borrower
are not in the forefront of the borrower's mind.

We have discovered that students are generally ignorant of the
scope of their financial obligations much less of the options avail-
able to them to successfully manage their indebtedness.

Recently mandated entrance and exit sessions with students ad-
vising them of their financial obligations will influence and,
indeed, will help to bring down default rates across all professions.

A-zording to reports from our colleges, the individuals who are
defaulting at this time are those who took out loans in the early
eighties when interest rates approximated 20 percent, when a
credit check and a need analysis were not required, and the cli-
mate in the schools and in the Federal Government was less stri-
dent on defaults than it is today.

Couple these factors with the early entrance into practice and
one begins to understand why the profession is experiencing a
higher than wanted default rate.

We are convinced that our etudents, like all students who part
pate in the p:ogram, are honorable about their financial obliga-
tions and will do what is required of them to satisfy these obliga-
tions.

At the same time, we believe that much more can be done par-
ticularly in the school community.

Currently, there are 420 podiatric physicians who have defaulted
on their HEAL loans; I am very pleased to report that 26 percent
are back in repayment; unfortunately, 17 percent were required to
file for bankruptcy.

This leaves a total of 238 individuals who are in actual default.
Regrettably, this information does not affect the default rate cal-

culation produced by the Department.
Effecting constructive change in student loan programs is a proc-

ess which requires patience because it normally takes 5 to '7 years
to see the results of the changes. Although the association is san-
guine about future declines in the podiatric HEAL default rate, I,
as president of the association, have determined that much more
needs to be done. This past year I have called for the establishment
of a special task force to identify and assist in implementing effec-
tive strategies for student and practitioner debt management. The
association's board of directors will establish the task force next
Tuesday at its annual meeting.

I envision that the task force will investigate more thoroughly
the specific reasons behind defaults and address questions like:
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Should residency directors be trained to serve in the role of a fi-
nancial aid officer? Should the college financial aid officer extend
the scope of their responsibilities to the teaching hospital setting?
Are there activities which he practice association can undertake to
assist their members to fulfill their financial obligations? Are there
specific areas in which financial aid officers need additional train-
ing? Can a national podiatric default management program be un-
dertaken and managed through the association? What institution-
wide strategies can be undertakfzn to stem the problem? What is
the relationship between the cost of education and indebtedness? In
a 1988 Department study on defaults, many health professionals re-
ported that the burden of establishing a new practice and manag-
ing educational indebtedness as overwhelming. This area needs fur-
ther study. Finally, ways must be found to reverse the reliance
upon HEAL. Originally planned as a program of last resort, it has
now become the primary source of financing a health professions
education. Increased borrowing limits in Department of Education
loan programs like the supplementary student loan program and
the Stafford loan program may provide some assistance.

As you can see, the association is about to embark on a signifi-
cant undertaking. The studies we will perfprm, some of which will
be done in collaboration with the Bureau of Student Assistance,
will, I am convinced, shed significant light on the nature of the de-
fault problem and generate ways in which it can be contained, lf,
on the other hand, the President's budget plan for student finan-
cial aid is implemented, the Congress will have effectively eliminat-
ed an entire health profession. I am convinced that this is not the
objective of the subcommittee. In closing, I wish to remind the sub-
committee that several years ago we addressed the same problems
in the HPSL program. Defaults were rampant across all disciplines
and the Department imposed a default threshold on all participat-
ing schools. In order to continue in the program, a school was re-
quired to meet a 5 percent threshold. If exceeded, it ran the risk of
being excluded from the program. Within a brief number of years,
all schools are now in compliance.

The HEAL program is different than HPSL. In the ease of the
latter, the schools are exclusively responsible for collections. In
HEAL, the schools have no responsibility for collection. Taking into
consideration a school's role in the program, as well as the role and
responsibility of the other institutional participants, a reasonable
default threshold can and should be imposed. I am convinced that
the default rate will drop with it. However, I must emphasize the
need for a reasonable default rate.

Thank you for this opportunity to present the association's point
of view on this important matter. If you have any questions, I will
be pleased to try to answer them.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. What is a reasonable default rate?
Mr. MCNEVIN. Currently the Department has suggested that that

rate should be 5 percent for HEAL for schools and they have
tagged that rate very close to or identically with the HPSL pro-
gram and I believe that that is fundamentally unfair given the
scope of responsibilities that the schools have in the HPSL.

I suspect that a reasonable rate should be somewhere between 10
to 15 percent.

S
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Mr. KOSTMAYER. The 5 percent is a departmental figure?
Mr. MCNEVIN. That is what they have proposed in an interim

regulation.
I would suggest somewhere around 15 percent.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. What is that going to cost the Federal Govern-

ment?
Mr. MCNEVIN. I don't have those calculations.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Mr. liegetschweiler, your testimony asks the

Congress to look at the issue of default on the HEAL program
through meaningful legislative reform.

As you know, this subcommittee and the Department have acted
many times in the past to tinker and tamper and try to fix the
HEAL program and it seems to get worse.

Even if we shut down the program tomorrow, the claims would
be with us for many years.

Why shouldn't the Government just cut its losses now?
Mr. HEGETSCHWEILER. First of all, as far as chiropractic educa-

tion is concerned, it would be a disaster since that is the only Fed-
eral loan available to them.

Second, we feel if Congress can implement a little lAetter repay-
ment policy the HEAL loan program such as to allow the gradu-
ates to have some time, 9 to 12 months to establish their practice
as they can in other fields then we don't need to have that abol-
ished.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You mean before repayment would commence?
Mr. HEGETSCHWEILER. Yes.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. In this program, they have to commence repay-

ment immediately upon graduation?
Mr. CLum. There is a 9-month grace period before repayment

begins with the HEAL program under its current configuration.
The recommendation, I believe, of the American Chiropractic As-

sociation, as well as the Association of Chiropractic Colleges would
be to add another 12 months to that to allow the practitioner the
time to establish practice, 21 months, to functionally have a mean-
ingful source of income.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. All of you have testified that some sort of per-
formance standard or default cap is necessary to bring the program
into line.

Representatives from the chiropractic schools have also asked to
participate in the HPSL program.

The default rate cap on the HPSL program is 5 percent.
Do you have any objection to HPSL rate cap for HEAL, and if so,

why? In other words, do you think it would be fair to be the same?
Mr. CLUM. No, sir. The consideration that we need to look at in

relationship to the HEAL program are the basic differences in
design between HPSL and HEAL and the responsibilities of the
parties involved, number one.

The second consideration would be the time frame that we would
be looking at in relationship to these capsare we talking about
based on existing loans, new loans?

What are the parameters that we are looking forward to?
The other considerations include the method of calculation of de .

fault, are we going to stay with the method that is currently used
by the bureau?
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Could we move to the method that is used by the Department of
Education to standardize it with all other loan programs that our
students have access to, and to give you equality to judge the per-
formance on those other programs.

So I don't believe that on behalf of the Association of Chiroprac-
tic Colleges that 5 percent is an anywhere near acceptable level for
the implementation of a HEAL loan default rate.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You think it ought to be more like what--
Mr. aurd. It is very difficult to put a number on it at this time

given the variables that enter into the picture.
if we have the participation of the chiropractic student . the

SLS program, the participation of the chiropractic student in the
HPSL proram?

We have e modification of the default method.
Those would all bear on the final number.
In relationship to everything being as it is today, it still becomes

a very difficult number to put a handle on, and I don't believe that
there is a consensus within the health disciplines for that number.

We would certainly welcome participation in development of that
if that were the case.

Mr. MCNEVIN. We may have some good suggestions that have
come out of the Department of Education in terms of the way it
has addressed the similar problems in the GSL program.

For example, the default rate in GSL is at a 30 percent level,
very high.

As you compare the experience of institutions in that program
against the HEAL program, I don't think that is necessary for
HEAL.

At the same time, the regulations that govern GSL make it very
clear that the Department is not interested in excluding profes-
sions or schools.

There are specific strategies laid out in the regulations that
allow a school to cure itself so to speak, to remedy the problems
that it may be able to identify in an internal period to come back
into compliance while still participating and allowing their stu-
dents access to loans.

I think that is an extraordinarily reasonable approach to take, is
less Draconian and I think more reflective of the social values that
we would want to support in terms of education of our young
people.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Mr. Williams, what about the administration
claims that the HEAL program doesn't benefit minority students?

I understand Dr. Herman Glass has r rovided testimony on the
importance of the HEAL program for minority chiropractic stu-
dents.

Would you summarize that?
Mr. WILLIAMS. Yes, I will. Thank you, Mr. Kostmayer.
This is a statement by Herman Glass, President of the American

Black Chiropractors Association.
On behalf of the nearly 400 members of the American Black

Chiropractors Association, ABCA, the hundreds of other minority
students presently in chiropractic colleges and the many thousands
who in years to come will seek to pursue a chiropractic education, I
urge this committee to preserve the HEAL loan program and chiro-

83
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practic participation in it and all other Federal health education
assistance programs.

According to the budget for fiscal year 1992, part 2, page 140,
"HEAL was originally intended to provide financial relief to stu-
dents in high-tuition medical schools and assure disadvantaged stu-
dents access to health professions educations."

While we cannot speak to the issue of medical schools, we can,
from our unique perspective, assure the committee that HEAL has
indeed been primary key to minority access to a chiropractic educa-
tion.

A preliminary sum ey of our membership indicates that well over
half of all African-American Doctors of Chiropractic obtained their
professional education through a HEAL loan. Among recent gradu-
ates, the proportion is even higher.

We respect and appreciate the commitment the chiropractic col-
lege system has shown to equal opportunity and to minority out-
reach.

We are pleased by the aggressive efforts of institutions such as
Life College in Marietta, Ga., which has established the first Office
of Minority Recruitment within the chiropractic college system,
and which has implemented the second Health Careers Opportuni-
ty Program for disadvantaged and minority students.

Because of Federal assistance, Life College has the largest
number of minority students in chiropractic education. Such pro-
grams can provide a start. HEAL provides the means by which mi-
nority students can finish their chiropractic education.

We look to you in the Congress to be a partner in the process of
professional opportunity for all minorities. What good is the open
door offered by the chiropractic profession if policymakers choose
to slam it shut by denying realistic funding assistance?

The HEAL loan program is not a handout or a giveaway pro-
gram. HEAL borrowers pay dearly for the privilege, at t!le highest
rate of all Federal education loans, working hard to earn the
money to repay those loans.

HEAL represents a genuine means by which hard-working, dedi-
cated young citizens, from all backgrounds and circumstances, can
help themselves to a better life, in service to a Nation urgently in
need of compassionate, accessible health care providers.

We understand that there is a genuine concern over the default
rate among chiropractic borrowers under the HEAL guarantee pro-
gram. We share that concern and are working hard to encourage
and assist our members to meet their HEAL loan obligations. We
strongly support the aggressive program that the chiropractic col-
leges have undertaken to bring the default rate down, and we are
pleased by the dramatic success these efforts have achieved.

However, we strongly believe that much of the default problem
could be quickly eliminated by providing a realistic payback sched-
ule, allowing enough breathing space for a chiropractic graduate to
obtain a license and start earning an income before the repayment
requirements begin.

There is an element of risk in any loan program. However, we
urge the Congress to consider the payoff as well as the risks in the
HEAL program. For us in the American Black Chiropractors Asso-
ciation, and our Hispanic, Native American and Asian-American
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chiropractic colleagues, the payoff has been achievement, success
and an opportunity to serve our respective communities as taxpay-
ing citizens and responsible professionals. The payoff has been dig-
nity and the fulfillment that accompanies the practice of an impor-
tant and In' aningful profession.

Please dc not shut the door to the HEAL program. It is a pro-
gram that works.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you, Doctor, very much. I want to thank
all of the witnesses.

We ask the next panel to come forth. We have Mr. Bruce Beh-
ringer, MPH, Virginia Primary Care Association; Dr. Edward J.
Stemmler, M.D., executive vice president, American Association of
Medical Colleges; Dr. Robert Graham, M.D., executive vice presi-
dent, American Academy of Family Physicians; David Richards,
D.O., chairman of the board of the American Association of Col-
leges of Osteopathic Medicine, accompanied by Andreas Morales,
fourth year medical student at the Texas College of Osteopathic
Medicine; and Jay A. Gershen, D.D.S., professor and chairman,
public health dentistry, school of dentistry, UCLA.

Mr. Behringer, would you like to begin?

STATEMENTS OF BRUCE BEHRINGER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
VIRGINIA PRIMARY CARE ASSOCIATION, ON BEHALF OF NA-
TIONAL ASSOCIATION OF COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTERS AND
NATIONAL RURAL HEALTH ASSOCIATION; EDWARD J.
STEMMLER, EXECUTIVE V ICE PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ASSO-
CIATION OF MEDICAL COLLEGES; ROBERT R. GRAHAM, EXECU-
TIVE VICE PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ACADEMY OF FAMILY PHY-
SICIANS, ALSO ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDI-
ATRICS, AMBULATORY PEDIATRIC ASSOCIATION, AMERICAN
COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS, SOCIETY OF GENERAL INTERNAL
MEDICINE AND ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSORS OF MEDICINE;
DAVID M. RICHARDS, CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF GOVERNORS,
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF COLLEGES OF OSTEOPATHIC
MEDICINE, ACCOMPANIED BY ANDREAS MORALES, FOURTH
YEAR MEDICAL STUDENT, TEXAS COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC
MEDICINE; AND JAY A. GERSHEN, PROFESSOR AND CHAIRMAN,
PUBLIC HEALTH DENTISTRY, SCHOOL OF DENTISTRY, UNIVER-
SITY OF CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES, AND PRESIDENT, AMERI-
CAN ASSOCIATION OF DENTAL SCHOOLS

Mr. BEHRINGER. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and members of
the subcommittee, my name is Bruce Behringer, and I am the exec-
utive director of the Virginia Primary Care AssociatIon; however,
today, I am here to represent the National Association of Commu-
nity Health Centers and the National Rural Hea'..4-h Association.
Both of these organizations have the common thread of community
and migrant health centers as their members, and are working to-
gether to enhance the operations of these health centers.

As you know, community and migrant health centers provide
basic comprehensive and preventive primary health care to over 6
million of America's most vulnerable people, two-thirds of whom
are children and women of child-bearing age. Patients at health
centers range from economically disadvantaged residents of rural,



81

isolated, resource-poor community, inner city ghettos, to migrant
farm worker labor camps.

Health centers alone have identified a need of up to 2,000 physi-
cians over the next 2 years, representing both staff turnover and
increasing needs for primary and preventive care providers.

In the 1930's, 80 percent of doctors were trained for family care.
Now, three out of four physicians are specialists, the pyramid of
health manpower, primary care manpower is turned upside down
from the way it should be.

It will influence in the long run the inability of areas to recruit
primary care physicians, not just the isolated rural areas of the
country, or the impoverished inner cities, but all areas.

Second, it is going to influence a fewer number of primary care
role models who will influence or not, therefore be able to influ-
ence more medical students to choose primary care as their profes-
sion.

Third, in a very rational move, the behavior of the medical
schools, they could in turn become institutions of high technology
and research, because that is where the financial incentives are.
That is where the consumer interest of those people who are
paying tuition to the medical schools lies, also.

Finally, if we don't turn around this problem, it will result in an
ever-increasing health care expenditure, not only for the consumer,
but for the Federal Government, which is specialty-driven rather
than primary care-driven, which is driven by higher technology as
opposed to preventive care.

The health manpower issue in rural areas is certainly dangerous
right now. Three out of every four physicians in rural areas are
primary care physicians, and there simply are not enough provid-
ers to be able to be recruited back into the ru .al areas where the
aging physician population is either retiring or passing away.

There are over 2,000 health manpower shortage areas in the
countr,, and over 4,000 physicians are needed to fill these health
professional shortage areas.

Community and migrant health centers, just one small portion of
these, have identified a need fer up to 2,000 primary care physi-
cians over the course of the next 2 years. Therefore, the National
Rural Health Association and the National Association of Commu-
nity Health Centers bring before you a series of recommendations
regarding the reauthorization of the title VII and title VIII pro-
grams.

We are in support of the reauthorization, and we would like to
make the following recommendations:

One, health professions programs should give preferential consid-
eration to qualified applicants from rural areas, underserved com-
munities, and other minorities in the admissions process as a
method for increasing the health profession pool in rural and
urban areas.

Number two--
Mr. WAXMAN. The rest of that statement will he in the record.

Sorry. We have to keep to that 5-minute rule.
[Testimony resumes on p. 110.]
[The prepared statement and attachments of Mr. Behringer

follow:]



82

STATEMENT OF BRUCE BEHRINGER

Good morning Mr. Chaiemara and members of the subcommittee, my name is Bruce
Behringer and I am the Executive Uirw,tor of the Virginia Primary Care Association, however,
today, I am here to represent the National Association of Community Health Centers and the
National Rural Health Association. Both of these organizations have the common thread of
community and migrant health centers as their members and are working together to enhance
the operations of these health centers.

As you know community and migrant health centers provide basic comprehensive and
preventive primary health care to over 6 million of America's most vulnerable people, two-
thirds of whom are children and women of child-bearing age. Patients at health centers range
from economically disadvantaged residents of rural, isolated, resource-poor communities, inner-
City ghettos, to migrant farmworker labor camps.

Health centers have traditionally depended on the National Health Service Corps to
provide primary care physicians. However, the number of physician scholarship awards has
decreased from a peak of 5,375 in 1980 to 46 in 1990. With the recent revitalization of the
NHSC program, it is anticipated that beginning in 1992, approximately 500 scholarships will
be awarded each year. However, because of the time it takes to train medical students, only
50 scholarship physicians will be available each year until 1996. Health centers alone have
identified a need of up to 2000 physicians over the next two years representing both staff
turnover and increasing needs for primary and preventive care providers. Medically
underserved areas must therefore look at other federal programs to provide them with needed
health professionals.

Both organizations view the reauthorization of the Title VII and VIII programs as
crucial, to fulfilling some of the urgent manpower needs in rural and medically underserved
communities which have great difficulty in recruiting and retaining providers and would like
to make some suggestions for change which would enhance primary health care providers to
these communities.

It is clear that the current medical care and medical education systems in the U.S. are
not characterited by their strengths in developing primary care physicians or for serving
underserved populations. Furthermore, academic prestige for medical school faculty does not
come from primary care but rather from a combination of published research, research grants,
and fee-for-service income; while primary care medical faculty members have fewer
opportunities to apply for and receive federal research grants as the amount of grants for
primary care research is extremely small. As an example, in 1989, the National Institutes of
Health awarded $5.5 billion in research grants, of which only $15.4 million or 0.27% could be
classified as primary care research. In addition, the fee-for-service for primary care
procedures have long been recognized as being significantly less than for subspecialists visits
and procedures, thus making primary care one or the mast attractive field in medicine.

However, recent studies have identified the need for changes in the education and
training of physicians from a tertiary-care, hospital-based experience to a pr;mary care,
community-based experience. Others have recommended increasing the exposure of students
and residents to both community-based primary care and underserved populations. While both
rural and urban health centers have identified great needs for health professionals, the level
of need fot rural health centers is over 30 percent greater than the need in urbar health
centers.

1
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Currently, there are approximately 600,000 practicing physicians in the US. Of these
approximately one-fourth or 150,000 are primary care providers. In rural areas, three out of
every 4 physicians practice primary care and there are just not enough primary care providers
in either rural or urban areas to meet the need for service. There are over 2000 Health
Professional Shortage Areas (HPSAJ) and over 4000 physicians needed in these HPSAs.

With such an extreme need, and with Titles VII and VIII up for reauthorization the
National Rural Health Association and the National Association of Community Health Centers
and believe that their recommended changes to these programs could greatly enhance and
increase the number of primary care providers to both rural and urban areas and therefore
urge you to include the following provisions in the health professions reauthorization:

I. Health professions programs should give preferential consideration to qualified
applie ,ts from rural areas, underserved communities, and other minorities in
the acmissions process as a method for increasing the health professional pool
in rural and urban areas.

2. Undergraduate programs should be encouraged to require students to participate
in substantive rural-oriented training programs. All colleges of medicine should
have strong family medicine and primary care training programs.

3. Federally-supported education and training programs should develop service
linkages with rural and other underserved providers to improve health care in
underserved areas, including community and migrant health centers.

4. Support should be given to community and migrant health centers and other
undersel ved providers to serve as role models and to actively recruit students in
health professions training programs.

5. Providing financial support and incentives for minority and disadvantaged
students from rural areas as well as other medically underserved areas to enter
a professional health career;

6. Developing and expanding the number of community and migrant health centers
that provide graduate medical education for primary care providers.

7. Priority should be given in awarding grants to those institutions that have a
good track record in training individuals for primary care practice.

8. Federal funds should be allocated for the establishment of traineeships in
community and migrant health centers.

9. Incentives should be given to nursing education programs which offer a rural-
based curriculum to prepare health professionals for rural practice, especially
in increasing opportunities for career development for rural nurses; cross-
training nurses beyond their job descriptions; and by increasing opportunities
for nursing students to have training opportunities in rural practices.

10. Nursing schools should have affiliations with community-based home health
agencies, community nursing organizations, and nursing homes to better meet the
needs of underserved populations.

2
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I I. State participation in AHEC funding should be required within three years for
al: new and existing programs.

12. Heeth Education and Training (HETC)Center funding should be continued and
expanded to include more rural and frontier areas.

13. 4.HW.Cs and HETCS should be encouraged to participate in community acd
migrant health centers; work with local health departments; affiliate with
primary care residency programs; work with state primary care associations and
offices of rural health; create preceptorships, including those in Indian Health
Service and contractor sites; and be involved in Ira ning of midlevel providers.

14. AHECs and HETCs should be encouraged to participate in demonstration
programs in state projects with the NHSC; in telecommunications linkages; and
in AIDS education and emerging technology for providers and students.

15. AHECS should be encouraged to participate in minority health programs.

I have submitted for the record, a copy of thc recent analysis entitled "Health
Professional for Health Centers: The Physician Pipeline to Health Centers" by Dr. Darryl
Leong.

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I thank you for the opportunity to
testify before you today.

3



86

Health Professionals for Health Centers
The Physician Pipeline to HIalth Centers

Darryl Leong, M.D., M.P.H.

The national network of community and migrant health centers represent a national system of
providing access to comprehensive primary care services for millions of medically
underserved and poor Americans. In 1990, approximately 2,500 physicians worked in health
centers and another 6,700 other health professionals such as nurse practitioners, physician
assistants, nutritionists, medical technologists, pharmacists, dentists, etc.

Historically, the National Health Service Corps has served as the mainstay of providing
physicians for health centers (currently at its lowest level of 627 (27%) health center
physicians). Moreover, the total number of physician scholarship awards has decreased from
a peak of 5,375 in 19N to 46 in 1986 where it has remained through 1990. Even with the
revitalization of the NHSC in 1991, only about 500 scholarships will be awarded each year
beginning in 1992. And because of the normal lag time for the training of medical students,
only 50 scholarship physicians will be available each year until 1996. Only 285 physicians
through the NHSC loan repayment program will be available for all health professional
shortage areas in the coming year and not all available physicians will be assigned to health
centers. Finally, a good portion of the 627 assignees may not stay with their health center
after their obligation period ends.

Physician seivices in health centers are provided by 'licensed and qualified doctors that come
to health centers from a variety of sources (Graph l) other than the NHSC. An analysis of
the other sources of physicians for health centers clearly shows that health centers have to
compete for physicians along with private practice, health maintenance organizations,
hospitals, group practices, universities, other countries, public health clinics, and others.
Furthermore, health centers have been forced to look into the competitive market by the
decreasing supply of Corps assignees and by the low retention rates of assignees (-259).
However, many health centers have chosen to recruit in the open market for physicians
because they have found higher retention rates when physicians come by their choice'. In

fact, the number of health center physicians rose from 2100 to 2500 from FFY 1969 to 1990,
representing an increase of 400 new physicians.

A Physician Pipeline to Health Centers

A look at the pathways for becoming a physician (Graph 2) from premedical students to post-
residency physicians that work in health centers providn another insight into wnere
physicians that work in health centers come from, e.g. is there a pipchne for students to
become physicians at health centers? Four levels in the pipeline are defined: students

before they enter metlical school (premedical), medical school, medical residency training,

NACHC Page 1
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and the practicing physician level. As pointed out above, health centers literally compete for
primary care physicians graduating each year.

The concept of a physician pipeline to health centers for physician training is not a new one.
The NHSC represents an implementation of this concept, with the exception that physicians
are placed in underserved areas as part of their obligation for accepting NHSC scholarships
or loan repayments. Programs in the Bureau of Health Profession target financial aid to
disadvantaged and minority students to enter health careers, and provide grants to schools of
public health, allied health professions, medical schools primary care residency training
programs, and centers of excellence for under-represented minorities.

It behooves health centers to seek a complementary strategy with the NHSC, the Bureau of
Health Professions, the Office of Minority Health, and other private and public professional
and educational groups to affect all four levels of the physician pipeline to health centers.
However, as the current medical care and medical education systems are not characterized by
its strengths in developing primary care physicians or for serving underserved populations,
strong and innovative strategies will be required. This strategy is expected to result in an
increases in all four parts of the pipeline, to greatly increase and retain the number of
physicians to enter or stay with health center careers as a matter of choice and pride, and to
reverse current trends in subspecialty and non-underserved physician practices.

Health Center Health Professional Neeus

NI/here do the data for staffing requirements come from? The major source of data for health
professional counting on a national level continues to come from the BCRR health
professional FTE reporting system. The number of NHSC assignees comes from the NHSC
tracking system. Recently, the 1990 NACHC health center survey2 provided another source
of data for projecting health professional staffing needs for health centers.

The number of physicians in health centers cited at 2500 physicians is based on BCRR data
:rom fiscal year 19902. A year ago, this number was at 2100 physicians and two years ago
it was 2500. Since this is BCRR reporting of full time equivalents, the total of 2500 is
actually a total of FTEs and not a count of the number of physicians that work in health
centers. According to the NIISC, approximately 627 assignees are completing their
assignments during fiscal year 1991.

The NACHC Data Book' methodology calculates the number of physicians needed by
calculating the number of current C/MHC vacancies for NHSC physicians and adding this to
the HRSA High Priority Opportunity List and Loan Repayment vacancy estimates. This
calculation results in a figure of 930 vacancies expected during the current fiscal year.

NACHC Page 2
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The 1990 NACHC survey of health centers included a section on health professional staffing
and health professional needs for each of the disciplines commonly found in health centers.
230 of the 544 health centers responded to the survey of which 222 (130 rural, 92 urban)
comprised the basis for analysis. Table 1 shows the results of the survey. Since the number
of respondents for each of the health professional disciplines varied, the raw totals of actual
and needed are normalized for comparative purposes.

The total number of physicians (2,838, Table 1, column 4) at health centers and was
calculated by extrapolating the number found in the 230 respondents to the entire 543 (330

rural, 213 urban) health centers'. While the total number of physicians in rural health
centers of 1,404 is close to the total of 1,434 in urban health centers (Tables 2 and 3), the
average number of physicians in rural health centers is much less than the urban health
centers (4.25 vs 6.73). The average number of physicians for both types of health centers is

5.26.

Health centers also responded to estimating needs for health professionals over the next year.
Using similar methods for adjusting the reported number of physicians at health centers, the

total number of physicians needed for all 543 health centers is 2,027 or 70.7% of the current
total of all physicians (Table 1, Column 7 and 10) with an average need per health center of
3.72 physicians. The number of physicians needed for rural health centers is 1,136 or
81.0% (Table 2, Column 7 and 10) of current mai health center physicians is greater than
the needs for urban health centers, 891 or 62.1% (Table 3, Column 7 and 10) of current
urban health center physicians. The level of need for both rural and urban health centers
representing over 70% of current physician staffing confirms the high level of current
physiciar needs ar-i that rural health center needs are even more acute.

Family nhysicians dominate both the current and needed physician totals, 45.0% and 42.1%,
respectively for all health centers. Similarly, in rural health centers, family physicians
account :or ks1 9% of all rural health physicians and 55.9% of physician needs. For urban
health centers, the numbers for family physicians are 29.3% and 28.3%. This demonstrates

the higher ;leeds for family physicians in rural area.s, but urban health ,..emers have a need
for an increase of over 60% over their current numbers. Moreover, even though family and
general practitioners account for 42.1% of physician needs for all health centers, this means
that pediatricians, general internists, and ,b,:.2.trician-gyneco1ogists account for the other 58%

of physicians needed.

Pediatricians account for 11.9% of rural health center physician staff, but had the highest
need/current ratio of all four physician types of 1.32. Obstetrician/gynecologists needed for
urban health centers have a high need/current ratio of 1.24, although rural health centers
have a ratio of 0.83 showing high needs as well. Also, internal medicine physicians arc the
predominant physician type among urban health centers (31.6%). These data underscore the
need for all physician types far both urban and rural health centers.

NACHC Page 3
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These calculations are repeated for each of the health professional disciplines and show 8,728
other health professionals which gives a ratio of other health professionals to physicians of
3.30, i.e., non-physician health professionals are 3.3 times more prevalent thanphysicians.

The average number of non-physician health professionals per health center is 16.34. For
rural health centers, the average is 11.56 vs. 23.07 for urhan health centers. In terms of
needs, 6,527 other health professionals are needed, representing 75.1% of the current total.
'While the need for registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, and technologists account for
over half of the need in this area, all disciplines have high needs in their own areas with
respective need/current proportion ranging from 65%-94% (Table 1, Column 10).

Urban health centers have a higher ratio of non-physician health professionals to physicians

of 3.56 vs. the 2.99 ratio for rural health centers. However, rural health centers show a
much higher need for other health professionals across the board with an average
need/current ratio of 0.89 vs. the 0.65 for urban health centers.

The average number of dentists for all health centers i5 1.02, 0.65 for rural health centers,
and 1.53 for urban health centers. These averages translate to total number of dentists of

540, 214, and 326 for all, rural, and urban health centers respectively. Needs for dentists
are identified at 76% of current totals or approximately 418 dentists.

Health Professionals for the Future

Table 4 is a composite table of physician requirements for the expansions and new starts
called for in the NACHC's Access 2000 proposal. The table is constructed by making a
number of assumptions: I) the retention rate for NHSC assignees will increase from 25% to
52% over the next 9 years; 2) 80% of new NHSC assignees will go to health centers; 3) the
turnover rate of physicians in health centers will decrease from 37% to 23% over the next 9
years; and the patient to physician ratio of 2400:1 will improve to 1824:1 over the next 9

years. The number of physicians available from the NHSC is projected in Table 56, with no
large increases in assignees until FFY 1996 and beyond.

With the above assumptions (which are open to variation), the number of additional
physicians needed to serve the additional number of patients begins at 515 in FFY 92 and
rises to a peak of 1,877 in 1997 and decreases to 384 in the FFY 2000 (line 10). The
National Health Service Corps contribution to these numbers starts at a low of 288 physicians
in FFY 92 (55.9%) and rises to a high of 648 (168.8%) in FFY 2000. The non-NHSC
physician requirement is the difference between the total need and the NHSC contribution
(linc 12), which is 227 (44.1%) in FFY 1992, dropping to a low of -68.8% in FFY 2000.

The cumulative number of additional physicians required is found on Table 4, lines 13 to 17.
Of the cumulative total of 10,237 additional physicians required over the 9-year period,
5,897 (57.6%) is projected to come from new NIISC assignees and 9,607 (68.7%) will come
from non-NHSC sources. Another way of looking at the real physician needs is obtained by
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adding in the "normal" or expected physician turnover which adds another 1,476 physicians
in FFY 92 for a total of 1,991 physicians needed in the first year of Access 2000 with a
cumulative total of 38,255 at the end of FFY 2000.

The number of other health professionals required is projected by using the ratio of other
disciplines needed to physicians needed (ratio = 3.30) which was obtained from the 1990
survey (see Table XX). For all non-physician health professionals, the total needed for FFY
92 is 1,700. This number is broken down in the table for each of the most common health
professionals employed by health centers. The cumulative tom! for other health professionals
is 33,785. Registered nurses led the other health professionals in projections for FFY 92
with 337 needed, followed by LPNs (278), medical and radiologic technologists (262),
community workers (132), nurse practitioners (115), dentists (107), social workers (106), and
others.

NACHC Page 5
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Health Professional Supply and Needs
in the United States

Recent Publications

A number of recent publications provide excellent current descriptions of the status and

trends in health professional supply for the underserved: the latest in a series of reports on
the status of health personnel in the U.S. published by the Bureau of Health Professions7; a

report on rural health care which included a chapter on rural health personnel needs'
published by the Office of Technology; the AAMC Data Book of statistical information
related to medical education9; a report of a study of primary care physicians graduate

medical education published by the Institute of Medicine; the proceedings" from the
HRSA 1990 conference entitled "Education of Physicians to Improve Access to Care for the

Underserved"; and New England Journal of Medicine article and "Constraining the Supply of
Physicians: Effects on Black Physicians" by Hanft and White".

Physician Surplus or Shortage?

There has been disagreement about the supply and requirements for physicians for the year
2000 and beyond. The projections range from a large surplus of primary care physicians to
a deficit of primary care physicians. Even the size of the surplus is not agreed upon with the
Bureau of Health Professions projections showing greater needs for primary cze physicians
than the Graduate Medical Education National Advisory Committee" (GMENAC) and the
American Medical Association". The BHPr projects less physicians available with about
25,000 less physicians in 1990 and 66,000 physicians less in 2000 than the latter two
sources. The Council on Graduate Medical Education (COGME) agreed with the projected
oversupply of physicians but noted thc undersupply in family practice, general internal
medicine's.

The key factor accounting for the various difference lies in the assumptions made in defining
physician needs. In particular the per capita utilization rates for ambulatory and hospital care
weigh in heavily. These factors and others provided the basis for the article *Why There
will be Little or No Physician Surplus between Now and the Year 2000" by Schwartz, Sloan,
and Mendelson"; The Bureau of Health Professions summarizes its current view of the
future adequacy of physician supply as follows:

"The BHPr estimates for physicians in 2000 are less than its supply
projections. However, it should be emphasized that supply/requirements
comparisons in the assessment of supply adequacy should be interpreted
cautiously before being considered as justification for private or policy
changes. Reasonable alternative assumptions can produce markedly different
conclusions about adequacy of supply. Most importantly, the expectation that
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the number of physicians available should be equal to the number of physicians
needed should be reassessed."

This is in light of projections for the supply of primary care physicians as follows. In 1987,
there were 585,597 physicians practicing in the United States of which 151,651 (24.6%)
were in general practice and the three major primary care fields of family practice, general
internal medicine, and general pediatrics (Graphs 4 and 5). There were approximately 2100
physicians (1.4% of total primary care physicians) working in community and migrant health
centers in 1987. The ratio of approximately 3 subspecialists for every primary care
physicians is projected to not change significantly through the year 2020 . In fact, the
disparity is expected to worsen slightly (Graph 6).

Adding to the concern over the adequacy of primary care physicians are recent trends in
match rates for primary care residencies and choice of specialties by senior medical students
in the U.S. From 1986 to 1989, residency program match rates for the three major primary
care specialties (family practice, general internal medicine, and pediatrics) decreased by
12.6%, 8.1%, and 15.6% respeedvely (Graph 7). Furthermore, there has been a decrease in
the percentage of medical students intending to enter a primary care career from 38.8% in
1981 to 25.4% in 1989, with the largest drop coming from general internal medicine (Graphs
8 and 9).

Academic Prestige of Primary Care

Various reasons have been cited for the decreasing lack of interest in primary care including
higher medical student debts, lack of progres.; in increasing the number of minority medical
students and physicians, lack of minority and female representation on medical school
faculty, lack of strong primary care role models for medical students, absent or weak
departments of family and community medicine, lack of required medical student rotations in
primary care, inaccurate depiction of primary care from hospital outpatient experience, and
lower potential income for primary care practitioners.

However, one viewpoint holds that academic prestige for medical school faculty comes from
a combination published research, research grants, and fee-for-service income. In fact, fee-
for-service income and research grants comprised over 57% of medical school revenues in
1987 with only 5% of the revenue coming from tuition and fees (Graphs 10 and 11).

Primary care medical faculty members clearly have much fewer opportunities to apply for
and receive federal research grants as the amount of grants for primary care research is
extremely small. In 1989, the National Institutes of Health awarded $5.5 billion in research
grants, of which $15.4 million (0.27%) could be classifiefi as primary care research''.
Adding in all other known sources of federal research dollars for primary care yields a total
of $36.7 million. Moreover, none of the current institutes has primary care or community
health or prevention as its primary focus.
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Fees generated by primary care visits and procedures have long been recognized as being

significantly less than for subspecialists visits and procedures. This has resulted in a new
Medicare fee system labeled the resource-based relative value scale which should
significantly increase fees for primary care providers. Howe ier, even ith implementing all
of RB/RVS, it is likely that the gross disparity between average income in subspecialists and

primary care physicians will continue.

The support from research grants and medical service fees allows not only the development

and testing of hypotheses, but also the support needed to submit articles for publication in

medical and health journals. And a track record of publications is critical to further research

support, tenure, and other support within an institution.

Put another way, the academic prestige of primary care will not change significantly without
large increases in research dollars for primary care and the concomitant value that it adds to

primary care medical faculty. Intellectually, research questions in primary care and health
services delivery are equally valid to biomedical research questions. It is time that these

e.uestions get addressed and the results published and disseminated.

Training Primary Care Physicians for the Underserved

Some of the alarming trends in the decrease of students and residents interested in primary

care has already been pointed out above. In 1989, the Institute of Medicine" published a
report of a study by a committee charged to develop strategies to overcome barriers to
financing gradua.e medical education for primary care practitioners in ambulatory settings.
The committee was chaired by Daniel Federman, then Dean of the Harvard Medical School

and concluded that care provided by future generations of primary care physicians would be

enhanced if the GME experience placed greater emphasis on training in primary care
outpatient settings.

David Greer of the Brown University Program in Medicine, in a paper commissioned"' for
the 1990 conference entitled "Education of Physicians to Improve Access to Care of the
Underserved" clearly documents the role of academic medical centers in serving societal
needs for primary care practitioners and makes a number of provocative recommendations
for change that he acknowledges will be controversial. Jack Colwill of the University of
Missouri reviewed history and current status of barriers to linkages between education and
the delivery of primary care and suggested that a critical step is the commitment and the
agreement among medical school faculty of the Nation's need for primary care physicians in

general and to the underserved as well20. John Noble of the Boston University School of
Medicine, at the same conference reported on his collaborative studies with Barbara Starfield
and Robert Friedman which found that graduates of federally funded primary care programs
were more likely to choose primary care careers and to practice in areas with lower

physician-to-population programs21.
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Role of Community and Migrant Health Centers in Medical Education and in
the Retention of Physicians

Recently, a survey of all federally-supported graduate medical education programs and
community and migrant health centers found 39 health centers that have a block or
longitudinal experience of medical residents at the health center. 24 of the 39 reported a
longitudinal experience. Since there are about 500 health centers, 24 is a very small
number. Centers such as the Montefiore Family Medicine Program and the Brown
University Family Practice Program have reportzd a high proportion of graduates going on
the community or migrant health center practices and feel strongly that the training
experience plays a strong role in career choices.

These 24 health centers and their medical education colleagues have obviously overcome
significant barriers to developing a residency training program in the past and current
environment for funding graduate medical education and the fact that health centers are
regulated as service providers and not as training sites. Assuming an average of 4-6
residents per health center means that about 120 residents per year are coming into practice
with a community health center experience.

At a recent conference on health professionals for Access 2000, a NACHC workgroup
clearly identified the need for health centers to be involved in the education and training of
physicians and other health providers. They strongly supported health center activities at all
four levels of the theoretical physician pipeline to health centers. These strategies are
summarized in the following tables which arc organized to show the four levels of
ilitervenCon in this strategy, suggested achievement goals for each level, possible activities
and strategies, and their relationship to current federal and nabonal programs.

NACHC Page 9
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Level of Intervention

Pre-Medical School Level. An increase in the number of students destined

for community health center practice ("A' in Graph 2) hy:

a. Developing and promoting community-based education programs that

encourage and directly assist students in the community to enter primary

health care careers, e.g. develop an 'office of education" at all or selected

community health centers.

b. Developing and promoting opportunities for student employment and exposure

to community and migrant health center work;

c. Supporting and promoting minority education assistance programs.

d. Supporting and promoting the NHSC scholarship program.

2 Medical School Le, Increase in the number of students in medical school

level that enter a primar, care residency ("B in Graph 2) and particular,

increaw the number of students entering a community-based pro ,ry care

residency training program by:
a. Increasing the academic prestige of primary care and commun.,y health;

b. Increasing the number of students and faculty who are aware of community

and migrant health centers as a career choice;

c. Increasing student rod faculty awareness of public health programs that

provide assistance to students interested in community health.

d. The elpartrion of primary rare and community health research to a le!,cl diat

sufficient to increase academie prestige of primary care and departments of

community medicine.

e. Increasing the number of departments of community health or family medicine

and establishing required rotations in community medicine;

f. Increasing the nunther of academic publications that study or refer to'-
community and migrant health centers.

NMI IC

Current Programs

Mice of Minority Health,
BHPr
NHSC Pield Services

BHPr,

NIISC Field SPrviees
(Advocacy Network, AMSA,
COSTEP)
NHSC, PHS, NACHC
Clinical Affairs

Agency for Health Citre
Policy & Research, NIH

AAMC, BHPr

All

Pme



3. Medical Residency Level. Increase in the number of graduating residency
physicians who choose primary care and health centers as a career choice by:

a. Increasing the number of primary cam residency programs that have a strong
link with community or migrant health centers;

b. Expanding and developing primary care residency training programs based at
health centers.

c. Developing financing mechanisms for supporting training programs at health
centers.

d. Increasing the number of residents and faculty who are aware of community
and migrant health centers as a career choice;

e. Establishing ongoing dialogue and information exchange with national training
organizations and federally-funded training programs.

Current Programs

Bureau of Health Professions

BHPr
Medicare/Medicaid

Medlcare/Medicaid

BHCDA

NACHC, S/RPCA

1
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4. Medical Practice Level.

a. Increase in the number of.practicing clinicians who choose health center

careers either for the first time or choose to return to a health center by:

i. Increasing the visibility of community and migrant health centers as a career

choice for piacticing clinicians, professional organizations, institutions

of higher education, hospitals, and other health facilities.

ii. Establishing national, state, and local markeling programs.

iii. Expanding and developing state/regional primary case association and

individual community and migrant health center recruitment and

retention programs.

iv. Coordinating with other recruitment and relention efforts.

v. Supporting and promoting NHSC loan repayment programs;

b. I crease in the number of health center clinicians who choose to remain in the

health center system, e.g, decrease the turnover ratio of clinicians in health

centers by:
Supporting and promoting NIISC loan repayment programs;

NACIIC

Developing standardized benefit packages;

Developing clinical director orientation and training programs;

Developing career traces for clinical directors;

Supporling research on important factors in clinician retention;

Expanding and promoting clinician incentive programs;

Developing and promoting clinicizn involvement in national affairs;

Developing and supporting clinical networking;

DevcloMng and supporting clinan martini.ITT

NACHC, S/RPCA

NACHC, S/RPCA, C/MIIC

NACHC, S/RPCA, C/MHC
NIISC

NHSC

NACHC, S/RPCA, C/MHC

NACHC/NPCI

NACHC, MUM

AHCPR, BHCDA

NACHC, S/PRCA, C/MHC

NACIIC, S/PRCA, (7/MIIC

NACHC, S/PRCA, C/MHC

NACHC, S/PRCA, C/MHC
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Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much for your testimony.
I am going to, unfortunately, have to miss the oral presentation

of this panel and subsequent panels to follow, although we plan to
finish this panel and break until 2 o'clock.

I ask Congressman Kostmayer to take over the Chair and com-
plete the testimony.. I have to, unfortunately, catch a flight. I will
have a chance to review the record, and look forward to working
with all the witnesses as well, on this legislation.

Dr. Stemmler.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD J. STEMMLER

Mr. STEMMLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And prior to your de-
parture, let us express our gratitude for your leadership in con-
ducting the hearing and your interest in the subject we are discuss-
ing.

Mr. Kostmayer, good morning, my name is Edward Stemmler,
M.D. I am the executive vice president for the Association of Amer-
ican Medical Colleges, AAMC. The AAMC serves as the national
voice for our Nation's 126 accredited medical schools, 420 teaching
hospitals, including 60,000 students and 68,000 residents.

On behalf of the AAMC, I appreciate the opportunity to testify
on the reauthorization of title VII of the Public Health Service Act
and the national supply of primary care physicians.

The AAMC advocates full reauthorization of the title VII pro-
grams to support primary care training. We share the subcommit-
tee's concern about the declining number of primary care physi-
cians. Over the past 5 years, the number of graduates planning cer-
tification in primary care has decreased from 30 to 23 percent.

National Resident Matching Program data shows that in 1990,
only 56 percent of the available family practice and general pediat-
rics residency positions, and 61.5 percent of internal medicine resi-
dency positions were filled by graduates of U.S. medical schools.

Approximately 300 each of general internists and general pedia-
tricians graduate annually from prim clry care track residency pro-
grams, not enough to meet the national need. As medical schools
and teaching hospitals seek to increase their commitment to pri-
mary care education, model progvams, as supported by title VII
grants, will be looked to for guidance in planning new approaches.

The title VII primary care grant programs provide valuable and
necessary funds for the development and continued existence of
primary care educational programs.

Medical schools jointly and individually are complex organiza-
tions with a variety of missions. This diversity has served our
Nation well. In some areas, such as primary care, special emphasis
is necessary.

In these cases, the AAMC believes that incentives provide the
best impetus for change and that model programs are an effective
rnethd of demonstrating successful implementation of new ideas.
An institution can be committed to dual missions that are not mu-
tually exclusive.

In other words, a school may adopt primary care and also be an
outstanding research institution. The Tiniversity of Washington is
an example. Public policies should encourage programs that work

1 6
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together. The AAMC views the title VII model programs as a key
element in such an equation.

We should continue to fund creative opportunities that eApose
students to positive experiences. At the individual level, matters of
lifestyle and financial reward affect specialty choice. The rising
cost of medical education and student debt are often cited as rea-
sons for the decline in selecting lower paying primary care special-
ties.

While there are many anecdotes that support this hypothesis,
the data does not. For your information, I have provided a table
that lists the average debt level of medical school graduates by spe-
cialty choice. You will note that, surprisingly, there is no clear re-
lationship between debt level and specialty chGice.

Data collected annually through the AAMC Graduation Ques-
tionnaire indicate that clerkship experiences, mentors, intellectual
challenge, and type of patient encountered are the most influential
factors in a graduate's specialty choice. For primary care, "life-
style" factors such as the time demands of the practice conditions
are a disincentive to selecting that type of practice.

Another hypothesis to explain the decrease in the number of
physicians choosing a primary care specialty relates to the chang-
ing nature of the teaching hospital environment and the payment
system. Physicians in hospitals are seeing patients who have more
complex needs and shorter hospital stays. This creates an inappro-
priate educational setting.

With diagnostic activities taking place before admission to the
hospital, students and residents lose the ability to participate in
the diagnostic process.

To ameliorate the distortion that an inpatient experience has on
education, there has been an effort to increase the opportunities
for clinical education in ambulatory settings. Creating such alter-
native sites for education is complicated and expensive.

Several studies demonstrate an association between exposure to
community-based edu-ation and subsequent practice in similar set-
tings. 1989 AAMC data show that of the 12 medical schools with at
least 30 percent of their graduates choosing primary care, 10
schools had developed education programs outside the conventional
tertiary care teaching hospital.

For example, medical students at the State University of New
York in Syracuse who opt for a 1-year primary care clerkship at
the school's Binghampton campus select family practice residencies
at twice the rate of their peers who remain at the Syracuse teach-
ing hospitals.

Similarly, 61 percent of the graduates of the University of Min-
nesota Rural Physician Associate Program go into a primary care
practice. While there may be a certain amount of self-selection in
the outcomes presented, such experiences are available across the
country because of the availability of Federal support.

Revenue generated from ambulatory care is insufficient to sup-
port such training programs. Without supplemental support, some
facilities would be unable to offer educational activities. As a
result, fewer students could participate in clerkship experiences
that encourage graduates to enter primary care.
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Termination of these programs would also affect teaching of cost-
effective, preventive medicine. Ambulatory programs train stu-
dents and residents to manage care, to avoid hospitalization, to
counsel patients on strategies for maintaining good health, and to
deliver community-based and home care services. Decreased Feder-
al support programs will deny young physiciEns valuable onsite
training.

'roNiding opportunities for students to observe and participate in
model primary care programs is only part of an effective solution
to encourage physicians to elect this career. Positive institutional
settings must be combined with incentives directed at the individ-
ual. This approach hes been successfully demonstrated by pro-
grams such as Area Health Education Centers, AHEC's, and the
National Health Service Corps.

With that, I will end my testimony in strong support of renewal,
arguing these programs are just essential as we develop a compre-
hensive plan to A..al with this very vexing problem.

[Testimony resumes on p. 124.]
[The prepared statement of Mr. Stemmler follows:]
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STATEMENT OF ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN MEDICAL COLLEGES

Good morning, my namc is Edward Stemmler, M.D. I am the Executive Vice-President for thc

Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC). The AAMC serves as thc national voice for

our nation's 126 medical schools, 420 teaching hospitals, and 90 acadcmic and professional

societies whose members seek to promote public health by providing leadership on policies to

educate our 60,000 medical students, to train the 68,000 residents in graduate medical education

programs, to develop advances in medical knowledge and to improve thc delivery of health care.

On behalf of the AAMC, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before thc House Subcommittee

on Health and the Environment concerning reauthorization of Title VII of thc Public Health

Service Act and the national supply of primary carc physician,.

Thc AAMC strongly believes thc Title VII programs to support primary care training and

education should receive full reauthorization. We st arc the Subcommittee's interest and concern

about thc declining number of primary care physicians. Over the past five years, the numbcr of

graduates planning to be certified in primary carc specialties has decreased from 30 to 23 percent.

Moreover, 1990 National Resident Matching Program data indicates that only 55.7 percent of thc

available family practice residency positions were filled !.,y graduates of U.S. medical schools. In

general pediatrics, 55.6 percent of the available positions were filled by graduates from U.S.

medical schools, and for general internal medicine the rate was 61.5 percent. Approximately 300

cach of general internists and general pediatricians graduate annually from primary care track

residency training programs. As more medical schools and teaching hospitals seek to increase

their commitment to primary care education, model programs, as supported by Title VII grants,

will be looked to for guidance in planning new educ4tional approaches nationwide. The Title VII

primary care grant programs are a valuable and necessary source of funding for the development

and continued existence of primary care educational programs for many medical schools and

teaching hospitals.
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Since the enactment of the Health Professions Education Assistance Act in 1963, federal health

manpower assistance policy has shifted its original emphasis of increasing, in the aggregate, the

national supply of health manpower to improving the geographic and specialty distribution of

health care professionals. Ove:all supply considerations have now been replaced with a special

focus on the absence of primary care physicians particularly in many rural and inner.city areas.

Whether our policies continue to focus on geography or specialty choice, it is clear that an

enhanced Federal commitment to Title VII programs is crucial to continue support of primary

care training toward the goal of improving the nation's health.

Medical schools jointly and individually are complex organizations with a variety of missions. This

diversity has served our nation well. In some areas, however, such as primary care, special

emphasis may be necessary. In these cases, the AAMC believes that incentives provide the most

effective impetus for change and that model programs are a cost effective method of

demonstrating how new ideas can be implemented successfully. The mission of the medical

schools, while they vary, also directly contribute to the number of primary care physicians trained

each year. It is important to note that an institution can be committed to dual missions that are

not mutually exclusive. In other words, a school may take seriously a primary care mission and

also bc an outstanding research institution. The University of Washington is an example. Federal

and state policies should encourage a diversity of programs that work together. The AAMC views

the Title VII model programs as a key element in such an equation.

As a group and as individuals, medical students' career decisions are influenced by many factors.

For example, schools may emphasize selection of students or try to provide students with clinical

education in settings where the role of the primary care physician is optimally demonstrated.

2
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Studies show that positive experiences with a mentor and in a clerkship are the most influential

factors in 4tudents selecting a career in primary care. Institution.s and individuals both need to be

understood in this complex issue. At the institutional level, we should continue to provide funds

to support creative oppoitunities for exposure to positive experiences. At thc student level,

matters of lifestyle and financial reward affect specialty choice.

Thc rising cost of medical education and studcnt dcbt arc often cited as reasons for thc decline in

selecting lower-paying primary care specialties. While there arc many anecdotes that support this

simplistic hypothesis, thc data do not. For the Subcommittee's information, I have attached to my

testimony a table that lists thc average debt level of medical school graduate by specialty choice.

You will note that there is no clear relationship between debt level and specialty choice.

Notwithstanding thc debate of financial matters, data collected annually through the AAMC

Graduation Questionnaire indicatc that clerkship experiences, mentors, intellectual challenge. and

type of patient encountered are the most influential factors in a graduate's choice of specialty.

For the primary care specialties, lifatyle" factors such as the time demands of the practice

environment serve as a disincentive to selecting that typc of practice.

Another hypothesis on why we have experienced a decrease in the number of physicians

becoming certified in a primary care specialty relates to the changing nature of the teaching

hospital environment and the payment system. am sure you have heard that physicians in

hospitals arc seeing patients who have more complex needs and shorter hospital stays. This

creates an inappropriate environment for medical student and resident education. With diagnostic

activities taking place bcforc admission to the hospital, students arc losing the ability to

3
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participate in that process. The ability to obsetve the patient over time is limited. To ameliorate

the educational distortion that an inpatient experience has had on studcnts' education, there has

been an effort to increase the opportunities for clinical education in ambulatory settings.

Creating such alternative sites for education is both complicated and expensive.

Several studies demonstrate an assodation between exposure to community-based education and

subsequent practice in similar settings. Students who take elective primary care preceptorships or

clerkships arc morc likely to select a career in family practicc and to practice in rural settings.

For example, medical students at the State University of New York in Syracuse who opt for a

one-year primary care clerkship at the school's Binghamton campus select family practice

residencies at twice the frequency of thcir peers whose clinical education is confined to the

Syracuse teaching hospitals. While there may be a certain amount of self-selection in the

outcomes presented here. it should be noted that such experiences are available across the

country because of the availability of federal support.

Data from thc 1989 AAMC Graduation Questionnaire show that of the 12 medical schooLs that

had thirty percent or more of their graduates planning to bc certified in family practice, general

internal medicine, or general pediatrics, 10 of the schools had developed clinical education

programs outside the conventional, tertiary arc teaching hospitaL Examples include the

University of Washington's Washington/Alaska/Montana/Idaho (WAMI) program which has a

rural focus. WAMI graduates have an increased likelihood of entering primary care and

practicing in rural settings. Similarly, approximately 61 percent of the graduates of thc University

of Minnesota Rural Physician Associatc Program go into a primary care practice.

4
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While the type of experiences I just described increase the chances of students selecting primary

care, a study conducted by the AAMC in 1987-88 entitled "Study and Comparisons of Transition

of Medical Education Programs from Hospital Inpatient to Ambulatory Training Programs," found

that developing the ambulatory setting also increases the costs of medical education and decreases

the productivity.of a previously non-teaching clinic. The study showed that shifting from hospital-

based settings to clinic-based settings for both resident and medical student education invariably

decreases the clinic's productivity, particularly in the arca of primary care services. Associated

costs derive from factors such as supervision, classroom space, and extended time for patient

contact, including taking a patient's history. Each of the schools and hospitals that were studied

had adapted its ambulatory education programs to opportunities unique to their communities. In

r,ome cases, a school was able to affiliate with an existing ambulatory setting, while in other case.s,

an appropriate training site needed to be developed. While there is a need for more

opportunities for students' education in ambzilatory settings, resources for accomplishing the shift

from hospital to chnic-based sites are scarce. The AAMC has conducted a variety of other

activities to address the issue of primary care which support this same conclusion, including an

invitational symposium, 'Adapting Clinical Education to Ncw Forms and Sites of Health Care

Delivery and publishing the results of a 1988 conference on ambulatory care and education,

sponsored in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. More recently, the

Robcrt Wood Johnson Foundation awarded the AAMC a one-year gran' of $45,000 for a study of

influences on the selection of internal medicine as a career. Myself and AAMC scholar-in-

residence Joseph Johnson, M.D. will analyze three broad categories which include the

characteristics of students, the medical school experience, and students' perceptions about internal

medicine practice.

5
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Within thc current reimbursement system, the revenue generated from ambulatory patient care is

insufficient to support such training programs. Without supplemental grant support, some

ambulatory care facilities would be unable to offer educational activities. Inadequate funding of

Title VII programs would be most disruptive to training opportunities in the ambulatory care

setting. As a result, fewer students may be offered exposure to environments that foster positive

clerkship experiences and encourage graduates to enter primary care. Termination of these

programs would also affect tcaching of cost-effective, preventive medicine curricula. Residents in

ambulatory programs are trained to manage care in an effor to avoid hospitalization and to

counsel patients on strategies for maintaining good health. Primary carc programs train residents

in community-based and home-care services. Decrease3 federal support for these programs will

deny yoLng physicians valuable on-site training.

Federal funds have been crucial in the development of many family medicine dcpartmcnts and

family medicine residency and training programs. In the 1980's, federal funding partially

supported about 40 percent of the family practice programs which train about 50 percent of thc

graduates. Currently there are 97 medical school departments of family medicine providing

ambulatory based training to prepare residents and medical students for ambulatory based practice

to encourage residency graduates to practice in rurM and other underserved areas. The family

medicine departments, r: a result of the nature of their training facilities, are often faced with

difficult financial constraints. Over two-thirds of the residency programs arc located in community

hospitals, rathcr than in trat;itional tertiary medical centers. In addition to the community

hospitaLs, family practice rcsidcncy programs arc affiliated with community health centers, migrant

health centers and free clinics. Location in non-traditional training sites, coupled with an

ambulatory based training model provide the residency programs and departments with significant

6
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financial challenges.

Patient revenues have not been able to support primary care residency training programs partially

because paymitnt for service and education in the ambulatory setting is not at the same level and

scope as it is for the hospital inpatient setting. As a comequence, primary care reFidency

programs depend more heavily on federal support. Due to the emphasis on ambulatory and

preventive care, reimbursement from Medicare and other third party payers is less than for

inpatient, procedurally oriented care. Patient care revenues have been unable to support the

training programs. As a result, primary care programs are unable to become "self-sufficient" from

patient care revenues. Continued and enhanced targeted federal support is essential for primary

care programs.

In addition to the renewed funding for the primary care grant programs, funding should also be

continued for the Area Health Education Centers (AHEC) and the Health Education Training

Center (HETC) programs that relate academic medical centers to medically underscrved rural and

urban areas. Currently 38 AHEC programs exist nationwide, constituting a national resource for

dissemination of federal priorities and new technologies to practitioners in clinical settings. The

5,HEC program has been successful in linking the rcsou cs of university health science centers

with the health care and educational needs of the communities. Many AHECs serve as training

sites for medical students and communicate to participants the professional satisfaction of

practicing primary care and doing so in medically underserved areas. This comprehensive

approach to training ensurm an effective partnership between academic health science centers

and surrounding communities.

7
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Providing opportunities for students to observe and participate in model primary care training

programs is only part of an effective solution to encouraging physicians to elect this career choice.

Positive institutional settings must be combined with incentives direfted at the individual. This

approach has been successfully demonstrated by programs such as the National Health Service

Corps. In closing, I wish to indicate strong support for loan forgiveness programs and Title VII

programs that provide students with funds to finance their education, particularly the programs

thm allow student to minimize debt. Low-costs loans such as HPSL and the newly-created

disadvantaged loan and scholarship maximize a graduate's floibility in career decisions by

minimizing debt. In the context of career choice, I cannot over-emphasize the importance of

directing financial incentives to the individual through means such as the NHSC and subsidized

loans. I encourage the Subcommittee to consider the combined role of these programs and the

grants for model programs as effective tools to achieve an appropriate balance in the supply and

practice location of physicians in the United States.

8
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Indebtedness of 1990 Medical School Graduates

bY
Specialty Certification Plans

SEMMi..MMEMYIN

Specialty Certification Choke
Mean

Number Debt

Percent
with

No Debt

Percent with
Debt >
$50,000IN:1111=M=1

Anesthesiology 759 548,776 17.2 34.2

Dermatology 219 $42,461 26.9 25.5

Emergency Medicine 382 $49290 16.9 34.3

Family Practice 1,153 $45,749 17.2 33.3

General Internal Medicine 1,372 $46,714 22.4 33.5

Internal Medicine Subspecialties 734 546.855 19.0 33.0

Neurology 184 $41,545 11.5 29.3

Obstetrics/Gynecology 884 $50,150 18.6 35.5

Ophthalmology 338 $43,769 30.3 23.1

Pathology 207 $36,609 24.0 19.4

General Pediatrics 841 543,084 20.7 28.4

Pediatric Subspecialties 198 $47,770 25.3 33.2

Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation 162 $51,162 20.1 38.3

Psychiatry 583 546,788 21.7 33.3

Radiology 60 $46,045 22.9 30.8

General Surgery 655 546,450 22.7 31 6

Neurological Surgery 93 $46640 26.1 35.2

Orthopedic Surgcry 511 $44,363 26.3 28.1

Otolaryngology 232 545,668 24.1 30.5

Thoracic Surgery 72 $50,022 21.7 42.0

Urology 145 $42,325 25.9 25.2

All Specialties 11,617 546,224 21.2 31.5

Source: AAMC 1990 Graduation Questionnaire
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TABLE 812
CHOICE OF SPECIAUZATION OF GRADUATING SENIORS

1211 1 21111S4 1 MINA1211Z12111.1/12 1222,

Falsity Medicine/Practice 17.3 MU 17.7 17.0 13.9 17.0 18.3 13.6 13.7

Mineral Internal Medicine 12.7 13.9 12.7 10.6 10.3 8.3 6.6 7.3 3.3

General Pediatrics SI 7.5 7.3 7.5 6.3 6.7 6.7 6.6 6.4

TOTAL WNW CAN 38.8 39.6 37.7 34.9 32.5 32.0 31.8 27.5 2S.4

Slimly and Immunology 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.7

AntsthesiollifY ilnd Critical Care 4.2 5.0 5.5 6.2 6.6 6.0 6.6 6.7 7.1

Oltreetology 1.2 0.9 1.2 1.4 1.6 1.8 1.7 2.1 2.7

Emergency Hodloins 2.6 2.4 2.7 3.0 3.0 3.5 3.7 3.9 4.1

infernal Medicine Suimmectiaties 5.9 3.1 3.7 3.9 4.6 5.0 5.3 6.5 8.6

Neurology mid Child Neurology 1.4 1.9 1.6 2.1 2.3 2 6 2.0 2.5 2.5

Nuclear Modicine 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.3

011/000 and Subspecialties 7.9 8.4 7.9 8.1 7.2 7.2 6.7 7.2 6.9

Ophthalmology 3.8 3.9 3.8 3.9 4.0 4.2 4.1 4.0 3.9

Pathology 2.3 2.7 3.1 2.4 2.1 2.1 2.4 7.1 2.4

Physical Modlcine mad Rohebilitetion 0.6 0.6 0.9 0.9 1.3 1.6 1.8 2.1 2.1

Preyentiys Medicine 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.4

Psychiatry end Child Psychiatry 4.8 3.2 5.0 4.7 6.0 6.4 6.6 7.0 6.4

Radiology ard fitopecialties 5.3 5.3 6.1 6.5 6.6 6.2 6.9 7.8 7.4

General Surgery 6.3 6.0 3.5 6.0 6.1 6.2 5.9 5.4 5.0

Neurological Surgery 1.3 1.1 1.1 0.9 1.1 0.9 1.2 1.4 1.1

Orthopaedic Surgery 6.0 6.9 6.6 6.4 6.6 6.7 5.8 6.2 5.9

Otolaryngology 2.0 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.6 2.6 2.4 2.6 2.6

urology 1.3 1.6 1 8 2.3 2.4 2.1 2.3 1.9 1.8

Other Surgicsl Softpeoieltits 3.1 3.3 3.4 3.0 2.1 3.0 3.2 3.0 3.3

TOTAL NOM-POINANT CAPS 60.7 61.1 62.5 65.1 67.3 68.7 60.0 72.0 71.2

No Response to Scomisity Ousetion 0.6 0.2 0 5 0 4 0.6 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.4

total Number of Students Mho Responded
to Questionnaire 10,791 10,938 10..81 '0.547 11,04 10,739 11,307 10,379 11,171

ercent of All final Ter
Students Who amended
to Questionnaire 68.8 67.3 63 6 63 6 66.3 66.6 71.4 63.2 71.5

The format Of the 6060* onege Nen on the Oredusoon Ouest,onnem wes Changed in tod. whoa the oid nem mac s.:
to Hied one epeotaity er subw000tty shots* horn a km conten.no own levels el owelleadow Ihe newgm wee .1,1n010 ,

sepatain ensile* to general and subsoomaily wow Th ,* sea protOMM VM1 Vie %Mid Oft IWO wooden.

Pem'sfaimi reiisido inlegretation to the mule The worchng has mon rawaad for the 1811 survey. amd new tooth sin of 1. /
In $.00/1.41N. tIll.

Includes Mimi awe. colon and nets& pediatric Oases and morace tuetnecodeee.

*meg 10111.1W8MMC Graduation Outelionnae. 8E41001w Student and Edocabonal Proteetne

USW:Mt
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TABLE B11
PRALTICE SETTING LOCATION OF GRADUATING SENIORS

PERCENT OF GRADUATES BY YEAR

1B1 22 1221 120A IVI2 1200 1261 1221 1.2T2 1224

Large Ctli (pop. 500,000 or more) 20.6 20.2 21.1 20.5 21.8 22.6 23.3 22.9 23.7 23,5

Suburb of a (erste city 10,3 11.5 11.8 13.4 14.1 15.0 16.3 17.5 17.4 18.2

City of moderate size (PoP. 50,000
to 500.000) 27.3 28.6 29 28.4 29.1 28.8 28.9 29.6 29.9 29.3

Suburb of moderste si)o cl1Y 7.1 7.1 7.0 7.9 7 8 7.9 8.0 8.3 8.5 8.9

Small city (pop. 10,000 to 50,000
other than suburb) 16.9 16.0 14.6 '3.5 12.5 11.9 10.7 9.2 9.1 9.0

Town (oolp. 2,500 tO 10,000
other than suburb) 6.9 6.5 6.2 5.6 4.8 4.5 3.9 3.2 2.9 2.8

&matt town (pop. teas rhan 2.500) 1.3 1.5 ' 2 1.1 1.0 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.7

Auratruntneorporated area 1.1 0.9 : 3 S 0.8 0.9 3.8 0.8 0.8 0.8

Undecided or no preference 8.2 7.1 ' 5 7.5 6.6 6.6 7.0 6.5 6.3

No response 0.4 0.7 0.7 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.6

Some: 19e1.1990 AAMC Gtaduabon Oundonnane. Swoon to. Sti.c-i and Educational Programs
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Mr. KOSTMAYER [presiding]. Doctor.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT GRAHAM

Mr. GRAHAM. Mr. Chairman, I am Robert R. Graham, M.D., exec-
utive vice president of the American Academy of Family Physi-
cians, presenting testimony on behalf of the American Academy of
Pediatrics, Ambulatory Pediatric Association, American College of
Physicians, Society for General Internal Medicine, Association of
Professors of Medicine and American Academy of Family Physi-
cians. It is a pleasure to appear before the subcommittee today on
behalf of the over 180,000 physicians represented by these organiza-
tions.

Since many of our views and recommendations are similar to
others that you will hear from the panel, I will simply ask the full
written testimony be introduced to the record at this point.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Without objection, your testimony, Doctor, and
the testimony of all witnesses before the subcommittee today, will
be made part of the record.

Mr. GRAHAM. These physicians repr?sented by the organizations
that I have mentioned are the physicians that, for the majority of
Americans, are their personal physicians. When you ask a member
of your family or one of the constituents in your district, "Who is
your doctor," chances are their answer svill be one of C.t. members
of these organizations.

There is no question this type of physician is in increasingly
short supply. The efforts of title VII over the last 20 years has been
developed, and it has been expanded, have been critical in assuring
that there is some maintenance of supply of these physicians
within the medical education system that Dr. Stemmler has just
outlined to you.

There is no question that it is difficult to attract and retain the
interest of medical students today in careers as office-based gener-
alists in an environment where medical education is becoming in-
creasingly technical, complex and based almost entirely on hospi-
tal-based patients with multiple system disease.

That is a struggle which we confront collectively. The answers to
changing the output of medical schools, in all candor, do not lie en-
tirely within title VII. They lie in further examination of the in-
centives provided for our medical teaching institutions through the
indirect and direct cost reimbursement of medical care, through
the influence of biomedical research, but the focus today is what
can title VII do and what has it done?

Title VII, as authorized, and even though providing only relative-
ly modest amounts of funds, has provided the opportunity for the
Departments of Family Medicine, General Internal Medicine and
Pediatrics over the last 20 years to develop innovative and experi-
mental programs to carve out a niche within these tertiary teach-
ing institutions to show what role models of generalists can be and
create a demonstrable track record of graduating students who go
into residency training and do become the next generation of gen-
eralists.

We do not agree with the administration's proposal that support
be phased out. Indeed, we believe that this title VII plays a very
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important role, not a role which may be controlling in terms of the
total output of medical schools, but one which we need to have con-
tinue to be in place until we can address the broader issues more
effectively.

We strongly support, as the organizations represented here, the
continuation of the present authorities, the expansion of authoriza-
tions in a modest way over the coming 3 to 5 years. There is ap-
pended to this testimony some specific recommendations from each
of the groups having to do with individual titles, and again, I will
simply commend that to you in the record.

I would make as my final comment one I was going to make to
the Chair before he was constrained to leave. A week ago, he par-
ticipated in the press conference with Senator Rockefeller and
others announcing an approach to universal access health insur-
ance for all Americans, an objective that most, if not all, in the
room agree with.

If they introduced that bill, it had been passed into law immedi-
ately, the testimony in the hearing today would have been on the
crisis in finding personal physicians and generalist physicians. We
have a major issue facing us as we look at access in that once we
solve the issues of financing the problem will be there are doctors
there for the public to find personal care from.

We believe that is a growing problem, and title VII has a role in
addressing it. Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Graham followsj

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT R. GRAHAM

Mr. Chairman, I am Robert R. Graham, M.D., Executive Vice President of the
American Academy of Family Physicians, presenting testimony on behalf of the
American Academy of Pediatrics, Ambulatory Pediatric Association, American Col-
lege of Physicians, S-?.iety of General Internal Medicine, Association of Professors of
Medicine and Arne an Academy of Family Physicians. It is a pleasure to appear
before the subcommittee today on behalf of the over 180,000 physicians represented
by these organizations.

In spite of an increasing demand fur primary care physicians, our organizations
are concerned that the supply of these physicians may he falling behind. Primary
care physicians provide access to care for minorities, the poor, and those living in
inner cities and rural areas, as well as to many of you and your neighbors. By pro-
viding comprehensive and continuous care, primary care physicians help prevent de-
bilitating disease, make early detection of disease possible and manage chronic and
complex diseases. A rational system of health care depends on a solid foundation of
primary care physician providers.

However, the shortage of primary care physicians continues throughout many
areas of the country. There are currently some 1,956 shortage areas with approxi-
mately 4,100 physicians needed to remove the shortage designations. In addition, it
appears there is a continuing and increasing problem of access to physician care for
Medicaid recipients, the uninsured and other sectors r.0 the population, The goal of
assuring access to quality health care can be met only if the supply of physicians to
provide basic health care is appropriate to meet the demand for services. Proposals
to expand access to health care must consider the increased demand for health care
and the potential lack of availability and accessibility to primary care services.

To assure the most efficient utilization of resources in an expanded health care
system, primary care physicians will most certainly play a central role in mancging
and coordinating patient care. Management of health care services through prinno.y
care physician coordination results in the most appropriate mix of services and de-
livery setting.

Compounding the shortage problem is the adverse trend in primary care career
interest among medical school graduates and those entering medical school. The
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percent of medical school seniors planning to become board certified in a primary
care specialty fell from 37.3 percent in 1981 to 23.6 percent in 1989.1

There are a number of factors which determine the career choices of medical stu-
dents including academic prestige of primary care vs. subspecialties within a inedi-
cal school, the availability of mentors to provide role modeling and nurturing and in
some medical schools the selection of medical students. Physician incomes also play
a major role in selection of specially and practice location. Low reimbursement for
primary care services discourages selection of a primary care career, as new gradu-
ates already steeped in debt chose to enter higher paying Subspecialties. For the
vast majority of medical students, loans are the primary source of financing medical
education leaving graduates deeply in debt.

To increase the interest of students in choosing primary care careers, some medi-
cal schools have shown that early exposure to primary care and working with pri-
mary care role models in ambulatory settings, such as clerkships. is effective. Sever-
al recent studies demonstrate that a major factor in career selection for medical stu-
dents is positive impressions gained during their third and fourth year clerkships in
various medical specialties. A positive experience in the primary care rotation, with
strong faculty preceptors who also serve as role models, is vital to encouraging med-
ical students to pursue primary care careers. Through these clerkships, students
learn that primary care is a rewarding, intellectually challenging field which will
enable the physician to be fully involved with the community.

Although such experiences are important in influencing career choice, this type of
quality primary cafe experience is expensive for medical schools to undertake. The
teaching of medical students in outpatient primary care settings lengthens patient
visits and makes heavier demand on faculty and support personnel than does tradi-
tional inpatient training.

Development and teaching of this curriculum is largely the responsibility of facul-
ty in family medicine, general internal medicine and pediatrics. In most medical
schools, however, these programs are unlikely to generate substantial revenue from
their clinical practice because of current reimbursement policies and are less likely
to attract major grant support. Traditional support for medical education has not
emphasized primary care, resulting in a dearth of primary care physicians to serve
as role models and proponents for primary care. Studies have consistently shown a
higher student interest in primary care careers upon entering medical school with
an inexorable attrition of interest as they continue through medical school.

Federal support for innovative medical student education in the family practice
predoctoral grant programs has been important in the development of ambulatory
experiences in family practice for medical students. This needs to be continued and
expanded. Authorizing Section 784 grant dollars to be allocated for predoctural edu-
cation might enable general internal medicine and general pediatric programs to
positively influence medical student choices for careers in primary care.

Strengthening the primary care academic units in medical schools can also in-
crease the visibility, prestige and interest of students in primary care. For exainple
the 50 medical schools with the highest percentage of graduates entering family
practice all have departments of family practice. Only 2 of the 20 medical schools
with the lowest percentage of graduates entering family practice have departments
of family medicine.

Congress recognized the need for more trained family physicians, pediatriciarts
and general internists and authorized support through the Public Health Service
Act for primary care training. These grants have funded significant predoctoral, fac-
ulty development :tnd residency training programs. Family medicine training granth
(Secs. 78( and 780) are separate from general medicine-general pediatrics (Sec. 784),
which are combined. Such support has helped to offset some of the financial disad-
vantage experienced by primary care education programs. According to the Health
Resources and Services Administration, since 1986, approximately 2,400 family phy-
sicians have graduated annually from acci 'llted family practice residency training
programs. Approxiinately 300 each of general internists and general pediatricians
graduate annually from primary care track residency training programs. In the
1980s, fede.al funding has partially supported about 40 percent of the famAy prac-
tice progra_As, which train about 50 percent of the graduates. The program current-
ly sponsors 180 projects with 4,177 trainees. Th program for general internal medi-
cine and general pediatrics sponsor 8fi projecth with 91 actual residency training
tracks and 1,735 residency trainees (GIM-855, GPD-880).2

' Primary Care 2000, HRSA's Long-fiange plan for Health ProfeKsionals, 1991.
2 Ibid.
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The Administration would discontinue federal support for primary care residency
programs. The withdrawal of this support would threaten the continued existence of
a number of these vital programs and would cause other programs to drastically
reduce training levels. Loss of support in other cases could potentially change the
nature of the program, for example from ambulatory-based to inpatient-based. Grad-
uate education in primary care is highly dependent upon government support. In
most other specialties the costs of graduate medical education are supported by pa-
tient care income. The income producing potential in primary care programs is less
because the emphasis in these programs is keeping people out of the hospital. In
addition, current Medicare payment policies impede ambulatory training. Hospitals
are allowed to count the time residents perform patient care activities outside of the
hospital only if the hospital incurs all of the training costs in the alternate setting.
Because GME must be hospital-based to be subsidized under the existing Medicare
methodology for payment, there is a disincentive to sponsor residencies when the
hospital does not directl:, benefit from the residents' labor since it. must subsidize
the balance of the payment of salaries and fringe benefits as well as training costs
in the other setting.

Others advocate that federal financial support be contingent on a community
based service linkage. Quality must be a prime responsibility of all medical educa-
tional programs. Service is a necessary component of education but not the primary
reason for the educational program. Location of education in these settings is highly
appropriate, but only when quality is high.

Ir. addition to the above concerns, the organizations represented by this statement
have individual recommendations for the various sections of the Public Health Serv-
ice Act being considered today. These are included as attachments A and B.

SUMMARY

Targeted support for the Title VII programs essential if we are to continue to ad-
dress the access to health care problems of the nation. The loss of grant support for
these primary care training programs would result in a reversal of the many gains
in that have been made in specially and gecgraphic distribution. On behalf of the
primary care organizations represented in this testimony, we urge Congress to reau-
thorize the Title VII funds to continue the progress that has been made in educat-
ing primary care physicians.

ATTACHMENT A

Recommendations for Sec. 786 and Sec. 780. In order to meet the ever increasing
demand for family physicians, a significant increase in federal support is critical.
Where other specialties recover a significant percentage of medical education costs
through NIH and through patient billings, family practice residency program have
greater difficulty in covering their program costs. The American Academy of Family
Physicians advocates doubling the current authorizations for family practice resi-
dency training (Sec. 786) to $80 million and for departments of family medicine (Sec
780) to $14 million. These funds provide support to train residents to become family
physicians, to develop faculty in the specialty of family practice and to create and
strengthen departmer of family medicine within medical schools to ensure that
students are exposen family practice as a viable career choice.

ATTACHMENT II

Recommendations for Sec. 784. The American Academy of Pediatrics, the Ambula-
tory Pediatric Association, the American College of Physicians, the Society of Gen-
eral Internal Medicine and the Association of Professors of Medicine support the fol-
lowing request for Section 784:

As discussed in the joint teLltirrony, data and experience indicate that positive
clerkship experiences in primary care do influence career selection, Accordingfr we
recommend that the Title VII reauthorization legislation include language establish-
ing predoctoral clerkships for general internal medicine and pediatric programs to
be funded at $2 million for fiscal year 1992, $3 million for fiscal year 1993, and $4
million for fiscal year 1994. Such predoctoral programs are already authorized for
family practice under the current legislation and have proven quite successful.

he federal government and the institutions training the next generation of
health professionals must continue the partnership to reduce the deficit of primary
care physicians and meet the health care needs of our local communities. Although
achieving this will entail an increased financial commitment, we are not asking
Congress in this period of limited financial resources to assurne a disproportionate
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share of the cost of achieving our mutual goal. Over the life of the reauthorization
we seek a $16 million increase, $9 million of the increase to fund a new predoctoral
clerkship program. Specifically, we request the Committee to authorize the follow-
ing levels: for fiscal year 1992$27 million, fiscal year 1993$31 million, fiscal year
1994$36 million. We strongly believe that the goal to meet the national primary
care shortage justifies this moderate increase in general internal medicine and pedi-
atrics.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Your implication, is that Chairman Waxman's
legislation would deal with the financial issues, but not necessarily
with the shortage of physicians?

Mr. GRAHAM. Absolutely. I commend him for the legislation, but
simply saying if that had gone into effect and had all the positive
outcomes he would wish in terms of providing financial access, we
now have 30 or 40 million more Americans whc would be looking
for more primary care physicians we believe they would be hard-
pressed to find.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You are not suggesting that is a problem cre-
ated by the bill?

Mr. GRAHAM. No. It is true and unrelated.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. The American Academy of Family Physicians

supports the Waxman-Rockefeller bill?
Mr. GRAHAM. We have our own bill that is based upon many of

the same principles. I would say if their bill or our bill were en-
acted in law tomorrow, it would be a better America.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you.
Dr. Richards.

STATEMENT OF DAVID M. RICHARDS

Mr. RICHARDS. I am David M. Richards, D.O., president of Texas
College of Osteopathic Medicine in Fort Worth. I am also the chair-
man of the board of governors of the American Association of Col-
leges of Osteopathic Medicine, which represents the 15 colleges of
osteopathic medicine and their 6,615 medical students.

I am pleased to be here with Andy Morales, who will begin his
fourth and final year at my school in August. We will try to de-
scribe what you have called "secrets of our success": Our ability to
produce significant numbers of primary care graduates.

Our first "secret": My State-supported school and the other five
State and nine private colleges of osteopathie medicine have a
unique approach to recruiting students. We are all willing to look
at more than just good scores on the Medical College Admissions
Test and science GPA's in order to identify good future osteopathic
physicians.

Our student bodies include many older, or so-called nontradition-
al, students with advanced degrees.

Currently, there are 2.6 applicants for each slot at our schools.
We just experienced a 22-percent increase in applications over last
year. Osteopathic medicine is the fastest growing health profession,
so we must be doing something right.

Our second "secret": We require references from at least two os-
teopathic physicians so that the interested candidate fully under-
at:Inds what he or she is getting into. This exposure helps us deter-
mine if the student accepts two important osteopathic philosophies:
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One, his or her role in addressing our holistic approach and the
integral role that the musculoskeletal systemthe muscles, bones
and jointPplays in total heA'.th; and, two, the role the patient
must pla, in his or her own health maintenance.

Our third "secret": Our success in graduating more primary care
physicians is directly related to the required core clinical clerk-
ships in ambulatory training in rural and inner city clinics, private
physicians' offices, community health centers, and in geriatric set-
tings.

Clinical experiences in small communities also provide our stu-
dents with valuable insight to the challenges and rewards of prac-
tice in small, medically underserved communities.

It is my opinion that these three "secrets" are why 80 percent of
TCOM graduates practicing in Texas, and 76 percent of TCOM
graduates elsewhere in the United States, are in primary care
practice.

However, for osteopathic schools to continue their historic pri-
mary care commitment, we must be able to attract students who
share our goals and who can expect to graduate and enter practice
with manageable debt.

Our students' debt levels have increased significantly over recent
years because of the increased cost of loans and the declining
number of scholarships. Much of this is due to the lack of State ap-
propriations at many of our schools, little or no cross-subsidies
from faculty practice income and, therefore, our need to rely on
tuition to a much gre, "ser extent than the average M.D. medical
school.

Unfortunately, Mr. Chairman, while 58 percent of all D.O.'s in
practice are currently in primary care, only 41 percent of the Na-
tion's 1990 D.O. school seniors expressed an interest in primary
care when they were surveyed last year.

With this increasing debt, which now averages more than
$71,000, compared to $46,000 for M.D. students, we are disappoint-
ed, but not surprised. To help understand why, it is important to
know that 48 percent of our entering students come from families
with annual incomes of less than $40,000.

AACOM opposes the administration's budget request to elimi-
nate the IIRSA programs that support primary care. We believe
they should be continued as complements to the administration's
strong support for minority and disadvantaged assistance, as well
as the Resource-Based Relative Value Scale reorientation in physi-
cian payment, which is designed to 'evel the playing field" be-
tween the specialties and primary care.

I know that you, Mr. Chairman, have been a strong supporter of
increasing payments for primary care relative to specialty care and
for fixinF the current imbalance. These HRSA programs are "small
potatoes in relative dollar terms, but big in impact at the Nation's
osteopathic medical schools.

Without critical and healthy support of these HRSA programs,
the maintenance or establi ihrnent of predoctoral and postdoctoral
training programs would nJt take place.

I would be remiss if I didn't take a few moments to tell the sub
committee how important the HEAL and HPSL loan programs are
to osteopathic medical students. First, for many of our students, at
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private schools particularly, they must borrow HEAL money to the
max. Many do this as early as their freshman year.

Osteopathic medicine has the lowest HEAL default claims profile
of all eligible disciplines, even though our students are, on average,
the most indebted. HEAL must be preserved.

The Health Professions Student Loan Program, or HPSL, is woe-
fully underfunded, but it has proven itself many times over. It
should be reauthorized and receive major recapitalization. We be-
lieve it is a model that should be used to assess the HEAL pro-
gram.

Thank you. I would now like to introduce you to student doctor
Andy Morales.

STATEMENT OF ANDAEAS G. MORALES

Mr. MORALES. Good morning, Congressman Kostmayer and mem-
bers of the subcommittee. My name is Andreas G. Morales. Next
week, I will be a fourth year student at Texas College of Osteopath-
ic Medicine. You have asked why I want to be an osteopathic physi-
cian.

I have always wanted to find a vocation that would allow me to
truly develop my fullest potential as an individual, one in which I
believed my contribution to society would really make a difference.
This is particularly important to me as an Hispanic.

When applying for medical school, I was impressed with the fac-
ulty and students of TCOM who encouraged me and other appli-
cants. I was impressed that they were interested in me, my family
and my Hispanic background.

I like TCOM's philosophy of preventive medicine and the concept
of a D.O.'s partnership with his or her patients. There is a true
sense that osteopathic physicians are trained to be personal with
patients, not aloof.

Osteopathic medical schools emphasize primary care when they
recruit. They look positively on second-career students. On average,
osteopathic medical students are older than M.D. students. They
bring their experiences from a previous career to provide more
comprehensive health care to their patients.

I would like to say here that the majority of Hispanic students at
TCOM, as well as other minority students, are in the top 25 per-
cent of their respective classes. The great majority of these stu-
dents also intend to enter primary care. This is a testament of
TCOM's commitment to provide for the medical needs of the lower
socioeconomic and minority communities in Texas.

As Dr. Richards stated, debt levels are quite high for many osteo-
pathic medical students, especially those who want to become pri-
mary care physicians. I was really quite distressed to learn that al-
though 58 percent of all D.O.'s are in primary care medicine, only
41 percent of last year's seniors expected to specialize in primary
care.

Although a large majority of those seniors said that a heavy debt
load was not a major factor in their specialty choice decision, it is
known that those with both high debt and high income expecta-
tions are more likely to choose nonprir, ary care specialties.
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HEAL loans have come essential for the majority of D.O. stu-
dents, not because they are so great from an interest rate stand-
point, but because they have become necessary for us to complete
medical school and to enter primary care residencies. Targeted sub-
sldies to primary care, such as lower cost loans or tax incentives,
might be part of the solution.

For osteopathic medicine, which has the lowest HEAL default
claims record relative to loan volume, it would be tragic if the
HEAL loan program were phased out, particularly if it means that
new osteopathic borrowers, such as this fall's freshmen, could not
borrow, or couldn't get the lower cost HEAL loans available
through the Kirksville College of Osteopathic Medicine.

Our ability to continue to play a major role in the solution to our
country's primary care physician shortage would be hurt tremen-
dously.

You asked about the impact of debt on specialty choice. For
many of my fellow stu(1.ents, as well as myself, it is likely to have a
very big impact. Half my class is married, many have children.
Many students are choosing, or say they may choose, nonprimary
care specialties and subspecialties if they have high debts.

To get ready for this hearing and to give you a man-on-the-medi-
cal-school-street assessment of debt in primary care, I talked to pri-
mary care doctors in Texas who are having a very difficult time
because of lingering debt loads.

One thing is that out-of-pocket overhead costs for subspecialists
are lower than they are for primary care physicians. That is be-
cause GP's and FP's are often freestanding, requiring the physi-
cians to invest in equipment themselves, rather than a hospital
doing it.
. It helps that TCOM's tuition is State-subsidized, which is not the
case for many students in several colleges of osteopathic medicine.
However, after only 3 years of medical school, I have now accumu-
lated debts of $52,000, and I expect to graduate with debts of about
$80,000. I also am married and have a child.

My wife works and goes to college, too. My HEAL debts already
total about $15,000. I expect to borrow more HEAL money for my
last year of medical school. I am concerned, however, because of
the "cap" on HEAL funds and the fact that funds are expected to
run out within a few weeks.

I am still planning to enter general internal medicine and eager
to establish a practice to serve Hispanics. However, because of
debt, overhead costs, and my need to help my younger brothers
through school, I haven't ruled out neurology.

If I go into primary care, my plan is to pay back my loans in 8 or
9 years. But, if I go into a subapecialty, it will take me only half
the time. So, Congressmen, you see my dilemma. Thank you.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you very much. Doctor Gershen.

STATEMENT OF JAY A. GERSHEN

Mr. GERSHEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am Dr. Jay Gershen, professor and Chair of public health den-

tistry at UCLA. I appear today as president of the American Asso-
ciation of Dental Schools. I am pleased to have the opportunity to
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present AADS's recommendations concerning the General Dentist-
ry Residency Program and the Health Education Assistance Loan
Program.

General dentistry residency programs provide dentists with the
skills needed to treat patients requiring specialized or complex
care. Thes,3 patients include the elderly, the handicapped, develop-
mentally disabled individuals, high-risk medical patients, and those
with infectious diseases.

Eighty-six percent of those who receive general dentistry train-
ing remain primary care providers; the enrollment rate of black
dentists in recently funded general dentistry programs is 13.4 per-
cent, and the enrollment rate of Hispanic dentists is 7.8 percent.

One-third of current grantees include offsite rotations to under-
served communities or populations. For example, a New York City
general dentistry program served five community health centers,
and a program in Colorado has established rotations throughout
the State, to community, migrant and rural health centers.

General dentistry programs are required to become self-sufficient
within a 3-year "startup" time. This is a significant challenge be-
cause reimbursement for dental services through Medicare and
Medicaid is limited. General dentistry programs must attract
enough self-pay patients and patients with dental insurance to
offset the losses incurred in treating the indigent.

The AADS requests expansion of this program to more adequate-
ly meet the demand for training. Currently, one of three dentists
seeking a general dentistry residency position is turned away. We
urge the subcommittee to reauthorize the general dentistry pro-
gram at $8 million, $10 million and $12 million for the next 3 fiscal
years.

Next, I will turn to the HEAL program. AADS is extremely con-
cerned that everything possible be done to assure that HEAL bor-
rowers meet their obligation to repay these loans. As yoa have
heard today, the HEAL program has an overall default rate of 8.2
percent, and the rate for dental students is 10.6 percent.

Most dental defaults occur in the initial years of repayment. The
oinrwhelming majority of these defaults occur because the young
dentist's earnings are low as compared with his or her educational
debt.

Most of these borrowers are not unwilling to pay. Nor will their
earnings remain insufficient to meet their student loan obligations.
Rather, there appears to be a temporary imbalance between debt
and income, which can be remedied by providing alternative repay-
ment options. These include consolidation of HEAL loans and the
provision of graduated repayment terms.

In the HPSL program, for example, schools are allowed to pro-
vide alternative repayment options and work with borrowers to
assure repayment. In contrast to HEAL, the HPSL default rate for
dental students is 2.1 percent.

AADS urges the subcommittee to require more of all parties in-
volved in the HEAL program.

For schools, we support the imposition of a reasonable and fair
performance standard for participation in the HEAL program.

Schools must be allowed to be actively involved in collection.
This includes informing delinquent borrowers about the negative
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consequences of default. Currently, schools are prevented from
making any such negative statement. This effectively ties one hand
behind their back.

Under the performance standard, it should be possible to "cure"
a defaulted loan. Under the current HEAL calculatiens, once a
claim has been paid for a defaulted loan, that loan is fo- er count-
ed as a default, even if the borrower subsequently get 'ito
repayment.

Within the Department of Health and Human Services, a new
office should be established. This office should track HEAL loans,
interface with the Department of Education and the Department of
Justice, improve collection efforts, and centralize the deferment
process. This office would make sure that HEAL loans are not "lost
in the system" after a claim has been paid.

We believe that the cost of establishing this new office would be
more than covered by what is saved in cured loans and in collec-
tions recovered from defaulted loans.

For lenders, additional due diligence requirements should be im-
posed so that written and telephone contacts begin earlier in the
HEAL collection process. We also recommend exploration of an in-
centive program that would provide positive financial incentives
for lenders who keep their defaults below a predetermined goal.

Finally, while I was asked to discuss the HEAL program, in clos-
ing I want to congratulate and thank the subcommittee for the
Health Professions Student Loan Program. This is widely consid-
ered to be a model student loan program.

It provides low interest loans to students, great flexibility for
schools that administer the program, and has an extremely low de-
fault rate.

We urge the subcommittee to provide the highest possible au-
thorization for this outstanding program. Thank you for the oppor-
tunity to present our views. I would be pleased to answer your
questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gershen follows:i

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAY A. Gl!IRSHEN, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
DENTAL SCHOOLS

The American Association of Dental Schools [AADS1 represents all of the dental
schools in the United States, as well as advanced education, hospital, and allied
dental education institutions. It is within these institutions that future dental prac-
titioners, educators and researchers are trained; significant dental care provided;
and the majority of dental research conducted. The AADS is the one national orga-
nization that speaks on behalf of dental education.

Our Association is pleased to present these written comments for the record in
preparation for oral testimony to be delivered before the Subcommittee on May 30,
1991 by Dr. Jay A. Gershen, Professor and Chair, Public Health Dentistry, UCLA,
and President, AADS. These comments concern the General Dentistry residency
program and student assistance, focusing on the Health Education Assistance Loan
program. After the hearing, we will submit additional comments for the record con-
cerning other major programs to be reauthorized as part of Title VII of the Public
Health Service Act.
Primary Care: General Dentistry Residencies

General dentistry residency programs provide dentists with the skills and clinical
experience needed to treat elderly patients and other individuals recurring special-
iwd or complex care, such as the handicapped, developmentally disabled individ-
uals, high risk medical patients, and those with infectious diseases. These residency
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programs can be compared with the type of training physicians receive during their
internship year.

The General Dentistry Program meets the federal objective of increasing access to
primary care, in a cost effective manner. Eighty-six percent or those who receive
General Dentistry training remain primary care providers. Additionally, while in
training, residents provide oral health care to underserved populations and commu-
nities. The need to recruit and enroll minorities into this training has been recog-
nized and is being addressed.

This primary care residency trains dentists to provi::.! a broader range uf services
to their patients and t9 consistently refer fewer patiel.ts to specialists. This is espe-
chilly important to the indigent, medically compromised patients, and people in
rural areas, since these patients often face financial or logistical problems that
make specialized care unobtainable.

In fiscal year 1991, $3.9 million was made available fe- General Dentistry grants.
Fifty-five dental schools and over 500 hospitals are eli, .e to compete for this fund-
ing; the schools alone would have needed over $30 million last year to meet their
goals for initiation or expansion of General Dentistry program.

One third of current grantees include offsite rotatiow to underserved communi-
ties or populations. These rotations give general dentistry residenth experience in
caring for patients at community health centers, nursing homes, geriatric day care
facilities, state institutions, and children's hospitals. For example, a New York City
general dentistry program serves 5 community health centers arid a program in
Colorado has established rotations throughout the steteto community, migrant,
and rural health centers.

Recognizing the need to increase General Dentistry trainees from minority popu-
lations, federally funded programs have actively recruif1 and enrolled Black and
Hispanic dentists. Such programs enrolled 13.4 percent Bli ck dentists and 7.8 per-
cent Hispanic dentists in 1989. The enrollmeni rate of Bhick dentists in recently
funded General Dentistry programs is more than twice the p*aduation rate of Black
dentists.

As a result of federal support for general dentistry residency programs over the
past 13 years, 48 new programs have been created and 385 new training positions
have been established. Between 1977, the year before federal support began, and
1990, there has been a 62 percent increase in the number of positions established.
However, the demand for training has far outpaced the initiation of new positions,
as new, dentists seek to develop the skills to care for the changing oral health needs
of the nation's population.

General dentistry residencies prepare dentists to treat medically compromised pa-
tients: individuals sufferir4 from diseases such as diabetes, cystic fibrosis, and rare
or so-called orphan diseases and conditions such as ectodermal dysplasia, Sjogren's
syndrome, and cleft lip and cleft palate; elderly patients whose treatment must
often be significantly altered because of their medical history; individuals who
suffer oral complications because of cancer chemotherapy or radiation to the head
or neck; patients with primary oral conditions such as oral cancers and certain
chronic pain conditions; and patients who need major facial reconstructive surgery
because of developmental disorders or trauma.

In 1990, approximately one out of every three applicants for dental general prac-
tice residency positions was turned away. The continually increasing demand for
this training is stronp, testament te s value. Both the AADS and the American
Dental Association support the cre..Aon of additional training positions so that
every dentist who seeks such training can be matched with a position.

The General Dentistry program is very cost effective. This efficiency is &Achieved
by requiring programs to become self-sufficient within a three-year "startup" time-
frame. This requires considerable skill, as the General Dentistry program must at-
tract enough self-pay patients and patients with dental insurance to offset the losses
incurred in treating the indigent. Unlike their medical counterparts, these dental
residency programs cannot rely on reimbursement through Medicare, which essen-
tially excludes dental services, and the reimbursement available through Medicaid
is extremely limited, if available at all.

The AADS requests expansion of this program to more ark -lately meet the cur-
rent demand for training. There is no question that dentists woo have had the bene-
fit of advanced training are better prepared to provide comprehensive dental serv-
ices, and are less reliant on referring patients to specialists. The programs that have
been funded in recent years are expanding their reach to offer trainees a wide
range of didactic and clinical experiences in a variety of hospital and community
settings. This approach exposes trainees to a Ml mix of patient needs, and affords
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them the opportunity to meet with medical colleagues in appropriately integrating
medical and dental care.

We urge the subcommittee to reauthorize the General Dentistry program at $8
million, $10 million and $12 million for the next three fiscal years.
Student Assistance: Health Education Assi.stance Loans

Background:
The Health Education Assistance Loan [HEAL] program was established as a loan

"of last resort" for health professions students. Students of medicine, osteopathy,
dentistry, veterinary medicine, optometry, pharmacy, podiatry, public health, health
administration, clinical psychology, chiropractic and allied health are currently eli-
gible to borrow under this program.

Students turn to these loans when they have exhausted their eligibility for grants
and low cost loans. To be eligible to receive a HEAL loan, the student must meet
the same needs test that is used for the Guaranteed Student Loan programs.

The HEAL program provides a federal guarantee to loans made by private lend-
ers. HEAL loans are unsubsidized; the borrower pays interest equal to the average
91-day Treasury bill rate plus 3 percent, adjusted quarterly. Interest is generally
compounded semiannually. Currently, borrowers pay an insurance premium of 8
percent, which is deducted from the face amount of the loan. During the time when
the borrower is in school and in residency training, interest is compounded and ac-
crues.

As of September 30, 1989 over 100,000 health professions students had borrowed
more than $1.8 billion in HEAL loans.

When the program was established, it was to be used to "fill in" the gap that ex-
istedespecially in private schoolsbetween loan limits and borrower needs. The
HEAL loan was never intended to be the mainstay of a borrower's loan portfolio.
Rather, grants and low-interest (subsidized) loans were to comprise the majority of
student financial aid. The Middle Income Student Assistance Act [MISA] had just
been passed, and Guaranteed Student Loans were to be an entitlement to all stu-
dents except those whose families were in the top 25 percent of all income earners.

Because the HEAL loans were to be used in this limited way, it was expected that
the borrower would bear the full weight of program costs. The insurance premium
assessed was to cover defaults due to death, total disability and inability to pay. The
borrower was assessed all interest charges. Thus, unlike any other federal financial
aid that existed at the time, the HEAL program was totally unsubsidized; when the
student was in school or residency training, interest was assessed to the borrower's
account.

Unfortunately, however, MISA was never implemented, due to federal budgetary
ronstraints; the needs test for the Guaranteed Student loan was tightened so that
only those from families earning $30,000 per year or less would qualify.

With access to student financial aid diminishing each year, the "loan of last
resort" came to play an increasing role in financing a health professions student
education. It was only a matter of time before those who had been fo. _d to rely on
HEAL loans realized the cost of an unsubsidized loan. Concern was raised from bor-
rowers, financial aid administrators and the Administration about how expensive
the HEAL loan is. Yet there was no suggestion that, as in other federal loans, the
government could subsidize HEAL loans, thereby lowering the cost to students.

Although it is not reasonable to expect the HEAL program to cost the federal gov-
ernment nothing and at the same time be a bargain for the borrower, the program
has been widely criticized for failing to meet these two conflicting objectives.

Much attention has been directed to the HEAL program recently, because of the
program's default rate, which has triggered fears that substantial appropriations
will be required to pay off ever-increasing claims.

The costs attributed to the HEAL program include the "residual" problem of an
underfunded Student Loan Insurance Fund [SLIF]. This occurred in the initial pro-
gram years, when the insurance premium charged to borrowers was less than 1 per-
cent.

Currently, borrowers pay an insurance premium of 8 percent and the program
has an average default rate of approximately 8 percent. Higher education consult-
ants state that the current insurance premium should be more than sufficient to
cover defaults, if the residual deficiency were taken care of.

AA DS co m me n ts:

AADS has the following recommendations concerning the Health Education As-
sistance Loan [HEAL] loan program and its relation to other student assistance pro-
grams: (1) the Administration's proposal to terminate the HEAL program should be
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rejected; (2) the Health Professions Student Loan [HPSL] program should be ex-
panded; (3) a new Direct Loan Program, modeled after HPSL could offer an attrac-
tive alterna:tve to HEAL; and (4) the HEAL loan program can be significantly im-
proved.

The Administration's proposal to terminate HEAL should be rejected
The President's fiscal year 1992 budget request proposes a three year phaseout of

the HEAL program. Instead, $15 million would be made available to disadvantaged
health professions students.

We question the justification for this proposal, as we believe that the losses pro-
jected for the Student Loan Ins:Lance Fimd, which are the foundation for the Ad-
ministration's recommendation to ten, mate the HEAL program, are overstated.
For example, to date, the Administration's forecasts have not projected any recovery
on any defaulted HEAL loans. We believe that the majority of defaulted loans
should be able to be recovered, if sufficient diligence is applied.

The Administration's plan would leave all but a few students to fend for them-
selves in trying to replace an average of over $8,000 per year in borrowing capacity.
This would certainly cause applicants to the health professionsincluding the mi-
nority students we are diligently trying to recruitto question the government's
commitment to student aid.

We urge this Subcommittee to reject the Administration's plan, because many
low- and middle-income students will be left without resources sufficient to cover
their costs if this course is taken. Tens of thousands of health professions students
will be forced to turn to even more expensive loans, if they can find lenders willing
to make a loan to a borrower without collateral.

Instead, AADS urges the Subcommittee to further improve the HEAL program, as
detailed below. t.t the same time, the Health Professions Student Loan program
should be signife,antly expanded, or a Direct Loan Program created.
The Health Professions Student Loan program should be expanded

The HPSL program, which provides loans to medical, osteopathic, dental, veteri-
nary medical, pharmacy, podiatric and optometric students, is widely considered to
be a model student loan program. The program has a default rate of only 1.9 per-
cent. This low default rate is especially impressive, because HPSL borrowers come
from financially needy families. Thus, these borrowers are greater credit risks than
the "average" HEAL or GSL borrower.

Private funds are not involved in the HPSL program. The loan funds were made
available by a direct appropriation from the federal government, which provided 90
percent of the revolving loan fund; schools provided a 10 percent match.

The schools make and service the loans and are allowed to recover only small ad-
ministrative costs. Schools have flexibility in administering and collecting the loan
funds. For example, the borrower's repayment schedule can be adjusted, with pay-
ments decreased or temporarily suspended if the school determines that this is nec-
essary, givr.:n the borrower's financial situation.

Borrowers are currently charged only 5 perceoc interest. No interest is charged
while the borrower is ie school or during the first 4 years of residency training.

In the year ending June 30, 1990, the HPSL revolving fund made available just
over $71 million to nearly 22,000 borre'vers, who took out HPSL loans averaging
$3,250 each.

While the HPSL program provides low interest loans (and therefore significantly
lower costs) to students, great flexibility in administration, and an extremely low
default rate, there is currently no authorization for additional federal capital contri-
butions.

We urge the Subcommittee to authorize the highest possible authorization for this
outstanding loan program.
A Direct Loan Prop.am could offer an attractive alternative to HEAL

An alternative approach would be to establish a Direct Loan Program which
would be administered almost exactly like the HPSL program. Unde... the Direct
Loan Program, however, the loan proceeds would be due to be repaid to the federal
government and would not become part of a permanent revolving fund.

This approach has appeal because, under the new ere(lit reform provisions of the
1990 Budget Reconciliation Act, direct loans are recognized as less costly than guar-
anteed loans. New budget scoring takes into account the full costs associated with
guaranteed loans, and, by comparison, shows the benefits of direct loan programs.

Further, a Direct Loan Program for health professions students could serve as a
test model to see if a direct loan program could he more broadb applied to federal
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student financial aid. By borrowing directly from the federal government rather
than through private lenders, very significant federal savings could result.
The HEAL program can be significantly improoed

While we enthusiastically support expansion of the HPSL program or develop-
ment of a Direct Loan Program, the HEAL program still can and should be im-
proved. Schools, lenders, and the administration all have responsibility for assuring
that over $2.2 billion in federally guaranteed HEAL loans are diligently pursued
and collected.

For schools we support the imposition of a reasonable and fair performance stand-
ard on schools participating in the HEAL program.

(1) We urge that the HPSL default calculation, as currently specified in statute,
be applied to the HEAL program. As with the HPSL program, it should be possible
to "cure" a loan for which a claim has been paid, if the loan subsequently comes
back into repayment. (Under current HEAL calculations, once a claim has been
paid for a defaulted loan, that loan is forever counted as a default, even if the bor-
rower subsequently gets back into repayment!)

(2) Schools must be allowed to be actively involved in collection, as they a.e in the
HPSL program. For example, schools should be allowed to tell delinquent borrowers
about the negativo consequences of default. (Currently, schools are prevented from
making any such negative statement. This effectively ties one hand behind their
backs.)

We must, however, express concern about the fact that there is only one major
secondary market for HEAL loans. The Student Loan Marketing Association (Sallie
Mae) currently holds at least 68 percent of all HEAL loans. So long as all lenders
sell their HEAL loans to the same holder, how can schools shop for better servicing?
We urge the Subcommittee to consider ways to stimulate competition at the second-
ary market level. This, in turn, could allow competition to reemerge among lenders.

It is critical that a new office be established at DHHS to track HEAL loans, inter-
face with the Department of Education and the Department of Justice, improve col-
lection efforts, and centralize the deferment process.

It is important that HEAL loans not be "lost in the system" once a claim has
been paid. Since only a few HEAL defaulters fail to graduate, it is likely that even
those who initially experience a very high debt-to-income ratio, will eventually be
able to repay their loans. Thus, it should be possible to collect on the vast majority
of HEAL default claims, if the judgments are diligently pursued.

This new office should also undertake a thorough review of current collection re-
quirements and incentives, and recommend additional steps to improve loan servic-
ing and collections. A significant number of "technical defaults" occur, for example,
when borrowers fail to file the proper deferral forms. Yet, the lender cannct be paid
without taking that loan through litigation. How can a loan go through litigation
without the lender finding out about the need to file a deferral form and working
with the borrower to get it done? (Why is it seemingly easier to proceed through
litigation than to file a form?)

We urge that DHHS be directed to hire at least five persons whn are exclusively
accountable for the above-mentioned functions, and who must report annually to
this Subcommittee. Further, we urge the Subcommittee to examine the authority
DHHS has to pursue delinquent loans prior to default, in order to assure that office
of sufficient power to be effective. We believe that the cost of establishing this new
office would be more than covered by what is saved in cured loans and in collections
recovered from defaulted loans.

Additional requirements should be imposed on lenders so that the HEAL collec-
tion process begins earlier. More frequent written notice and earlier telephone con-
tacts should be required, so that HEAL "due diligence" efforts more closely parallel
those used by a number of banks in pursuit of their own loans.

An incentive program should be explored that would provide positive financial in-
centives for lenders that keep their defaults below a predetermined goal. The de-
fault goal could be negotiated annually with each lender. Such positive reinforce-
ments could help further lower defaults.

Loan repayment should be nilated to borrower's income. By allowing HEAL loans
to be consolidated with other federal loans, it should be possible to establish grad-
uated repayment plans geared to tae health professions.

Borrowers should be protected against high interest rates with an interest cap,
We urge the Subcommittee to limit the amount of interest that a HEAL borrower
can pay to 12 percent. If the interest exceeds that amount, the federal government
would pay the amount in excess of 12 percent. This has been done for the Supple-
mental Loans for Students program, administered by the Department of Education.
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Finally, the insurance premium should be examined, and a fair premium should
be assessed, based on a comprehensive analysis of the r.sk of defaults, deaths and
total disabilities. Such a premium must be determined with a forecast that projects
income due to collections from former defaulters.

As with any insurance system, care must be taken to avoid contilually increasing
the insurance premium charged to the consumerin this cane the borrower. Con-
gressional oversight is required to assure that lenders and the administration are
doing everything possible to collect from prior defaulters.

AADS appreciates all that this Subcommittee has done to promote the nation's
health. We look forward to working with the Subcommittee during this reauthoriza-
tion process.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank you.
Dr. Sternmler or Dr. Graham, I understand that in 1990, only

55.7 percent of available family practice resident physicians were
filled by graduates of U.S. medical schorAs. Can you tell us how
elimination of these programs as proposed by the administration
would affect the number of primary residency slots available and
thus, the number of primary physicians entering?

Mr. GRAHAM. Purely as it relates to family medicine, approxi-
mately 50 percent of all first-year positions have some degree of
title VII support at the same time. It would not be candid for me to
suggest if title VII went to zero next year all those positions would
close down immediately. But for some of the reasons I alluded to in
my remarks it would make it doubly difficult to maintain the
number of family residency training programs.

I would expect we would see an attrition of at least 30 to 40 per-
cent of those positions in the first year, and where we went after
that would depend on where the other sources of funding came and
what other changes there might be in Federal support for gradua-
tion.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You mean 40 percent of those 2,500 medical stu-
dents woult! drop out?

Mr. GRAHAM. I am sorry. I misunderstood. I was addressing only
the residency level which is after they graduate. I am saying we
would loseof those current residency positions about half are fed-
erally supported through title VII. I am saying in the first year I
think we would lose around 40 percenthalf. Immediate 20 per-
cent reduction in available positions for family medicine.

Mr. STEMMLER. Let me just respond in a Aightly different way.
That is to identify those programs that are supported out of title
VII in a sense as an infrastructure in this country for the training
and education of people in the primary care specialties.

I think what is so important in this renewal is the fact that
there are movements now being initiated or ongoing as was men-
tioned earlier by some of the private foundations which when
looked at collectively, the Federal investment as well as the private
investment, at least it sets the stage potentially for some accom-
plishments that have not heretofore been available to us. I am not
answering in detail on the technical part of your question but
really in the importance of what title VII does in supporting that
infrastructure.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Do you think if the HEAL Program were elimi-
nated, medical and dental students would be able to obtain alterna-
tive financing?
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Mr. STEMMLER. I have great fear about the elimination of the
HEAL Program. Incidentally, my prior lifejust prior to this last
July I was the Dean of the School of Medicine at the University of
Pennsylvania, so I associated myself very strongly with your analy-
sis.

We need every source of loan funds and scholarship funds in
order to support medical education, unquestionably and without a
doubt. Although it is true there are initiatives such as the medical
loans program, it is a .,eries of pieces that has to be put in place to
maintain a policy in this country that medical education is avail-
able to anyone who is bright enough and qualified enough to study.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You don't think that gap would be filled?
Mr. STEMMLER. I don't think that gap would be filled, no, sir.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. To what extent?
Mr. STEMMLER. I have no way of estimating that. It has not been

easy to obtain lenders that will support that particular device for
student loans. To just speculate the banks are going to be there to
support that I think is highly speculative.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. The President's budget for 1992 would reduce
the current 1991 budget by $184 million down to $88 million. That
would be targeted for a limited number of programs for disadvan-
taged and minority students. While the subcommittee has never
supported these extreme reductions in funding, we are interested
in your comments on the priorities outlined in the President's pro-
gram. Do you think it is appropriate to limit the support for only
these narrow purposes?

Mr. GERSHEN. If I may comment. It seems to me that would
createonly the rich or very poor could obtain a loan and afford a
medical or dental education.

Mr. STEMMLER. We believe very stronglyand I personally be-
lieve very stronglyin what I would call needs-based functional
aid, and obviously individuals who have greater needsthose loans
or scholarships should be provided not based on a priority relative
to an ethnic consideration or racial consideration but based on fi-
nancial need.

And I think there are other initiatives that we .clearly have to
respect in medical education that have to do with the representa
tion of individuals in society in our profession. When we are tali
ing about financial aid we rest on needs analysis and providing aid
on the basis of need.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Do you think your views generally are shared in
the medical community about the Administration's proposals?

Mr. STEMMLER. Yes.
Mr. .KOSTMAYER. What do you think possessed the Administra-

tion to come up with these extraordinary proposals?
Mr. STEMMLER. Mr. Kostmayer, I would not want to speculate on

the intent of the Administration. We heard their testimony earlier.
Mr. GRAHAM. I may be in a unique position to speculate since my

job prior to coming to t. ss one was Dr. Harmon's position.
The long standing poLition of the administration since 1980 has

been to zero out these discretionary programs, believing in times of
tight budgetary constraints that is not a high public priority. I be-
lieve what you heard from the panels this morning and what you
will hear more this afternoon as you get into title VIII there is a
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compelling argument that can be made to increase the numbers of
disadvantaged and minority students in health professions educa-
tion across the board. That goes very strongly to the arguments for
student assistance.

Over and above that, there are needs for the support of continu-
ing to produce needed type of practitioners. Primary care physi-
cians is certainly one area.

I thhik you will hear from the nursing community later on this
afternoon. The fact both of those may be public needs I believe does
not lead to an argument. You should combine them and only have
primary care for minority and disadvantaged students. I think you
need to keep those two things separate. I understand the adminis-
tration's argument. I do not happen to support that proposal.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. You felt that way in your previous position?
Mr. GRAHAM. My previous position was to do the best job I could

to make sure the committee understood the President's budget.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. But you had to convey the administration's

view.
Mr. GRAHAM. Absolutely. That is what you expect from an ad-

ministration witness.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Which you did not agree?
Mr. GRAHAM. I had some personal disagreements.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. ",xplain to me from your personal perspective

why the administralion is doing this.
Mr. GRAHAM. With due respect to the budget process which this

administration is presently operating and recognizing, the people of
different parties have different views of the public role.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. There doesn't seem to be any disagreement in
the medical community. It seems to methis is why I asked the
question. These views towards the administration's proposals are
generally shared in the medical community. Everybody nodded
their head.

Mr. GRAHAM. I think there is a generally strong view within the
health professions community that the present authorization levels
of title VII and title VIII programs are minimal at best, that the
authorization should be continued, probably with some modifica-
tions.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. The administration would cut them below cur-
rent levels.

Mr. GRAHAM. That is correct, and my interpretation now as a
participant observer is the administration's philosophy has been
that there is not a compelling public role in this area so you are
hearing a debate between groups of interest about whether or not
there is a compelling public role.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Not a compelling public role to provide tuition
assistance to finance?

Mr. GRAHAM. I believe on the face of it that argument is consist-
ent with the administration's proposal to you.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Is that the arguments they made to you when
you held the position?

Mr. GRAHAM. Certainly the feeling has been that if you look at
the earning capacityand I don't need to go back to 1982, I have
done this beforeif you look at the earning capacity of health pro-
fessionals, they tend to be among the relatively privileged class of

14
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our society, and if you are sitting down and doing a tough budget
that you may well be looking more at the income maintenance
needs of individuals who are not health professionals.

I think it is a legitimate area for public debate.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. That seems to make some sense. Why don't you

share that point of view that doctors indeed make a great deal of
money when they graduate, and, therefore, they should be less de-
pendent on these kind of programs?

Mr. GRAHAM. Were the venue for the hearing different ane I
were to be called before you for a different purpese, I might well
share some of those views. I am before you as a representative of
five organizations, and I think it would not be fair to them to
simply reflect what might be a personal view of better public
policy.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Mr. Morales, you are 'vying for your education.
Can you tell me how you are paying for your education? Are you
using these programs?

Mr. MORALES. Yes. Fortunately, I was able to finish my under-
graduate career with no indebtedness. My parents helped me. And
I worked three jobs. I went to the University of Texas, El Paso.
During medical school I have been funding my career through
Texas guaranteed student loans and the HEAL Program. That is
I have also been subsidizing my income with the Perkins Loan as
well.

In talking to several students I asked them what would they do if
the HEAL Program--

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Are you eligible for HPSL?
Mr. MORALES. No.
I talked to several medical students, and I asked them what they

would do without the HEAL Program, and the majority said they
would not be in medical school.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Just to interruptDr. Graham indicated you
will do relatively well after graduation. Banks know that. Why
wouldn't banks loan you the money knowing you would be in a po-
sition to pay it back?

Mr. MORALES. I don't quite understand why banksmaybe be-
cause of the high default rates they are skeptical about making
such loans to us. Another thing, our school principally puts out pri-
mary care physicians. Primary care physicians' incomes are not
necessarily that high initially and have a very difficult time paying
back their debts.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. We give you some time. There is an intervening
period before you need to begin paying the debt back.

Mr. MORALES. That is true. However, in my particular case, since
most of our students do plan to service rural communities the over-
head cost which they have to incur and the type of community and
the people we are dealing with they don't expect too high of an
income.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Well, if you serve in an underserved area you
can get even more of your tuition from the government, isn't that
right, under the public health service?

Mr. MORALES. Yes. There are programs.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Mr. Behringer, let me ask you how successful

your centers have been in working with medical schools to try to
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refocus educational priorities to primary care and also to offer rota-
tions at rural and community health centers. Can more be done in
that area?

Mr. BEHRINGER. A great deal more can be done, and some of the
recommendations which we brought before you will list some of our
ideas in that area. It is not consistent across the country. It is not
consistent, even, among the different departments within the medi-
cal schools themselves.

I think the emphasis we have is not only helping the medical
schools to identify and attract those individuals who potentially
would go into primary care upon their admission to the school but
also those individuals who then would select to work in under-
served areas in the long run. Those are very special individuals
and, given all of the demands and all of the difficultk i that people
would have going through medical school which may be oriented
away from primary care, I think those are the folks that need the
support that those role modelsthat title VII basically provides
them, and we would like to play a larger role with the community
in migrant health centers and rural areas for providing those role
models.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Dr. Graham, let me ask in conclusion, given
your experience, your opinion why this country has not dealt in a
better way with the health care crisis, its affordability, its accessi-
bility.

Mr. GRAHAM. One is tempted to say I don't think we have taken
it that seriously yet. It is an extremely complicated system, and in-
dividual needs are highly variable. For the majority of our popula-
tion insurance is gene.ally adequate and health services are good.
It is still the one place in the world that you might wish to come if
you were seriously ill. So we don't have a health system, we have
multiple health systems, and how the system deals with you de-
pends upon your personal, geographic, ethnic and economic circum-
stances.

And theif I could finish the thoughtthe changes that are now
being discussed will require a high degree of consensus on the part
of the Congress, the administration and the public. And you asked
my personal opinion, and my personal opinion is there have been
so many different perceptions that consensus has never been able
to be forged.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Who doesn't share that consensus?
Mr. GRAHAM. I would suspect it would be impossible at the

present time for the members of this committee to report out a
consensus bill dealing with health services access in the United
States.

Mr. KOSTMAYER. Do you think the American people have reached
a consensus?

Mr. GRAHAM. Absolutely not.
Mr. KOSTMAYER. Your favorable comments about our system did

not speak to the cost, specifically, the collective national cost which
is extraordinary and rising quite rapidly.

Mr. GRAHAM. And some believe that that is a problem, and you
will still find in the literature some who argue there is no magic
right or wrong level of GNP. I feel I have given you a superficial
answer to a difficult question.
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Mr. KOSTMAYER. Thank all of the witnesses. Adjourned until 1
o'clock p.m.

[Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m. the subcommittee recessed, to recon-
vene at 1 p.m. the same day.]

[Brief recess.]
Mr. BRUCE [presiding]. Good afternoon. Welcome to the commit-

tee. We are happy to have our nursing panel. They will address re-
authorization of title VIII.

Before introducing this panel, I would like to again recognize the
recent complement of the nursing training programs requested by
this committee from HHS in 0, e last reauthorization. This inde-
pendent evaluation highlights de value and success of many title
VIII programs ani, suggests if anything they should receive more
resources instead of being cut as the administration is suggesting.

I ask a copy of the Executive summary of this report be made
part of the record.

[Testimony resumes on p. 1551
[The information follows:]
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DRAFT

FINAL REPORT

EVALUATION OF NURSING EDUCATION
PROJECTS

The Nursing Shortage Reduction and Education Extension Act of
1988 (Title VII of PL 100-607) asonded Title VIII (Nurse Education)
of the Public Health Service A+.1t to call for biennial evaluations
of Title VIII projects. Specifically, Section 859 states:

(a) Th Secretary shall, directly or through contracts with
public and private ntities, provide for evaluations of
projects carried out pursuant to this title and for the
dissemination of information developed as a result of such
projects. Such evaluations shall include an valuation of the
effectiveness of such projects in increasing the recruitment
and retention of nurses.

(b) (1) The Secretary shall, not later than January 10, 1989,
submit to the Committee on Energy and Commerce of the House of
Representatives, and to the Committee on Labor and Hunan
Resources of tho senate, a report describing the manner in
which the Secretary intends to carry out subsection (a).

(2) The Secretary shall, not later than January 10,
1991, and biannually thereafter, submit to the Committee on
Energy and Commerce of the House of Representatives, and to
the Committee on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate, a
report summarizing valuations carried out pursuant to
subsection (a) during the preceding two fiscal years.

(c) of the amounts appropriated each fiscal year to carry out
this title, the Secretary shall make available one percent to
carry out this section.

Provisions of Title VIII

Title VIII of the Public Health Service Act provides nursing
education support through financing educational program
innovation, development, and maintenance; and graduate and
undergraduate student grants, loans, and scholarships. Approxi-
mately $290 million was appropriated for these programs in FYs
1985 through 1989, the focal years of this report.

Title VIII contains eight distinct programs, four that
provide program support to nursing schools and other institutions
and four that provide support to graduate and undergraduate

1
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nursing students. One of the institutional support programs, Spe-
cial Projects, currently has ten subcomponents, each addressing a
different purpose for which grants might be made. These purposes
have changed over time as national priorities and health care
needs have evolved In Fi 1989, 552 program grant awards were made
under Title VIII; 163 nursing schools received undergraduate
scholarship awarda, and 529 schools participated in the Nursing
Student Loan program.

EvaluatAon Method

In accordance with Section 859(b) (1), a report dated February
1989 on the plans for carrying out the first evaluation of the
Title VIII projects was submitted/to the Congress. The plan
indicated that all areas of the current provisions of Title VIII
would be addressed within the overall evaluation scheme. However,
the programs under Title VIII would be classified according to
whether: (1) a history of completed project activities was
available to form the basis for evaluation; or (2) the program had
been newly established and only recently funded. The latter group
of programs would be described and, to the extent of information
available, the level of interest and the type of grants issued
would be identified.

Dissemination of the findings has always been an expected
activity of each grant. Throughout the administration of Title
VIII, it was anticipated that grantees would disseminate and make
available information about project outcomes and findings. The
evaluation process, therefore, included a review of dissemination
activities and the effectiveness of these activities in making the
findings available to others who would benefit from the knowledge.

To implement the evaluation plan, which would be used for the
development of the 1991 report, the decision was made to select a
single contractor with overall responsibility for the evaluation
of each of the programs. This approach guaranteed a uniform
methodological design with standardization of goals and
objectives; and ensured that cross-cutting issues within and among
the varied programs would be incorporated in the rcview.

Two steps were taken to ensure that the evaluation would
incorporate broad concerns of those with an interest in the
nursing community. Prior to the initiation of a contract, the
Advisory council on Nurses Education provided recommendations of
issues and Title VIII areas for incorporation in the evaluation
plan. The Advisory Council on Nurses Education is a statutory body
appointed by the secretary in accordance with requirements in
Title VIII. In addition, in accordance with the contract
requirements, the contractor appointed a group of individuals
knowledgeable and experienced in the areas of evaluation research,
nursing education and service, and health care system oryanization
to provide technical guidance during the course of the contract.
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As a result of the competitive award process, Levine
Associates, Inc. was selected as the contractor to carry out the
evaluation study which is summarized in this report. This
evaluation of Title VIII programs focused on the following major
issues:

How and to what extent have the programs facilitated the
removal of financial barriers to a nursing education?

How and to what extent have the progrnms promoted the
role of nurses as health care providers?

How and to what degree have the programs achieved the
specific purposes delineated in the legislation?

How and to what extent have grantees disseminated
findings from completed grant activities and made those
findings available to those who could benefit from them?

How effective have these programs been in increasing re-
cruitment into nursing?

How effective have these programs been in increasing the
retention of nurses in the profession?

Each question was applied to the legislation as a whole and to
each Title VIII program to which it was relevant.

These questions provided the framework for obtaining,
organizing, and analyzing information data sources. Detailed sub-
questions tailored to each program and purpose of Title VIII were
used to guide data collection and analysis.

A sample of 166 grants was selected for study from among the
more than 800 awarded in fiscal years 1985-1989. Exclusive of the
student loan and scholarship programs, the sample grants involved
44 separate institutions, many of which had several grants,
usually under different sections of Title VIII.

The primary source of data on the grants selected for study
came from the grant files which contained init1al proposals, staff
and reviewer notes, and official progress and final reports.
Follow-up site visits and telephone interviews were used to
supplement this information where necessary.

Conclusions

The conclusions reported are those drawn by the contractor
looking only at the impacts of Title VIII programs without
reference to other competing priorities. As such they do not
necessarily represent the views of the Department or the Health
Resources and Services Administration.
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Levine Associates, Inc. came to the following overall
conclusions in their evaluation of the Title VIII programs. The
brief summary included here has been organized around the six
major Avalurtion questions and the individual program areas. A
full discussion of the findings and the conclusions is included in

the Levine Associates rinki_RevortiAtioLiarn_Hurcang
Education Proiects appended to this Executive Summary.

Removal of financial barriers to nursing education

Nursing student support does aid needy students',
promote more rapid degree completion, and, probably,
attract some people into nursing. However, given the
large number of nursing students, the support is too
limited to have substantial and measurable effects on
this number.

The rapid advance of graduate nursing education in
scope quality, and accessibility is mostly due to
Title VIII programs. Without these, sources of high
quality graduate nursing education would, if available,
be very limited.

Promoting the role of nurses

Federal support plays a key role in promoting and
supporting innovations in nursing education that respond
to the national need for more cost-effective health care
and to key issues such as aging, health care
underservice, and rapidly aanging health care
technology and skill requirements. This support has also
expanded opportunities to provide care to the
undereerved through innovative nurse-managed clinics,
birthing centees, and community programs.

Advanced degree nurses graduated from Title VIII
projects are role models who provide education and
leadership in response to changing health needs.

Achievement or legislative purposes

The short-term objectives of the grants were generally
met. Most projects were designed and implemented, met
their entollment goals, and produced graduates. A few
had problems which generally centered on recruiting
suitable faculty, students, skilled preceptors and
developing needed linkages with clinical facilities.

The long-term objectives of Title VIII, such as
increasing retention and recruitment, and career
development for employed nurses were not systematically
measured by the grantees. On-going data collection on
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these issues is vital to their effective evaluation.

Dissemination

Dissemination of project findings and methods by
grantees has been excellent and varied. For example,
with regard to Special Project grants, products, such as
audio-visual learning modules, were identified in the
contract review. The benefits of Title VIII have been
greatly expanded by the activities. These activities
take place in addition to such activities as the
inclusion of grant findings in Federal presentations, in
Congressional reports and as part of the informational
material supplied to the Congress.

Recruitment into nursing

a Federal funding, especially of Special Projects and ad-
vanced nurse training, promotes recognition of nursing
as essential to assuring high quality health care,
provides nursing role models for non-nurses, and
facilitates access to advanced education and career
mobility, thus helping to stimulate recruitment into
nursing.

Federal student financing is probably too limited to
have a substantial effect on recruitment.

special projects for the disadvantaged probably have a
positive indirect effect through the development of
innovative teaching methods and their dissemination.
However, they are too few to have a significant direct
effect on the numbers of students recruited.

Retention of nurses in the profession

Federal funding, especially of special projects and ad-
vanced nurse training, promotes recognition of nursing,
and facilitates access to advanced education and career
mobility, and thus helps promote retention in nursing.

Advanced Nurse Education grants encouraged part-time
graduate school enrollment, thereby increasing the
accessibility of graduate nursing education programs,
which resulted in an expansion in the number of nurses
with advanced skills and enhanced professional roles,
both of which are factors that are often vital to
retention in nursing.

5
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Other

This evaluation demonstrated a pressing need for
on-going data collection on the long-term retention
effects of Title VIII as reflected in graduate career
patterns.

The interaction of multiple grant awards at sone nursing
schools strengthens the outcomes oR the individual grants
and strengthens the schools and their faculties.

findings for Individual Programs

fiDecial Project Grants and Contracts

This section is intended to improve nursing practice by
increasing the knowledge and skills of nurses and to re-
duce nursing vacancies and turnover. Sixty-one (61) of
the 350 fiscal year 1985 through 1989 grants under the
10 purposes of the section were evaluated. The grants
were especially effective in enhancing the rola of
nurses as health care providers to underserved
populations and in disseminating findings. They were
also very successful in meeting their specific
legislative objectives. Less clear was the impact of the
grants on retention in the profession. more time is
needed to observe this effect than was available to the
evaluation.

The impact of Special Project nrants is far-reaching be-
cause the grants' products are ..lonstantly used and
continue to reach large numbers of nurses and its
innovations are widely replicated. Curriculum materials
developed in continuing education projects are
frequently incorporated into formal nursing education
programs.

8 Advanced_ liurn_FAllgAtign

This section of Title VIII assists collegiate nursing
schools to increase the supplies of well-prepared nurse
educators, administrators, clinical specialists, and re-
searchers. Over two thirds of the 46 sample grants in
this program met or exceeded their performance and
legislative objectives.

Advanced Nurse Education grants promoted the roles of
nurs.Js as health care providers. Graduate students and
faculty provided models of practice for other nurses and
improved the public's and the health professions'
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perception of nursing. It is widely asserted and has
been shown that advanced education increases autonomy
and job satisfaction leading to professional stability.

Project director and graduate studeC interviewees veri-
fied that graduate programs provide ti way for staff
nurses and first-line nurse managers to increase their
job satisfaction by preparing for leadership positions
in clinical practice, administration, education, and
research. The project directors interviewed were
convinced that almost all graduates remain in nursing
and usually in the advanced practice specialties they
studied.

Without the advanced nurse education program, it would
have been impossible to begin many new master's and
doctoral programs or to expand those already in
existence significantly. Further, the effects of the
program were often multiplied by supplementary
non-Federal funds.

Overall, there was a clear sense that it was the Title
VIII awards that facilitated development and implementa-
tion of advanced nurse education programs. These
programs increased accessibility to master's degree
specialty tracks and doctoral programs. many
interviewees credited the programs with helping to
increase the nation's supply of nurses with advanced
education, especially by encouraging part-time graduate
study.

This program helps eligible institutions meet the costs
of aducating nurse practitioners and nurse midwives to
deliver primary health care in the hone, in ambulatory
care, and in institutional settings. The sample included
28 grants in this category, 21 for nurse-practitioner
and 7 for nurse-midwifery programs. Program faculty
members cited many accomplishments in promoting the role
of nursing and in gaining community acceptance for these
specialty health care providers. However, appreciation
of their potential value sometimes developed slowly and
obstacles had to be overcome, such as the difficulty
nurse-midwives had in the mid-1980s in obtaining
liability insurance.

Every nurse practitioner and nurse midwifery program
studied maintained some clinical sites in medically
underserved areas and provided primary care to medically
underserved populations. Beneficiaries of these services
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included igrant farm workers, the homeless and the
indigent.

The grants provided the overwhelming majority of funds
for program development, xpansion and enhancement at
the sample schools, many of which were able to
capitalise on Federal funding to obtain increased
support from their univrsities and states as well as
frou private sources such as foundation*. A recurring
theme among the grantees was that most sauple programs
could not have started or maintained operations without
Federal support.

Dissemination of information about experiences in
initiating, developing, and managing these programs was
widespread.

The programs that conducted alumni surveys reported that
a great majority of graduates are active in their
specialties. Many worked in underserved areas and in
public health and outpatient settings where they
provided effective care to the needy at moderate cost.
However, despite their documented strengths as
cost-effective health care providers, nurse
practitioners and nurse midwives were not used to their
fullest potential. Professional,legal, and reimburseaent
barriers restricted their practice soaewhat.

Nursing Education Opportunities for Individuals froa
Disadvantaged Backgrounds

Eight of the 27 grants which supported projects related
to individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds during FY
1985-1989 were studied. They focused on disadvantaged
students from inner cities, rural areas and Indian
communities.

A recurrent theme among the projects studied was that as-
sistance to disadvantaged students is very resource inten-
sive and costly.

Directors of these projects provided convincing evidence
that the program facilitated recruiting disadvantaged
students into nursing; that large proportions of aided
students completed their studies and entered the nursing
profession; and that many student participants would
have been unable to study without project support. The
successes of these projects stemmed both from the
financial aid and from the special educational services,
including remediation, teaching aids, and tutorials,
they provided.

8
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This program's student stipends, even when in amounts
less than what was needed, had a significant impact on
successful studies completion by disadvantaged students.
There is little doubt that many of these students would
not have been able to complete their education without
this program's financial and educational assistance.

While most of these projects provided evidence that
their objectives were achieved, there was a lack of
consistent data on recruitment, student retention and
licensure outcomes. Progress that monitored progress
reported high retention rates among students who
received support. Dissemination of the findings has been
widespread thus increasing the program's benefits.

ProlessionAl Nurfie_Traineehips

Funds for traineeships are awarded to support students
in master's and doctoral programs. While funding has
been stable for more than a decade, graduate nrollment
has increased more than four-fold since the arly 1970s.
Thus traineeships now average about $1,000. Beginning in
1989, half-time students were included in the program
with 25 percent of available funds set aside for their
support. Of the 200 nursing schools aided by traineeship
program, 32 were in the study sample. Tuition alone
often greatly exceeded the value of a traineeship at
these schools. Overall, though this support was widely
valued, it had marginal effects on recruitment into
graduate nursing education and on retention in nursing.
Traineeships did allow some students to change from
part-time to full-time status and thus accelerated
degree completion and return to the job sarket.

Although data on trainee post-graduation work
experiences were not often available, one school that
conducted a survey reported that 90 percent of its
master's degree graduates were employed full-time in
nursing specialties. Another school reported that 95
percent of its master's graduates had positions in their
fields of study.

overall, traineeship funds facilitated completion of
graduate programs. This allowed graduates to enter into
higher positions in nursing administration, education,
and practice, the types of position in which retention
in the profession is particularly high.

Much anecdotal information on alumni activities was col-
lected during interviews. It largely validates the
widely held view that nurses who invest time and money
acquiring advanced degrees do work in their fields of

9
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study.

post-Baccalaureate Faculty Fellowships

First implemented in FY 1987, this program supported
faculty research on innovative nursing interventions
addressing national priorities such as cost-effective
health care delivery models for the elderly, premature
infants, and other high risk populations. in fiscal
years 1987-1989, 229 one-year fellowships were awarded.
Some grantees reported that the funding was inadequate
considering the work required to secure it. Recipients
often reported that the program's tuition, fee and
stipenu allowances did not meet the costs of obtaining
an advanced degree and the one-year support period was
too short for doctoral research. Over 90 percent of the
recipients sampled repocted that they have or will
become tenured faculty members in their specialties
after completing their degrees.

HurAing Student Loans

This section authorizes loans to financially needy full
and half-time undergraduate and graduate nursing
students. Loans are limited to $2,500 for each of the
first two years and $4,600 each for two later years of
study with a lifetime ceiling of $13,000. Loan repayment
is made over a period not to exceed ten years beginning
9 months after graduation. The law authorizes the
Secretary of Health fi Human Services, subject to the
availability of funds, to repay up to 85 percent of a
loan, including interest for post-graduation employment
in health care settings such as public hospitals and
community health centers. These partial loan repayment
provisions of the law were suspended from FY 1984-FY
1989 due to lack of appropriations. The FY 1990
appropriation was $1,000,000.

Less than a third of nursing programs participated in
Nursing Student Loans, there were fewer than 13,000 bor-
rowers each year, and the average loan amount was
approximately $800. EVen where available, the loans were
rarely a major education financing resource. Several
sample schools with large numbers of needy students,
though, found it very valuable. Also, when combined with
other types of finaucial aid, these loans undoubtedly
enabled some students to pursue a nursing education.

Underdraduate_SchotarshiPs

This section was added to Title VIII in 1988 to maks tui-
tion and fee scholarships available to financially needy

10
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nursing students. Recipients must sign an agreement with
the Secretary of Health 4 Human Services to serve for not
less than two years after graduation in facilities such
as public hospitals and Medicare/Medicaid provide-
institutions. The program disbursed an initial $1.2 .
million in scholarships to 167 nursing schools in FY
1989, an amount sufficient for fewer than 400
scholarships.

It is too early to determine the impacts on recruitment
into nursing. However, it is doubtful that it increased
recruitment very much by removing financial barriers
since the scholarship awards were limited to tuition and
fees and since few scholarships were awarded.
Nevertheless, they did give significant financial help
to some students, including a number who would not have
stayed in nursing school without this aid. They clearly
have value as part of the financial aid resource pool
which, as a whole, plays a major role in recruitment
into nursing.

Summary

This report provides the findings of the first of the
evaluation studies required under Section 0859(a) of Title VIII of
the Public Health Service Act. It provides an overview of how and
to what extent the grants carried out under each of the Title V/II
sections have met their own and the legislative objectives.

As indicated in the summary of the contractor's findings
reported in this Executive Summary and in the attached full report
of the study, there are large numbers of nursing educational
programs and students. The funds available for any one program
would be insufficient to make significant changes in these overall
numbers. Thus, the ability to measure impact and effectiveness on
an aggregate basis is diminished. Furthermore, since the review
was confined primarily to activities occurring during the life of
the grants or shortly thereafter, the long-term impacts could not
be measured. Therefore, the next phase of the evaluation will
focus on whether the project activities have been maintained after
funding ceased. It will also evaluate the retention of the
graduates who were products of the various funding sources and the
contributions of these nurses to the enhancement of health care
delivery.

11
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Mr. BRUCE. I notice the presence of a colleague, Mr. Dymally.
Mr. Dymally, we would be happy to entertain a statement from
you before we begin this panel.

Mr. DYMALLY. Very brief.
Mr. BRUCE. We would be happy to entertain it. If it is not objec-

tionable to you to take the chair at the end of that table next to
that microphone. Happy to have a member from California here.
Mr. Dymally is here from the Education Committee.

STATEMENT OF HON. MERVYN M. DYMALLY, A REPRESENTA-
TIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Mr. DYMALLY. Thank you very much Mr. Chairman, and I thank
the panel for permitting me to rudely interrupt testimony. I have a
Foreign Affairs Committee meeting at 1:30, and I am involved in
the official writeup of the bill. I have a statement I would like to
enter into the record, with your permission.

Mr. BRUCE. Without objection.
Mr. DYMALLY. This is a question about discrimination against

foreign medical graduates. It is not an entirely new issue to me. I
hae spent a lot of time on this issue since I have been in Congress.
I have flown from Los Angeles to Sacramento to appear before
what is called the Medical Quality Assurance Board. It is a kind of
State board for medical practitioners to deal with a number of
problems foreign graduates have and the requirements that States
ask of them, such as requirements which involved getting letters
from a dean who is dead, or going back to school to find out how
many volumes are in the library and finding the school is closed.
These are the contradictory types of requirements put on these
graduates.

And so what we are proposing is to set up an advisory committee
that would work with the Medical Association. And, to their credit
Mr. Chairman, even though they may not be formally endorsed in
this bill, the medical association is working on the problem and
trying to deal with a number of issu.es foreign medical graduates
have raised.

One of the problems, in the AMA is they don't have a forum for
foreign medical graduates. They have been most sensitive to this
issue, and they are working on it. I trust that we could rule very
favorably on this piece of legislation to solve what is a critical
need, especially in the inner cities where we need mor doctors.

I think statistical studies will show there are probaoly a surplus
of doctors in certain parts of the country, but when you look into
the underserved ghettos, barrios and rural areas there is still a
critical shortage of doctors.

I thank you for the opportunity to testify.
Mr. BRUCE. I thank Mr. Dymally for his testimony. I served on

the Education Committee with him in the 1985 and 1987 period
and know of his interest. This goes back a long way, including his
service as Lieutenant Governor of California.

Mr. DYMALLY. I thank the panelists for permitting me to inter-
rupt.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dymally followsd
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PREPARED STATEMF.NT OF HON. MERVYN M. DYMALLY

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to be here before you today.
I have introduced legislation, along with my distinguished colleague, Mr. Towns,

to end the broad discriminaticn that International edical Graduates [IMGs] expe-
rience in medical licensure and practice. H.R. 319, the International Medical Gradu-
ates Anti-Discrimination Act, would eliminate the discrepancies in medical licen-
sure requirements between domestic and International Medical Graduates.

Approximately 123,000 of our Nation's 569,000 physicians are International Medi-
cal Graduates. These physicians serve primarily in underserved urban areas. They
are a valuable resource to the health care of our Nation. Despith studies that have
demonstrated that IMGs are coniparclol.e in medical knowledge and clinical skills to
their domestically educated counterparts and while we rely heavily on their serv
ices, they are subjected to dual medical licensing standards and discrimination in
both overt and covert forms.

The legbdation I have introduced with Mr. Towns is a response to both a recent
GA() report on medical licensure, which was requested as part of thi last title VII
reauthorization, and the hearing held by this subcommittee during the last health
professions reauthorization which clearly demonstrated that IMGs are subject to
discrimination in three categories: residency programs, licensure and employment.
My bill will not lower medical licensure standards and it will not create Federal
Governnient infringement on the States' role in medical licensure. My bill will
eliminate the two-tiered system of medical licensure.

My bill has three major components. First, it will eliminate the differences in
medical licensure and licensure by endorsement requirements between domestic and
International Medical Graduates. These differences, including additional years of
residency requirements for IMGs, are clearly discriminatory. The measure would
also provide equal access to IMGs in jobs, hospital promotion and other employment
related matters.

Second, my bill would establish an IIHS Advisory Council to make recommenda-
tions on the progress of the now developing AMA National Physician Credentials
Verification Service. Involvement by the Secretary of Health and Human Services is
necessary in order to ensure fairness in the operation and implementation of such a
service. This new repository will expedite the licensure process for practicing IMGs
who often experience interminable delays when they apply for licensure in a second
state. The AMA is to be commended for this initiative but it must be recognized
that their program lacks a forum for IMGs to express their concerns as this new
program begins.

Third, this legislation would make it unlawful for a residency training program to
deny a residency slot to an IMG purely on the basis of the location of their medical
school. Testimony received by the Senate Labor and Human Resources Committee
last year clearly demonstrated that many residency programs will not even look at
an application from an IMG. At a time when the maldistribution of physicians is of
increasing concern and health care costs are rapidly increasing as a percentage of
GNP, it is essential that such a discriminatory practice be made illegal.

Finally, my bill will require the Secretary to obtain data which was missing from
last year's GAO report, such as information from the States on the processing of
applications for licensure and residency training. The measure also authorizes fund-
ing for the new United States Medical Licensing Exam. This new single examina-
tion pathway to licensure will be administered to all medical licensure applicanth.

Mr. Chairman, my goal is to eliminate discrimination toward International Medi-
cal Graduates. I hope that I am able to work with you and others on the subcommit-
tee, including Mr. Towns and Mr. Richardson, as your subcommittee reauthorizes
the Health Professions Act.

Thank you Mr. Chairman.

Mr. BRUCE. We are happy to have this panel here, and we have
already entered into the record a very good evaluation done by
Health and Human Services on that particular title.

Our first witness is Allison Kozeliski, education coordinator at
Rehoboth-McKinley Christian Hospital, Gallup, N. Mex.; followed
by Rita Carty, president of the American Association of Colleges of
Nursing; and followed then by Deborah Bash, director of the
Georgetown University Grr:duate Program in Nurse Midwifery;
Jan Towers, director of government affairs, American Academy of
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Nurse Practitioners; and Lorraine Jordan, director of education
and research for American Nurse Anesthetists.

I am happy to have this panel here. We will begin with Ms. Ko-
zeliski.

STATEMENTS OF ALLISON KOZELISKI, ON BEHALF OF NEW
MEXICO NURSES ASSOCIATION AND AMERICAN NURSES ASSO-
CIATION; RITA M. CARTY, PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ASSOCIATION
OF COLLEGES OF NURSING; DEBORAH M. BASH, ON BEHALF
OF AMERICAN COLLEGE OF NURSE-MIDWIVES; JAN TOWERS,
ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN ACADEMY OF NURSE PRACTITION-
ERS; LORRAINE JORDAN, DIRECTOR, EDUCATION AND RE-
SEARCH, AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NURSE ANESTHETISTS

MS. KOZELISKI. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, my name is Allison Kozeliski, RN. I am repre-

senting the New Mexico Nurses Association, 1 of 53 State and ter-
ritorial members of the American Nurses Association. I am a regis-
tered nurse at Rehoboth-McKinley Christian Hospital in Gallup, N.
Mex.

I am pleased to have this opportunity to thank you and the com-
mittee for your past support of nursing education and to describe
our view of the Nation's need for reauthorization of the Nurse Edu-
cation Act [NEA].

I would like to speak first about the nursing shortage. We have
recent Federal data that indicates that the supply of registered
nurses in the workforce is larger than ever before. Despite the im-
provement ni the actual supply of RN's, our Nation continues to
experience its most prolonged nursing shortage. The demand for
RN's is overwhelming.

For example, despite powerful incentives to make hospitals labor-
efficient and keep down the number of hospital employees, from
1977 to 1988 the nnmber of RN fulltime equivalents per 100 hospi-
tal patients actually increased frcm 61.7 RN to 98 RN FrE's per
100 hospital patients. In the notihospital setting, there is also a
dramatically increased intensity of nursing care needs.

Mr. Chairman, despite strong disincentives to hire employees in
this era of cost containment, RN's are clearly essential to efficient,
high quality and highly productive performance of organized
health care.

I would like to give a picture of New Mexico's health care needs.
Our rural, sparsely populated State has 14 basic nursing education
programs operating at capacity. Right now, New Mexico has a total
of 9,180 RN's. Only Idaho and Louisiana have a lower number of
RN's-to-total population. New Mexico designated 30 out of all 33
counties in the State as experiencing a severe nursing shortage.
New Mexico also has identified 30 of 33 counties as experiencing a
critical shortage of primary health care providers.

If we are to continue to meet our State's peimary health care
needs, we must have continued support from the NEA to sustain
our one existing nurse practitioner program and develop new nurse
practitioner/certified nurse midwife programs.

I would like to describe New Mexico's experience with the NEA.
I am pleased to report that New Mexico has received support from
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several key program areas of the NEA. For example, students in
our State's one master's degree program receive support from the
Professional Nurse Traineeship Program of the NEA. There are
two Special Projects Program awards in the State, one for a Geriat-
ric Education and Health Management Program and one RN to
BSN completion project within a county which is approximately 66
percent Native American and 15 percent Hispanic population.

The Undergraduate Scholarships Program of the NEA made
awards to 19 New Mexico students in 1990. Our State's only nurse
practitioner program, a Family Nurse Practitioner program at the
University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, is funded by the NEA.
This project recruits students from rural and underserved areas. Of
note is New Mexico will receive an award next month from the
Disadvantaged Nursing Student Program of the NEA.

Now I would like to talk about recruitment into nursing. The
American Nurses Association has made a commitment to the re-
cruitment to nursing of nontraditional students: minorities, second
career individuals and older students, for example. Survey research
has indicated that nursing students may leave their educational
programs with baween $10,000 and $13,000 of indebtedness. Ac-
cording to a National Student Nurses Association survey, 17 per-
cent of nursing students indicated that they had to delay their edu-
cation due to unavailability of funding.

Fortunately. the NEA does provide traineeships and loan repay-
ment in several sections of the Act. We believe the NEA-sponsored
student support is assuring access to nursing education, particular-
ly for minority students and for other nontraditional students.

I would like to describe New Mexico's achievements in minority
nursing education. We are very pleased with the contract from the
NEA Special Projects Program to establish a Hispanic Career Mo-
bility Mode, the RN to Bachelor of Science/Master of Science in
Nursing Program. Today, 107 Hispanic muses are enrolled in the
advanced education program and 18 are actually applying for grad-
uate study. Our most recent enrollment data indicate that 181 His-
panic nursing students were admitted to all of the State's nursing
programs, as well as 28 Native American nursing students. To
date, 6.5 percent of the total master's degrees in nursing enroll-
ment in the State are Hispanic nurses,

Mr. Chairman, the New Mexico Nurses Association understands
that a very tight budget year faces us. However, a large number of
applications for NEA support were previously approved for funding
in the rigorous quality review process of the Division of Nursing,
but because of the limited size of the total NEA appropriation, they
were not funded and were not implemented. Specifically, in 1990
there were 45 advanced nurse education projects, 29 nurse practi-
tioner/certified nurse midwife projects, 13 projects totaling $1.7
million for individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds, and 11
special projects were approved but unfunded.

Mr. Chairman, we believe your review of the process which ad-
ministers the NEA will reveal a well run program which provides
absolutely critical data collection efforts about nurses and nursing,
fbr the use of the profession and for other national, regional and
local health planning purposes.
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Mr. Chairman, our Nation must have adequate numbers of well
prepared registered nurses in order to meet the health care needs
of its citizens. To prepare nurses needed now and in the future, I
urge your support for reauthorization of the Nurse Education Act.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Ms. Kozeliski.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Kozeliski follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ALLISON KOZELISKL ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN NURSES'
ASSOCIATION

Mr. Chairman, I am Allison Kozeliski, RN. I fun representing the New Mexico
Nurses Association, one of 53 state and territorial members of the American Nurses
Association. I am employed as a registered nurse at Rehoboth-McKinley Christian
Hospital in Gallup, New Mexico.

The New Mexico Nurses Association and the American Nurses Association are
pleased to have this opportunity to describe our view of the nation's need for reau-
thorization of the Nursing Shortage Reduction and Education Extension Act of 1988,
more commonly called the Nurse Education Act [the NEA].

We also wish to thank this committee for its commitment and support of nursing
practice and nursing education.
The Nursing Shortage

Recent Federal data indicate that the supply of registered nurses in the work
force is larger than ever before. Now, more than ever before, there is a higher per-
centage of RNs employed in the work force. More than 80 percent work force par-
ticipation for RNs is exceptional for a predominately female profession, 70 percent
of whom are married and 55 percent of whom have children at home.

Despite the improvement in the actual supply of RNs, our nation continues to ex-
perience its most prolonged nursing shortage. There are multiple causes of this
shortage, but the most significant cause is the demand for RNs, whose flexible,
broad base of knowledge is essential in all practice settings where there are health
care needs.

For example, hospitals are the employment setting for about two thirds of the na-
tion's nurses. liecause of dramatic cost-containment efforts, all hospitals have pow-
erful incentives to keep down the number of hospital employees, in order to make
operations as labor-efficient as possible. Despite this powerful economic incentive,
the demand for nurses in hospitals has driven upwards the RN-to-patient ratio. In
1977, there were 61.7 RN fulltime equivalents [FTEs] employed per 100 hospital pa-
tients. By 1988, that figure had increased to 98 RN Ms per 100 hospital patients.

This increased demand is due to shorter length of stay and admission criteria
which assure that only the very sickest are admitted to the hospital. In the nonho-
spital setting, there is also an increased intensity of nursing care needs among, for
example, those who require home health care. those who require nursing facility
care and physically challenged children who are mainstreamed students in our na-
tion's schools.

Mr. Chairman, despite strong economic disincentives to hire employees in this era
of cost containment, RNs are clearly essential to efficient, high quality and highly
productive performance of organized health care.

Private sector response to the nursing shortage rarely has taken the form of serv-
ice payback in return for scholarship support for nursing students. The private
sector, however, has not provided funding to support educational programs that pre-
pare nurses. For example, hospitals may divert from their nurse recruitment budg-
ets some limited funding for nursing student scholarships or loans that carry an em-
ployment payback upon graduation. This practice has not been widespread and may
not occur at all among predominately minority hospitals which may not have the
budget nor the budget flexibility for this approach. Also, nonhospital employment
settings such as nursing facilities, schools, hospice and home health agencies rarely
have the budget capacity to provide scholarship support for nursing students.

I emphasize that although some private sources exist for nursing student support,
they do not exist in all parts of the country nor do they benefit the nonhospital
employment sector; also, they may not be offered in places which benefit minority
nurses. I emphasize, also, that basically the only support for nursing education pro-
grams comes from the NEA.
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New Mexico's Health Care Needs
Our aural, sparsely populated state has only 14 basic nursing education programs,

or barely one percent of the nation's nearly 1500 nursing education programs. These
programs are performing at capacity to produce the state's supply of registered
nurses. The continuing supply of RNs is necessary to meet the state's goals for our
citizens' health and quality of life.

Right now, New Mexico has a total of 9,180 RNs. That translates to 415 RNs per
100,000 citizens. Only Idaho and Louisiana have a lower number of RNs-to-total pop-
ulation. The New Mexico nursing shortage was validated by a state initiative to des-
ignate counties which were truly affected by the nursing shortage. Thirty out of all
33 counties in the state wee designated as experiencing a severe nursing shortage.
Noteworthy for nurse practitioners, certified nurse midwives, clinical nurse special-
ists and other nurses with advanced practice knowledge, New Mexico has also iden-
tified 30 of 33 counties as experiencing critical shortages 0, primary health care pro-
viders.

The Seventh P,eport to Congress (1990) projects that New Mexico will need 10,300
to 13,300 RNs by the year 2000. Our 14 nursing education programs cannot produce
that many nurses by the year 2000. If our capacity to produce RNs is to grow and be
maintained, ouf nursing education programs must have continued support of the
Nurse Education Act.

Because of the health status of our citizens and other characteristics common to
largely rural states, our state has unmet health care needs. New Mexico needs RNs
to meet health care needs of a largely rural population which, compared to urban
populations, has a greater incidence of: poverty, very young and very old citizens,
medically uninsured and underinsured individuals and also, in general, has greater
morbidity and mortality.

RNs are needed in nonhospital settings, as well. There, nurses provide primary
care, community-based care, administer and manage nursing operations and teach
in schools of nursing. Nurses who perform these functions are prepared at the mas-
ter's degree level. There is only one graduate nursing program in New Mexico. This
program prepares family nurse practitioners and nurse expert clinicians and leaders
for the state. This Committee is well aware of the contributions to the nation's
health made by nurse practitioners and certified nurse midwives. Indeed, we are
thankful for your past support of these providers. In one recent study of nurse prac-
titioners, 76 percent of patients seen by NPs in rural areas and 58 percent of those
seen in urban areas had family incomes of less than $16,000. The Office of Technolo-
gy Assessment report: Health in Rural America indicated that minority women
were more likely than non minority women in urban and rural areas to have had a
nonphysician provider for their primary care. (p. 390) If we are to meet our state's
primary health care needs, we must have continued support from the NEA to sus-
tain existing and develop new nurse practitioner/certified nurse midwife programs.
Current NEA-Sopport in New Mexico

Mr, Chairman, I've provided a brief picture of needs in our state which are being
met by registered nurses. I would like to describe how the current NEA is meeting
the nursing needs of our state.

I am pleased to report that New Mexico has received support from several key
program areas of the NEA. For example:

Professional Nurse Traineeship (Section 830 of the NEA). The University of New
Mexico at Albuquerque is the state's only master's degree program. Currently,
UMN, Albuquerque does receive funds to support graduate students in nursing.

Special Projects (Section 820 of the NEM. (1) UNM, Albuquerque, Geriatric Educa-
tion and Health Management Program. This projects includes a nursing clinic
staffed by nursing faculty in consultation with the College of Pharmacy and the
School of Medicine. Students provide disadvantaged elderly clients with assessment,
diagnosis, planning and intervention to promote health and prevent illness. Bacca-
laureate of Science in Nursing [BSN] students are assigned to specific client families
concurrently with academic courses. Long term care is addressed through inpatient
and home health care, as well as in interdisciplinary planning for topical and case-
oriented educational conferences at the long term care facilities.

(2) UNM, Albuquerque, RN-ESN Completion Program. The UNM, Gallup campus
in western New Mexico is an area which has high morbidity and high mortality, as
well as large numbers of two ethnic populations: Native American (approximately
66 percent of county population) and Hispanic (14 percent of the county). This
project will improve distribution of BSN nurses, and increase the numbers of nurses
who can assume increasingly responsible positions.
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Undergraduate Scholarships (Section 843 of the NEM. There were 19 awards, 16
at the associate degree level and three at the bachelor's degree level in Roswell, Las
Cruces, Espanola and Albuquerque.

Nurse Practiticner/Certirted Nurse Midwife Programs (Section 827 of the NEA).
UNM, Albuquerque, Family Nurse Practitioner Program. This project establishes a
family nurse practitioner program at the master'sdegree level, recruiting students
from rural and underserved areas. The project also develops internship sites in
rural and underserved areas, along with outreach of concurrent courses so that stu-
dents in the final semester of the program can be returned to their home communi-
ties. The project increases services to some clinical sites, especially those with
health promotion and family education content.

Disadvantaged Nursing Students (Section 827 of the NEA). One project will be
funded in June, 1991. Since this is a new award and not yet ready for public dis-
semination, it will not be known for a few weeks how many students this will bene-
fit.

There have been no awards in New Mexico under the Nurse Anesthetist Program
or, at present, the Advanced Nurse Training program of the current Nurse Educa-
tion Act.

The New Mexico experience at the present time with the Nursing Education Act
has been fruitful. We hope the future will hold continued Federal funding for nurs-
ing education.

Nurse Faculty and Nursing Student Recruitment
It is not only New Mexico which is experiencing a shortage of qualified faculty to

teach in nursing schools. In 1990, one natiorsl survey revealed 2,300 qualified stu-
dents who were denied admission to nursing programs because of a lack of nursing
faculty to teach. That survey may have underreported the extent of nursing faculty
shortage since the Louisiana State Board of Nursing, alone, reports 1125 qualified
students turned away from Louisiana schools of nursing, most of them due to lack
of faculty.

For the first time in many years, the nation's graduate nursing programs showed
a reduction in the number of full time students enrolled. This may have a signifi-
cant impact on the supply of future nurse faculty.

The American Nurses Association has made a serious commitment to the recruit-
ment to nursing of nontraditional students: Minorities, second career individuals
and older students, for example. Survey research has indicated that nursing stu-
dents may leave their educational programs with between $10,000 and $13,000 of in-
debtedness. In terms of after-tax earned income, this debt would require between 10
percent to 12 percent of pretax earnings to repay the indebtedness over a five year
period.

Expressed in other terms, more than 60 percent of undergraduate nursing stu-
dents, 68 percent of master's degree nursing students and 58 percent of doctoral stu-
dents in nursing applied for financial aid. Noteworthy is that only 48 percent re-
ceived it. According to a National Student Nurses Association survey, 17 percent of
nursing students indicated that they had to delay their education due to unavail-
ability of funding.

Fortunately, the NEA does provide traineeships and loan repayment in section
831, Nurse Anesthetist Program, as well as in the undergraduate scholarship pro-
gram, the disadvantaged student program and the professional nurse traineeship
program described above. We believe the NEA-sponsored student support is assuring
access to nursing education for minority students and for other nontraditional stu-
dents.

New Mexico's AchieHements in Minority Nursing Education
The state has been awarded a contract with NEA funds from the Special Projects

program to establish a unique project. The project is the Hispanic Career Mobility
114odel, RN to Bachelor of Science/Master of Science in Nursing Program, based at
the UNM, Albuquerque. This is an articulated career mobility model which features
flexible educational opportunities for Hispanic nurses. Today, 107 Hispanic nurses
are enrolled in the advanced educational program. About 25 of these nursea are in-
terested in further study at the master's level and 18 are actually applying for grad-
uate study.

Of the state's 14 basic RN programs, one is a BSN program and the others are
ADN programs. Our most recent enrollment data indicate that 181 Hispanic num-
ing students were admitted to the state's nursing programs, as well as 28 Native
American nursing students. To date, 6.5 percent of the total master's degree in
nursing enrollment in the state are Hispanic nurses.

(1
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Mr. Chairman, the New Mexico Nurses Association understands that a very tight
budget year faces us. Please consider an adequate authorization level for the NEA
since a large number of applications were previously approved for funding in the
rigorous quality review process of the Division of Nursing. However, because of the
limited size of the total NEA appropriation, many of these approved projects were
unfunded. Specifically, in 1990 the following projects were approved but unfunded:
11 special projects; 45 advanced nurse education projects; 29 nurse practitioner/cer-
tified nurse midwife projects; and 13 projects totalling $1.7 million for individuals
from disadvantaged backgrounds.

Mr. Chairman, we hope this sample of information illustrates that the need for
Federal support for nursing education continues to be critical. We believe your
review of the process which admimsters the NEA will reveal a well-run program
which supplies absolutely critical data collection efforts about nurses and nursing,
for the use of the profession and for other national, regional and local health plan-
ning purposes. Mr. Chairman, our nation must have adequate numbers of well pre.
pared registered nurses in order to meet the health care needs of its citizens. To
prepare nurses needed now and in the future, I urge your support for reauthoriza-
tion of the Nurse Education Act.

Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Carty.

STATEMENT OF RITA M. CARTY

MS. CARTY. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the
subcommittee. I am Rita Carty, DNSC, RN, dean of the school of
nursing at George Mason University in Fairfax, Va., and president
of the American Association of Colleges of Nursing [AACN]. This is
a summary of our testimony, and I ask that the full statement be
included in the hearing record.

AACN represents 420 schools ,af nursing which offer baccalaure-
ate undergraduate, graduate and continuing education programs at
senior colleges and universities across the United States. These
schools are dedicated to meeting America's demand for professional
nurses trained to cope with an increasingly older population,
chronic illnesses and the complexities of modern health care treat-
ments and procedures. AACN is here today to support strongly the
reauthorization of the Nurse Education Act.

Only 3 years ago nursing school enrollments were sharply down
as more young people rejected nursing careers, and critical short-
ages existed across the spectrum of nursing services. Today, good
news predominates: baccalaureate nursing enrollments for 1990-91
are up. Minorities and second career students increasingly are
seeking nursing careers; and nursing shortages, while substantial
in some areas and specialties, have begun to moderate. But the
need for the NEA remains.

"his need is based on a lack of nursing school resources, includ-
ir shortages, which resulted in at least 2,300 qualified ap-
plicants being turned away according to a recent AACN survey.
Primary care, particularly in rural and other areas underserved by
physicians, is increasingly being supplied by professional nurses,
especially those with advanced education, such as nurse practition-
ers, clinicians and midwives. Demographics suggest that older and
chronically ill patients, and growing complexities of care, will re-
quire more nurses. The shortage was estimated at 200,000 RN's in
1990.

Minorities suffer disproportionately from many health problems,
and nurses, especially nurses from minority communities, will be
essential to turning that situation around. Entering baccalaureate
nursing students are about 17 percent minority, but Federal sup-
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port is needed to ensure that those students graduate and enter
practice where minorities are underrepresented.

Federal financial assistance is critical for making schools able to
offer faculty-intensive nursing education, and to making nursing
education a viable choice when students compare nursing with ca-
reers which may be more lucrative. Older, often part-time students
with family responsibilities and jobs seeking advanced preparation
particularly are affected.

The NEA is a program of which this subcommittee can be proud.
At a time of cutbacks in State and local support for nursing educa-
tion, Federal programs and student financial support becomes even
more essential to meeting central public health objectives. AACN
supports reauthorization of the NEA with only minor, "fine
tuning" type changes.

At George Mason University's School of Nursing we have 480 un-
dergraduate and 220 graduate nursing students. Our student body
is 20 percent minority. We have an NEA nurse practitioner project
with George Washington University focusing on adult and geronto-
logical education with an emphasis on both serving underserved
populations and recruiting students from underrepresented groups.

We are awaiting a decision on an NEA special project's applica-
tion for a fast track LPN to BSN program. We know the market is
there for this kind of education, but we would not be able to under-
take it without Federal support. Once the program is working, we
can mainstream it. Facilitating the implementation of new pro-
grams is one of the most important functions of the NEA.

On behalf of my students and school and others all over the
country, I want to thank the subcommittee for making the NEA a
driving force for innovation and access in nursing education.

The following are AACN's comments on specific NEA sections.
AACN supports the existing flexible, yet focused, language of

these important NEA provisions. Advanced nurse education is cen-
tral to training specialized nurses to meet vital primary care,
teaching, research and management needs of the public health
system. Without advanced education, faculty would not be there to
educate future nurses. Nurse practitioners and nurse midw iv es
would not be there to meet primary care needsespecially of rural
and underserved communities. Nurse researchers would not be
there to measure cost effectiveness and outcomes to improve the
quality of care. And nurse administrators would not be there to
ensure efficient management of nursing services. Disadvantaged
special projects makes nursing education programs more accessible
to disadvantaged and minority students.

To encourage innovative approaches to education, special
projects offers multiple bases for awards in rural health, geriatric
and long term care, skill upgrades and continuing education, com-
munity and institutional demonstration projects.

Specific changes AACN suggests are: Deletion of the subsection
which matches students and institutions willing to repay loans [it
is not used]; increase flexibility to meet changing primary care
needs by eliminating funding set asides.

Professional nurse t- ineeships supports individuals aspiring to
become the advanced practitioners and faculty so much in demand.
This is extremely important for students who often are older with
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family responsibilities and who may be working. The assistance is
now limited to nurses, but several schools of nursing offer those
from other professions the opportunity to obtain advanced nursing
education. To bring these people into nursing, PNT's should be
available to anyone in an advanced nursing education program.
Also, we suggest revision or deletion of the post baccalaureate fac-
ulty fellowships.

Employer loan repayment should be deleted because it has been
used by only one student since 1988.

Scholarships hr the undergraduate education of professional
nurses. Changes AACN would like to see in SUEPN: Program
should become fully campus managed, like the Nursing Student
Loan Program, clarified eligibility for students with nonnursing de-
grees and associates degrees if they meet the financial need and
disadvantaged standards, and a year-for-year service payback.

In terms cf authorization funding levels, there is a strong rela-
tionship between NEA funding and nursing enrollments. As funds
have gone up or down, enrollments eventually follow. This suggests
that stability in funding and programs is extremely important to
the continued success of the NEA in meeting the public health
need for nursing professionals at all levels of care and service.
AACN supports a 10 percent increase in NEA authorization levels
rising to $132 million for fiscal year 1994. We woulfi not want to
limit funding opportunities in the event that more money becomes
available for NEA programs in future fiscal years. In addition, we
favor the continued line by line authorization with fixed sums as
opposed to lump suin authorization or "such sums."

In conclusion, AACN appreciates being given the opportunity to
present to the subcommittee our thoughts on, and support for, the
reauthoriration of the Nurse Education Act. We would be happy to
answer your questions.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Ms. Carty.
[Testimony resumes on p. 176.]
[The prepared statement of Ms. Carty follows:]
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Testimony

of

Rita Carty, UNSe, RN, FAAN

on behalf of

The American Association of Colleges of Nursing

Good morning Mr. Chairnan and members of the Subcommittee. I am

Rita Carty, DNSc, RN, FAAN, dean of the School of Nursing at

George Mason University in Fairfax, Virginia and President of the

American Association of Colleges of Nursing [AACN]. AACN

represents 420 schools of nursing which offer baccalaureate

undergraduate, graduate and continuing education programs at

senior colleges and universities across the United States. AACN

schools include public and private, secular and sectarian, and

large and small institutions dedicated to meeting America's

demand for professional nurses trained to cope with an

increasingly older population, chronic illnesses and the

complexities of modern health care treatments and procedures.

The Need for Reauthorization

AACN strongly supports the reauthorization of the Nurse Education

Act [Tit3e VIII of the Public Health Service Act, hereinafter the

"NEA"] for AACN. Only three years ago during this subcommittee's

last review of the federal role in health professions education,

nursing school enrollments were sharply down as more young people

rejected nursing careers and criti.-al shortages existed across

the spectrum of nursing services. Today, good news predominates:

2
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entry level baccalaureate nursing enrollments for 1990-91 are up

14.3 per cent (after a 5.9 percent increase the previous year);

minorities and career change students increasingly Are seeking

nursing careers; and nursing shortages, while substantial in some

areas and specialties, have 1,egun to moderate. But the need for

the NEA remains:

* Lack of nursing school resources, including faculty

shortages, resulted in at least 2,300 qualified applicants

being turned away according to a recent AACN survey. The 44

nursing programs reporting faculty shortages would have

needed 123 undergraduate and 39 graduate faculty to admit

those applicants.

* Primary care, particularly in rural and other areas

underserved by physicians, is increasingly being supplied by

professional nurses, especially those with advanced

education, such as nurse practitioners, clinicians and

midwives,

* Demographics suggest that older and chronically ill

patients, and growing complexities of care, will require

more nurses. The shortage was estimated 0,t 200,000 RNs in

1990, and a recent American Hospital Association survey

showed hospitals with an average 12.6 percent vacancy rate.

3
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* Minorities suffer disproportionately from many health

problems, and nurses, especially nurses from minority

communities, will be essential to turning that situation

around. Entering baccalaureate students are about 17 percent

minority, according to a recent AACN survey, but federal

support is needed to ensure that those students graduate and

enter practice where minorities are underrepresented.

* With other professions open to females who have been the

traditional nursing students, federal financial assistance

is critical for making schools able to offer faculty-

intensive nursing education, and to making nursing education

a viable choice when students compare nursing with careers

which may be more lucrative. This is particularly true for

older, often part-time students with family responsibilities

and jobs who seek advanced preparation to become nurse

practitioners, midwives, clinicians, managers and faculty.

While the NEA probably isn't solely responsible for all of the

positive developments, it certainly has helped and it is a

program of which this subcommittee can be proud. At a time of cut

backs in state and local support for nursing education, federal

program and student financill support becomes even more essential

to meeting central public health objectives. AACN .upports the

reauthorization of the NEA with only minor, "fine tuning" type

changes.

4
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The NEA's role at George Mason University's School of Nursimg

My school of nursing has 480 undergraduate and 220 graduate

nursing students. Our student body is 19 percent minority. We

have an NEA nurse practitioner project with George Washington

University f,)cussing on adult and gerontological education with

an emphasis on both serving underserved populations and

recruiting irom underrepresented groups. We are awaiting a

decision on a specia) project application for a fast track LPN to

BSN program. We know the market is there for this kind of

education, but we would not be able to undertake it without

federal support. Once the program is working, we can mainstream

it. Facilitating the implementation of new programs is one of the

most important functions of the NEA. On behalf of my students and

school, and others all over the country, I want to thank the

subcommittee for making the NEA a driving force for innovation

and access in nursing education. The following are AMN's

comments on specific NEA sections.

Advanced Nurse Education, Nurse Practitioner/Midwife/Anesthetist,

Disadvantaged Special Projects pec.8273, Loan Repayment

pec.836]

AACN supports the existing flexible, yet focussed, language of

these important NEA provisions. Advanced nurse education is

5
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central to training specialized nurses to meet vital primary

care, teaching, research and management needs of the public

health system. Without advanced education, faculty would not be

there to educate future nurses, nurse practitioners and nurse

midwives would not be there to meet primary care needs, nurse

researchers would not be there to measure cost effectiveness and

outcomes to improve quality of care, and nurse administrators

would not be there to ensure efficient management of nursing

services. Disadvantaged Special Projects makes lursing education

programs more accessible to disadvantaged and minority students.

Special Projects [Sec. 820]

To encourage innovative approaches to education, Special Projects

offers multiple bases for awards in rural health, geriatric and

long term care, skill upgrades and continuing education,

community and institutional demonstration projects, and matching

students with institutions willing to repay their loans. The

institutional match provision should be deleted because employers

can do this without federal aid. Limiting rural education

projects to expensive satellite based systems is unnecessarily

restrictive and prevents other, more cost effective approaches.

AACN suggests deleting the phrase "through telecommunications via

satellite" from Sec. 820(a)(3). And, while Sec. 820's

designation of set asides for funds appropriated may accurately

reflect the concerns of the Congress at the time of

6
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authorization, they reduce the flexibility of the Division of

Nursing to focus awards on public health and education priorities

years later at the time the funds are actually spent. We urge

deletion of the fixed percentage set asides from Special

Projects.

Professional Nurse Traineeships (Sec. 830)

Professional Nurse Traineeehips support individuals aspiring to

become the advanced practitioners and faculty so much in demand.

This is extremely important for students who often are older with

family responsibilities and who may be working. The assistance is

now limited to 1urses, but several schools of nursing offer

students from other professions the opportunity to obtain

advanced nursing education. To open this program up to bring

these people in to nursing, PNTs should be available to anyone in

an advanced nurse education program. The post baccalaureate

faculty fellowships [ ec, 830(b)) have not been popular with

schouls or students. The subsection should be either revised or

deleted. The timing of the awards was a major problem, and the

program was not funded in FY 91.

Scholarships for the Undergraduate Education of Professional

Nurses [Sec. 843]

The new SUEPN program has been successful even though its

7
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appropriations typically have been only about ten percent of its

authorization. AACN would like to see this program become fully

campus managed (like the Nursing Student Loan Program) with the

school of nursing institution being responsible for applying for

the funds, selecting recipients, making awards, and keeping track

of the two year per year of support service requirement, and

managing defaults. Also, we would like to see SUEPN eligibility

clarified to ensure that students with non-nursing degrees and

Associate Degrees are eligible if they meet the financial need

and disadvantaged standards. Lastly, this is a tuition and fees

only Hscholarship" which has a two year service payback for each

year of federal support. Other programs with more generous

support (National Health Service Corps) have only a year for year

.qervice payback, which AACN believes would make SUEPN more

attractive to, and fairer for, nursing students.

Employer Loan Repayment [Sec. 847]

With all good intentions, this section sought to connect students

with employers who would be willing to repay loans in return Lor

service at the institution. AACN suggests that it be deleted

because it has been used by only one student since 1988. Savvy

employers already provide tuition reimbursement for employees. A

recent American Hospital Association survey found that hospitals

offered reimbursement for full time employees for tuition (82.6%)

and for continuing education (94.2%), and that part time

8
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employees were offered.support for tuition by 65.9% of hospitals

and continuing education by 88.8%. [1989 Report of Hospital

Nursing Personnel Survey, AHA, 1990.] The problems with Sec.847

include the fact that employers do not want to agree to repay the

loan of a student they do not know and who may not complete the

nursing program, and that employers have to bear the cost of

interest on the student's loan.

Other Suggestions

While AACN does not want authorization [or appropriations] for

other NEA programs reduced to provide funding for the following,

there is a great need for increasing the capability of the

Division of Nursing to offer technical assistance [now comes out

of program funds], to collect data [Sec. 708 funds are scarce],

and to conduct educational research [ye need to know what

teaching techniques are most effective for various types of

students]. In many cases, the beneficiaries of such additional

support would be students and institutions with special needs. In

addition:

* Evaluations of NEA programs should focus on cost

effectiveness and where NEA supported students work after

graduation;

* Nursing Student Loan Program monies should remain with the

9
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participating school until either recommitted or the school

drops out of the program. Now, after two years, the funds

must be returned to DHHS. (Default rates in NSLP (2.30

percent as of June 1990) are among the lowest of any federal

loan program.]

* NEA program grant cycles and grant reviews should not be

changed without at least 6 months advance notice to avoid

disrupting applicant institutional procedures.

* The Division of Nursing should be designated a statutory

agency within DHHS to ensure its integrity of mission.

* The Advisory Council on Nurses Education should be renamed

the Advisory Council on Nursing Education.

* Nursing schools should be included among the institutions

eligible to be prime contractors for Geriatric Education

Centers (Sec. 789). Nursing education and the profession

focuses strongly on geriatric and gerontological concerns.

Authorization Funding Levels

The attached chart suggests that there is a strong relationship

between NEA funding and nursing enrollments. As funds have gone

up or down, enrollments eventually follow. This suggests that

stability in funding and programs is extremely important to the

10
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continued success of the NEA in meeting the public health need

for nursing professionals at all levels of care and service.

Thus, if the Administration's practice of zero funding the NEA

[except for disadvantaged students] were to be endorsed by

legislation, precipitous declines in enrollment cDuld be

expected.

AACN supports a ten percent increase in NEA authorization levels

rising to 4132 million for Fiscal Year 1994. We realize that

rarely have NEA appropriations approached anywhere near the

authorized amount, but the need is there to justify funding

increases. We would not want to limit funding opportunities in

the event that more money becomes available fo.: NEA programs in

future fiscal years. Current funding has forced some schools to

spread federal assistance thinly across many students rather than

provide adequate help to a few because the need is so great In

addition, we favor the continued line by line authorization with

fixed sums as opposed to lump sum authorization or "such sums"

Conclusion

AACN appreciates being given the opportunity to present to the

subcommittee our thoughts on, and support for, the

reauthorization of the Nurse Eaucation Act. We would be happy to

answer your questions.

Attachment NEA530.BH6 V24/91
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Mr. BRUCE. The next witness is Deborah Bash, Director of the
Georgetown University Graduate Program in Nurse Midwifery.

STATEMENT OF DEBORAH M. BASH

Ms. BASH. Mr. Chairman, my name is Deborah Bash, CNM,
Ed.D.candidate, and I am a certified nurse midwife and the direc-
tor of the Georgetown University Graduate Program in nurse mid-
wifery.

It is a 1,1easure to be here today to speak in support of adequate
funding nd reauthorization on behalf of the needs of childbearing
women in this country, and as a representative of the American
College of Nurse Midwives.

The American College of Nurse Midwives is the professional or-
ganization for over 4,000 Certified Nurse Midwives [CNM's] in the
United States. Nurse midwives are especially proud of their records
in caring for pregnant teens in inner cities, mothers in under-
served rural areas of the country, Hispanic women in border
States, Native Americans on reservations, and minorities seeking
care in public clinics.

Nurse midwifery is increasingly viewed as a powerful tool in the
effective cost containment and delivery of health care for at risk
populations. We all know it is more effective to spend $600 for com-
prehensive prenatal care for a pregnant woman than to spend
$1,000 a day for neonatal intensive care for a low birth-weight
baby. Prevention is the most economical plan for our government.

Nurse Midwifery Educational Programs. We must educate nurses
today to become nurse midwives of tomorrow. Presently, 30 of
America's outstanding colleges and universities educate over 300
nurse midwives annually. A small number when the needs are so
great.

Our education programs consist of three types: certified pro-
grams, masters programs and doctorate programs and, unlike
many other nursing advanced education programs, operate in a va-
riety of settings.

In order to reach a goal of 2,000 new certified nurse midwives by
the year 2000, creative educational planning and subsidized pro-
gramming ig a priority.

A new concept in nurse midwifery education is based out of
southeastern Kentucky at the Frontier School of Midwifery and
Family Nursing. The new program, called the Community Based
Nurse Midwifery Education Program [CNEP], has received approxi-
matel; 4,000 inquiries from nurses around the country since it was
annouhced in 1989. Yes, 4,000. This program is designed to offer
greater flexibility in graduate education for self-directed adult
learners who prefer independent study or who are unable to relo-
cate to existing nurse midwifery settings.

Another creative means for enrolling large num& rs of nurses in
nurse midwifery education is to tap the many hundreds of foreign
nurses that come to our country, certified as midwives in their
country of origin. Presently we have only two foreign refresher pro-
grams, one in Kentucky and one in New York. These programs are
expensive. The one at the State University of New York Health
Science Center at Brooklyn has seven students enrolled this year

I S I
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during its 4 month refresher course. Costs for educating one stu-
dent is between $19,000 and $21,000, while the cost to the program
is $194,000 to run this program. In addition, this tuition is highly
subsidized by New York State.

Another unique program links Georgetown University's School of
Nursing with the U.S. Air Force program to educate nurse mid-
wives. Six U.S. Air Force nurses are accepted as students annually
and receive their theoretical course work at Georgetown University
and their clinical experience at Malcomb Grow Hospital, Andrews
Air Force Base.

Nurse midwifery education is faculty-intensive and expensive.
Students who represent the nool from which nurse midwifery

students are selected are nurses and must have a nursing degree at
a baccalaureate level prior to starting nurse midwifery education.
This means that many students are in debt from their undergradu-
ate student loans for $20,000 or more before admission to nurse
midwifery school. These students will need an additional $18,000 to
$43,000 to complete their midwifery education. Prospective stu-
dents often shy away from these financial obligations when learn-
ing that the average midwife's salary was only $36,000 in 1988.

At Georgetown University it costs a full time student nurse mid-
wife approximately $22,000 for tuition and books, not including
room and board for 16 months. Students hi the full time program
cannot work and so they are without income during this period.

According to the latest report from Secretary of Health and
Human Services Louis Sullivan, the Nation still has a long way to
go to catch up to the rest of the world with regard to reducing
infant mortality. Well educated and well prepared nurse midwives
can help our Nation meet these needs.

For these reasons, Federal support of nurse midwifery education-
al programs is vital to the continuation of thtse programs.

Federal funds to the programs indirectly decrease the tuition
costs while the federally sponsored traineeships to students help
offset other costs. The Federal funds that you can reauthorize pro-
vide incentives to students to enter these nursing programs, espe-
cially helping to finance minority students in need of educational
stipends.

One of the maternal and infant health objectives set by "Healthy
People 2000" is to: "Increase to at least 90 percent the proportion
of all pregnant women who receive prenatal care in the first tri-
mester of pregnancy." This objective can be accomplished with Cer-
tified Nurse Midwives since early high-quality prenatal care is crit-
ical to improving pregnancy outcomes and reducing neonatal mor-
tality.

Present Needs. At this time we are requesting reauthorization
levels of 12 percent for each year of the reauthorization. Presently,
only nine nurse midwifery programs are being funded. The addi-
tional funding requested is only enough to fund four to six addi-
tional new nurse midwifery/nurse practitioner programs.

Let me take this opportunity to thank you for hearing my testi-
mony today. On behalf of the American College of Nurse Midwives
and the student nurse midwives, I want to thank you for your at-
tention to their educational needs and the ultimate health care
needs of the mothers and infants throughout our country.



178

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Ms. Bash.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Bash follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DEBORAH M. BASH, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN COLLEGE OF
NURSE-MIDWIVES

Mr. Chairman, my name is Deborah M. Bash, CNM, Ed.D. (cand.). I am the Direc-
tor of the Georgetown University Graduate Program in Nurse-midwifery at the
Georgetown University School of Nursing in Washington, D.C. I am pleased to
report to the subcommittee on Education on behalf of the American College of
Nurse-Midwives [ACNM].

It is a pleasure to speak in support of adequate funding for the Nurse Education
Amendments of Title VIII of the Public Health Service Act.

A certified nurse-midwife [CNM] is a registered nurse with advanced education in
midwifery who cares for women throughout the life cycle. This care involves the
provision of care for women and their newborns not only during pregnancy, child-
birth, and the postpartum/neonatal period, but also includes family planning and
gynecological services. Certified nurse-midwives work interdependently with physi-
cians with whom they consult and to whom they refer patients who develop compli-
cations requiring physician care.

There are approximately 4,000 certified nurse-midwives in the United States.
Much of the care of certified nurse-midwives has always been directed at the needs
of thoee women with special problems in accessing childbearing and other health
services. Nurse-midwives are especially proud of their records in caring for pregnant
women who are at risk for developing health problems because of various social and
economic considerations. Pregnant teens in inner cities, young mothers in under-
served rural areas of the country, Hispanic women in border states, Native Ameri-
cans on reservations, and minorities seeking care in public clinics are all clients
served by nurse-midwives in daily practice.

The American College of Nurse-Midwives [ACNM] is the professional organization
for Certified Nurse-Midwives [CNMs] in the United States. The ACNM '3 autono-
mous from other professional organizations and speaks for its membership on all
issues affectbg the practice, education, legislation, economics of nurse-midwifery,
and the clients we serve.
Nurse-Midwifery Educational Programs

Presently, thirty (30) of American's outstanding Colleges and Universities offer
the theoretical and clinical course work in midwifery that leads to certification as a
nurse-midwife (listing attached). All of these educational programs have been vigor-
ously assessed prior to accreditation by, the ACNM, which is recognized by the U.S.
Department of Education. Our education programs comprise three types: certificate
programs, masters programs and doctorate programs, and unlike many other ad-
vanced nursing education programs, operate in a variety of settings. The thirty
nurse.midwifery educational programs educate over 300 nurse-midwives each year.

A new concept in nurse-midwifery education, and one that is trying to increase
the numbers of nurses educated to become nurse-midwives, is now being offered.
Based out of south eastern Kentucky, at the Frontier Schco! of Midwifery and
Family Nursing, the new program called the Community Based Nurse-Midwifery
Education Program [CNEP] has received hundreds of requests from prospective stu-
dents all over the country. This program is designed to offer greater flexibility in
graduate education for self-directed adult learners who prefer independent study or
who are unable to relocate to existing nurse-midwifery settings. The program is self-
paced and takes a student between 18 months and two years to complete. Students
are oriented at Hyden, Kentucky and return there several times during tile pro-

am for intensive seminars. Upon completion of this program, courses taken may
be credited toward the Master of Science in Nursing offered by the Frances Payne
Bolton School of Nursing at Case Western Reserve University.

The reasons that each program can only educate and prepare approximately 10
students a year are complex. Most importantly, the education is faculty-intensive,
often times demanding a ratio of one faculty member for each student (for example,
when faculty are supervising students caring for women in labor and while assisting
with the birth).

The students who represent the pool from which nurse-midwifery students are se-
lected are nums. Most schools require that the student entering a CNM program
complete her/his nursing degree at a baccalaureate level prior to starting nurse-
midwifery education. This means that many students already possess student loans
for $20,000 or more before admission to nurse-midwifery school. These students will
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than need an additional $18,000 to $43,000 for tuition, to complete their midwifery
education. Prospective students often shy away from these financial obligations
when learning that the average midwife's salary was only $36,000 in 1988. In addi-
tion, recent data from the American Nurses' Association indicates that staff nurses
earn between $20,000 to $26,000 a year. The pool, then, does not consist of individ-
uals who can easily pay the high costs associated with nurse-midwifery education.
Compounding this problem, part-time education in nurse-midwifery is almost impos-
sible because of the rigorous demands placed on students to be on-call for births
whenever they occur.

At Georgetown University it costs a full time student nurse-midwife approximate-
ly $22,000 for tuition and booke. This does not include room and board for sixteen
months. Students in the fulltime program cannot work and so they are without
income during this period. In addition when they graduate, beginning salaries for
nurse-midwives in this area are currently in the range of $38,000. Yet these stu-
dents are the oviders that are interested in going into inner cities and rural dis-
tricts to imp/1.m the welfare of mothers and babies in this country. According to the
latest report from Secretary Louis Sullivan, the nation still has along way to go to
catch up to the rest of the world with regard to reducing infant mortality. Well edu-
cated and well prepared nurse-midwives can help our nation meet these needs.

For these reasons, federal support of nurse-midwifery educational programs is
vital to the continuation of these programs, even though the President's 1992 budget
request eliminates all funds for the education of nurses, including nurse-midwives.
Thus we appreciate this opportunity to address this issue to you today and to urge
Congress to reauthorize funds for these programs.

Today, there is yet another new trend that is further complicating the process of
educating nurses to become certified nurse-midwivesless women are selecting
nursing as a career. Nursing shortage rates average almost 9 percent despite hospi-
tal efforts to increase nursing service. The nurse-midwifery programs are beginning
to feel the shortage of nurses qualified to meet the stringent standards of the nurse-
midwifery educational programs. Federal funds to the programs indirectly decrease
the tuition costs while the federally sponsored traineeships to students help to offset
costs in yet another way. These funds provide incentives to students to enter these
nursing programs, especially helping to finance minority students in need of educa-
tion stipends.

Directors of all thirty educational programs are also seeking additional sources of
fundingfrom state governments, from private foundations and from faculty gener-
ating service dollars. This later practice is dependent on the state laws under which
a CNM is licensed, as well as the CNM's ability to gain aospital privilegesbarriers
to practice which still restrict nurse-midwifery in some areas of the country. In fact,
the availability of this option for nurse-midwifery faculty is much more limited than
for faculty at medical schools. Faculty are further limited since they provide care
for underserved patients and this type of health care service cannot subsidize the
educational Orograms.

Return on Investment
The federal funds that have been spent nver the past ten years on nurse-midwife-

ry education have been repaid many times over by CNM's services to the poor and
underserved in the United States.

Today, nurse-midwifery practices exist in all 50 states, and in many developing
countries around the world. Certified nurse-midwives can be found in hospital set-
tings, in clinics, and in privately owned birthing centers. Fortunately the tradition
of providing care to the poor continues. This is especially important in light of infor-
mation which indicates that obstetricians are caring for smaller numbers of 'Aledic-
aid clients.
A Safe Cost Effective Alternative

Over the years nurse-midwives have maintained a superb record of safety and
client satisfaction. Nurse-midwifery is also a highly coet-effective approach to health
care delivery. Hospital stays tend to be shorter and care regimens less technological-
ly complex when not medically necessary with nurse-midwife assisted deliveries.
A Significant Contribution To Healthier Births

One of the maternal and infant health objectives set by Healthy People 2000 is to:
"Increase to at least 90 percent the proportion of all pregnant women who receive
prenatal care in the first trimester of pregnancy". This objective i , imperative since
early, high.quality prenatal care is eritical to improving prep incy outcomes and
reducing neonatal mortality.
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A number of studies have shown that care by nurse-midwives increases utilization
of prenatal care facilities, and that such care lowers the risk of low birthweight,
prematurity and neonatal death. Recent reports by the National Academy of Sci-
ence's Institute of Medicine, the Southern Governor& Association Task Force on
Infant Mortality and the Children's Defense Fund highlight nurse-midwives' out-
standing contribution to preventing low birthweight.

Another cbjective stated by Healthy People 2000, "Increase to at least 60 percent
the proportion of primary care providers who provide age-appropriate preconception
care and counseling" also can be achieved by using nurse-midwives as providers.
Certifieti nurse-midwives endure that their patients are healthy prior to pregnancy,
there by reducing the risk of problem pregnancy and poor outcome. We care for all
women regardless of income, social status, or ethnic background.
Present Needs

A. Funding Needs. At this time we are requesting reauthorization level of 12 per-
cent for each year (current level $21 million) to meet the educational needs of nurse-
midwives/nurse practitioner programs. Presently, only nine nurse-midwifery pro-
grams are being funded. The additional funding requested is only enough to fund 4
to 6 additional new nurse-midwifery/nurse practitioner programs each year. These
funds will help afford student scholarships as well as provide educational supplies,
equipment and help pay for faculty salaries.

The program at Georgetown University graduates 16 students annually.
B. New Program initiatwes. A study completed by the Bureau of Health Profes-

sions shows that there are approximately 5,000 foreign trained nurse-midwives
living in this country.

Currently there are only two precertification programs preparing foreign trained
nurse-midwives to qualify them to "sit" for the National Certification Exam. These
programs consist of a 6 to 8 month course in theory and clinical practice. Tuition
costs at the State University of New York are currently $1,800. At the Frontier
School of Midwifery, complete program costs, including room and board, are $8,000.

Creating new precertification programs is an excellent way to expedite the supply
of nurse-midwives. However, federal funding is nueded to accomplish this goal.
Summary

The American College of Nurse-midwives urges Congress to appropriate funding
levels adequate for the educating of sufficient numbers of nurse-midwives.

Certified nurse-midwives have a rich tradition of providing access to care for the
poor and other underserved populations. This service more than compensates for
the federal funding which has supported the educational programs in the past.

Continued growth of nurse-midwifery in the United States will help address two
serious national health problemsthe persistently high rate of low birthweight and
premature births, and the rising cost of health care.

Mr. BRUCE. Now we will hear from Jan Towers, Director of Gov-
ernment Affairs for the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners.

STATEMENT OF JAN TOWERS

MS. TOWERS. The American Academy of Nurse Practitioners pre-
sents this testimony regarding the need for continued and in-
creased authorization of Federal funding for nurse practitioner
edPcational programs for fiscal years 1992, 1993 and 1994.

It is common knowledge that medical care costs in this country
continue to rise and that the shortage of primary care providers
continues to be act, c. I 3 also clear that the need for primary
care providers willing to care for mothers, children and the elderly
regardless of socioeconomic status is and will continue to increase
into the next century. Based on that information alone, the need to
continue to authorize additional funds for nurse pr .ctitioner educa-
tion is apparent. The problems described above are not going to be
resolved until there are sufficient numbers of primary care provid-
ers who can provide quality, cost-uffective care to people of all
walks of life. Nurse practitioners are those providers.
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Little needs to be said about the quality of care provided by
nurse practitioners. That quality has been well documented in nu-
merous studies over the years. Likewise, the issue of cost effective-
ness has been documented time and again in the areas of prepara-
tion, charges for services and reduction in hospital days. It has
been estimated that if nurse practitioners were properly utilized, a
yearly cost savings of $1 billion per year could be recognized.. It
would seem, therefore, to be in the Federal Government's best in-
terest to maximize its investment in the preparation of these pri-
mary care providers.

There are four positions currently available to every nurse prac-
titioner upon graduation. That figure would translate to approxi-
mately 6,400 unfilled positions at the current time. Given the pre-
viously stated need projections, this figure can do nothing but in-
crease.

Nurse practitioner programs are funded through student tuition,
institutional support, some State governments and the funding re-
ceived from the Federal Government. There is no other known
means of support for such programs a', this time. Currently, only
71 nurse practitioner programs are able to be funded by the Feder-
al Government at a mean rate of $130,000 per program under the
amounts appropriated by Congress in the current fiscal year. Costs
for running programs this year have increased 12 percent over
those reported for the previous year.

Presently, there are 15 nune practitioner and nurse midwife pro-
grams reported to be approved but not funded under the 1991 ap-
propriation. This number is projected to rise as the number of ap-
plicants increases during the current year.

Gi ven these figures, it would take approximately $8 million at
toduy's costs to prepare nurse practitioners to fill the currently
needed 6,400 positions identified above. It will take between $1.9
million and $3.1 million depending on the ratio of nurse practition-
er to nurse midwife program applicants to fund the current 15 ap-
proved but unfunded. programs using 1990 funding figures.

If indeed program costs continue to increase by 12 percent, and
we have no indication that they will not, these amounts will range
from $2.1 million to $3.5 million. This projection already exceeds
the current authorization of $21 million for fiscal year 1991 and
does not take into account the increased need for nurse practition-
ers as primary care providers in the next 3 years.

Based on these figures and the recognized need for more nurse
practitioners in the near future, it is our recommendation that the
authorized amounts for funding of nurse practitioner and nurse
midwife programs be no less than 12 percent over the current level
of authorization of $23.5 million for fiscal year 1992, $26.4 million
for fiscal year 1993 and $29.5 million for fiscal year 1994. Given the
magnitude of need, this is clearly a modest increase.

As we have stated before, nurse practitioners and nurse mid-
wives are particularly well prepared to meet the growing health
care needs of this country. The majority ef their practices consist of
those people projected to be most in need of access to primary
health care services: the elderly, mothers and children and the
poor.

1 k.



182

In a national survey conducted by the American Academy of
Nurse Practitioners, over 50 percent of patients seen by family, pe-
diatric and women's health nurse practitioners had annual incomes
of less than $15,000 per year. Gerontologic nurse practitioners re-
ported that 81 percent of the patients they saw were also in that
income bracket. Likewise, over 75 percent of adult and family
nurse practitioners, 97 percent of gerontologic nurse practitioners
and 70 percent of women's health nurse practitioners provide pri-
mary care services to people over the age of 65.

The educational preparation of these practitioners emphasizes
the provision of care to patients who have limited resources, finan-
cial and otherwisr,. It seems logical, then, in light of the increased
need to provide primary care to the medically indigent and to a
growing number of elderly and children in this country, that such
an authorization would be a wise investment and should indeed be
even larger than the amount suggested.

Likewise, if any attempt is to be made to deal with primary care
provider shortages and the spiraling medical care costs in this
country, increased investment in cost effective primary care provid-
ers such as nurse practitioners and nurse midwives who are inter-
ested in prevention as well as cure, needs to become a priority.

We wish to thank the merrllers of the Energy and Commerce
Committee for its efforts in behalf of nurse practitioners and the
people they serve. We know you recognize the value of our services
and the needs of the people we serve. We understand the difficult
task you have before you in light of the current need for fiscal con-
straint. We can be part of the soiution to current problems regard-
ing access and spiraling costs.

If there is anything we can do to provide further information or
assistance regarding this issue, please call on us.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Ms. Towers.
Now we will hear from Lorraine Jordan, director of government

affairs at the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners.

STATEMENT OF LORRAINE JORDAN

Ms. JORDAN. I would like to say thank you for allowing me to ad-
dress you and, second, thank you very much for sponsoring
CRNA's schedule in OBRA 1990.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Lor-
raine Jordan. I am a certified registered nurse anesthetist [CRNA]
and the director of education and research for the American Asso-
ciation of Nurse Anesthetists [AANA] appearing on behalf of our
members, which consists of more than 24,000 CRNA's nationwide.

Our concern is definitely related to access to health care in this
country.

We N..rticipqe in all type of practice settings, hospital, clinical,
outpatiept. f.,..Lhomology clinics. We participate in all types of sur..
gical c..:segopen heart, cataract surgery, transplantationso we
have an apportunitj to participate in any type of surgical case that
is occur...pg withia the patient setting that we see today.

The vast majority of anesthesia providers that served in Desert
Storm were CRNA's. This added to a definite increased need of
CENA's across this country and a demand for nurse anesthetists.
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This was seen heavily in the State of Kentucky. Due to the short-
age that they experienced by deploying CRNA's from the State of
Kentucky they have contacted me as of last weekthe University
of Kentuckyto ask me to help them set up and design a nursing
anesthesia program.

I am here to request continuing authorization for nursing anes-
thesia programs at the following levels: $6 million in 1992, $8.7 mil-
lion in 1993, and $11 million in 1994. I would like to ask that those
levels be used for the following purposes: traineeships for nurse an-
esthetists, faculty development funding and funding to start and
expand nursing anesthesia programs in the country.

As I stated before, our concern is access to health care in this
country. In a congressionally mandated manpower study conducted
in 1988 done by CHER, which is the Center for Health F.onomics
Research, they indicated in 1990 we needed over 6,000 more
CRNA's in this country. By the year 2000 we will need over 30,000
CRNA's to meet this demand they have projected. We will need to
graduate 1,800 students per year. Currently, we are graduating
650.

I would like to also mention that within this study this also in-
cluded anesthesiologists still graduating from residency, an in-
crease in number of residents.

The quality of our program is net increase in applicants. Our
problems revolve around increased need and expansion of pro-
grtinz. r:,-) start a nursing anesthesia program, it costs about
$300,000. We estimate we need about 15 nurse anesthesia programs
to ...,cFA the need. This time we were funded at $450,000. We hopv
the : ppli:mtion date for that particular grant the end of this
month, so we don't know how many applicants ',de have. I can tell
you in my office alone I have had over 20 inquiries.

There has been $150,000 designated to start three .ing anes-
thesia programs. I personally know of eight applice.!,( will
be going into division of nur3ing for this funding.

We are also asking for funding for traineeships for ntm ,nts (;:r
students put in over 60 hours a week. Therefore, is do ricult
impossible for a student to continue to work. In our prms we
require over 800 hours of anesthesia, over 450 cases, and ',.te pru-
grams last a minimum of 24 months.

We are also asking for muney to be spent for faculty d .,elop-
ment. In our programs we have 84 programs currently of w..ich e
of our program ctirectors possess a doctoral degree.

I want to thank you for your past support. In 1990 you ,vo t;lor-
ized $1.8 million and we were appropriated $1.43 million. We nave
been able to serve 33 faculty with the funding and 622' stu nts
with that funding, and we don't know how many nurse ariest 3ia
programs we will start, but I am sure we will start three. Our
portfrom a Federal level, we appreciate anything you can (1,7

Our Association has designated one-quarter or 26 percent of nur
budget to educa ;on. That has increased dramatically in .11e last
year. We also formed a National Commiseion on Nursing Anesthe-
sia Education, developed goals and strategies and are implement-
ing and funding those through our Association. We have asked
State associations to take an active role in relationship to helpiag
fund startup costs.
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I want to thank you for your time, effort, energy and funding
support in the past. I will be happy to address any questions you
may have.

[Testimony resumes on p. 1951
[The prepared statement of Ms. Jordan followsd
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TESTIMONY

of the

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NURSE ANESTHETISTS

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, my name is Lorraine Jordan. I am

a certified registered nurse anesthetist (CRNA) and the Director of Education and

Research for the American Association of Nurse Anesthetists (AANA). On behalf

of our membership which consists of more than 24,000 CRNAs nationwide, I

appreciate the opportunity to provide this testimony in support of a three year

reauthorization of the Nurse Education Act (NEA). Specifically, the AANA

requests that nurse anesthesia educational programs be continued and authorized

at $6 million in Fiscal Year 1992, $8.7 million in Fiscal Year 1993, and $11 million

in Fiscal Year 1994 for the following purposes:

Nurse anesthesia traineeships
Educational development for faculty
Expansion and creation of new nurse anesthesia
programs

Mr. Chairman, we are all deeply concerned about the well documented and critical

shortage of nurses in this country and its devastating effect on access to health

care for millions of Americans. We commend this Subcommittee for its ongoing

support of the nursing profession and for your current efforts to ensure that there

are sufficient opportunities and incentives fol individuals to pursue the profession,

both on an undergraduate and graduate level.

We believe that the goal of resolving the nursing shortage is achievable, but it will

require a cooperative approach between private and governmental (both federal

and state) sectors. Nursing must offer sufficient rewards as a career to attract

bright young people who are capable of meeting society's health care needs with

a combination of "high touch" and "high tech" skills. We bdieve that the practice
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of nurse anesthesia offers today's youth an excellent opportunity for professional

fulfillment.

BACKGROUND ON NURSE ANESTHESIA PRACTICE

Certified registered nurse anesthetists have administered anesthesia for over a

century. Currently CRNAs provide quality anesthesia care to more than 65

percent of all patients undergoing surgical or other medical intervention which

necessitate the services of an anesthetist, from the simplest to the most complex.

CRNAs are the sole anesthesia providers in 85 percent of rural hospitals, affording

these medical facilities obstetrical, surgical, and trauma stabilization capabilities.

Data in a 1988 Center for Health Economics Research (CHER) study demonstrated

that there is no difference in anesthesia outcomes based on whether the provider

is a CRNA or an anesthesiologist. CRNAs work in a variety of practice settings --

as hospital employees, as employees of physicians or physician groups, and as

private contractors. CRNAs can be found in the U.S. Military, the Public Health

Service, and Veterans Administration medical facilities. Most recently, the vast

majority of anesthesia providers mobilized for Desert Shield/Desert Storm were

certified registered nurse anesthetists.

CRNA SHORTAGE

The 100th Congress mandated a study to determine the extent of the nurse

anesthetist shortage. In February of 1990, the Department of Health and Human

Services (HHS) released a study conducted by Health Economics Research, Inc.

(HER) documenting a critical shortage of nurse anesthetists. It is important tO note
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that the study factored in projected increases in the number of graduates from

anesthesia residency programs in determining the future need for additional

CRNAs. The study reported a shortage of 6,000 CRNAs for 1990, or a 13.6

percent shortfall. It further reported the need for 30,000 CRNAs by the year

2000, and over 35,000 CRNAs by the year 2010. To meet this need, the

educational system for nurse anesthetists will have to graduate 1,800 students

yearly between now and the year 2000, and 1,500 graduates per year thereafter.

The loss of nurse anesthesia educational programs since 1984, however, has

resulted in a decrease in the number of graduates from approximately 1,100 to

650 nurse anesthesia graduates in 1990. The decrease in graduates is not,

however, related to a decreased pool of applicants. Data indicates that there are

three qualified 2)plicants for every one available student vacancy in a nurse

anesthesia program.

The HHS report cites three primary reasons for the CRNA shortage: a decline in

the number of educational programs, a lack of clinical training sites for students,

and an increased demand for anesthesia services.

DECLINE IN NUMBER OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS

The HHS study documents recent declines in the number of educational programs

that prepare registered nurses to becomi, anesthetists and the concomitant

decrease in annual graduations of CRNAs. The leveling off in the number of

CRNAs has been attriouted to two waves of educational program closures. The

first wave of closures occurred during the latter part of the 1970s, when many of

the smaller, hospital-based certificate programs closed as a result of the adoption

of higher accreditation standards. Concurrently, the profession adopted a goal
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supporting the premise that the education of nurse anest;letists s ould be

conducted at the post-baccalaureate level. Additionally, closure of some nurse

anesthesia programs in large community hospiwls occurred because of concerns

about the cost of nurse anesthesia education in a Medicare Prospective Payment

System environment. A second wave of closures has been largely attributed to

the denial of clinical access to nurse anesthesia educational programs because of

the increase of anesthesiology resident positions.

LACK OF CLINICAL TRAINING RESOURCES

The first year of most of the nurse anesthetist educational programs is typically

devoted to classroom instruction; the second year is given to clinical practice. In

fact, in order to graduate, nurse anesthesia students are required to provide a

mir imum of 800 hours of anesthesia through participation in at least 450 cases.

An average student participates in 600 cases and administers over 1,000 hours of

anesthesia.

However, clinical training resources in some academic health centers have been

shifted from nurse anesthesia educational programs to anesthesiology residency

programs. The result has been an inability to access sufficient clinical training

opportunities and the subsequent clr,sure of a significant number of nurse

anesthesia educational programs. Ironically, the very hospital settings closing

nurse anesthesia programs are at the same time increasing their utilization of nurse

anesthetists.

Additionally, while there are only about 250-300 more anesthesiologists per year

being prepared than in the early 1970's, the expansion of the anesthesiology
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medical residencies from three to four years has increased the utilization of

training resources by 25 percent. In 1972, approximately 750 anesthesiologists

were graduated from residency programs. The Center for Health Economics

Research projects that the current number of anesthesiologists graduating from

residency training will decline from the current 950-1000, to 800 by the early

1990s. This number, when considered with the number of anesthesiologists who

subspecialize in areas of practice outside of the operating room setting, will not

permit a significant increase to meet increasing anesthesia service demands.

INCREASED NEED FOR ANESTHESIA SERVICES

In aduition to the shortage of nurse anesthesia programs and lack of clinical sites

for nurse anesthesia students, the third principle cause of the CRNA shortage Is an

increase in demand for anesthesia services. The proliferation of ambulatory

surgicenters and physician office surgical facilities had greatly increased the need

for qualified anesthesia providers. While implementation of the Medicare

Prospective Payment System was early associated with a decreased bed

occupancy within hospitals, the surgical workload necessitating anesthesia

services did not decline. In fact, we are seeing a constant increase in medical

interventions needing anesthesia coverage.

A easure of the shortage of CRNAs can be viewed from a variety of sources:

Job placement advertising in the AANA Ncws Bulletin_ has jumped from
an average of 25, to more than 300 monthly.

The authorized levels in the three military services for both active duty
and reserve CRNA forces total about 1,630; the current actual levels for
active duty and reserve CRNAs total about 1,040.

45-904 0 91 7
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CRN; s ARE VALUABL.E, COST-EFFECT1VE HEALTH PROVIDERS

Anecdotal evidence indicates that the opportunity to enter our specialty area

actually keeps some critical care nurses from leaving the nursing profession. For

although our specialty can be as stressful as critical care nursing, we only deal

with one patient at a time. We have the opportunity to devote our complete

attention to that patient while providing individualized anesthesia care. In many

practice settings, CRNAs have a great deal of autonomy and receive salaries

commensurate with their demanding practice conditions.

The 1988 CHER study concluded that the increased use of CRNAs to deliver

anesthesia could save the nation $1 billion annually by the year 2010. This is due

in part to the fact that the average 1990 pretax income for a CRNA was $60,000;

the average net income for an anesthesiologist in 1990 was $180,000. CRNAs

afford the greatest opportunity for containing the cost of anesthesia care in this

country in the future. In fact, the profession as a whole is committed to doing its

share to hold down the cost of health care in this country. This is, in part, why

Congress passed legislation making the CRNA the first nursing specialty eligible for

direct reimbursement under Medicare. At that time, the AANA and its members

agreed to a provision that mandates Medicare assignment by all CRNAs. In

contrast, anesthesiologists can balance bill Medicare beneficiaries; oilly 30 percent

of the approximately 20,000 anesthesiologists in the United States are Medicare

participating physicians.

1 (1:
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NEED FOR NEW PROGRAMS

It costs approximately $300,000 to start and run a r:ew nurse anesthesia program,

and we estimate that 15 new programs are needed over the next three years to

educate the necessary numbers of CRNAs. We are grateful for the fact that funds

are, for the first time this year, available to assist in the costs associated with

starting new programs. However, the $450,000 available will only provide

assistance to three new programs, at an average of $150,000 per grant.

Although the applic;ition deadline for the new program grants extends until May

31, 1991, the AANA office has already received 20 requests fo l. information

regarding the submission of a grant application.

Our funding requests for nurse anesthesia programs would allocate the monies

based on the areas of greatest need: one half of the amount authorized for each

year would be used to expand and begin nurse anesthesia programs. The balance

of the authorized amounts would be utilized for nurse anesthetist traineeships and

faculty development.

NEED FOR NURSE ANESTHETIST TRAINEESHIPS

Nurse anesthesia educational programs are from 24 - 36 months in length, many

of which are graduate programs in academic settings. Our applicants must either

have a bachelor of science degree in nursing or other appropriate degree for

admission. They must also have at least one year of professional nursing

experience in an intensive me setting; many have from two-four years of

ex perience.

Ift; ()
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The average cost per year for a student to attend a nuise anesthesia program

ranges from $13,000 to 519,000 at a state university, and $18,000 to $34,000 at

a private institution. These figures do not include forgone income that the student

would have had as an experienced critical care nurse.

In Fiscal Year 1990, although $1.8 million was authorized for nurse anesthesia

programs under the NEA, only $1.43 million was appropriated. It allowed only 33

individuals to receive faculty development funding. In addition, this allowed only

622 nurse anesthesia students to receive traineeship funds; the amount each of

those students received was less that *2,000. Because of limited dollars, only

students in their seccnd year of the nurse anesthesia educational program are

eligible for these funds at this time. This, too, is a barrier for entry into the

profession because of the expenses and heavy financial burden placed on nurse

anesthesia students. AANA believes that more nurses would enter nurse

anesthesia programs if sufhcient funds were available to allow for assistance

during the entire span of the educational program.

NEED FOR FACULTY DEVELOPMENT

Today, there are 84 nivse anesthesia educational programs in the country.

Ideally, as contended by most professional and academic educational experts, all

prograni directors should nold a doctorate degree. To date, only 8 of our 84

directors hold such a degree.

On a related note, the faculty of any higher education program should hold, at a

minimum, a Master's degree when teaching students enrolled in graduate

programs leading to the Master's degree, Today, there are over 900 CRNAs
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without Master's degrees who are serving as faculty in such programs. Many of

these CRNAs need to pursue- a Master's degree, but it virtualiy impossible for them

to do so under current time and financial constraints. We are trying to relieve this

problem by preparing more of our nurse anesthetists at the graduate level.

Appioximately 70 percent ot the graduate nurse anesthetists taking the

certification examination have a Master's degree. However, it will be some time

before these graduates will be sufficiently experienced to assume major

responsibility in our educational programs.

Completing a Master's degree in anesthesia or a related basic science field raquires

'approximately two years of full time study. Complet;ng a doctoral degree will take

from three to five years of study, depending upon how much time can be taken for

full time study. Graduate educational cost, including tuition, tees, and textbooks,

can range from approxirnately $6,000-$10,000 per year in state universities, to

close to $30,000 in private institutions. We are hopeful that sufficient funding will

be available in the next three years to allow at least five percent of our current

faculty to go back to school to obtain the necessary graduate education and

credentials for our educational programs.

SUMMARY

We realize that our reauthorization level requests entail significant increases over

the previous authorization levels for CRNAs. However, we believe that in order for

CRNAs to help you assure access to health care for all Americans, we need to

have access to continued financial support from both the private and governmental

sectors. Rest assured that we are not looking only to the federal government for

help with the current CRNA shortage. We aro more than willing to do our pert on
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the nationai level, as evidenced by the fact that our association dedicates over 25

percent of our resources to education issues. Several of our state associations

have also demonstrated their commitment to education by funding the costs of the

initial start-up for new programs, as well as scholarships for nurse anesthesia

study. In addition, the AANA is working closely with state and local governments,

as well as the private sector, to raise funds to educate more nurse anesthetists.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again for your past support for nurse anesthesia

programs and for your consideration of our request. I will be happy to respond to

any questions you may have at this time.

1 ( (s,1 .1
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Mr. BRUCE. I thank the panel for your testimony.
Ms. Kozeliski, I was just curious. As a nurse in New Mexico,

what are the practical problems you face in a nursing shortage in
your hospital? What do you see on your floor? Are you practicing
nursing now?

Ms. KOZELISKI. I am Director of Education right now. I am on the
Advisory Committee's floor. We have a program in the town and
some of the funding NEA did is a site program in Gallup itself. We
were talking about access delivery. It is also access to the system
for education. A lot of it is monetarily impossible for some of the
people in our area because of the lower socioeconomic status that
the people have anyway.

Mr. BRUCE. Scholarships would fill the gap more than increased
salaries for nurses who are trained but not practicing?

Ms. KOZELISKI That could be part of it. I don't know if that
would be the total. I don't think that would be the help immediate-
ly, no.

Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Carty, you indicate that you have a faculty short-
age to where you turn down 2,300 applicants. Ms. Jordan indicated
faculty development. What is your position on faculty develop-
ment? How can we attract faculty into your colleges and institu-
tions?

Ms. CARTY. Support for advanced nursing training is one way of
doing that because through that program we can prepare people at
the master's level who can serve as faculty in a variety of specialty
areas and then hopefully thosesome of those people who would
go on for doctorates at a later datebut it is vital that we do have
that support for advanced nurse training in order to prepare that
very crucial need for faculty. We are experiencing shortages across
all specialties in faculty, and I thiak the community may be aware
that there is a drain of the American academy not only in nursing,
but nursing is not exempt from that. So we have a great need in
that area.

Mr. BRUCE. In your testimony you spoke favorably about special
projects. Is there one or two in particular that you thought has
been unusually successful, and do you see any other special
projects we ought to be funding?

Ms. CARTY. There are a variety of special projects I think have
been very successful in the country.

I can speak to one that we had at George Mason that ran for 5
years that really was focusing on ethical decisionmaking in the
practice arena, and we were able to bring in nurses from a three
State area and work with ethical decisionmaking around questions
of allocation and scarce resources and how to deal with these types
of problems as they come up.

It was a very successful special project grant that resulted in a
monograph, resulted in a newsletter which has been main-
streamed. We continue. It is called "Ethics Forum." Resulted in a
videotape series on ethical theoretical development as applying to
caLe studies. That is an example I am most familiar with.

As a peer reviewer in Division of Nursing I can tell you I have
reviewed many innovative kinds of programs through special
projects.

I)
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I can remember one in Montana that provided a bus that was a
healthmobile type of arrangement where nurses from the Universi-
ty of Montana were able to outreach into communitiesunder-
served communitiestothere was an involvement of faculty and
students in the actual delivery of services to an underserved popu-
lation, and I think that was about a 5-year funded project.

There are a number of nurse clinics that are funded through spe-
cial projects. There are a number of programs that help career
ladder nurses from LPN to ADN or LPN to BSN targeting minori-
ty populations. These have all been very successful programs and
need to continue.

Certainly there are other areas. When we look at our population
that surrounds us, particularly in our Nation's capital and our sur-
rounding States, we look at the numbers of international people
that we have and the health care needs that they have that are
somewhat different culturally based needs.

I think special project grants could help prepare practicing
nurses to better deal with the cultural kinds of differences that
exist in that population out there that need care.

Those are some things that I can think of.
Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Bash, you mentioned a successful program that

was beginning in Kentucky, a self-directed, self-taught program. Is
that ongoing, or what is the status of the program 'n the State of
Kentucky?

Ms. BASH. That program started about a year and a half ago.
And if you give me a moment to pull out some statistics on that,
their first class was admitted in August 1989, with 41 students.
Now these students are students from all over the country. They
come to Hayden, Ky., for an initial 2 weeks intensive seminar and
orientation, and they then return to their home base or the hospi-
tal where they have acquired a certified nurse midwife as a precep-
tor. They work on individual moflules and do study groups and
come back every fow months to Hayden for orientation, for exami-
nations ar d for scm:nars.

The first gi oup of students will be taking their certification
board for American College Board Midwife Certification Program
this spring. The students presentlyit is costing the students ap-
proximately $15,000 a year. Of course, this includes travel back and
forth to Hayden, Ky., their tuition, books, lodging and food when
they stay at Hayden.

Mr. BRUCE. I take it that is not a suburb of New York so that is
not the easiest place to get to?

Ms. BASH. Exactly. But the Frontier Nursing Service was the
first service of nursing midwives here in the United States, and it
is probably very appropriate they be the first innovative program
of nurse midwifery in this country.

Mr. BRUCE. You are also suggesting we somehow utilize the tal-
ents of the foreign trained nurses. Do you see a problem in certifi-
cation in the sense of going back to schools that no longer exist and
checking out library and faculty that have dispersed or are no
longer in existence?

Ms. BASH. I think when one becomes a certified nursing midwife
one must first be a registered nurse in a State in this country.
Most of them have basic nursing education at baccalaureate level.

2 ) 1
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They come into a program which reviews their ability to be mid-
wives.

Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Towers, you mentioned you are working in a mi-
grant health center. Does it concern you at all by providing service
through a nurse practitioner we may be reducing the quality of pri-
mary care to certain individuals in the country by not having a
fully licensed physician there?

Ms. TOWERS. I don't think I provide lower care nor do I think
any nurse practitioner does. I think the studies have demonstrated
the quality of the care we provide is equal to that of physicians in
the areas we are working. Quite frankly, in the clinic I am in,
where we have three nurse practitioners and a nurse midwife, the
quality of care has considerably improved since the nurse practi-
tioners have began working with these patients.

Mr. BRUCE. Very good. When I was a State legislator almost 18
years ago I authorized creation of nurse practitioners in the State
of Illinois.

Ms. Jordan, on your faculty development, how do you believe we
ought to proceed?

Ms. JORDAN. Basically, we receivedthis is the second year we
received faculty development funding. They had so many applica-
tions the first and second year this year it was difficult for the divi-
sion to decide who would receive the funding. We have CRNA's
who want to get their graduate degrees. This has offered them a
wonderful opportunity to do that af., well as getting those creden-
tialed individuals we need. It has not been difficult to get people to
participate or even applications. The Division of Nursing has said
this year they had a difficult task in determining who would re-
ceive that funding and who would not.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you.
Mr. Richardson, do you have questions of this panel?
Mr. RICHARDSON. I would like to ask Dr. Towersalong the same

lines I understand Congressman Towns askedand that is the
nursing assistants, the lack of options that they have because of
our emphasis on graduate education. I am talking about the low
paying paraprofessional positions. Because of low salaries and
family obligations, a lot of these people may not have the opportu-
nity to pursue an edrcation leading to an RN degree. And I am
wonderingwhile I understand the need to have trained faculty,
are there ways to provide better opportunities to LPN's, LVN's,
nursing assistants to move up the nursing career leader? Aren't we
kind of degrading and not emphasizing that side of the profession?

Ms. TOWERS. I would not say we are degrading it. I think one of
the things that is occurring nowand maybe the nursing shortage
has helped a little bit with thatis that there is much more atten-
tion being placed on attempting to dovetail educational programs
so that indeed people in areas that either limit their preparation or
limit their accessibility to university centers where they can have
advanced preparation are being able to work more speedily and in
a more cost effective way toward achieving the kind of education
that is needed for them to be advanced practitioners.

The other kind of thing that is beginning to develop is the kind
of thing that Deborah just mentioned with community based pro-
grams which allow people in areas that are not close to university

I 't
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settings to access educational activity from a distance through tele-
communication, through outreach course offerings, that sort of
thing.

And I think we are seeing more and more of' this occurring and a
very large awareness on the part of the nursing community that
this kind of thing needs to happen.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Ms. Carty, I just noticed, I was involved I think
also with Mr. Bruce several years ago with set asides for telecom-
munication education for nurses. As I understand it in your testi-
mony that the Division of Nursing is not utilizing the funding set
aside for this telecommunications education in the bill, what are
they doing with this money? Are there ways we can improve on
this program? What seems to be the problem?

Ms. CARTY. I don't think they are not utilizing it. I think our
point was it should not be confined to simply satellite telecommuni-
cation, that that is certainly an acceptable means and there are
some very successful programsin fact, there is one in New
Mexico out of the university in New Mexico. What we are indicat-
ing from AACN is that that not be the only type of outreach that
would be funded. So we would urge that other means of outreach
be also eligible for those funds.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Like what? Because the reason we had telecom-
munications was to really go deep into the rural areas, Indian res-
ervationswhen you start diluting that and saying other outreach,
what do you mean? Doesn't that dilute the intent of whet we are
trying to do?

Ms. CARTY. I would not think so. I think there are some areas
where the telecommunication capability may not be th.-ze and the
cost of developing that whole network is in some instances prohibi-
tive.

And another means of outreach could occur where faculty can
travel to outreach sites where computer linkages can be used
through some existing networks that are already in place through
theI referred to the healthmobile before, but there are some mo-
bilized outreach programs where they are using buses to move fac-
ulty and library and computer kind of resources into these rural
areas so nurses can access that kind of education.

And our puiiit is that we would not want to eliminate those types
of outreaches from funding.

Mr. RICHARDSON Let me ask my constituent, Ms. Kozeliski--that
is, I understand you recently worked on a very innovative health
delivery program grant proposal to provide primary health care to
Native Americans using nurse providers. Can you tell us a little bit
about that program and where you expect to receive funding for it?

Ms. KOZELISKI. This is the one we just applied to. Is that the one
you are alluding to?

Mr. RICHARDSON. Yes.
Ms. KOZELISKI. We developed a consortium in our community.

This is a federally funded grant. I believe it was $300,000. I don't
have the exact agency in front of me right now. The Indian Health
Service, the Gallup through Grants Clinic, and the institution I
work for got together and we hr.d a task force that decided we
would like to apply for funding for just what Ms. Carty was saying,
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mobile type of clinic, and addressing the primary needs of the
people of the area.

We have a large Native American/Hispanic population where
their problems deal with drug and alcohol abuse, kidney disorders,
diseases and diabetes. We were looking at having some kind of a
mobile clinic that would be able to go out into the areasyou have
to realize in the area where we are at it is not unusual for someone
to travel 40 or 60 miles just for a doctor's appointment. If it is not
that important, even if it happens to be meningitis for a child,
maybe the child dies.

There are areas where they go feed their cattle, water wells
where people congregate also. So it wouldn't be a traditional health
care setting. We would use this vehicle, perhaps with the Universi-
ty of New Mexico with some of their nurse practitioner and mid-
wifery program for onsite practicum experience for nurses and for
residents, physician type residents, helpful recruitment type tool
for our area. That is what we are looking at.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Thank you.
My last question is directed at the legislation that Congressman

Dorgan and I had allowing nurse practitioners to be directly reim-
bursed for Medicare. Could any of you tell me when this legislation
has been implemented, how successfully implemented is it? Are
nurse practitioners now being reimbursedlastly, I understand
there were some specific problems in New Mexico that dealt vith
direct reimbursement, that there were serious problems that it was
not happening. Dr. Towers.

Ms. TOWERS. The answer is first, yes, it is being implemented. It
is coming along. The other piece is that we still need to obtain
Medicare reimbursement for the remainder of nurse practitioners.
The bill that you are speaking of, of course, focused upon people in
rural areas. This does not solve the problem in urban areas where
there is also a great need. While part of the problem has been re-
solved, for nurse practitioners in New Mexico it has not entirely
been resolved at this point.

Mr. RICHARDSON. It has happened in rural areas and not urban
areas?

Ms. TOWERS. That is correct.
Mr. RICHARDSON. Why is that?
Ms. TOWERS. Because that is what the bill called for.
Mr. RICHARDSON. So we should do it for urban areas?
Ms. TOWERS. You got it.
Mr. RICHARDSON Sounds like another one of Mr. Bruce's good

bills for nurses.
Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Bash.
Ms. BASH. I know nurse midwives are reimbursed for maternity

care only. However, nurse midwives do a lot of preventive care,
education and teaching. Presently we are not reimbursed for serv-
ices other than just maternity care.

Mr. RICHARDSON. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.
Mr. BRUCE. Ms. Towers, I have one question. I met with the ad-

ministrative people of the fourth largest private practice clinic in
the United States which is located in my district just the day
before yesterday, and I asked them how many nur,;e practitioners
they had, and they said 60. They seemed to be very proud of that.

.-)
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Is that about consistent with medical practice of maybe 400 doc-
tors, to have 60 nurse practitioners on the staff?

Ms. TOWERS. It could be. Nurse practitioners function in a varie-
ty of kinds of settings. You may have one on one. You may have a
group of nurse practitioners who work in collaboration with one
physician. You may have ai HMO where you would use multiple
nurse practitioners with multiple physicians. So that is a practical
number.

Mr. BRUCE. I want to know if we were doing good or bad.
Ms. TOWERS. I think you are doing good, but you ought to h ye

400.
Mr. BRUCE. I thank the panel. Thank you.
We are ready for panel five. Our final panel will address the in-

dividual issues of concerned schools of allied health, public health
and social work.

We will start out with Dr. Leo Selker, interim dean and profes-
sor of the college of associated health professions of the University
of Illinois at Chicago. He will be followed by Dr. John Snyder, dean
of the school of allied health sciences at Indiana University; Allan
Rosenfield, dean of the school of public health at Columbia Univer-
sity; and Patricia Ewalt, dean of the school of social welfare at the
University of Hawaii at Manoa, who is accompanied by Frank Ray-
mond HI, president of the National Association of Deans and Direc-
tor of Schools of Social Work.

Dr. Selkerlet's seetake you in the order I announced them.
Dr. Selker, I understand you are from the University of Illinois
from Chicago, one of the finest universities on this planet.

Happy to be joined by Mr. Towns.
Mr. Selker.

STATEMENTS LEOPOLD G. SELKER, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN
SOCIETY OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS; JOHN R. SNYDER,
ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CLINICAL PATHOLO-
GISTS; ALLAN ROSENFIELD, ON BEHALF OF ASSOCIATION OF
SCHOOLS OF PUBLIC HEALTH; AND PATRICIA L. EWALT, ON
BEHALF OF NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SOCIAL WORKERS,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF DEANS AND DIRECTORS OF
SCHOOLS OF SOCIAL WORK, ACCOMPANIED BY FRANK RAY-
MOND IIL PRESIDENT [NAD&DSSW]

Mr. SELKER. Mr. Bruce, Mr. Towns, thank you for the opportuni-
ty to appear before you today. I would like to request that my
entire written statement be entered into the record. Due to the
time constraints I would like to summarize the major points in
that written--

Mr. BRUCE. Without objection.
Mr. SELKER. Thank you, sir.
The major point I would like to really hit hard on today is the

very serious and worsening shortage of allied health personnel and
ie rather important steps that might be taken to address that

.Jrtage.
Those severe shortages exist in a wide range, but particularly in

physical and occupational therapists, clinical laboratory profession-
als, imaging technologists including radiation therapists, medical

t."
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record technicians, speech-language pathologists and audiologists,
the underrepresentation of minority persons in the allied health
professions and an undersupply of practitioners in both rural and
densely populated, poverty-ridden urban areas.

Looking toward the future, the circumstance seems to me more
grave. Rapid growth in the population of older persons and their
intense needs for various kinds of chronic and long-term care sup-
port will only intensify the picture I am painting for you today.

What is probably saddest is lack of Federal support. During the
period 1981 to 1989 there were essentially no Federal programs tar-
geting the allied health professions. During last reauthorization of
title VII Congress authorized $6 million for each of 3 years but
only $737,000 was appropriated for fiscal year 1990 and $1.6 million
for the current fiscal year.

I guess these numbers are pretty depressing, but they are mot,:
sobering if you consider the allied health professions represent
some 60 to 70 percent of our entire health care workforce.

You were exercising a major leadership role, Mr. Bruce, in your
introduction of H.R. 1466 on March 19th. We applaud and support
that legislation, but we also acknowledge the more comprehensive
solutions certainly likely to require additional resources.

You had proposed $10 million or so for entry level traineeships,
$7 million for advanced level traineeships and $7 million for vrants
and contracts. We would like to see $12 million for entry level
traineeships, $12 million for advanced level and $12 million for
grants and contracts. But even that really pales in comparison to
the needs that we foresee.

Allied health research is a major necessity because faculty are
being expected to compete in academic health science center envi-
ronments. Their bread and butter and status within that academic
community are very much contingent on their performance in the
research area. We cannot hope to recruit without additional re-
search support.

Moreover, since the allied health professions represent such a
broad span of disciplines we also have not the best data upon
which to base health policy decisions, and an allied health data
system would also go a long way.

You proposed a commission on allied health. We hope some
funds can be appropriated to support putting that commission in
place.

Last, a more visible presenceby creating a Divisio.1 of Allied
Health within the Bureau of Health Protections would also serve
as a lightning rod for coordinating the various programs needed.

Numerous studies, the National Institute on Aging 2020 study
all of these highlight the shortages of allied health professionals.
What is not widely known, those shortages are probably grossly un-
derestimated. If you consider the effects of cost containment, geri-
atric imperative health promotion disease prevention, medical tech-
nology which is going to move more care into the home, the explo-
sive growth of the home care industry, the mainstreaming of per-
sons with disabilities, the fact that persons of all ages are living
longer with disabilities, the press for quality and outcomes re-
search, the chronic care needs I touched on earlier, all of these are
very likely to swamp the system in terms of' need.
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So if anyone feels that somehow the shortages are going to evap-
orate from this posture, we only see that things are going to
worsen and worsen fast.

The cost :ontainment pressures we feel are really going to spurn
further experimentation including further substitution of high
quality yct lower cost of allied health services for extensive forms
of institutional care. Paradoxically, these costs are only driven
higher as various health care institutions compete with one an-
other through signing bonuses and incentive bonuses for these
allied health professionals.

Home care, which is roughly a $22 billion industry this last year,
is projectecl to more than triple by the year 2030. Allied health pro-
fessionals hre major players in the home care sector and along with
nurses hold largest market share.

Chronic care needs, needs for activity in the area of health pro-
motion and disease prevention, all of these lend nicely to the allied
health professions by virtue of the skills of those allied health pro-
fessions and because these professions are located in community
based settings where access is really critical.

A major bottleneck in terms of addressing these shortages relates
to the production of academic faculty. It is critical that we develop
support mechanisms for those faculty, develop further training pro-
grams that are going to turn out these graduates.

We feel these short-term financial incentives that you have ob-
served in the marketplace are not going to address the root prob-
lem, which is the further development in terms of both numbers
and quality of allied health faculty. Therefore, we conclude the
conventional market forces alone are going to fall far short of get-
ting the job done, because they really don't speak tothose higher
salaries in the marketplace don't speak to developing doctoral pro-
grams to produce more faculty or provide training to more current
faculty.

We all have a great stake in reducing these shortages of allied
health personnel. We authorize significant funding increases for
title VII programs as a first major step in demonstrating a major
serious commitment.

We thank you for the action you have taken and ask you contin-
ue to do so to ensure our Nation will be able to continue the health
care needs of its citizens.

Thank you for the opportunity to share these vicws with you
today.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Selker follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF LEOPOLD G. SELKER, ON BEHALF Ov THE AMERICAN SOCIEW
OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS

The American Society of Allied Health Professions, a national nonprofit scientific
and professional organization whose mission is to improve health care by enhancing
the effectiveness of education for allied health professionals, urgently requests Con-
gressional assistance to remedy a serious personnel shortage as manifested by:

(1) Severe shortages of physicians and occupational therapists, clinical laboratory
professionals, imaging technologists including radiation therapists, medical record
technicians, speech-language pathologists, and audiologists;

(2) The underrepresentation of minority persons in the allied health professions;
(3) An undersupply of practitioners in both rural and densely populated, poverty-

ridden urban areas;
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(4) A rapid growth in the number of older persons needing the services of allied
health personnel; and

(5) A lack of Federal support for allied health education. During the period 1981
to 1989, there were no Federal programs offering such support. During the last re-
authorization of Title VII, Congress authorized $6 million for each of three years,
but only $737,000 was appropriated for fiscal year 1990 and $1,659,000 for the cur-
rent fiscal year, amounts not even barely sufficient given the enormous problem
that must be addressed.

Congressmar Terry Bruce introduced H.R. 1466 on March 19 to amend Title VII
to increase support for allied health. For fiscal year 1992, this bill seeks $10 million
for entry level traineeships, $7 million for advanced level traineeships, $7 million
for grants and contracts, and an unspecified amount for a Commission on Allied
Health.

Our organization supports this legislation while wishing to acknowledge that a
more comprehensive solution will require the following resources: Entry level train-
esihips ($12 million); advanced level traineeships ($12 million); grants and contracts
(02 million); allied health research ($20 million); allied health data system ($5 mil-
lion); commission on allied health ($1.5 million); and division of allied health within
the Bureau of Health Professions (5 MT's).

Reports produced by a wide array of groups ranging from the Institute of Medi-
cine to the American Hospital Association all point to a shortage of allied health
personnel which is worsening. Because of the following health system trends, these
shortages may be grossly underestimated:

(1) Intensifying cost-containment efforts will stimulate further experimentation,
includ_iog the substitution of high-quality, low-cost allied health services for more
expensive institutional care. Paradoxically, health costs are driven ever higher as
institutions compete through signing bonuses and other incentives for a scarce
supply of personnel;

(2) The number of older persons demanding some formal in-home services is pro-
jected to nearly triple by the year 2030. Allied health professionals hold a large
market share in home care and are well-positioned to respond to these needs and
preferences;

(3) Increased attention to those requiring chronic care will foster a greater
demand for the services of allied health professionals; and

(4) Recent estimates reflect that rough", 60 percent of deaths are premature and
about 60 percent of all illness and disability is preventable. Allied health profession-
als' participation in prevention and wellness activities will only increase by virtue
of their skills and their being located in accessible sites such as schools, aging cen-
ters, and the workplace.

When lightning struck at St. Albans School here in Washington thirteen days
ago, the 11 personsincluding one fatality--who were rwlied to local hospitals
might just as easily have been either the children, spouses, or even members of this
august body. None of us is immune from common occurrences such as accidents,
strokes, and heart attacks which require the intervention of allied health profession-
als to prevent death and long-term disability. An insufficient supply of these practi-
tioners is a problem that will not be solved by a quick fix. Producing academic facul-
ty, developing training programs, and turning out graduates are not commodities
that can be manufactured on short notice.

Physical therapy programs in our universities are swamped with qualified appli-
cants, but we lack the faculty to accommodate thein, despite the fact that all parts
of the United States need more of these practitioners. Severe shortages of clinical
laboratory professionals also exist, but the basic problem is remarkably different.
Academic programs have been terminated because of a decline in the number of
persons seeking admission to the laboratory sciences.

The grants and contracts program currently being funded through the Bureau of
Health Professions represents one instrument that can be applied as part of a com-
prehensive solution. The small number of proiects receiving funds aim to increase
the ability of allied health professionals to meet the care needs of the aged, attract
more minority persons to the allied health professions, and enhance the availability
of clinical laboratory services in rural areas. Unfortunatdy, many other worthy
projecth have not been launched because of inadequate resources,

Conventional market forces alone cannot solve the personnel shortage problem,
despite significant eftbrts undertaken by :he private sector in Florida and other
States. Competitive bidding for personnel by hospitals and other institutions will
not stimulate financially strapped colleges and universities to produce more gradu-
ates. Offering higher salaries to those practitioners in greatest demand will not
affect the funding needed to develop doctoral programs to produce more faculty 0,

4
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provide training to current faculty who in many cases either have only a masters
degree or a doctorate in a areas outside of the basic sciences.

It is the belief of the American Society of Allied Health Professions that, as the
largest consumer of health care, the Federal government has a great stake in reduc-
ing shortages of allied health personnel. This highly complex problem will not be
remedied without such meaningful participation. Reauthorizing significant funding
increases for Title VII programs is a first major step in demonstrating a serious
commitment. We urge you to take such action to ensure that our nation will be able
to meet the health care needs of its citizens.

Mr. BRUCE. Dr. Snyder, from the Indiana School of Allied Health
Sciences.

STATEMENT OF JOHN R. SNYDER

Mr. SNYDER. My name is John Snyder. I am the director of the
division of allied health sciences and associate dean at the Indiana
University School of Medicine. Medical technology is my back-
ground. I spent the last 20 years in practice in the clinical laborato-
ry as well as variety of levels in education preparing manpower for
clinical laboratories.

I am pleased to present testimony on behalf of the American So-
ciety of Clinical Pathologists hereinafter referred to as ASCP. We
are a nonprofit medical speciality society with more than 50,000
members.

It is the largest certified agency for medical laboratory person-
nel. Many of you are well aware of the extensive shortages of quali-
fied medical laboratory personnel and its impact on laboratories,
especially in rural areas.

ASCP estimates in 1990, the Nation's 12,000 hospital and inde-
pendent laboratories had nearly 42,000 unfilled positions. In fact,
as you heard earlier, the medical technology of vacancy rat e of 11.6
percent exceeds the nursing vacancies experienced at the height of
their shortage.

Medical standards may further increase the need for trained lab-
oratory personnel, a need that according to the Bureau of Labor
Statistics, is projected t increase by the year 2000.

Two factors have strongly influenced the shortages of medical
laboratory personnel. First, the decline in education programs par-
allel the determination of Federal support for allied health educa-
tion in 1981, second, there has been a significant erosion in hospital
teaching programs, the major source of manpower, this due to the
implementation of Medicare's prospective payment system in 1982.

ASCP supported reinstatement and funding of allied health edu-
cation in title VII of the Public Health Service Act. In the first
year, HRSA received over 100 applications for this program, ap-
proved almost 50 grants, yet funded only 7 grants.

Almost half of the approved grants were from medicar technolo-
gy programs, although none were funded due to the priority given
to other professions and limited funds. The published special con-
sideration regulations regarding 1991 funds for allied health con-
tinued to overlook certain specialities and short supply.

Truly the key to addressing the shortages of medical laboratory
personnel is to bring more candidates into the field through educa-
tional programs therefore, ASCP is pursuing a two-pronged ap-
proach.
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First, we would like to see the current allied health program
broadened to address the needs of allied health specialities in short
supply such as medical technology. These professionals are critical
to providing the support needed in geriatric care and in breast and
cervical cancer screening which are a high priority of the subcom-
mittee.

We urge you, one, to reauthorize the allied health programs that
are current or increase levels and, two, to incorporate language di-
recting HHS to fund grants in shortage allied health professions as
a high priority.

We are aware of your bill House Rule 1488, Mr. Bruce, which
calls for funding for the specific shortage allied health areas. You
are to be commended of that, and we are supportive of that bill.

The second prong of the ASCP approach is the dimensions of
shortage problem require urgent focused attention by the Federal
Government. ASCP urges this subcommittee to establish a special
initiative in medical laboratory education by authorizing grants to
schools, educating medical laboratory personnel as part of the reau-
thorization of title VII, The Health Professions Education Act.

The projects should include, first, scholarships and/or stipends
for medical technology, cytotechnology and histotechnology for
their clinical training when students agre,n to work in rural areas.

Second, grants to schools willing to form a consortia arrange-
ments that links academic resources with rural clinical settings.

Third, grants to schools that recruit nontraditional students such
as minorities and science professionals into the fields of medical
technology and cytotechnology.

Fourth, grants to schools that provide refresher courses for indi-
viduals who have not been working in the field for several years.

Finally, grants to schools for recruiting and training medical lab-
oratory technicians to become medical technologists.

We are pleased this initiative has been well received within the
medical laboratory community and that nine organizations have of-
fered their support. We are encouraged thus far and hope the sub-
committee will continue to incorporate these proposals into legisla-
tion.

We would like to comment on H.R. 2405, the Rural Clinical Labo-
ratory Personnel Shortage Act. Concerns about laboratory person-
nel shortages, especially in rural areas prompted the Rural Health
Coalit.on to introduce legislation to address the shortage issue.

H.R. 2405 introduced by Congressman Slattery and colleagues
authorize a loan repayment program for medical technologies that
agree to work in a rural area for a minimum of 2 years, and all-
thorizes grants to schools for innovative outreach programs. ASCP
supports these educational initiatives aimed at the rural needs.

This proposal in conjunction with the ASCP recommendations
would meet the sho7t- and long-term medical laboratory manpower
needs. ASCP is greatly concerned and strongly opposes section IV
of H.R. 2405, which establishes a proficiency examination for indi-
viduals who do not otherwise meet the educational requirements or
other specific criteria established under the Clinical Laboratory Im-
provement Act of 1988.

We oppose the establishment of a proficiency example for many
reasons. Past experience that is shown a Federal proficiency exam

,
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did not solve the problems of shortages, nor was it a good predictor
of quality of future work of individuals who passed that examina-
tion.

Several studies were done by the Health Care Financing Admin-
istration and others on the effectiveness of this proficiency exam
which was repealed by Congress in 1987. HCFA found less than 50
percent of those taking the exam passed.

The proficiency exam was not ar adequate predictor of an indi-
vidual's ability to perform specified laboratory efforts. Today's
medical laboratory is a highly sophisticated envircnment. Tests are
increasingly complex.

Therefore, the technologists who work there must be able to rec-
ognize the accuracies of the test results and proper instrument
function among other responsibilities. All these functions require
skill and judgment.

Education is basic to this. The majority of certified medical tech-
nologists in the field today have at a minimum an associate degree
and most have a baccalaureate degree. Proficiency exam if imple-
mented would devalue the credentials of those people and affect
the compensation. That would hamper our retention.

It would also discourage other college educated people from en-
tering the field in the future, hampering the field in the future,
hampering our recruitment. For these reasons, ASCP strongly op-
poses proficiency exam mechanisms and would urge the subcom-
mittee not to include it in title VII reauthorization.

In conclusion, ASCP urges the subcommittee to consider our edu-
cational initiative and to authorize grants to schools and programs
training medical laboratory personnel.

True, Congress responded aggressively to the nursing shortage at
its height. We believe today similar action is needed in this profes-
sion.

ASCP's educational initiatives and a loan repayment program
and educational grant program of H.R. 2405 will provide mecha-
nisms and meet both long- and short-term educational needs.

Mr. Chairman, the ASCP appreciates the opportunity to testify
today.

I would be happy to answer any questions.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Snyder follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JOHN H. SNYDER, ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF
CLINICAL PATHOLOGISTS

Thank you Mr, Chairman. My name is John Snyder. I am the Director of the Di-
vision of Allied Health Sciences and Associate Dean, Indiana University School of
Medicine. I am also a Medical Technologist certified by the American Society of
Clinical Pathologists [ASCII. I have been in practice for 20 years, serving in both
rural and urban laboratory settings.

Today I am pleased to present testimony on behalf of ASCP. ASCP is a nonprofit
medical specialty society with more than 50,000 members (with 39,000 laboratory
personnel members and 11,000 pathologists). ASCP is also the largest certifying
agency for met cal laboratory personnel. Since 1928, ASCP has certified 300,000
medical technologists and other laboratory personnel.

Many of you are well aware of the extensive shortages of qualified medical labora-
tory personnel and its impact on laboratories, especially in rural and other tradi .

tionally underserved areas. In 1988 and again in 1990, the ASCP surveyed nearly
1,000 laboratory managers to determine the vacancy rates fin. 10 types of medical
laboratory positions, including nwdical technologists, cytotechnologists, histotechno-
logists and medical laboratory technicians. ASCP estimates that in 1990, the na-

2 1 1
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tion's 12,000 hospital and independent laboratories had 41,950 unfilled positions.
This compares to 24,800 unfilled positions in 1988. Cytotechnologist vacancies in-
creased most dran.atically since 1988, with one in four positions unfilled, a vacancy
rate of 27.3 percent nationwide. The medical technologist vacancy rate of 11.6 per-
cent exceeds the nursing vacancies of 11.3 percent experienced at the height of their
shortage. Congress moved aggressively to solve the nursing shortage and similar
action is needed for laboratory personnel.

Federal standards impmed under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amend-
ments of 1988 [CLIA '88] to improve the quality of laboratory testing as well as the
growth in the scope and complexity of clinical laboratory testing will further in-
crease the need for trained laboratory personnel. One study indicates that without
dramatic intervention and recruitment, vacancy rates for the clinical laboratory
profeiVonals will double by the year 2000.

W'r e the decline in the applicant pool for medical laboratory education programs
is of ten attributed to increasing opportunities for women in other medical fields
and a general waning interest in health careers, two additional factors have strong-
ly influenced the shortages of medical laboratory personnel. First, since 1981 there
has been a significant erosion in hospital based educational programs in medical
technology. The number of med tech programs decreased from 652 in 1980 to 420 in
1990 with almost 70 percent of these closed programs based in hospitals, the major
source of medical technologists working in rural areas. Pressure on hospital based
programs was compounded with the implementation of cost controls and Medicare's
Prospective Payment System. Second, the decline in programs overall paralleled the
termination of federal support for allied health education in 1981.
Current Allied Health Education Program

ASCP strongly supported and worked with this Subcommittee to reinstate the
allied health programs in Title 7 of the Public Health Service Act. As you may be
aware, Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA] received 123 applica-
tions for special project grants under this program and approved almost 50 grants
in the first year. However, only seven grants were funded. Almost half of the ap-
proved grants were from medical technology programs or allied health programs
with a medical technology component, yet none was funded due to limited appro-
priations and priority given to professions engaged in geriatric care.

This year the allied health program received an appropriation at the authoriza-
tion level of $2 million, but due to sequestration $1.7 million will be awarded to
grantees. As published in the Federal Register, special consideration will be given to
applicants from schools training professions engaged in geriatric care and those pro-
grams affiliated with community and migrant health centers. The current program
is not addressing professions in short supply, such as medical laboratory personnel,
that provide essential support services for geriatric care.
Recommendations

The key to addressing the shortages of medical laboratory personnel is to bring
more candidates into the field through expanded educational programs. Therefore
ASCP is pursuing a two pronged approach with the authorization and appropria-
tions commithaes.

First, ASCP would like to see the current allied health program broadened to ad-
dress the needs of allied health specialties experiencing the greatest national short-
ages, such as medical technology and cytotechnology. These professionals are criti-
cal to providing the support needed in geriatric care and in breast and cervical
cancer screening, both high priority health programs. We urge you: (1) to reauthor-
ize the allied health programs at current or increased levels; and (2) to incorporate
language directing MIS to fund approved grants in shortage allied health profes-
sions as a high priority.

Second, the dimensions of the shortage problem require urgent focused action by
the federal governmen.. ASCP urges this Subcommittee to establish a special initia-
tive in medical laboratory education, by authorizing grants to schools educating
medical aboratory personnel as part of the reauthorization of Title 7, the Health
Professions Education Act. Projects should include:

(1) Scholarships and/or stipends for medical technology, cytotechnology and histo-
technology students for their clinical training period (3rd or 4th year of training)
who agree to work in rural or other underserved hospitals. This would be the fastest
way to increase the supply of laboratory professionals because existing schools have
openings they cannot fill because of the lack of scholarship/stipend support.

(2) Grants to schools for consortium arrangements that creatively link academic
resources with rural clinical settings to provide community-based education. Under
this initiative, institutions of higher etlucation could provide didactic instruction via
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long-distance learning technologies and local clinical facilities could provide compli-
mentary clinical instructions.

(3) Grants to schools to recruit nontraditional students into the fields of medical
technology and cytotechnology. These grants could be used to set up customized pro-
grams to recruit and train nontraditional students such as minorities, midcareer sci-
ence professionals (teachers), immigrants and graduating college students who have
majored in science. These students may need 1 to 2 courses in additior to the clini-
cal year of training, tutoring, or language support to enable them to work in a labo-
ratory within an expedited time frame.

(4) Grants to schools to provide refresher courses for medical technologists and cy-
totechnologists who have not been working in the field for several years. Flexibility
is necessary to establish programs to fit the individual needs of the medical tech-
nologist or cytotechnologist returning to the field.

(5) Grants to schools for recruiting and training medical laboratory technicians to
become medical technologists. Stipends and/or scholarships to those technicians
who agree to work in rural or underserved hospitals would be an added inducement
for this personnel pool.

We are pleased that this initiative has been well received within the medical labo-
ratory community and the following organizations have offered their support: Amer
ican Society of Cytology, American Society for Medical Technology, American Asso-
ciation of Blood Banks, College of American Pathologists, American Society of
Microbiology, American Society for Cytotechnology, American Cancer Society, Clini-
cal Laboratory Management Association, American Association of Clinical Chemists
and American Medical Association Committee on Allied Health FAucation and Ac-
creditation. We ere encouraged thus far and hope the Subcommittee will incorpo-
rate these proposals into legislation.
HR. 2405"The Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel Shortage Act"

Concerns about laboratory personnel sho-tages, especially in rural areas, prompt-
ed the Rural Health Coalition to introduce legislation to address the shortage issue.
H.R. 2405, introduced by Congressman Slattery and others, authorizes a loan eepay-
ment program for medical technologists that agree to work in a rural area for a
minimum of two years and authorizes grrnts to schools for innovative outreach pro-
grams to train students in rural clinic settings and to train laboratory technicians
to become technologists. ASCP supports these educational initiatives aimed at rural
needs. This proposal, in conjunction with the ASCP recommendations, would meet
the short and long term medical laboratory manpower needs.

ASCP is greatly concerned by, and strongly opposes, Section 4 of H.R. 2405 which
e3tablishes a proficiency exam for individuals who do not otherwise meet the educt -
tional requirements or other specific criteria established under the Clinical Labort
tory Improvement Amendments of 1988. According to the bill, the exam would h?.
administered within 180 days of enactment and annually thereafter until the Secre-
tary develops a program to accredit public and private laboratory personnel certify-
ing agencies.

We oppose the establishment of a proficiency exam for many reasons. Most impor-
tantly, past experience has shown us that a federal proficiency exam did not, solve
problems of shortages nor was it a good predictor of the quality of the future work
of individuals who pass the exam.

HHS developed and gave a proficiency exam from 1975-87 to q.ialify individuals
as medical technologists to work in Medicare-approved laboratories. The authority
for this exam was repealed by Congress in 1987. Several studies were done by the
Health Care Financing Administration [HUA] and others on the effectiveness of
the exam. HCFA found that less than 50 percent of those taking the exam passed.
With such a high failure rate the exam was not an effective means of addressing
the shortage.

Second, the proficiency exam is not an adequate predictor of an individual's abili-
ty to perform specified laboratory tests accurately. In fact, studies have shown that
ASCP certified technologists, who have completed college courses and formal train-
ing, outperform and make fewer errors than those without private sector certifica-
tion. This study also showed that there was a positive correlation between the
number of certified technologists ar4 the accuracy of test results in the laboratory.

The impetus for CLIA '88 was Congressional concern that medical latioratory test
results could not be trusted. Many Members of Congress had first hand experience
with incorrect test results and poor overall quality. ASCP firmly believes that the
laboratory and the services it provides is only as good as its professionals. College
course work and formal training are necessary prerequisites for a medical technolo-
gist. The lab is highly computerized and tests are incressingly complex; therefore,
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technologists must be able to recognize the accuracy of test results and proper ma-
chine function among other responsibilities. All require skill and judgment, and
education is basic to this.

The majority of certified medical technologists in thc field today have completed
the CLIA required college course work and more than 100,000 med techs practicing
today hold a baccalaureate degree. The proficiency exam, if implemented, will de-
value the credentials of these people, affect their compensation and discourage other
college educated people from entering the field in the future. For these reasons,
ASCP strongly opposes the proficiency exam mechanism and would urge the Sub-
committee not to include it in the Title 7 reauthorization.
Conclusion

ASCP urges the Subcommittee to consider our educational initiative and to au-
thorize grants to schools and programs training medical laboratory personnel. Con-
gress responded aggressively to the nursing shortage at its height, and similar
action is now needed for this profession. ASCP's educational initiatives and the loan
repayment program and educational grant program in H.R. 2405 will provide the
mechanisms to meet both short and long term educational needs. ASCP urges the
subcommittee to forego the reestablishment of a proficiency exam. Its impact on the
shortage will be minimal, yet its potential to expose patients to the risks of inaccu-
rate testing may be great.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Dr. Snyder.
Now we will hear from Dr. Rosenfield.

STATEMENT OF ALLAN ROSENFIELD

Mr. ROSENFIELD. Thank you, Mr. Bruce, Mr. Towns.
I am Allan Rosenfield from Columbia. I am representing today

the Association of Schools of Public Health. My colleagues and I
appreciate the opportunity to testify on the contributions of aca-
demic public health in promoting health and preventing disease in
this Nation.

In general, to justify continued Federal support to the 24 schools
of public health in the United States. The Nation set for itself the
year 2000 objectives for promoting health and preventing disease
throughout the United States.

Winning those objectives will depend on effective leadership of
health agencies at national, State and local levels. These agencies
in turn must rely on the university graduate schools of public
health and other public health preventive medicine programs to
provide the leadership in the form of comprehensively trained
public health professionals, now in short supply.

Too few physicians and other professionals who are urgently
needed as comprehensively trained professional leaders are reluc-
tant to undergo such training when they enter the field of public
health. According to Secretary Sullivan, there are serious shortages
of epidemiologists, nutritionists and nurses with degrees from
schools of public health.

If we are to address the year 2000 objectives, the situation calls
for vigorous recruitment of students by schools of public heath and
accredited preventive medicine programs as well as the production
of greater numbers of comprehensively trained public health ca-
reerists in the areas of critical personnel shortages.

The 24 schools of public health, in 18 States and Puerto Rico,
constitute a primary source of comprehensively trained public
health professionals to serve the Federal Government, the 50
States and the private sector. To meet the inevitably growing de-
mands of the year 2000 objectives for leaders with comprehensive
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training, the schools must be able to fund the costs for, one, re-
cruiting and financially assisting students as needed; two, strength-
ening and expanding teaching programs especially in areas of ex-
treme urgency such as AIDS prevention and control, substance
abuse, injuries, teen pregnancy, maternal and child health care
availability and access, quality and cost, health needs of the elderly
and environmental and occupational and health hazards; and
three, linking faculty and students with operating public health
agencies.

Mr. Chairman, in their contributing role as producers of leaders
in the Nation's health system, the schools of public health have
been linked to the U.S. military academies. No one has questioned
the often repeated assertion that, if the graduate schools of public
health did not exist, the Federal Government would have to estab-
lish a national academy of public health.

W'th disease prevention and health promotions as their primary
goals, schools of public h')alth and the graduates approach health
problems on a broad front. This is illustrated, for example, by the
many-faceted attack on AIDS, which involves not only intensive
laboratory and field research aimed at developing means of preven-
tion and cure, but also educational, political, legal, ethical, econom-
ic and care providing activities that are essential to containment of
the epidemic and demonstradon of human concern.

Public health school graduates bring to the year 2000 objectives
the broad view knowledge and skills acquired in studying the full
range of health problems afflicting the U.S. population. Our gradu-
ates are prepared to organize and direct concerted efforts by health
professionals, professionals, public bcfalth and private agencies, in-
s:tutions and community organizations to further the year 2000
objectives. They are prepared to organize and direct concerted ef-
forts by health professionals, public and private agencies, institu-
tions and community organizations to further year 2000 objectives.

Mr. Chairman, continued Federal support of the schools can be
justified as an investment in the infrastructure that produces com-
prehensively trained public health professionals needed to meet the
year 2000 objectives.

I have attached to my testimony a proposal by the Association of
Schools of Public Health that outline the means for the Federal
Government to share with the schools of public health responsibil-
ity for furthering the year 2000 objectives by providing adequate
leadership for the undertaking. The year 2000 cbjectives demand
the highly trained, top level personnel and effective State and local
health agencies makes it imperative that schools of public health
be enabled to forge strong links with operating alencies.

Our proposal for targeted grants would enhance public health
students training through practical field experience akin to hospi-
tal training of medical students. It would provide much needed fac-
ulty consultation of policy and procedural problems of agencies and
institutions.

The 24 accredited graduate schools of public health can docu-
ment the need for Federal funding to enable them to strengthen
faculties and mount new and expanded teaching programs to help
assure the production of adequately prepared leadership in suffi-
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cient suppli to meet the challenges highlighted by the year 2000
objectives.

hi summary, the will to meet the year 2000 objectives is present
in the schools of public health and in the pool of perspective stu-
dents. Funds are insufficient. Our graduates do not make a great
deal of inuney.

In addition to the funding needs of schools for direct costs, sup-
port services and expenses in teaching programs to accommodate
increased enrollment, successful recruitment of minorities and
trained professionals would require financial support as well. Our
proposal addresses those needs.

Thank you for giving the U.S. academic public health community
the opportunity to express its views of continued Federal support
to the field.

Your thoughtful consideration of our proposal as you and the
subcommittee draft a new health profession, education and train-
ing bill will be greatly appreciated.

[The attachment referred to followsd
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'the public health training provisions in Title VII of the Public Health Service Act (the 'Health
Professions Reauthorization Act of (988') expires September 30, 1991. Congress began supporting
higher education in l86r when it passed the Morrill land-grant college bill; almost a century later
It passed the second oldest higher education support program, "The Hill-Rhodes Act of 1958' It
authorized the 'surgeon general to make certain grants-in-aid for the support of public or non.
profit educational institutions which provide training and services in the fields of public health.

The eleven school: of pui: health then and the 24 schools now are 'essentially national
schools', since students come from the 50 states, Puerto Rico and from the U.S. related territories
Graduates of these schools then and now (over 3,500 this year) serve primarily in the public and
nonprofit sector. Over 80 percent of the graduates work in government agencies, universities or
for non-profit health organizations. As such, these schools take on the characteristic of "service
academies'. In fact, the 'West Point(s) of Health was the term applied to the schools uf
health in 1958 when President Eisenhower signed the Hill-Rhodes bill. In that bipartisan landniark
legislation, Congress recognized specialized training of professional public health leaders for public
service a i federal responsibility to be shared with the schools Indeed, it was noted that, had
not the schools already existed as an essential federal resource, the health equivalent of a service
academy would have had to be created. HillRhodes' authorized funds to train prof MiOrra la to
fill the 30 percent vacant health of ficer positions in 1958. It also authorized funds to meet the
Memand for research workers' as 'Congress has recognized the need and has oicreasel
appropriations for public health research. "The present and prospeclive output of the schools of
public health cannot meet these many demands without assistance...' Similar demands are facing
the schools and the nation today.

The need for public health professionals in the 1990s could be double the 1980 level, a 1986
illiS report to Congress indicates. The need for professionals has increased svith the proliferation
of health programs and agencies. In numerous reports to the President and Congress. /MS pointed
to shortages of epidemiologists, environmental health professionals, los icologists, binstatisticians,
nutritionists, public health nurses, and physicians trained in public health and preventive
medicine.

Yet federal health officials have committed the nation to the achievement of over 200
objectives for promoting health and preventing disease by the year 2000. Attaining those
objectives will depend on effective leadership of health organizations and agencies 31 national,
state and local levels. These agencies, in turn, must rely on the universits graduate schools of
public health to provide such leadership in the form of comprehensi+ely-trained public health
Professionals now in short supply. While personnel increases will be necessary in all categories

la nuary 29, 195$ hearing on H R. 0771, 3 hill to atithorize support for schools or poblic
health
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of the public health work force, the most critical need will be fur physicians, biological and
behasioral scientists, engineers, administrators and other professionals ho have been prepared
in schools of public health to play much larger and more challenging roles than those for which
they were basically trained in their respective professions.

:Fhe schools of public health in IR states and Puerto Rico constitute a source of
comprehensively-trained public health professionals to serve the federal government, the 50 states

and the private sector All of the many disciplines relevant to public health are represented on
these schools' faculties, familiarizing students with today's array of major health problems and
the multidisciplinary approach required for their solution. To meet the inevitably grow ing
demands of the Year 2000 Objectives for leaders with the comprehensive training that schools of
public health provide, the schools must he enabled to fund III the costs of recruiting and
financially assisting students as needed, and (2) to convey 3 part of the costs of strengthening and
expanding their teaching programs, especially in areas ol extreme urgency, such as AIDS.
substance abuse, injuries, maternal and child health, health care asailability, quality and costs,
health necds of the elderly and environmental and occupational health hazards

1 he Inllow ing proposal by the Association of Schools of Public Health (ASPIII outlines a
means for thc federal government to share with the schols of public health responsibility of
furthering the Year 2000 Objectives by providing adequate leadership for the undertaking.

maa_rithaLm.
It is proposed that Part I (Special Project:0 of Title VI! 142 U S.0 :/51: et scq of the PlIS

At be amended to delete present language from Section 790A and to substitute new language
authorizing the Secretary to make grants to accredited schools of public health .n the interest of
accomplishing the Year 2000 Objectis es Such grants would enable the schools to:

Provide graduate students with comprehensive knowledge and skills required for them
to work effectively toward attainment of Year 2000 Objectives

(2) Recruit candidates for graduate education in preparation for public service in specialTes
that are in ,hort supply and necessary to accomplish the Year 2000 Objectives

(31 Increase enrollment of minority and disadvantaged students (or comprehensive graduate
training leading to public health professiona careers contributing with special
importance to achieving the Year 2000 Objectives.

(4) Strengthen existing departments of instruction, specialized teaching programs and
curricula and develop, as needed, new departments, specialized teaching programs ^rid
courses to prepare students, 35 pubbe health professionals, to cope with specific,
especially severe health problems targeted in the Year 2000 Objectives.

)5) Strengthen and extend continuing education, nondegree teaching programs. to public
health officials in the held, both locally and regionally, in furtherance of the Year
2000 Objectives.

Strengtheo and expand teaching programs, as needed for paritinte degree candidates.
including those who are employed full-time and need such special provisions as evening,
weekend and sunsmer courses.

(7) Establish firm links w ith governmental and private health agencies and institutions V,
sites for field practice training of students and for faculty consultative services I, the
cooperating agencies and institutions upon whose ef fectiveness success of the Y, '000
Objectis es campaign ss ill depend heasils

00 Improve access to preventise sers lees and other commusity.:based programs

2
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For purposes of iarrying out Section 790A as reworded, it is proposed that there be authorized
to be appropriated $10 million for fiscal year 1992, $15 million for fiscal year 1993, and S20
million r, r fiscal year 1994.

IRAIM,DIPS

It is proposed that Sec 792 (Traineeships) of Title VII of the PUS Act be renewed with
amendments increasing the amovnts authorized for appropriations tinder :he authority of the
Secretary in make grants to accredited schools of public health to provide trainceships for
increasing numbers of graduate students preparing to serve the Year 200G Objectives, particularly
students representing diseiplines 3nd specizilties in short supply. Such traineeships would be
awarded primarily to students in the following categories:

(I) Minority and disadvantages: students.

(2) Physicians, scientists and engineers who are in extremely short supply in thc public
health field.

(3) Students in other areas of severe personnel shortage including epidemiology, biostatistics,
preventive medicine, public health dentistry, public health nutrition, public health
nursing id environmental and occupational health specialties such as in toxicology and
chemistry.

(4) Students in specialized training in such areas as maternal and child health, AIDS
presention and control, drug abuse, infant mortality, injury prevention and control,
fox ic wastes, chronic disease prevent ion and control, health problems in minority
populations, health problems of the elderly, migrantR and immigrants, health care access,
quality 3nd cost of nicdical care, and the need for effective health promotion programs
in urban and rural areas.

For purposes of e3reying out Section 792 as ainendcd, it is propowd that there be authorized
to be appropriated $10 million for fiscal year 1992, SI5 million for fiscal 1993, and $20 million
for (kcal year 1994

pElyinlyt MEDICINE RESIDENCIES

It is proposed that Sec 788 (c) of Title VII, NIS Act, be renewed to continue federal support
for preventive medicine residency (PMRs) programs. According to MIS, shortages or physicians
trained in public and preventive medicine exist. The 1980 report of the MIS Graduate Medical
Education National Advisory Committee (GMENAC) projected a shortfall in supply of preventive
medicine specialkts of 25 percent by 19")0. In 1988 the MIS Council on Graduate Medical
Education validated this assessment. In hk 1990 :eport on the status of U.S. health personr,e1,
Secretary Sullivan affirmed a shortage of public and community health personnel, including
physicians trained in pubhc and preventive medicine At the same time, meeting the Year 2000
Objectives will require a substantial numbcr of personnel trained to provide health promotion and
disease prevention services.

For the purpose of carrying out Section 788 (c), it is proposed that there be authorized to be
appropriated $5 million for fiscal year 1992, $7 miilion for fiscal ycar I993 and $10 million for
fiscal year 1994.
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It is proposed that Sec. 787, PHS Act, be renewed to continue federal support for the Health
Careers Opportunity Program (HCOP). fiCOP serves as the principal federal health training
activity for underrepresented minorities and Other students who are financially or otherwise
disadvantaged. According to HHS, there is an increased demand and need for welltrained
minority public health professionals. Preliminary and enrichment education have ?roven to be
successful in removing the barriers that have caused the persistent underrepresentation of
minorities in public her'th. Increased HCOP funding will make available additional dollars for
support services to prepare students to successfully compete for entry into and graduation from
schools of public health in order to address the national health needs f the nation (Year 2000
Health Objectives).

For the purpose of carrying out Section 787, it is proposed that there be authorized to Ix
appropriated $40 million for fiscal year 1992, $42 million for fiscal year 1993, and $45 million

for fiscal year 1994.

PREVENTION CENTERS

It is proposed that Sec 1706 of Title XVII, PHS Act, renewed to continue federal support
for the CDC prevention centers grant program. Initiated in 1986, seven centers arc currently
funded. They are condocting research that focuses on ways to promote health and prevent
disease. Each center works closely with local health agencies as well as with providers of health
services to develop new ways of promoting health and on improved methods of appraising health

hazards and risk factors. In Short, they are developing state-of-theart prevention techniques.
Located in the multidisciplinary schools of public health, the centers serve as demonstration sites
for translating new knowledge into practice.

For purposes of carrying out Section 1706, it is proposed that there be authorized to he
appropriated $IO million for fiscal year 1992, $11 million for fiscal year 1993 and $13 million
for fiscal year 1994.

Wan
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Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, Dr. Rosenfield. We will now hear from
Dr. Patricia L. Ewalt. She is accompanied by Dr. Frank B. Ray-
mond, President of the National Association of Deans, Director of
Schools of Social Work.

Doctor, happy to have Dr. Raymond with us also.

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA L. EWALT

Ms. EWALT. Thank you very much.
Good afternoon, Mr. Bruce and Mr. Towns.
My name is Patricia Ewalt, dean of the school of social work at

the University of Hawaii and as our chairman said, I am accompa-
nied by Dean Frank Raymond, who is our national president of the
Deans and Director of Schools of Social Work.

I am representing here today both the deans and directors and
the National Association of Social Workers.

The deans and directors in turn represent graduate programs of
social work in nearly every State as well as the District of Colum-
bia and Puerto Rico. NASW represents 135,000 members national-
ly.

My objective today is to encourage you to recognize social work
as a health profession in title VII, so that graduate programs of
social workers eligible to compete for appropriate research and
training opportunities. Schools of social work are currently identi-
fied in only one section of title VII to support graduate education
and health administration, hospital administration and health
planning.

During the reauthorization of title VII in 1988, social work was
not defined as a health profession, as an allied health profession.
Therefore, social workers are identified as neither members of
allied health professions nor as a health professional.

I would like to explain why social work should be recognized as a
health profession in title VII. Too oftk the profession is still re-
garded as restricted to roles in public as.,istance.

While many of our members do practice in public assis: nce and
child welfare, social worker encompasses many other specialities. I
might mention at this time our pride in Mr. Towns who is a profes-
sional social worker. We are very pleased that he is on this com-
mittee and in the Congress.

Social workers have, in fact, been involved in health care since
before the turn of the century. The Massachusetts General Hospi-
tal in Boston hired its fh medical social work,Jr in 1905.

Today most, I would say practically all major hospitals have de-
partments of social work. Social workers perform, for example,
preadmission planning.

They assess the social and emotional factors that contribute to
the patient's condition and that may interfere with the plan of
treatment. They do discharge planning to facilitate effective after
care.

They do financial counseling, community health education and
they lead support groups related to such problems as cancer, AIDS,
head injury, cardiac problems and stroke education.

In 1987, surgeon William De Vries, who implanted the first artifi-
cial heart, said social work is absolutely critical to medical success
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of heart transplantation and heart implementation. Social work as-
sessment is critical in screening patients to determine whether the
individual is equipped to comply with the rigorous regiment and
whether the individual has a good family support system and an
understanding of the process.

We found the social work stage in whether we would accept a pa-
tient or not, is every bit as critical for well being as any medical
stake. The same is true for any type of transplantation.

Social work role in primary health care is not restricted to the
hospital. It goes to health centers, home health agencies, rehabili-
tation facilities, hospices, prenatal and perinatal programs.

These are, for instance, standards established by NASW for prac-
tice in various health settings.

Examples of the benefits of social work intervention in home
health ca :2 include the following: Early social work assessment
and intervention in home health, expedite shorter periods of skilled
nursing and other medical services.

Social work services increases the patient's ability to stay at
home, thus preventing rehospitalization. Social work services stabi-
lize the care giver system and additionally promote recovery in the
home. Social work services prevent costly crisis reaction by the pa-
tient and by the support system.

Clinical social work is, in fact, the single largest professional pro-
vided mental health care in the United States. The profession is a
licensed health care profession in boa Medicare and Medicaid.

Clinical social workers are recognized as independent providers
of outpatient medical health care in all Federal health insurance
programs, including FEHB, Medicare and CHAMUS.

The inclusion of social workers in the identified health profession
within the title VII programs is of great importance to social work
education.

Currently, schools of social work are severely limited in applying
for title VII program funding opportunities, if not outright ineligi-
ble. I might mention that there are very fine medical schools in
both of your districts, and they are ineligible, of course, for these
programs.

We feel the social work profession is at a distinct disadvantage.
Social workers are on the faculty of medical schools throughout the
country, yet we are unable to compete for health educational op-
portunities to train our own students.

My Senator, Senator Inouye, has been instrumental in recogniz-
ing the profession's role in health and mental health care delivery.
Through his leadershir, schools of social workers are eligible to
participate in the interdisciplinary rural health training position of
HRSA.

I might say our own school received one of those grants. Schools
of social work are eligible to apply for funds to assist disadvantaged
students through HCOP, pertaining to the Indian Health Service.

I ask your help in extending this recognition to appropriate title
VII programs of the Publ.? Health Service Act.

Thank you very much for inviting us to testify.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Ewalt followsd
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF PATRICIA L. EWALT, ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIA-
TION OF SOCIAL WORKERS AND THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF DEANS AND DIREC-
TORS OF SCHOOLS OF SOCIAL WORK

Good Morning. My name is Patricia Ewalt. I am Dean of the School of Social
Work at the University of Hawaii at Manoa. I am here today on behalf of the Na-
tional Association of Social Workers [NASW] and the National Association of Deans
and Directors of Schools of Social Work. NASW represents 135,000 professional
social workers nationwide, two-thirds of whom practice in health and mental health
care settings.

My objective today is to encourage you to recognize social work as a health profes-
sion in selected Title VII programs so that graduate schools of social work are eligi-
ble to compete for appropriate research and training opportunities.

First, I would like to provide some information on the social work profession's
role in primary health and mental health care delivery. Too often, I believe, the pro-
fession is still popularly regarded as restricted to roles in public assistance. While
many members of the profession do practice in public assistance and child welfare
programs, social work fields of practice encompass many other specialties.

Social workers have been involved in the health care field since before the turn of
the century. In fact, Massachusetts Cleneral Hospital in Boston hired its first medi-
cal social worker in 1905. Today, most major hospitals have Departments of Social
Work. Social workers perform such functions as: preadmission planning; assessment
of social and emotional factors that contribute to the patient's condition and may
interface with the plan of treatment and recovery; discharge planning to facilitate
effective aftercare; illness adjustment and management counseling; financial coun-
seling; patient and family advocacy; and patient and family conferences. In addition,
hospital social workers are often involved in community health education and pro-
motion activities and lead support groups related to cancer, AIDS, head injury, car-
diac problems and stroke education.

In 1987, surgeon William De Vries, who implanted the first artificial hearts, said,
"Social work is absolutely critical to the medical success of heart transplantation
and heart implementation." With these extremely delicate and complicated proce-
dures, social work assessment is critical in screening patients to determine whether
the individual is equipped to romply with the rigorous regimen that patients must
follow orce the surgery is completed and whether the individual has a good family
support system and an understanding of the process. In addition, the social worker
works with the patient and family during the stressful waiting period for an appro-
priate donor. "We found the social work stake in whether we would accept a patient
or not was every bit as critical for well-being is any medical stake," said Dr. DeV-
ries.

Social work's role in primary health care is not restricted to the hospital. Social
workers practice in virtually every type of health care setting including community
health centers, health maintenance organizations, home health agencies, rehabilita-
tion facilities, hospices, prenatal and perinatal programs, etc.

I'd like to provide one example of how the Health Care Financing Administration
defines the role of social work in home health, a condition of participation in the
Medicare home health program.

"The social worker assists the physician and other team members in understand-
ing the significant social and emotional factors related to the health problems, par-
ticipates in the development of the plan of treatment, prepares clinical and progress
notes, works with the family, utilizes appropriate community resources, participates
in discharge planning and inservice programs, and acts as a consultant to other
agency personnel." (42 CFR, section 405.122tif

In home health care, social work functions include, but are not limited to:
1 ) Skilled assessment of the social, economic, environmental and psychoemotional

factors related to the patient's illness, need for care, response to treatment and ad-
justment to care; followed by care plan development.

(2) Counseling for long-range planning and decisionmaking, including: assessment
of the patient's needs for long-terrn care, twaluation of the home and family situa-
tion, enabling patient and family to develop an in-home care system, exploring al-
ternatives to in-home care, when needed, and arrangement for placement.

(3) Community resource planning, including education, advocacy, referral and
linkage to community services.

(4) Short-term therapy or goal-oriented intervention directed toward: management
of' tennimd illness, reaction and adjustnwnt to illness, strengthening the family sup-
port system, and conflict resolution related to the chronicity of' illness.

o
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(5) Crisis intervention and problem resolution associated with high risk indicators
endangering a patient's mental and physical health, such as: abuse and neglect, in-
adequate food or medical supOss, high suicidal potential, or an unsafe environ-
ment.

The benefits of social work intervention in home health care include the follow-
ing:

(1) Data suggests that early social work assessment and intervention in home care
expedite shorter periods of skilled nursing and other medical services.

(2) Social work services that address the social and emotional problems which neg-
atively the patient's response to treatment increase the patient's ability to stay at
home, thus preventing rehospitalization or other costly institutionalization.

(3) Social work services that strengthen the family and other support systems, as
well as provide a linkage to needed community resources, stabilize the caregiver
system and additionally promote recovery in the home.

(4) Social work services that promote long-term planning allow the patient lo con-
tinue to act on his or her own behalf, consequently preventing or reducing costly
"crisis reactions" by the patient and support system.

Today, clinical social work is the single largest profession providing mental heath
care in the U.S. The profession is legally regulated in all but one state, and is iden-
tified as a "licensed health care profession" in both the Medicare and Medicaid stat-
utec Additionally, clinical social workers are recognized as independent providers of
outpatient mental health care in all federal health insurance programs (Medicare,
the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program, and the Civilian Health and Medi-
cal Program of the Uniformed Services).

Despite the profession's historical role in health care delivery, few opportunities
exist for training social workers through federal training programs for the health

ofessions. The exception is the National Institute of Mental Health's Clinical
Training Program which is currently funded at $13.7 million and provides assist-
ance to five mental health professions, including clinical social work.

Renewed attendon has been directed toward tEe need to provide training opportu-
nities for social workers in health care during recent years. The President's Com-
mission on the Human Immunodeficiency Virus [HIV] Epidemic and the 1990
Senate Appiopriations Report urged that scholarships be made available through
the National Health Service Corps [NHSC] Program to train medical social workers
for service in HIV-endemic areas.

Schools of social work, how(Ner, are currently identified in only one section of
Title VII. Section 791(21 authorizes funding for different entities, including schools
of social work, to support graduate education in health administration, hospital ad-
ministration and health planning.

During reauthorization of the Title VII programs through the 1988 Health Profes-
sions Reauthorization Act (P.L. 100-607), an individual with a degree in social work
was added to the list of health professionals that are not considered to be an allied
health professional. However, social work was not defined as a heath profession for
purposes of Title VII program opportunities.

Accordingly, professional social workers are identified a S neither members of the
allied health profession nor a health profession for purposes of the Title VII health
training opportunities.

The inclusion of social work as an identified health profession within the Title VII
programs is of great importance to social work education. Currently, schools of
social work are severely limited in applying for Title VII program funding opportu-
nities, if not outright ineligible. For example, schools of social work are not defined
as health professional schools in eligibility criteria for NIH Biomedical Research
Support Grants. This is true even though schools mai meet all other criteria be-
cause social work is not in the. basic ''ublic Health Service definition,

Someprograms authorized through Title VII, such as the Health Careers Oppor-
tunity Program, allow more flexibility in funding opportunities. However, given
budget constraints, schools which are not identified as training the specified health
professions or allied health professionals are rarely granted funding support.

In addition, the PHS Act is often used as the base for new legislative initiatives in
the training of health professions. Social work is generally omitted from consider-
ation in the new initiatives because it is not identified in the PHS Act.

Mr. Chairman, we feel that the social work profession is at a distinct disadvan-
tage. Professional social workers ate on the faculty of various medical schools
throughout the country. Yet, we are unable to compete for available health educa-
tional opportunities to train our own students.

My Senator, Senator Inouye, has been instrumental in recognizing the profes-
sion s role in health and mental health care delivery. Through his leadership,
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schools of social work are now eligible to participate in the Interdisciplinary Rural
Health Training Initiative of the Health Resources and Services Administration.
And schools of social work are eligible to apply for funds to assist disadvantaged
students through the Health Careers Opportunity Program of the Indian Health
Service.

I ask your help in extending this recognition to appropriate Title VII programs of
the Public Health Service Act. Specifically, we seek your help in: Adding a "gradu-
ate program in social work" to the definitions in section 701 (4) and (5); adding
"social workers" to the list of providers for whom the Secretary collects health pro-
fessions data in section 708(a); adding "social work" to the list of schools in which
students may be enrolled for eligibility for federal loan assistance in section 729(a);
adding "schools of social woek" to the list of eligible schools whose disadvantaged
students may apply for assistance [HCOP] in section 787(aX1); and adding "social
work" to the list of schools which may receive support for projects which teach
health professions students to provide for the health care needs of individuals with
AIDS in section 78813(aX1).

Thank you for the opportunity to present this testimony before the Subcommittee.

Mr. BRUCE. We appreciate your testimony. I understand Dr. Ro-
senfield, you have to catch a plane and need to be excused if we
can.

Mr. Towns, do you have a question for Dr. Rosenfield?
Mr. TOWNS. No. I would like to as you to yield for unanimous

consent request to include my statement in the record. I was not
here at the opening this morning.

Mr. BRUCE. Should I mention you were a professional social
worker before you got here?

Mr. TOWNS. No question about it.
May I add a good one.
Mr. BRUCE. It will be included in the record.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Towns followsd

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. ED TOWNS

Mr. Chairman, I am very pleased that the subcommittee will have an opportunity
to hear testimony today in preparation for the reauthorization of title VII, Health
Manpower Programs, and title VIII, Nursing Education Programs, of the Public
Health Service Act.

New York City has specific concerns in at least two areas, discrimination against
foreign medical graduates and transition in nursing careersi which I hope we can
address in the reauthorization process. A number of our city s hospitals are heavily
staffed by international medical graduates. During the subcommittee's last consider-
ation of title VII, a GAO report wan requested to investigate the issue of discrimina-
tion faced by IMGs. That report entitled "Medical Licensing by Endorsement: re-
quirements Differ for Graduates of Foreign and U.S. Medical Schools" recommended
that a clearinghouse for medical credentials be established in order to streamline
the process of State-to-State licensing. Legislation introduced by Congressman
Mervyn Dymally and myself would create just such a national clearinghouse with
oversight by the Secretary of HHS, I am plea.ed to see that Congressman Steve
Solarz who is a well-known advocate in this area will also be testifying today on the
IMG issue.

Second, Mr. Chairman, the greater New York Hospital Association has developed
a successful transition education program designed to ease New York's nursing
shortage. This program which is cailed Project LINC, for "Ladders in Nursing Ca-
reers," provides hospital employees their full-time salary while working at the hos-
pital part-time and studying for an LPN or RN degree. In just 2 years, the program
has graduated 96 participants. A total of 130 will have graduated by the end of this
year. Despite this success, LINC haa been unable to receive funding under the spe-
cial grant provisions of title VIII.

Mr. Chairman, I woald like to submit two articles on the above isaues for the
record and I hope that concerns I have raised here today can be addressed during
reauthorization.

Mr. BRUCE. Dr. Rosenfield, we appreciate your testimony. We
will let you get on your airplane.

4-1
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Mr. ROSENFIELD. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. BRUCE. I was just going through all the figures and including

by implication Dr. Ewalt, we will put you in the health professions
here for today's discussion by order of the chairman.

There is a shortage o. physical therapists, occupational thera-
pists, speech language therapists, medical technologists, cytotech-
nologists. There are six physical therapy jobs for every one person.
Hospitals have had to close emergency rooms, intensive care beds.

Forty-eight percent of hospitals have difficult recruiting allied
health professions. Twenty-five percent have trouble retaining
those that we have.

The VA hospital, one in my district. in fact, reports a vacancy
rate of 26 percent for physical therapists and 19 percent for occupa-
tional therapists. We need an 87 percent increased in most of the
ailied health professions by the year 2900.

Given all those facts, can you explain tu me what we are doing
wrong when the ewire Federal Government puts forward $700,000
in 089 and $1.4 million for special projects for allied health care
professionals'?

What is it that you and I are doing wrong? I would just like to
have, starting with Mr. Selker and Mr. Snyder and Dr. Ewalt, all
of you give me some idea why it is.

When vce had a nurse shortage nationwide, State legislative
bodie:i, the U.S. Congress all kind of joined together. We have a
tendency, I think to have a larger crisis, but it is not perceived as a
crisis.

Dr. Selker?
Mr. SELKER. Thank you.
First of all, the very first thing that strikes me is there is, it

seems there is no way we could have a common understanding of
the problem and still arrive at those kinds of numbers in terms of
support. That obviously to be a major barrier.

I think a second reason for why we are confronted with this cir-
cumstance is because the allied health professions are by definition
a diverse, multidisciplinary group, it has historically been a group
that has been harder to understand. I think it was De Gaulle who
said about the French people and people with over 100 types of
cheese are impossible to govern.

In some ways this is the way it is with the allied health profes-
sions as well. Because we have such poor data on the allied health
professions and because the group is so diverse, it is also very diffi-
cult to create a common understanding of the problem as we were
able to do with the nursing shortage and with some of the other
shortages that confronted us.

In terms of addressing the problem, once again, the faculty short-
age appears to be a major contributor. In a lot of data you have
just referred to, taking physical therapy as one example, the physi-
cal therapy faculty work with small numbers of students, transmit-
ting to them the hands-on kinds of skills that they have to know to
give quality patient care.

There is no way that small group can be put in an amphitheater
with 600 to 800 students. So we can't just automatically turn up
the crank in terms of producing physical therapists.

r44' t)
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The need for additional faculty would allow us to expand enroll-
ments. That is only part of the picture. We have to make the aca-
demic environment more congenial to allied health professions as
well.

Allied health professionals are, relatively speaking, new corners
to major research universities and yet are expected to compete
with the more traditional disciplines and basic sciences in terms of
research accomplishments and major accomplishments to their
body of knowledge.

One of the things we are experiencing in our physical therapy
department, for example, we have a dozen physical therapists who
are winning at the National Science Foundation, which is unheard
of, who are winning at NIH.

But they don't have the trad:tional support structure that basic
science faculty have where there is a small cadre of pre- and post-
doctoral individuals, fellows who can support the research effort.
We have this one group of very capable academic researchers who
are at an extraordinarily risk for burn out.

Then we have another subpopulation of academic faculty who
need more work in terms of faculty development and training in
how to do research, how to contribute to the knowledge base within
the respective allied health disciplines, how to do health services
research within the respective allied health disciplines to deter-
mine if their disciplines are efficacious and are of high quality.

As I say, it is a complex problem. Probably the root of it is the
diversity of the allied health professions make it more difficult to
create a common understanding of the problem.

Mr. BRUCE. Dr. Snyder?
Mr. SNYDER. Thank you.
I would add one more piece. Virtually all allied health programs

rely on a close partnership with a health care facility.
The clinical education component is clinical. There are limited

spaces available to do that kind of education.
For the medical laboratory community we basically have two

problems that I would point to. There has been a declining number
of students who are choosing the medical laboratory area as a
career field for a variety of reasons.

Some of it has to do with our image problem. I frequently go to
high schools and talk to high school students saying there are ca-
reers in allied health.

"I am a medical technologist; do you know what I do?"
No idea. They think I ride in an ambulance or I work with com-

puters.
Clinical laboratory is not part of that. Even though many of'

them as I talk to them have an interest in the laboratories that
they are doing experiments in high school, and I say, "But, that is
my job in health care. You can be one, too."

So part of it is image problem and recruitment to the profession.
The second is a decrease in the number of programs of education-

al programs. They are shrinking more in the hospital-based educa-
tional programs. These are programs sponsored by hospitals the
senior year of a baccalaureate degree.
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Thess) have primarily been in rural settings. I am a product of a
medical technology program that was hospital based in a communi-
ty of 5,000, a good quality program.

I was happy to serve, happy to work in that community after-
ward. That program fortunately is one of the 400 and some that
exist today, but we have lost 200 to 300 of these kinds of programs.
That is what is drawing back on our shortages.

The answers we have talked about today. We have talked about
ways to deal with recruitment. We have talked about scholarships
and stipends and so forth.

Congressman Slattery's bill has worked to address that as well as
the other initiatives I have mentioned from ASCP. We have talked
about innovative ways of delivering education, long distance tech-
nology.

I was pleased to hear the nursing group was talking about beam-
ing courses out. Maybe we need to beam those conrses to those
rural hospitals from the academic health centers like the UFI at
Chicago.

We also need to talk about curricula that can accommodate stu-
dents who are today a nontraditional variety. It may mean doing
some evening classes instead of a straight 8 to 5 Monday through
Friday curriculum.

These are working parents sometimes, people that are willing to
shift careers. These are part of the answers to all this.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you.
Dr. Ewalt?
Ms. EWALT. Thank you.
The graduate programs of social work turn out about 4,000

health related graduates in health and mental health in a year. In
our school over the last 4 years we have more than doubled the
number of graduates. There is still a shortage.

I think the public does not recognize that there is a shortage
until the shortage affects them or their families. They think in
health in general, I think that the problems are going to happen to
somebody else until i happens to them.

Until it becomes a public issue, it is very hard for people to rec .
ognize the magnitude of the problem. Congress has these figures
available, but the people don't seem to understand until it becomes
a public issue.

In our State it is a public issue. It is in the paper at least weekly
about the social work shortage. So people can come to understand
when it does affect them and they don't have a social worker to see
to their relatives or themselves when they have either an acute or
long-term problem.

Mr. BRUCE. How do you bump that on the front pages or at least
into the papers of your Hawaiian papers?

What did you do to get that issue brought to the public?
Ms. EWALT. Two ways: One is the negative way. It became so se-

rious that there weren't enough social workers to go around. There
were a couple of court cases, and it was because overwork of the
social workers that were on the job and couldn't cover 80 cases or
40 cases or whatever it was in their line of work.

There was trouble, as so often it takes some disaster to bring it
to our attention.

() r4, I: 3



224

The more positive side is the increase in legislators paying atten-
tion to that and the public is, too. You double the program and
offer the program in all four of our major islands and do it at night
as well as the day, people do appreciate that. That takes resources.

It takes, perhaps, trouble on the bad side and it also takes some
creative responsiveness. That does take some money.

May Dean Raymond also add to that?
Mr. BRUCE. I was going to ask the very question of Dean Ray-

mond, if he had anything to add to this question of how do we
bring to the attention of the public the shortage and mobilize the
various allied professions to do that so that Congress will respond
with additi, nal funding.

Mr. RAYMOND. I think one way is to call to the public's attention
the change of demographics and the impact this will have on the
various health professions. The Department of Labor estimated by
the year 2000 there will be a need for 700,000 geriatric workers.

Many of these rolls will involve the health professions. The serv-
ices they will be providing will be in the area of the health field.

In the field of social work the need for more medical social work-
ers is going to increase dramatically. There are also, there is also
going to be an increase of social workers in other areas besides just
medical care, of course.

I think the number of social workers involved in the health field
has not been recognized. As was pointed out earlier, approximately
two thirds of our graduates do good to work in the areas of health
and mental health field.

This is going to continue to grow. We must bring this to the pub-
lic's attention by calling attention to the changing demographics
and the roles our professions play and to the fact there are profes-
sions such as social work that make for a more efficacious health
system.

It has been demonstrated through research that the provision GI'
social services in a health setting does reduce costs. I think these
kinds of facts before the public will help draw attention to the con-
cerns we are addressing.

Mr. BRUCE. I thank the panel for your testimony and response to
the questions.

With no other business coming before this committee this after-
noon. we stand adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 3 p.m., the subcommittee adjorrned.]
[The following material was submitted for the record:]
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American Academy of Pediatrics

The American Academy of Pediatrics, 'Ale Ambulatory Pediatric

Association, and the Association of Medical School Pediatric

Department Chairmen submit this statement for the record of the

hearing held May 30, 1991, regarding Titles VII and VIII of the

Public Health Service Act, programs which provide financial support

critical to health professions training. Our organizations

represent office- and hospital-based practicing pediatricians,

full-time academic and clinical faculty responsible for the

training of pediatri..71.ans, and the leadership of medical school

pediatric departments.

Jur organizations are concerned about maintaining the necessary

supply of general pediatricians who have been trained to care for

the special needs of infants, children, and adolescents. The

Academy is working with the American Medical Students A68ociation

and the Student National Medical Association to demonstrate to

medical students the challenges and opportunities of pediatrics.

It is also examining other options for promoting pediatrics to

medical students.

The Primary Care Training Grant for General Internal Medicine and

General Pediatrics program is a small, but crucial, source of
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funding for the training of primary care pediatricians. To

eliminate this program could mean a reduction in the number of

pediatric residents. It would, however, affect the nature of Lhe

training in many institutions and remove some out-of-hospital

training sites now used.

BACKGROUND

Section 784 of the Health Professions Training Assistance Act of

1986 authorizes grants by the federal government administered

through the Bureau of Health Professions, HRSA, of the Public

Health Service for residency training in general internal medicine

or general pediatrics. This program was started in the

mid-seventies as the answer to a perceived need to increase the

supply of primary care physicians. This program was intended to

provide monies to improve the residency educational experience with

the anticipated outcome being an increase in physicians choosing to

practice primary care. It must be reiterated that this is

primarily an educational program, not one intended to provide

service to any specific population.

Primary care pedintric residency education is designed to produce

primary care physicians capable of providing primary health care

for infants, children and adolescents. Pediatricians are expected

to manage both ..cute and ch.:onic health problems, to care for

2
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children with emotional disturbances and disabling conditions, to

provlde counseling for problems that are psychosocial or behavioral

in nature, to be aware of cultural and community influences, to

utilize community resources, and to collaborate with other health

care givers. We now know that many complex pediatric problems

often can be best managed on an ambulatory or outpatient basis.

This means that the educational experience must be structured to

provide appropriate training. The training often uses a variety of

traditional and non-traditional sites and settings. These sites

include community hospitals and tertiary care institutions,

hospital-based ambulatury care clinics, community health centers,

and private practitioners offices.

Unfortunately, such primary care training is expensive. Current

payment sources, whether from direct payment by the patient or

through third-party reimbursement, cannot cover the costs of using

these non-traditional training sites. Inpatient, tertiary, and

procedure oriented care are more lucrative sources of revenue fot

hospitals and training institutions; hospital-based ambulatory care

and out-of-hospital sites, especially ones whose patients are

low-income or Medicaid-eligible, do not generate the same level of

income. However, the value of such training has been recognized --

most recently by the HHS Council on Graduate Medical Education in

its July, 1988, report. The grants from the Title VII program can

mean the difference between using inpatient and hospital-based

3
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training sites or those focused on providing primary health care.

While there have been few studies, it appears that a majority of

the residents invol.,ed in the primary care training programs have

gone on to practice primary care pediatrics or general internal

medicine, with about 50 percent of them serving in rural or

socioeconomically deprived urban areas. Such a record proves that

it is possible to train primary care physicians who will serve the

neediest populations.

For pediatrics overall, we do know that many (nearly thirty

percent) residents continue training through at least one year of a

subspecialty fellowship. Some of these individuals do not become

board certified in that subspecialty and go into general

pediatrics. Some subspecialties for pediatrics do not yet have a

certifying exam. Many of the subspecialties for pediatrics enhance

the ability to provide primary care -- i.e., adolescent medicine

and behavioral pediatrics. It is our belief, however, that only a

few residents completing a primary care training program continue

training by entering a subspe-Aalty fellowship.

CURRENT PROPOSALS

Our organizations advocate maintaining the existing program with

the additional authority to use monies from this program for
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predectoral grants to enhance medical stAents expos1:-e to general

pediatrics. Such clerkship.; are allowed in the famity medicine

broaram of Title VII and are an important source cf funding for

clerkships.

Funding for the program has fluctuated slightly ove. the past ten

years, hut, ii essence, it has beon decreasing. This has meant

oat s111: exrelleni programs are being approved but not funded.

A l , !tit r,,i,sl':i if funded urants inclAdes those iec-iving

Uur organi'eations are ery concerned abeut the lack of access to

health rare, hcth due to financiai and non-financil barriers. The

Acddemy's top priority is to address this need. The Ambulatory

Pediatiic Association is developing guidelines for curriculum for

programs to use in serving the underserved. We de not support

legislating redurremonts that each grantee must document that its

population base Comes from a particular demographic strata or

geographic area. Many of those programs currently provide care

for the underserved populations, but that is done to fulfill an

educational cbjective, not a service objective.

We also do not support H.R. 7231 which would amend this program to

require medical schools and hospitals receiving a general internal

medicine or general pediatrics grant to have, at a minlmum, a tie

to a medical school with a department or division of family

5
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medicine. Medical school curricula can be structured to give

adequate experience and exposure to primary care without requi-ing

a separate department or division of family medicine.

SUMMARY

In sumnary, the three organizations submitting this st lment make

the following recommendations:

The Primary Care Training Grants for (eneral Internal

Medicine and General Pediatrics should be reauthorized.

There should be additional anthority included to allow

for pre(c,:toral clerkships for medical students -o

provide an educational experience in goneral pocLatrics.

There sh,n1d not be specific requirements for providing

ser:ice to underserved populations, rural or urban.

There should not be a requirement that medical schools

receiving these grants have a department or division of

family medicine.

Over the span of this reauthorization we ask for the following

authorization levels: fiscal year 1992 -- $27 million; fiscal year

1993 -- $31 million; fiscal year 1994 - $36 million. The

predoctoral grants should be new moniceL., not decrease the existing

program.

Thank you for the opportunity to present our comments.

r )
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American Academy of Physician Assistants
950 North Washington Street, Alexandria, Virginia 22314

MR. CHAIRMAN, ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PHYSICIAN

ASSISTANTS AND THE 22,000 PHYSICIAN ASSISTN1TS (PAs) WE

REPRESENT, I WANT TO THANK YOU FOR THIS OPPORTUNITY TO EXPRESS

OUR VIEWS ON REAUTHORIZATICN OF THE TITLE VII PROGRAMS OF THE

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE.

FOR NEARLY 20 YEARS, THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT HAS HELPED TO

NURTURE AND FOSTER GRCMUN IN THE PA PROFESSICN. THE HEALTH AND

ENVIRONMENT SUBCOMMITTEE UNDER YOUR LEADERSHIP HAS BEEN AN

IMPORTANT PART OF THAT PROCESS.

IT IS IMPORTN1T FOR MEMBERS OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE TO UNDERSTAND

THAT THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT'S SUPPORTFOR PA EDUCATICN HAS HAD A

TANGIBLE AND LASTING IMPACT ON ACCESS TO AFFORDABLE HEALTH CARE

FOR MILLICNS OF AMERICANS HEALTH CARE THAT BY AND LhRGE WOULD

NOT HAVE BEEN AVAILABLE WERE IT NOT FOR PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS.

IT IS ALSO IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT PAs, MORE THAN ANY OTHER

HEALTH PROFESSION, HAVE MAINTAINED THEIR commninnTr TO SERVING

THE MEDICALLY UNDERSERVED. ALTHOUGH THERE HAVE: PEEN PERIODIC

DIPS IN THE NUMBERS OF PAs WORKING IN UNDERSERVED COMMUNITIES,

THE FACT REAINS THAT MORE PAs, AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE

PROFESSION, PRACTICE IN RURAL UNDERSERVED COMMUNITIES THAN IS

TRUE OF ANY OTHER HEALTH PROFESSIONAL GROUP.
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WHEN A DROP IN THE NUMBER OF PAs IN UNDERSERVED AREAS 11,S

OCCURRED, IT CAN OFTEN BE TRACED TO POLICY CHANGES ON THE PART

OF GOVERNMENT RATHER THAN A CHANGE IN THE EDUCATION OR

COMMITMENT OF PAs.

Fical EXAMPLE, IN THE EARLY 1980s, THE NAT.ONAL HEALTH SERVICE

CORPS (NHSC) STOPPED ACCEPTING APPLICATIONS FROM PHYSICIAN

ASSISTANTS AND DISCOgrINUED RECRUITMENT OF PAs INTO THE CORPS.

AS MIGHT BE EXPECTED, THIS LED TO A RATHER PRECIPITOUS DROP IN

THE NUMBER OF PAs IN THE NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE CORPS.

RECENTLY, THIS POLICY WAS DISCONTINUED THROUGH THE AVAILABILITY

OF NHSC CORPS SCHOLARSHIPS FOR PA STUDENTS AND A SERIOUS EFFORT

BY THE PURLIC HEALTH SERVICE TO RECRUIT PA STUDENTS INTO THE

CORPS. THE ENERGY & COMMERCE HEALTH SUBCOMMITTEE'S SUPPORT OF

THE MIDLEVEL PRACTITIONER SCHOLARSHIP SETASIDE INCLUDED IN THE

NHSC REVITALIZATICN ACT LAST YEAR WAS CONSISTENT '1ITH THE CHANGE

IN RECRUITMENT POLICY.

ALSO IMPORTANT TO THE SUCCESS OF THIS STRATEGY WAS THE 1988

DECISION BY THE PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE (PHS) TO BEGIN

COMMISSIONING PAs IN THE PHS. ONCE THAT OCCURRED, PA sruprrrs

BECAME ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE COSTEP OR COMISSIONED

OFFICER STUDENT EXTERN PROGRN1. THIS HAE PROVED TO BE A

VALUABLE RECRUITMENT TOOL FOR PA STUDENTS OVER THE PAST TWO

YEARS. MORE THAN 50 PA STUDENTS ARE PRESENTLY PARTICIPATING IN

THE SENIOR COSTEP PROGRAM AND WILL BE ENTERING THE PUBLIC HEALTH

SERVICE WHEN THEY GRADUATE.
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THESE PRCGRAMS HAVE BEEN SO SUCCESSFUL, MR. CHAIRMAN, THAT WE

ANTICIPATE THAT CLOSE TO 10% OF THE 1992 PA CLASS WILL BE

ENTERING THE PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE UPON GRADUATION.

IT HAS BEEN SAID THAT THERE ARE NO TRULY NEW IDEAS, ONLY

REPACKAGED OLD ONES. DESPITE MORE THAN 20 YEARS OF PROVIDING

COSTEFFECTIVE, HIGH QUALITY HEATH CARE, SOME HEALTH ANALYSTS

ARE ONLY NOW "DISCOVERING" THE PA PROFESSION. INDEED, IT HAS

BEEN SUGGESTED THAT THE PA PROFESSION IS EXPERIENCING A

RENAISSANCE.

BUT THE REDISCOVERY OF THE PA PROFESSION BY BOTH THE PRIVATE

SECTOR AND THE PUBLIC HEALTH COMUNITY HAS NOT COME WITHOUT

PROBLEMS. ACCORDING TO THE LATEST SURVEY OF PA PROGRAMS, THERE

ARE AN ESTIMATED 7 JOBS FOR EVERY STUDENT GRADUATING IN 1991.

THIS HAS SERIOUS IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PUBLIC HEALTH COMMUNITY IN

GENERAL, AN THE PA PROFESSION IN PARTICULAR.

THE ACADEMY AND THE PROFESSION HAVE STRUGGLED WITH THE

INCREASE IN DEMAND FOR PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS. QUITE FRANKLY, THE

PROFESSION WAS OVERWHELMED BY MARKET FORCES THAT SURFACED IN THE

PAST FEW YEARS.

I AM PLEASED TO REPORT, HOWEVER, THAT WE BELIEVE WE HAVE PURSUED

A STRATEGY THAT WILL BOTH HELP TO MEET THE MARMTPLACE DEMAND

FOR PAs AND ASSURE A CONTINUED SUPPLY OF PAs FOR UNDERSERVED

AREAS.
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cearm, TO THE SUCCESS OF OUR STRATEGY WAS INCREASING THE

APPLICANT POOL. EARLY IN THE PLANNING PROCESS, WE DECIDED THAT

WE DID NOT WANT TO SIMPLY TRY TO INCREASE CLASS SIZE WITHOUT

FIRST ASSURING THAT THERE WERE QUALIFIED APPLICANTS TO FILL

THESE NO4 sLars. THROUGH THE COMBINED PUBLIC EDUCATION EFFORTS

OF THE ACADEMY AND THE ASSOCIATION OF PA PROGRAMS, WE WERE ABLE

TO HAVE A POSITIVE EFFECT ON THE APPLICANT POOL. NORE

IMPORTANTLY, THROUGH AN INNOVATIVE PROGRAM CALLED PROJECT

ACCESS, WE HAVE INCREASED AWARENESS OF THE PA PROFESSION IN THE

MINORITY COMMUNITY.

PROJECT ACCESS WAS STARTED BY THE ACADEMY FOUR YEARS AGO IN AN

ATTEMPT TO INCREASE PUBLIC AWARENESS OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANT

CAREnR OPPORTUNITIES FOR MINORITIES. HELD IN CONJUNCTION WITH

THE AAPA'S ANNUAL MEETING, TEAMS OF PAs, PA STUDENTS AND FACULTY

VISIT PREDOMINANTLY MINORITY HIGH SCHCOLS AND JUNIOR COLLEGES IN

THE HOST CITY OF OUR ANNUAL MEETING.

ON MAY 28TH, OVER 100 PARTICIPANTS VISITED MORE THAN 20 SCHOOLS

IN SAN FRANCISCO AND THE SURROUNDING COMMUNITIES. THE PRCOECT

ACCESS TEAMS TOOK THE PA MESSAGE OF IMPROVED ACCESS TO QUALITY

HEALTH CARE TO OVER 1,000 YOUNG PEOPLE IN THE RAY AREA.

THIS PROJECT IS FUNDED ENTIRELY BY THE ACADEMY AND RELIES

HEAVILY ON THE TIME AND EFFORT OF TEAMS OF VOLUNTEERS. WE ARE

PROUD OF THE SUCCESS Or PROJECT ACCESS AND CHALLENGE OTHER

HEALTH PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS TO UNDERTAKE A SIMLIAR

PROGRAM.

413)
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THE SUCCESS OF THIS STRATEGY CAN BE SEEN IN THE MOST FICENT

STATISTICS WHICH SHCW THAT WM NOT ONLY INCREASED THE NUMBER OF

MINORITIES ENTERING THE PA PROFESSION, BUT WM HAVE ALSO ARRESTED

THE DECLINE IN THE NUMBER OF PAs IDENTIFYING RURAL OR

UNDERSERVED AREAS AS THEIR APLA OF PRACTICE. IN FACT, MR.

CHAIRMAN, IN 1991 WE SAW AN INCREASE IN THE NUMER OF RURAL PAs.

ACCORDING TO THE LATEST STATISTICS, OVER 15% OF PAs IDENTIFY

RURAL COMMUNITIES WITH POPULATIONS OF UNDER 10,000 AS THEIR SITE

OF PRACTICE. THIS IS UP FROM JUST UNDER 13% ONE YEAR AGO.

BUT WHILE THE PROFESSION IS TAKING A PRO-ACTIVE STANCE UN

ADDRESSING UNMET HEALTH CARE NEEDS, WE WILL NEED THE SUPPORT OF

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT IF OUR POLICIES ARE TO HME ANY LONG-

TERM SUCCESS.

CRITICAL TO OUR LONG TERM STRATEGY OF INCREASING THE NUMBER OF

PAs WORKING IN UNDERSERVED URBAN AND RURAL AREAS IS INCREASING

THE NUMBER OF PAs GRADUATING EACH YEAR. THIS CAN BE

ACCOMPLISHED THROUGH TWO MEANS - INCREASING THE NUMBER OF PA

PROGRAMS AND INCREASING CLASS SIZES AT EXISTING PA PROGRAMS.

SUCCESS AT IMPROVING THE APPLICANT POOL FOR FA PROGRAMS HAS IN

TURN ALLOWED PROGRAMS TO INCREASE CLASS SIZES. PRiLIMINARY DATA

INDICATE THAT THE 1991 ENTERING CLASS WAS 500 STUDENTS LARGER

THAN THE HISTORICAL ENTERING CLASS SIZE OF 1200 STUDENTS.

BUT WE HAVE JUST ABOUT WRUNG EVERY OUNCE OF EXTRA SPACE OUT OF

THE EXISTING NETWORK. TO MAKE ANY ADDITIONAL APPRECIABLE
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GRCWTH, WE MUST ADD NEW PA PROGRAMS. UNFORTUNATELY, THIS IS AN

EXPENSIVE UTDERTAKING. INTERESTINGLY LNOUGH, THERE ARE

UNIVERSITIES IN SEVEN STATES THAT ARE IN VARIOUS STAGES OF

PLANNING THE ESTABLISMOT OF PA PROGRAMS. IN ADDITION TO THOSE

INSTITUTIONS IN THE PLANNING PHASE, PA PROGRAMS AT DUQUESNE

UNIVERSITy AND THE CHICAGO COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE HAVE

RECENTLY BEGUN THE FORMAL ACCREDTTATICN PROCESS.

BOTH THE DUQUESNE AND CHICAGO PROGRAMS WILL BE ASSISTED BY

GRN1TS FROM THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT. WHILE SEVERAL OF THE

UNIVERSITIES PLANNING PA PROGRAMS ARE °OMITTED TO THE PROCESS

REGARDLESS OF THE AVAILABILITY OF FFEDERAL FUNDS, THE SPEED WITH

WHICH THEY MOVE THROUGH THE PROCESS WILL BE AFFECTED BY THE

AVAILABILITY OF FEDERAL FUNDS.

VERY LITTLE FEDERAL GRANT MONEY IS AVAILABLE FOR NEW STARTS

BECAUSE MUCH OF THE MONEY IS ALREADY COMMITItu TO EXISTING PA

PROGRAMS MONEY, BY THE WAY, WHICH IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE

CURRENT HIGH PERCDNTAGE OF PAs WORKING IN UNDERSERVED AYTAS.

TO SHIFT MONEY WITHIN THE EXISTING AUTHORIZATION/APPROPRIATIONS

LIMITS WOULD SIMPLY RESULT IN ROBBING PETER TO PAY PAUL. WHAT

VIE NEED, MR. CHAIRMAN, IS AN INCREASE IN THE AUTHORIZATION LEVEL

FOR PA EDUCATION GRANTS, AS WELL AS THE APPROPRIATIONS LEVEL.
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INDICATIONS FROM SOM APPROPRIATIONS COMMITTEE MEMBERS ARE THAT

THEY WOULD SUPPORT AN INCREASED APPROPRIATICN IF WE COULD RAISE

THE AUTHORIZATION CEILING. FIE MAKE THAT REQUEST TODAY.

WE ASK THAT THE AUTHORIZATION LEVEL FOR PA EDUCATION GRANTS BE

RAISED FROM THE CURRENT CEILING OF $5.4 MILLION TO $8.0 MILLION

IN FY 1992, $8.5 MILLION IN FY 1993 AND $9.0 MILLION IN FY 1994.

BASED UPON HISTORICAL SPENDING FIGURES, MR. CHAIRMAN, THIS DOES

NOT ACIUALLY REPRESENT AN INCREASE, BUT RATHER A RETURN TO THE

FUNDING LEVEL THAT EXISTED IN THE EARLY 1980s.

WE REQUEST THIS mom BECAUSE WE BELIEVE IT WILL PROVIDE

SUFFICIENT FUNDS TO SUPPORT THE CREATICN OF NEW PA PROGRAMS, AND

WILL CONTINUE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE SUPPORT TO EXISTING PA

PROGRAMS. IN THIS WAY, CURRENT GRANT RECIPIENTS CAN CONTINUE

THEIR MISSION OF PROVIDING WELL TRAINED PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS WHO

WILL PRACTICE IN UNDERSERVED URBAN AND RURAL AREAS.

WE ALSO REQUEST, MR. CHAIRMAN, THAT THE ALTIHORIZATION LANGUAGE

BE CHANGED SO THAT GRANT FUNDS CAN BE USED FOR FACULTY

DEVELOPMENT.

ONE OF THE MAJOR IMPEDIMENTS TO INCREASING THE NUMBER OF

GRADUATES IS HAVING APPROPRIATE FACULTY TO EDUCATE THESE FIJTURE

PAs. BY PERMITTING THE GRANT MONEY TO BE USED FOR FACULTY

DEVELOPMENT, AN ADEQUATE SUPPLY OF PA EDUCATORS FOR LOTH THE NEW

AND EXISTING PA PROGRAMS CAN BE ASSURED.

4



238

THE PA PROFESSION HAS A PROUD TRADITION OF PROVIDING HIGH

QUALITY COST-EFFECTIVE HEALTH CARE IN AREAS SHUNNED BY OTHER

HEALTH CAPE PROVIDERS. THE AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PHYSICIAN

ASSISTANTS AND THE ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANT PROGRAMS

REMAIN COMMITTED TO ADDRESSING SOCIETAL GOALS OF ACCESS TO

HEALTH CARE FOR ALL AMERICANS. WITH THE CONTINUED SUPPORT AND

ENCOURAGEMENT OF THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT, WE CAN CONTINUE TO MEET

THAT MISSION.

MR. CHAIRMAN, ATTACHED IS A BRIEF FACT SHEET WHICH COMPARES

FEDERAL SUPPORT FOR PA EDUCATION IN 1983 WITH FEDERAL SUPPORT

FOR PA EDUCATION IN 1991. AS YOU CAN SEE, PA PROGRAMS ARE DOING

MORE WITH LESS FEDERAL SUPPORT BUT WE ARE STRETCHED TO THE

LIMIT. WE TRUST WE CAN CONTINUE TO COUNT ON YOUR SUPPORT.
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FEDERAL SUPPORT FOR PA EDUCATION

Background;

In 1984, the average federal grant to a PA program was $131,000
and that grant represented 47% of the PA program's budget. It

is not an exaggeration to say that in 1984 PA programs were
heavily dependent upon federal support for their financial
existence. In 1990, the average federal grant to a PA program
was $128,000, a slight decline from 1984. The good news is that
in 1990, federal grants represented only 31% of the average PA
program's budget.

We believe it is even more i:.Leresting to noLe that a typical PA
program in 1984 had an average class size of 24 students.
Contrast that with today's average class size of 30 students.
The federal government is supporting more PA students in 1990 at
lower cost to the taxpayer than it was supporting in 1984.

We believe the time has come for a significant increase in
federal support for PA education.

Federal Support for PA Education - 1984 & 1990

1984 1990

Average Fed Grant $131,000 $128,000

Ave PA Prog Budget $277,000 $410,000

Average Class Size 24.5 29.8

CN 4 ,1
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AWkRICAN ASSQCLAT1ON FOR RESPIRATORY CARE
11030 Moles Lane, Dallas, TX 75229, 214/243-2272, Fax 214/484-2720

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Sub-committee:

The American Association for Respiratory Care (AARC), a 30,000-member
professional association of respiratory care practitioners, welcomes the
opportunity to submit written testimony on the hearing to amend Title VII of
the Public Health Service Act. The purpose of our testimony is to encourage
the sub-committee to support provisions for allied health education and
training initiatives.

Respiratory care is an allied health specialty functioning under medical
direction that participates in the assessment, treatment, management, control,
diagnostic evaluation, and care of patients with deficiencies and
abnormalities of the cardiopulmonary system.

The patients, for whom respiratory care practitioners render service, range
from the premature infant in a hospital intensive care unit to elderly
patients suffering from such chronic lung diseases as emphysema and asthma.
Respiratory care practitioners are also treating and caring for a growing
number of AIDS patients. At some point during their illness, the majority of
AIDS patients (80%) develop Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia (PCP), a serious
pulmonary infection, often treated with aerosolized pentamidine administered
by the respiratory care practitioner.

As medical te,;inology continues to advance, the length and quality of chronic
lung patients lives can also be enhanced through the application of pulmonary
rehabilitation. Respiratory care practitioners are specifically trained and
educated to provide a range of respiratory services including both outpatient
and home pulmonary rehabilitation.

However, as with our other allied health colleagues, the respiratory care
community is facing a serious shortage of qualified personnel, i.e. registered
respiratory therapists and certified respiratory therapy technicians.
According to the most recent American Hospital Association survey, hospitals
suffer from an 8.9% vacancy rate for respiratory care practitioners. The
Bureau of Labor Statistics predicts that by the year 2000, the demand for
respiratory care practitioners will increase by 34%. A 1990 Health and Human
Services report states the following: "As the number of elderly increases, the
demand for allied health practitioners in a variety of fields will rise
accordingly, and combined with greater longevity, will have a significant
impct on demand for practitioners in rehabilitation fields such as
occupational therapy, physical therapy, respiratory therapy, and audiology."

To help address these growing critical shortages, Congressman Terry Bruce has
taken to the forefront and introduced HR1466 which would provide the necessary
funding for allied health training and education. The AARC strongly commends
the support Congressman Bruce has shown for the allied health community. We

urge the sub-committee members to seriously review the provisions of HR1466.

Respiratory care plays a significant role in the rehabilitation of the elderly
and disabled. As the population continues to age, greater numbers of
respiratory care practitioners will be nTded to meet the health care
requirements of these pulmonary patients. Legislation such as HR1466 will
significantly improve the likelihood that this growing demand for quality
respiratory care services will be satisfied.

r 4
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STATEMENT OF THE

AMERICAN COLLEGE OF PREVENTIVE MEDICINE

The American College of Preventive Medicine is the national

medical specialty society of physicians whose primary interest and

expertise is preventive medicine and public health. Our members

work in public health agencies, in clinical medicine, in industry,

and in academia. Many are board-certified in the specialty of

preventive medicine. The College membership constitutes a major

national resource of expertise in disease prevention and health

promotion, areas vital to protecting and improving the nation's

health.

The American College of Preventive Medicine urges

reauthorization and modestly higher levels of authorized funding

tor those programs under Title VII of the Public Health Service Act

that train physicians and other professionals in preventive

medicine and public health.

TRAINING IN PREVENTIVE MEDICINE

Our nation's leaders in health have committed the country to

achieving specific objectives in health promotion and disease

prevention by the year 2000. However, we cannot do this without

a cadre ot well-trained professionals in our nation's health

agencies, community-based organizations, private and non-profit

institutions and industry. The institutions that produce these

leaders are suffering, and cannot meet the needs for the public

health workforce without more support.

2
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preventive Medicine is a medical specialty recognized by the

American Board of Medical Specialties. It encompasses general

preventive medicine, public health, occupational medicine, and

aerospace medicine. Physicians trained in preventive medicine are

the leaders in local and state efforts to preserve and promote good

health. Working with large population groups, as well as with

individual patients, they seek to understand the risks of disease,

disability and death and to reduce or eliminate these risks.

There is a well-documented national shortage of physicians

specializing in preventive medicine. Such a shortage was projected

in 1980 by the the Graduate Medical Education National Advisory

Committee (GMENAC). Since then, the HHS Council on Graduate

Medical Education (COGME) and the HHs Secretary's reports on the

status of U.S. health personnel have consistently reaffirmed this

shortage.

Many preventive medicine specialists receive their

postgraduate training in preventive medicine residency programs.

Nationally, there are 78 an7redited residency programs. In 1989-

90, a total of 513 physicians were being trained in these programs.

This means that each year an average of about 170 such specialists

complete their training.

This fiscal year, federal funds totalling $1.6 million were

appropriated to support postgraduate training in preventive

medicine. This sum has remained essentially unchnnged c:)r the last

five_years. In fiscal year 1991, these funds provided stipends for

53 residents in 11 programs. There are 67 other accredited
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resideicy training programs in the country that received no

funding. For every slot available in these programs, there have

been opproximately four qualified applicants.

Why do we need federal subsidies for this training?

Postdra.AMAIg education in preventive Modicine is unlike that for

any other medical specialty. Only the first year of training is

in hospital-based clinical medicine, which is funded in the same

way as any other first-year residency, through thild-party

reimbursement for services. However, the second year consists of

academic work leading to a masters degree in public health or an

equivalent degree. The third year is a practicum. The resident

may participate in a broad range of clinical, research, and

administrative activities, almost always in settings for which

these activities are non-reimbursable. After their residency

training, many of these physicians go on to practice in the public

sector, where levels of compensation are appreciably lower than

those available in other medical specialties.

Currently, residency programs scramble to put together funding

packages for their residents. As the state, local and private

funds used tor this purpose have grown more and more scarce, the

value of the meager federal funding in real dollars has decreased.

Accordingly, we urge a renewed commitment to training in

preventive medicine through reauthorization of grants for

preventive medicine residencies with an authorized appropriation

of $5 million for fiscal year 1991, an increase of $1 million over

this year's $4 million authorization. For fiscal years 1993 and

4
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1994 we propose authorized levels of $7 mi!lion and $10 nillion,

respectively. These are modest sums indeed tor such a crucial

investment in the future cf public health.

TRAINING IN PUBLIC 1lPu.Til

The training ot publinealth professionals is closely linked

to preventive medicine. The nation's 24 schools of public health

provide training for physician specialists in preventive medicine

as well as tor many other health professionals who comprise cur

public health workforce. Secretary Sullivan reported in March 1990

that, in addition to the shortage of physicians trained in pubiic

health and preventive medi,iine, there are shortages of

epidemiologists, biostati:iticians, environmental and occupational

health specialists, public health nutritionists, and public health

nurses. In spite of these facts, the limited but vital federal

support for public health training has been declining slowly since

the early 1980s. We join with the schoois of public health in

requesting increased appropriations tor three additional training

programs under Title VII of the Public Health Service Act. For

traineeships to support students that choose to enter careers in

short supply, we suggest authorization of appropriations of $10,

$15, and $20 million tor the next three fiscal years. We ask equal

amounts tor special projects tor curriculum development in areas

that address the federal health objectives for the year 2000. The

Health Careers Opportunity Program, which supports recruitment of

underrepresented minorities into the health field, merits

5
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authorized levels of funding of $40, $42, and $45 million for

fiscal years 1992 through 1994.

Our nation spends billions of dollars on acute health care.

Compared to this, our investment in prevention continues to lag.

The frightening increases in health care costa we have witnessed

are not a reason to cut back on programs and funds dedicated to

prevention. They are a reason to make a larger investment now.

Training the professionals who provide leadership in prevention is

a critical step in sustaining and strengthening the infrastructure

that, given the resources, can keep Americans healthier.

6
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STATEIUNT OF

THE AMERICAN DENTAL HYGIENISTS' ASSOCIATION

The American Dental Hygienists' Association ("ADHA")

appreciates this opportunity to present its views regarding

reauthorization of Title VII of the Public Health Servlce Act.

ADHA represents 30,000 members across the country dedicated to

assuring the highest level of preventive oral health care.

Originally formed to develop communication and mutual

cooperation among hygienists, ADHA today serves as an advocate

for dental hygienists at the federal, state and local levels.

Allied health professionals are playing an increasingly

critical role in our nation's health care delivery system.

Efforts to bring runaway health care costs under control will

inevitably include enhanced utilization of high-quality,

low-cost allied health services in substitution for more

expensive institutional care. Thus, federal support for

education in the allied health professions through Title VII is

a wise investment in the future of quality health care in this

country. Greater federal support in this area will help to

draw more and better qualified persons into these professions.

We strongly urge Congreto reject the Aankinistration's

proposal. contained in itz_EILL/92.jaidg.et recommendations, to

rep_aal_lbese programs,

Dental hygienists play a vital cost-effective role in the

delivery of oral health care services parallel to that of

registered nurses in the delivery of medical services. Dental

hygienists perform numerous preventive and therapeutic
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services. Success in preventive oral health care -- largely

due to the widespread use of fluorides has caused

significant changes in patterns of delivery of oral health

services. The decline in recent years of public demand for

more traditional oral health services has resulted in dentists

spending substantially less time performing restorative

services. Indeed, oral health services have become much more

prevention-oriented -- the traditional domain of dental hygiene.

While a great deal of progress has been made in improving

the oral health of most Americans, a great deal remains to be

done. For example, a 1987 survey conducted by the National

Institute of Dental Research found that senior citizens had a

63 percent incidence of tooth caries. The dental hygiene

profession is extremely interested in playing a greater role in

the delivery of preventive oral health services to underserved

populations such as the elderly, poor children, and the

handicapped.

In pursuit of this objective, an area of particular

interest to ADHA is the training of baccalaureate level dental

hygiene students for public health settings. Title VII does

not currently allow for advanced traineeships for these

Audents, yet we have found a critical need within dental

hygiene for additional support in this area. ADHA is currently

undertaking a major effort to recruit public health dental

-2-
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hygienists into a variety of federal, state, and local oral

health programs. Our research thus far indicates a strong need

for support of students interested in these types of careers.

Accordingly. APHA urges thisL_COMmittet_t.t_provide additiOnal

funding for advanad. training of allied health personnel and to

Qn_e.n_thii_pxasmaaL.112Jaaaalauxeute_ael_elntudents__intsinfatedIn

public health careers.

ADHA also joins the American Society of Allied Health

Professions in support of H.R. 1466, introduced by Congressman

Terry Bruce, which would amend Title VII to increase support

for allied health. This bill would set authorization levels of

$7 million for advanced-level traineeships and $7 million for

allied health grants and contracts for FY 1992. In addition,

the legislation would enhance the visibility of allied health

issues within the federal government through creation of a new

Division of Allied Health within the Bureau of Health

Professions and a corresponding advisory Commission on Allied

Health.

The dental hyyiene community stands ready to assist in

efforts to enhance access to oral health services. Adequate

funding of the Title VII education support programs is critical

to these efforts.

We thank you again for this opportunity to present our

views.

8522h

-3-
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STATEMENT OF THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF BIOANALYSTS

The American Association of Bioanalysts (AAB), an
organization representing the directors, owners, managers,
and supervisors of independent community clinical
laboratories across the United States, appreciates this
opportunity to comment on legislative proposals related to
reauthorization of Title VII of the Public Health Service
Act.

Our testimony is directed toward the substantial
shortage of clinical 'aboratory technologists. This shortage
is nationwide but it is most acute in rural and inner-city
areas. Community-based clinical laboratories, hospitals, and
rhysicians' offices are having tremendous difficulty attract-
ing qualified laboratory technologists.

This problem is likely to be further exacerbated by
the new personnel rules which have been proposed to implement
the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA
'88). These rules require virtually every hospital and most
physician offices to employ technologists who either hold a
four-year degree in laboratory technology or can demonstrate
that they have successfully passed the HHS Proficiency Exam.

AAB believes this serious problem should be addressed
by incorporating the Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel
Shol-tage Act, H.R. 2405 into this year's reauthorization of
Title VII. H.R. 2405 was introduced by Representative Jim
Slattery (D-Ks) and 42 other Members of the House on May 20.
This bill is designed to reduce both the immediate and long-
term shortage of laboratory technologists by:

1) Authorizing the Secretary of HHS to (a) establish a
loan forgiveness program for laboratory technologists
who agree to serve in rural and other underserved
areas and (b) provide financial assistance to
educational programs designed to increase the number
of laboratory personnel serving in these areas;

2) Requiring the Secretary to administer a proficiency
examination on an annual basis to provide an alter-
native entry route for individuals who do not have a
baccalaureate degree in laboratory services; and

3) Establishing a procedure for shifting the creden-
tialling of laboratory technologists to qualified
private professional organizations.

We are particularly pleased that this measure
includes reauthorization of an HHS proficiency exam. The HHS
Exam allows military veterans, junior college graduates, and
other individuals with significant work experience or educe-
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tional training to qualify as laboratory technologists. For
xample, the military trains hundreds of technologists a
year. Without the HHS Exam, the skills acquired by these
soldiers, sailors, and airmen are not recognized in the
civilian workforce.

The proficiency exam section of H.R. 2405 is
virtually identical to a provision which the Energy and
Commerce Committee adopted during the 1988 reauthorization of
Title VII. This section is also supported by a wide variety
of other organizations including:

American Hospital Association
American Medical Technologists
American Society for Medical Technology
House Rural Health Care Coalition
International Society for Clinical Laboratory
Technology

National Vietnam Veterans Coalition
Fleet Reserve Association
Air Force Association
Non-Commissioned Officers Association
Naval Reserve Association

and the following 19 state hospital associations:

Arkansas Hospital Association
Colorado Hospital Association
Association of Delaware Hospitals
Iowa Hospital Association
Illinois Hospital Association
Indiana Hospital Association
Kansas Hospital Association
Louisiana Hospital Association
Massachusetts Hospital Association
Minnesota Hospital Association
Missouri Hospital Association
Montana Hospital Association
Nebraska Hospital Association
Nevada Hospital Association
North Carolina Hospital Association
Oregon Hospital Association
South Dakota Hospital Association
Texas Hospital Association
Washington State Hospital Association.

B. Shortage of Laboratory Technologists

The shortage of qualified laboratory technologists is
straining community-based clinical laboratories and hospitals

- 3 -
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across the country. The shortage is well-documented. Even
the American Society for Clinical Pathology (ASCP), which
claimed that there was an adequate supply of medical tech-
nologists in 1988, now acknowledges an "alarming" shortage of
these personnel. ASCP completed an extensive survey of this
problem in 1990 and reported that vacant positions of staff
medical technologists had doubled since 1988. According to
the ASCP study, 71% of all laboratory managers surveyed
reported having trouble filling medical technologist
openings. A similar study by the American Society for
Medical Technology (ASMT) in 1989 found clear evidence of the
"development of a significant workforce crisis within the
clinical laboratory sciences." Over 41% of laboratory
managers surveyed by ASCP indicated that it took greater than
eight weeks to fill vacancies, and 25% of the laboratories
reported being understaffed.

The current shortage is likely to be communded
manyfold when CLIA '88 is implemented. The federal govern-
ment, state agencies, and private accrediting bodies are
expected to hire a substantial number of laboratory
technologists to implement the enforcement and accreditation
sections of CLIA '66. More importantly, the May 20, 1990
proposed rule requires for the first time that individuals
working in hospitals and physician offices must have at least
a baccalaureate degree or have passed the HHS Examination in
order to qualify as a technologist.

C. Alternative Solutions

Some have suggested that the personnel shortage
should be dealt with by "grandfathering" all existing
employeee. This approach is irresponsible and inconsistent
with the Committee's efforts to improve the quality of
laboratory services. Grandfathering would permit any
secretary, technician, or technologist who has ever performed
a laboratory test to continue to do so regardless of their
training, experience or competency.

In fact, this approach may even diminish the current
standard for the most regulated sector of laboratory testing
-- independent laboratories. These laboratce.ies currently
must hire individuals who have passed the HHS Exam or have a
four-year degree. If all employees currently performing
tests were grandfathered, independent laboratories will be
able to hire anyone regardless of experience or training as
long as that person has conducted laboratory tests in either
a hospital or a physician's office.

- 4 -
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Others have suggested that the best way to deal with
the shortage of laboratory personnel is to provide funding
for schools which train medical technologists. However, to
be effe.ftive federal funding must be targeted to ncouraging
etudents to become laboratory technologists and providing
incentives for these students to prectice in rural or under-
served areas. Medical technology programs are finding it
extremely difficult to attract students. For example,
between 1982 and 1988, enrollment in ::Our-year baccalaureate
degree programs declined 35%. Low wages, lack of oppor-
tunities for advancement, and fear Gt. the AIDS epidemic are
believed to contribute to the decline in the number of aew
students. The primary focus of federal funds should be
placed on attracting students.

Moreover, even if these programs were adequately
funded and were able to attract and retain additional
laboratory personnel, this approach does not provide any
immediate relipf. At best, it will take four to five years
before the graduates of these programs enter the workforce.

D. The HHS Proficiency Examination

AAB advocates the development and administration of a
revised and updated HHS Proficiency Exam. This exam would be
administered by the Department until the shortage of labora-
tory pereonnel abates.

There are thousands of individuals who are currently
working in hospital laboratories and physicians offices who
have significant experience and training in laboratory
sciences. In the past, they could take the HHS Exam to
demonstrate their competency. If they passed, they would be
qualified to hold laboratory technologist positions in
independent laboratories. However, since the exam is no
longer given, there is no way for these individuals to enter
the profession regardless of their experience and ability.

The Department administered the NHS Exam seven times
between 1974 and 1987 to 65,000 individuals. Approximately
46% passed. In order to sit for the exam, applicants had to
meet certain minimum experience and/or educational qualifica-
tions. In general, an applicant was required to have a
combined total of four years' experience or training in the
clinical laboratory field after graduating from high school.

The HHS Proficiency Exam was developed by the
Professional Examination Service (PES) with the input and
cooperation of all of the professional organizations involved
in clinical laboratory testing. PES is one of the three

- 5 -
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leading testing firma in the country and has developed
several state examinations. The exam developed by PES was
criterlon-referenced, and an extensive validation study was
performed. In fact, this is one of the few examinations in
the credentialling field on which a predictive validity study
has been performed. The predictive validity coefficients
obtained through this study were high compared with most ouch
coefficients obtained on similar examinations.

Based on the belief in Congress that there was an
adequate supply of laboratory technologists, the authority to
conduct additional exams was repealed in 1988. At the time,
some of the professional groups argued that they could supply
an adequate number of four-year graduates to meet future
health care needs. It was also argued that anyone who wanted
to taY the test had an opportunity to do so between 1974 and
1988. sJither argument is valid today. The four-year
progrItma have simply not been able to attract enough atudents
to meet the demand far laboratory personnel, and there are
thousands of individuals working in hospitals or physicians'
offices who did not take the HHS Exam when it was given
because at the time it was not a requirement to retain their
jobs. In fact, some of the organizations which felt the exam
was no longer necessary in 1988 are now supporting reauthori-
zation.

When the authority for the exam was deleted in 1988,
the House and Senate Conferees noted that:

. there may develop a shortage of such
personnel in the future. If this occurs, the
conferees anticipate that consideration could
be given to the appropriateness of authoriz-
ing a new examination for such personnel.
House Conference Report No. 100-661; May 31,
1988.

Later that same year, the House Energy and Commerce
Committee agreed to reinstate the exam as part of the 1998
reauthorization of the Health Professions Act.
Unfortunately, this provision did not survive in conference.

It is essential that a new examination be developed
in cooperation with all the relevant privece professional
certifying agencies. There are four prof.essional organiza-
tions which certify laboratory technologists: the Inter-
national Society for Clinical Laboratory Technology (ISCLT),
the National Certifying Agency for Medical Laboratory
Personnll (ASMT's certifying agency), the American Medical
Technologists (ANT), and the American Society of Clinical
Pathology (ASCP). Each of these organizations has substan-
tial expertise in the development of testing procedures for
laboratory personnel and each uses a written test as a key
element of their own certification process. We have little
doubt that these groups working with HHS can develop a high-
quality examination.

R. Concllsion

We urge the Committee to incorporate H.R. 2405 into
the 1991 reauthorization of the Health Professions Act. This

bill provides a comprehensive response to the short- and
long-range shortage of laboratory personnel, it is consistent
with previous Committee action, and it will help avert a
crisis when the CLIA '88 regulatione are finalized.

45-904 0 - 91 - 9
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Statement of the
American Hospital Association

and the American Organization o. Nurse Executives
for the revord of the

Subcommittee on Health and the Environment
ut the

Committee on Energy and Commerce
on

The Reauthorization of Title VII and VIII of the
Public Health Service Act

June 13, 1991

The Amerinan Hospital Association (AHA), un behalf of its neai-ly 5,00 meober
institutions, and the American Organization of Nurse Executives
representing ovet 'S,300 nurse executives and nuise managers from health cate
Institution!: across the United States, welcomes thin opportunity to provide A
stattaent for the record of the Subcommittee on Health and the FnvIronment of
the House of Representatives' Committee on Energy and Commerce regarding the
reauthorization of Titles VT1 and VIII of the Pubihe Health Service Act. As
the single largest sector of the health tare system employing health
ptofessionals hospitals are deeply committrd to the development ot public nd
private programs that will assure the Atailability of the number and typi-; of
health cars professionals needed to Assure adequate access to health care
services fer everyone.

Hospitals today face serious shortages ot htalth care personnel in the allied
health protessions and nursing. Despite their best efforts to recruit
qualified individuals and to retain those prctosaionals they now have, there
remain critical disparitiew between the demand and the supply of professionaln
needed to provfde for the gfe.aing numbers of elderly. disablud and
chronically lll. In the past. recognizing the danger to the public health of
personnel shortages, and the inability of the wicket foe hcalth manpower t:o

operate efficiently, the federal goverhment nal played a significant role in
supporting individuals and programs to Assure an adequate supply of qualified
personnel ihe AHA supports the reauthorization and adequate funding of
Titles VII and VIII of the Public ileal*,:h service Act. We believe the federal
goverment must continue to play a strong role in the support oi training
allied health and nursing personnel.

,
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The AHA has spent the last year evaluating the many problems currently
plaguing our health care system. Our efforts at this point take the form of a
proposal called National Health Care Strategy: A Starting Point for Debate
which we hope will stimulate discussion about national health care reform.

In order to acliieve reform of health care delivery and financing, AHA believes
we need to develop a more coherent and comprehensive approach to meeting
health manpower needs. Public policy decisions at the national, state, and
local levels and local program decisions should all work toward the central
goals of adequate supply, efficient use, and appropriate geographic
distribution of qualified health care professionals. Actions designed to deal
with these issues must be based on sound assessments of manpower needs and
should address both short- and long-term goals.

Our strategy contains a series of recommendations designed to achieve these
goals by providing for:

regular and comprehensive national assessments of future health manpower
needs;

incentives to attract qualified students tn the health professions;

the stabilization of existing training programs, promotion of new programs
where needed, and reorientation of training programs to future needs;

greater career mobility within health care professions;

To the elimination of barriers (particularly regulatory barriers) to the
efficient use of health care professionals; and

incentives to attract and retain health care professionals in poor,
remote, or underserved areas.

A copy of our national health reform strategy is appended to this testimony
for the Committee's review. In this statement, we would like to discuss
several issues related to Title VII and Title VIII, and speak to specific
allied health and nursing shortage problems faced hy hospitals.

Title VII
Allied Health Professionals

The Need tor Innovative Approaches to Increasing Allied Health Manpower

In the past decade, the demand for qualified health care personnel has
increased substantially, surpassing the capacity of existing training programs
for several occupational categories. The 1989 AHA Survey of Human Resources
showed high vacancy rates for physical therapists (16.4 percent), occupational
therapists (13.6 percent), speech pathologists (9.9 percent), and respiratory
therapists (8.9 percent). Persistent high vacancy rates exist for
occupational therapy assistants, physical therapy assistants, certified
registered nurse anesthetists and clinical perfusionists.
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These shortages are likely to continue through the next decade. Tho Bureau of

Labor Statistics predicts significant continued growth in the demand for
health professionals by the year 2000. Even using moderate assumptions of
economic growth during the period, the BLS predicts increases by 50 to 60
percent in the demand for occupational and physical therapists. Despite

increasing student interest in application for admission to PT programs, the
present number of programs limits the ability of the educational system to
meet 0.4) growth in demand for physical therapists.

At the same time, the Committee on Allied Health Education and Accreditation,
which accredits educational programs in 26 allied health categories, shows a
decline in programs, enrolled students, and graduates since 1984 in several
categories. To cite only two examples, the number of Medical Technology
programs dropped from 615 to 436, and the number of radiography programs from

760 to 666. The 1988 study of the role of allied health personnel in health
care delivery by the Institute of Medicine (I0M) similarly found that many
allied health fields face substantial loss of applicants and closure of
training programs, which has caused significant supply problems. The IOM

cited demographic and market factors as contributing causes.

The 1990 Department of Health and Human Services 5eventh,Report to the
President and Congress on the Statos of Health Personnel in the United States,
reflecting on the growing shortages in critical professional categories,
identified some of the problems that need to be addressed to resolve our
manpower problems, including "reduotions in program enrollments, closures of
training programs, underrepresentation of minorities, and shortage,. in faculty

and trained researchers." In addition to enrollment declines and program
closures, training programs face a high student attrition rate. The 1988

CAHEA survey showed dropout rates in programs for respiratory therapy, medical
lahoratory technology, and surgical technology ranging from one-fifth to
one-third of enrolled students.

Solving !he problems of health manpower shortages will require more than
subsidizing students and programs. Federal funding for allied professions
should be used to stimulate innovative approaches to the resolution of the
many problems behind the manpower shortages.

For example, to increase the number of individuals entering the licalth
prcfesions, federal funds could be used to develop programs to recruit
individuals for professional training, perhaps through career exploration or

career awareness programs to raise the level of awareness of the opportunities
in the health professions among students emerging from high schools. In

addition, given the expected demographic decline in the number of
"traditional" students, funds could be targeted to "non-traditional" students
.- older individuals returning to school or reentering the job market, or
individuals already in the workfurce who want to change careers, or minorities
and disadvantaged groups like the disabled now lacking in schooling

opportunitites. In addition, to combat the student attrition problem, funds
could support student retention programs, e.g., support for transportation or

child care. New methods of competency assessment and innovative articulation
programs could be supported to increase the recognition of experience and past
educational accomplishments in nursing and the allied health professions.
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To enhance the efficiency of health manpower utilization, federal programs
could support interdisciplinary training programs to maximize training
resources, combining a core science curriculum with multi-task training for
multicompetent personnel. This would have particular impact on rural areas,
where nurses and other allied health professionals in hospitals are frequently
required to perform several functions because of personnel shortages.

To overcome maldistribution of personnel, federal support for students could
be combined with special inducements to serve in rural areas and support for
training programs could be used to stimulate the development of clinical
training programs for students as well as workers in rural areas who may wish
to enhance their training or articulate to higher levels of performance.

In reauthorizing Title VII, we urge you to consider flexible and innovative
funding to stimulate new approaches to the resolution of personnel shortages.

The Allied Health Professionals Promotion Act of 1991

AHA generally supports H.R.1466, the Allied Health Professionals Promotion Act
of 1991 introduced by Representative Terry Bruce. H.R.1466 targets federal
support for allied health to specialties or regions of the country where
personnel shortages are most acute, with special attcation to those fields
which play a significant role in the care and rehabilitation of the elderly
and disabled. H.R.1466 s011 help expand existing allied health education
programs, create new programs, and address the shortage of qualified faculty.
In particular, the legislation would provide for grants and contracts with
schools of allied health to assist in the improvement and expansion of
educational programs, faculty resources, and to assist in the recruitment of
individuals into allied health professions. It also provides grants for
schools of allied health for entry level student and advanced training
traineeships. &HA urges the committee to consider the provisions of H.R.1466
in its Title VII reauthorization efforts.

National Advisory Council on Allied Health

H.R. 1466 would create a National Advisory Council on Allied Health to advise
both the Health Resources and Services Administration and the Congress with
respect to the supply and distribution of allied health personnel in the U.S.
We heartily endorse the creation of such a commission to provide a regular and
comprehensive assessment of health manpower needs, to support the developmenr
of national and state level strategies, and to advise on national manpower
training policies and federal funding priorities for educational program and
student support. Our natioual reform strategy calls for the appointment of
just such a national public/private commission tor a comprehensive assessment
of health manpower needs.

However, we take strong exception to the proposed composition of the council
in Sec. 798A(b)(5) and (6). The proposed breakdown is heavily weighted in
favor of the professions themselves, with far too little representation hy
facilities and training programs. Eight of the proposed members would be
members of the professions; five others would represent schools, facilities,
insurers, and professional organizations representing the professions. The

major employers of allied health professionals would likely be alloted only
one seat on the council.
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We agree that all these types of entities should be represented, and we
recognize the need to keep the council to a manageable size. We recommend
therefore that Sec. 798A(b)(5) be revised to limit to 5 the number
representing the professions, including national organizations representing
the professions, and that Sec. 798(b)(6) be revised to expand to 8 the number
representing institutions, providers, schools, and insurers, of which at least
three should be health care facilities and providers of health care.

The Rural Clinical Laboratory Personnel Shortage Act

The current shortage of certified technologists and techniciana and tha
continuing decline in the supply of trained technologists are well-katown and
documented. The number of baccalaureate graduates of medical technology
programs declined over 35 percent between 1982 and 1989. During that same
period, the number of accredited training programs declined 32 percent, from
639 in 1982 to 436 in 1988. At the same time, there has been growth in the
demand for qualified technologists, leading to shortages reported by
hospitals. Both the American Society for Medical Technology and the American
Society of Clinical Pathologists report high levels of unfilled poseeions in
hospital laboratories. This shortage is most acute in rural areas.

The enactment of the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA
88), which created a new federal system of laboratory licensure that will
apply to all laboratory tescing sites, is expected to exacerbate the current
shortage of laboratory technologiets. The Department of Health and Human
Services (HHS) proposed standards for licensure include personnel standards
for the supervision and performance of laboratory tests which would exacerbate
the already serious shortage of clinical laboratory technologists. The rulo
would set schooling requirements that would exclude many practicing
technologests, worsening the supply problems, and at the same time woul0
increase demand for technologists by requiring that every laboratory have a
technologist working as the general supervisor on all shifts when testing is
being performed. Tri addition, once CLIA is ena,7.ted the5e standards will

extend to all sites where testing is performed, including physician offices,
health clinics, etc., causing an immediate short-term increase in the demand
for qualified teehnologists. This wiel be a particular hardship for small and
rural hospitals where the shortages are already severe.

In the past, HeS was authorized to administer a competency-based examination
to recognize the competency of practicing laboratory technologists. This
alternative pathway to certification no longer exists, however, and the
shortages continue to grow.

In recognition of the dimensions of the current shortage of lsboratory
personnel. And the likely exaceebation of ':hat ehortage, esocially for rural
hospitals, by the adoption in final form of HHS's proposed standards, Rep Jim
Slattery (r v.S), supported by 44 co-sponsors, introduced R.R.2405, the Rural
Clinical L.- .ratory Personnel Shortage Act, on May 20, 1991.

The legislation offers a two-staged approach to addrees the shortage and
specific problems engendered by dLIA 'Efl. In the short term, to help
alleviate the immediate problems for rural hospitals in finding certified
personnel, it would require the Secretary eo develop, for a limited offering.



259

-6-

a new competency-based proficiency examination to recognize individuals
currently practicing in laboratories at the technologist level. The

competency examination would be To address the shortages in the long-term, the
bill would support individuals entering technology programs and would allow
them to repay their subsidies by serving in rural laboratory settings, and
would stimulate innovative educational programs to bring clinical training to
rural areas.

AHA endorses H.R.24C5 and strongly urges the committee to include its
provisions in its Title VII reauthorization efforts.

Grants for Health Services Administration Programs and Traineeships

Secs. 791 and 79IA of the Public Health Service Act authorize funding for
grants to accredited health services administration programs and health
administration traineeships. These provisions are scheduled to expire on
September 30, 1991.

Effective health services administrat.on is essential to the provision of high
quality, cost-effective health care services. But the responsibilities of
health services administrators go beyond the management of their
institutions. As we strive to control health care costs, and ultimately move
te natienal health .:are reform, administrators will be responsible for
managing snd implementing organizational and social change on a large scale,
while still ensuring that necessary services are efficiently provided.

Recognizing the importance of effective health services managers, the U.S.
Department of Labor has designated administration as the health career with
the largest unmet neen of the decade. Key sectors of the health care system
continue to report shortages of administrators, including rural health care
facilities, community health centers, and managed care programs.

W. believe it would be a mistake to allow the authorizations for grants for
health serviees administration to expire. We urge the Committee to continue
to support grants for administration by reauthorizing Secs. 791 and 791A at
current levels.

Title VIII
The Nurse Education Acc

The Nursing Shortage and its Impact on Hospitals

There are now more than 2 million registered nurses (RNs) in the United
States, and a full SO percent are employed as nurses. The supply of nurses

has increased by more than 45 percent since 1977, when 1.4 million individuals
held licenses as RNs. Despite the increased supply, and the high labor force
participation of RNs, a major shortage of nurses developed during the late
1980s and continues today.

The most recent statistics regarding the scope of the nation's nursing
shortage come trom the American Hospital Association's 1989 Hospital Nursing
Personnel Survey. According to this survey, the average hospital vacancy rate

tor nurses is 12.7 percent, up from previous years. Furthermore,

approximately 81 percent of hospit Is reported shortages of RNs.
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Many factors have contributed to the nursing shortage, such as: a progressive
increase in the number of chronically ill and frail elderly patients in need
of complex nursing services, increased acuity levels of hospitalized patients,
expansion in health care delivery settings which have resulted in an increased
demand for nursing services in diversified areas, increased sophistication of
medical technologies, and more complex treatment regimens requiring more
nursing care.

While a greater demand for nursing services has resulted in more hospitals
adding more full-time budgeted RN positions (overall mean percent increase for
1989 was 27 percent according to AHA's 1989 Report of the Hospital Nursing
Personnel Survey), the advent of diagnosis-related groups (DRGs) and managed
care have forced hospitals to look to more efficient uses of nursing staff.
Because of the gretter versatility of RNs, many hospitals have eliminated some
nonprofessional positions and increased the proportion of RNs on their staff,
increasing the demand for RNs.

The shortage of professional nurses coupled with cost containment efforts has
resulted in a need for more efficient and effective models of health care
delivery. Nurse managers and nurse executives in health care institutions are
primarily responsible for effective and efficient delivery of patient care.
Nurses must now manage patient care utilizing a limited number of nursing and
non-nursing personnel. Because of this, skilled nurse managers have become
essential to the effective delivery of health care.

Health care institutions and nurses have responded in a variety of ways to
help combat the nursing shortage. The implementation of specific strategies
to alleviate the nursing shortage reflects the proective and collaborative
efforts of AONE and AHA to address this problem. AONE recognizes that a
shortage of RNs may adversely ai:fect the quality of health care delivered to

the American public. With this in mind, AONE has made nurse recruitment and
retention a high organizational priority.

Initiatives undertaitn by health care institutions and nursing organizations
to combat the nursing shortage tnvolve several major strategies: adjustment
ktrategiga, which are immediate operational measures such as closing beds,
designed to ensure the continuation of appropriate patient care; retention

strategies, which focus on efforts to maintain employment of current nursing
staff, and recreilPent strategies formulated to attract nurses to employment

in the hospital setting.

Many hospitals have expanded benefit packages and have found them to be among
the most effective nursing recruitment and retention strategies. These

include: offering child care; health benefits (medical insurance, sick leave,
dental insurance); financial programs (pension plans, tax annuity and savings
programs); life-style amenities (housing, on-site dependent care); and
offering "cafeteria" plans (where employees can direct the spending of at
least a portion of the monies allocated for benefits).

Creating workplace incentives is another strategy used by a majority of
hospitals and nursing administrators to recruit and retain nurses. Such

programs offer inducements to motivate nurses to continue employment with one
institution. Financial incentives, professional enhancement, flexible
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scheduling, and stress reduction are a few of the different aspects that

influence nurse job satisfaction.

Utilization of career ladders, self-governance, performance-based compensation
programs, and enhancing nursing autonomy are also strategies that have proven

effective in the workplace. Qualified nurse executives And nurse managers

play a significant role in initiating and developing incentive programs such

as these for nursing staff.

In addition, according to the AHA 1989 Nursing Personnel Survey, a majority of
hospitals utilize an educational strategy as part of their recruitment and

retention efforts. Two of the most prevalent are tuition assistance to
licensed practical nurses (LPNs) enrolled in RN educational programs, and
tuition assistance to nurse's aides enrolled in LPN or RN programs. More than

80 percent of all hospitals now offer both tuition reimbursement to full-time
RNs who wish to broaden their educational opportunities. Overall,

approximately 66 percent of hospitals offer tuition reimbursement to part-time

nurses.

Despite these efforts, many of which have succeeded in staff retention, the
threat of continued shortages of registered nurses continues. Although

enrollments in nursing programs have increased for the first time in several
years, today's nursing shortage causes continued concern that the supply of
nurses will not keep pace with the demand. The U.S. Department of Health and

Human Services, in its Seventh Report to the l'kC,_9_thfslik_on the

Status oi Health Care_fersonnel, projects serious shortages of nurses by the
year 2000, even in Ugh; of major recruitment efforts by health care

institutions.

Reauthorization of the Arse Education Act

AONE and AHA believe that the responsibility for RN recruitment and retention
strategies extends beyond individual hospitals and the health care industry.
The federal government can and must assume an active role as well. Federal

funding support for nursing education, including student support, fell from
$150 million in 1973 to $59 million in fiscal year 1991. AONE believes that

Congress must reassert its commitment to fund nursing education. Without such

support, our nation cannot be assured that a supply of nurses will be there

when needed.

AONE and AHA believe that the 1991 reauthorization of the Nurse Education Act
provides an excellent opportunity to address some of the faz:tors influencing
the nursing shortage and to provide incentives to individuals to enter the
profession and for nurses to remain in the profession. Accordingly, AONE and

AHA recommend the following provisions for inclusion in the reauthorization of

Title VIII, the Nurse Education Act:

Increased funding for undergraduate education through the provision of
scholarships, stipends, and other forms of stud,nt support. Funding for

undergraduate education is e3sential in order to attract individuals into

the nursing profession.
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Continued commitment to increased funding for advanced nursing education.
Without sufficient numbers of nurses prepared as faculty, nursing
education programs will be limited in the number of students that can be
accepted.

Increased funding for and continued provision for the incorporation of
demonstrations of innovative practice models, career ladders, and
innovative salary and benefit structures in acute and long-term care
settings for the purpose of improving retention of nurses in the workplace.

Inclusion of a provision for funding of continuing and advanced education
for nurEe managers. Nurse managers play a key role in assuring high
quality health care services to the American public. These managers are
responsible for directing both professional and nonprofessional personnel
involved in health care delivery for groups of patients in health care
institutions. Given recent changes in health care delivery, and the
shortage of nurses, good nursing management decisions can promote
cost-effective utilization of scarce nursing resources. Accordingly, the
nurse manager role is critical to the delivery of effective and efficient
care delivery.

Continued support and increased funding for Profeslional Nurse
Traineeships. A vital part of the Nurse Education Act, traineeships
provide financial support for nursing students training in clinical
specialcies at the master's and doctoral levels, These nurses are
prepared not only to provide expert bedside care, but also to fill faculty
positions.

Conclusion

Existing educational programs in occupational and physical therapy,
respiratory therapy, and speech language pathology are neither able to support
current personnel needs nor meet increasing demand. With the growing number
of elderly and frail elderly, along with advances in medical technology that
save and prolong life, demand for additional rehabilitation personnel will
continue.

The field of medical technology is, likewise, having difficulty in supporting
current personnel needs. However, unlike oth,.r allied health professions, the
field of medical technology is faced with impending regulations that will not
only increase the demand for professionals in this field, but also change the
status of many who are currently in practice.

The shortage of registered nurses not only is a problem for hospital staffing,
but also may adversely affect the quality of health care delivered to the
American public. As the severity of illness of both hospital patients and
those in post-acute care settings increases, the demand for additional and
more highly skilled nurses will continue to rise. And as new models for
delivering efficient and high quality health care introduced, the need for
trained nurse managers is more important than ever.

The AHA supports the reauthorization of Titles VII of the Public Health
Service Act to provide funding to help alleviate some of these manpower
shortages. In addition, we support the legislative initiatives introduced by
Rep. Terry Bruce (H.R.1466) and Rep. Jim Slattery (H.R.2405). With some
modification to its proposed composition, we support the creation of a
national advisory council on health manpower to assess the nation's health
manpower needs and to advise the Congress and the Department of Health and
Human Services.

Finally, AHA and AONE urge the Committee to use the 1991 reauthorization of
the. Nurse Educatton Act to address the factors critical to alleviating the
current shortage of nursing personnel.

O (' -7

r)



263

STATEMENT

OF THE

AMERICAN MEDICAL STUDENT

ASSOCIATION
Mr. Chairman, and Members of the Sub-Committee, the American Medical

Student Association (AMSA) appreciates this opportunity to present testimony
concerning the Title VII programs which fund the education of health professionals and
the role these programs play in addressing the nation's health care problems. AMSA is
a national organization of more than 30,000 medical students throughout the United
States. We are an independent organization committed to the improvement of medical
education, the prevention of disease, and equal access to affordable health care.

The increasing costs of education and concomitant rising student indebtedness
discourage interested people from practicing in underserved communities such as rural
and inner city areas, areas that typically provide less fringe benefits and income to the
health care provider. Compounding the situation is the lack of formal training in
addressing the health care needs of underserved populations during both undergraduate
and graduate medical education.

Introduction

AMSA commends the Sub-Committee's concern about access to health care in
this country and the current review of the federal programs provided in Title VII of the
Public Health Service Act. Problems with access to health care and health professional
shortage areas are well known to the members of this Sub-Committee. Compounding
these problems are the increasing health care demands of impoverished children, older
Americans, minorities, and HIV infected people. For example, many babies are born
without adequate prenatal nutrition and many infants do not receive vaccinations. The
American population is aging, but the health care field is not prepared to accommodate
this change. There are not enough people trained to meet the specific health care needs
of the elderly, either in or out of the hospital setting. The utilization of health care
services by blacks since the 1960s has increased, largely due to Medicare and Medicaid.
Still, blacks are more likely than whites to receive health care in an emergency room
setting, and less likely to have a primary physician. As of March, 1991, there were
171,876 patients living with AIDS.' Two percent of those are pediatric cases. The
Centers for Disease Control has projected the number of deaths from AIDS ,n 1991 will
reach 43,000 to 5200, with 56,000 to 71,000 new cases reported.' These problems
increase each year, and health care professionals are not prepared to administer
sufficient health care for these people:

During the early 1960s, the federal government identified a need for increased
numbers of physicians. The 1963 Health Professions Educational Assistance Act helped
expand the capacity of the health professions educa' ional system. Enrollments almost
doubled in (he first ten years. They increased from the 1963-64 level of 8,107, to 14,898
by 1975-76.'

In the mid 1970s, legislation amending Tith VII began to ocus on the specialty
and geograkihic maldistribution of health manpower. Whet the programs were
reauthorizeG in 1976, Congress directed assistance toward Projects that encouraged
health professionals to practice in medically underserved areas and in the fieids of
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primary care-- Family Medicine, General Pediatrics, and General Internal Medicine.

In 1980, the Graduate Medical Education National Advisory Comicil predicted a
surplus of 70,000 physicians by the year 1990. For this reason, funding for programs
designed to assist medical students interested in practicing primary care and working in
underserved areas was discontinued. The Council concluded that supply and demand
would force adequate numbers of graduating physicians to work in these areas.
However, there continue to !le problems in the specialty and geographic distributions of
physicians. Health manpower statistics released in 1986 by the Department of Health
and Human Services (Dr..-IS) show that 14 million people, or 6 percent of the
population, live in health pi ofessional shortage areas and therefore remain underserved.
Tliis is despite an n percent increase in physicians since 1980.

AMSA urges the Stth-Committee to continue support of the programs directed at
correcting shortages of personnel in primary care and certain geographic areas, and
continued support of federal student financial aid programs, including the Health
Education Assistance Loan (HEAL) Program. Title VII programs of most concern to
AMSA are the Health Professionak Student Loan and Health Education Assistance
Loan Programs; the Exceptional Financial Need and Financial Assistance for
Disadvantaged Health Professions Students Scholarship Program.s; the grants for
Excellence in Minority Health Centers and Disadvantard Assistance Programs; the
Family Medicine Departments and Family Medicine Residency support grants; the
General Internal Medicine and General Pediatrics Residency support grants; AIDS
Education Lnd Training Center grants; and Geriatric Education Centers grants and
Geriatric Training and Faculty Development Programs. AMSA hopes the Sub-
Committee will extend the current statutory authorities of Title VII for thrce more fiscal
years.

I. Student Financial Assistance
1110IMIM/MMMWEINIMP,

AMSA believes that medical students have a responsibility to contribute as much
as they can to the costs of their education, whether through personal and family
contribution or through borrowing. We also believe that one's financial situation should
not represent a barrier during either the application or admissions process. We believe
it is good social policy to ensure that any qualified student-applicant is not prevented
from becoming a physician for lack of monies.

During the last decade, medical school tuition has increased dramatically (more
than 25 percent adjusted for inflation).4 At the same time, the amount of money
available tor education has decreased. In 1978, a student could expect a financial aic)
package consisting of 37.9 percent scholarships and grants and 61.7 percent loans.'
Today students rely more upon loans. According to the College Board, in 1988-89 loans
constituted 77 percent of the financial aid funds to medical students. The percentage is
even higher for osteopathic students. The mean level of indebtedness for mOical
graduates in 1990 was $45,840, with 75.0 percent of all graduates being indebted.° For
minoritips, the mean indebtedness was $50,944, 94.7 percent graduating with some level
of debt,'

The time cummitment to become a physician is very long. It requires four years
of medical school beyond post-secondary school, plus three to seven years of training in
an accredited residency provam. The course work is so arduous as to prohibit outside
employment to meet the high costs of the education. The cost of education is also
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increased by the need of recent graduates to defer repayment of their student loans
through residency. The average salary of a first year intern is $25,000, not enough to
make loan payments of up to $1,000 per month.

Without Title VII student financial aid programs, only students from the upper
income families will be able to attend medical school. Loan programs such as the
HEAL enable middle class students to afford a graduate education. To ensure equal
access to medical education for every capable student regardless of family income, the
student financial aid programs must have continued support in legislation and
appropriations, and these programs must be expanded as necessary to meet the
increases in costs and demands. AMSA supports scholarship monies for the
underrepresented minority and impoverished students, subsidized loans for students
with recognized financial need, and unsubsidized loans for the balance of the costs
associated with attending medical school.

Exceptionid Financial Need Scholarship. This program should be continued at levels
high enough to assist a few students at each institution. Needy students should be
eligible for the EFN Scholarship during all four years of medical school. Ideally, the
program should be funded at a level adequate to provide assistance for all eligible
students. Approximately 75 percent of eligible students do not receive awards for lack
of funds.

Financial Assistance to Disadvantaged Students. This scholarship is a much needed
source of financial aid to students with exceptional financial need. Approximately 70
percent of eligible students do not receive these funds for lack of resources. We support
Increased appropriations for this source of financial aid.

These are the only federal scholarship programs provided in Title VII for medical
students. Their importance in financing minority education cannot be emphasized
enough. These programs have helped increase the number of minority and
disadvantaged students who can afford graduate medical education.

Health Professions Student Loan (HPSL) Program. This is a campus-based revolving
loan fund that makes low interest loans to students based on need. Medical students
must meet the "exceptional financial need" standard. In 1989-90, HPSL provided loans
to 7,768 medical students. The HPSL loan is designed to provide funds up to the cost of
tuition pli:s $2,500. Because minimal money has been allocated to the progrum since
1985, the verage financial assistance provided through this program was only $3,965.°
A recent report from the HIIS indicates that despite earlier problems with high default
rates, the HPSL program now has a cumulative default rate of only 2.45 percent for all
health professions students. This is well within the acceptable default rate limit set by
the HFIS Secretary.

The HPSL program assists only the very neediest medical students. Additional
capital investment in this program is warranted. As students repay their loans, these
funds should be returned to the HPSL program and not diverted to the Student Loan
Insurance Fund (SLIF), as was recommended by the Bush Administration. AMSA
recommends that the Sub-Committee authorize additional funds to this program is well,
to support financial assistance to students of the magnitude authorized within this
program.

Health FAlucation Assistance Loan (HEAL) Program. The HEAL is a federally insured
but unsubsidized market rate loan which is the. loan of last resort for students to finance
their education. The loan program was designed to cost the government no money. A
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Studer, Loan Insurance Fund (SLIF) financed by premiums paid by borrowers, was
established to cover the costs of defaults. However, the insurance premiums were
initially too low (0.5 percent) to cover this cost , and the federal government had to
appropriate $25 million to the SLIF in FY 1990. In 1985 the insurance premium was
increased to 8 percent of the principal. With a currpt default rate of 8.2 percent, the
new premium should cover the cost of future defaults.7

Although it is the loan of last resort, many students rely on HEAL dollars to fund
their educations. In 1980-81, the percentage of medical stucients borrowing HEAL
dollars was 3.8 percent. In 1990-91, that figure was 38 percent. Recently, one lender,
Knight Tuition, had committet1 all the money allocated to their organization for FY
1991. The current demand is 30 percent above the dollar amount allocated to their
orgaqiption for FY 1990, with ; projected unmet demand of $20 million by October
1991.'1 This is after two supplemental allotments for the Knight Tuition HEAL
program during the current fiscal year. Further appropriations are not likely for FY
1991, which will mean a fiasco as classes begin this summer and tuition needs to be paid.
During reauthorization of Title VII funds this year, the credit ceiling should be
increased above the 1991 limit, rather than decreased to $60 million as recommended by
the Bush Administration. An increase in the Stafford loan program annual borrowing
limit to $10,000 will decrease dependance on the HEAL program for many students, but
the HEAL will remain a necessity for students who otherwise cannot afford to attend
medical school.

AMSA opposes the Administration's proposal to limit the credit ceiling and
begin phase-out of the HEAL program. This will only further weaken the program,
discouraging lenders from participating and making the loan too costly for those who
need it the most.

AMSA recommends increasing the number of repayment options available and
establishing opportunities for employers to buy out a borrower's loans. AMSA also
recommends a subsidy of 1 percent of the interest rate for borrowers who make regular
payments during resiclerry (or the first two years of practice for those professions not
requiring a residency). This would encourage good repayment habits by borrowers,
while decreasing the overall cost of the loan. Together this will decrease the default
rate, at minimal cost to the governmen, At an interest rate of 8.95 percent, a 1 percent
subsidy for four years on $10,000 principal would cost $2,500, with a projected 25 year
savings of $6,850 for the borrower. Payment of this subsidy can be negotiated between
the lenders, the holders, and HHS.

As a further measure to decrease the cost of the HEAL program for borrowers,
AMSA recommends an interest cap of 12.5 percent. Should rates exceed this limit, the
federal government would subsidize the interest to 12.5 percent, as is already done with
the Supplemental Loans for Students program. We also urge Sub-Committee Members
to sponsor HR 747, which reinstates deduction of interest paid on student loans during
the early years of practice, thereby making loan repayment more affordable. The early
years of repayment are when most loans enter into default. Decreasing the costs of
repayment during this time period will decrease the default rate. Making loans more
affordaSle will also decrease the economic barriers to practicing in health professional
shortage areas.

AMSA recommends creation of a program of loan forgiveness in exchange for
provision of health care to Medicare and Medicaid patients. Participants will agree to
ste a specified number of patients per year in exchange for forgiveness of a certain level
of debt, to be paid at the termination of the year subsequent to the terms of the
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agreement. In contrast to the Indian Health Service, health care professionals would
work in an area of their choice, provided these areas contain a sufficient Medicare and
Medicaid population. States may also contribute to this loan repayment program under
Medicaid reimbursements according to the need for physicians to care for this
population of patients.

To counter the high number of defaults resulting from inappropriate
administration of various loans by recent graduates, AMSA recommends one
standardized deferment form for all DHHS and Department of Education (ED) loans,
and the creation of a Central Deferment Office. In this Central Deferment Office,
AMSA suggests establishing a branch to act as a Central Borrower-Lender Data Base as
a resource of information to borrowers, lenders, holders, and HHS and ED. We also
recommend more defined, standardized loan notification forms to minimize the
confusion created by the variety of forms that are received by the borrower at various
times.

AMSA believes that most borrowers will achieve the financial security necessary
to pay the high kvels of indebtedness accumulated with this loan program. However, at
the time repayment begins, the borrower may not have adequate income, and the loan
may enter litigation with ultimate bankruptcy and default. Currently, there is no process
for "curing" these roans. Once a boar has entered default, it is always in default ciespite
future efforts of the borrower to repay. We believe that all efforts of due diligence,
equal to the measures available in the private loan market, must be exhausted before a
loan enters default. Once a loan is paid by the Secretary, all efforts should be made to
bring th:r loan into rzpayment and "cure it from the default rate. Given adequate
opportunity to repay the loan in this manner, we believe that the 8 percent insurance
premium will more than adequately cover the costs of due diligence and cure
procedures.

AMSA opposes variable insurance premiums and variable interest rates by
discipline according to that disciplines default rate. This would make the cost of the
loan prohibitively expensive for borrowers who cannot afford the current costs of the
loan and only increase the future default rate. AMSA also opposes imposition of a
performance standard for schools participating in the HEAL program. 'The current
method of calculating the default rate for the HEAL program is fhe method used for the
Stafford Loan. Should a performance standard be used, we recommend that the default
rate be calculated using the same variables as the HPSL program. As with the HPSL
program, HEAL loans should also have a cure process.

We are also very concerned about problems that a performance standard would
create for institutions with large percentages of minority students. Minority students
borrow more HEAL dollars than do non-minority students, and medical schools with
high numbers of minority students have among the highest default rates in the HEAL
program. For example, at Meharry Medical College which has above 80 percent
minority enrollment, the claim rate for HEAL dollars as of June 30, 1990 was 25.5
percent, with $20 million borrowed. The University of Southern California, which
traditionally has very few minority students, had a claim rate of 1.8 percent with equal
amounts borrowed." Of the 17 medical schools with default claim rates greater than 10
percent, 12 had minority enrollments well above the national average. Should these
institutions be excluded from the HEAL program, the number of graduating
underrepresented minorities would decrease, thereby reversing the one of the goals of
the Public Health Service Act.

frI
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IL Underrepresented Minorities and

Disadvantaged Assistance

Title VII attempts to increase the number of underrepresented minorities in
medicine. The Bush Administration has requested $31.6 million for the Disadvantaged
Assistance Program. This money funds the Health Careers Opportunity Program
(HCOP), the government's primary vehicle for minority recruitment in the health
professions. HCOP provides grants to schools to s'ipport the identification, recruitment,
retention, and placement of minority and disadvantaged students in health professions
schools. This program has helped increase the applicant pool and reduce the attrition
rate of minorities in medical school. Although the number of minority students
matriculating to medical school has been increasing at a very slow rate, the number of
minority applicants has been decreasing. The percentage of underrepresented
minorities in medicaj.chool is still below each group's representative percentage in the
general population." Therefore, these programs deserve legislative support and
adequate appropriations for continuation at or above current levels of existence.
Support of these programs is consistent with the Administration's goal of improving the
health status of racial and ethnic minorities, as minority health professionals are more

4 likely than are non-minority health professionals to work in health professional shortage
areas.

IH. ig_na Care Training Grants

Despite the physician surplus predicted by the Graduate Medical Education
National Advisory Council, the number of allopathic and osteopathic physicians
choosing primary care specialties declined from 73,489 in 1963 to 67,687 in 1986, wig
continues to decline. Of these primary care physicians, 45 percent are over age 55.1*
This shortage will worsen, as only 25 percent of allopathic graduates and 40 percent of
osteopathic graduates plan to practice primary care. Contrast this with the proportion of
primary care physicians in Canada and Great Britain, 50 percent and 70 percent,
respectively. Therefore, it is important to support educational programs that emphwdze
primary care training, since patient fees and research grants cannot support outpatient
training in these specialties. The Administration's proposed budget for Title VII
funding recommends cut backs in programs designed to support primary care and
geriatnc training. These programs provide an environment where primary care training
can prosper and attract more students to these specialties. AMSA recommends
retaining the existing programs for Family Medicine Departments, Family Medicine
Residencies, General Internal Medicine and General Pediatrics Residencies. and
Geriatric Education Centers and Geriatric Training and Faculty Development, and
providing them with adequate monetary support in FY 1992.

IV, HIV/A1DS Training

AMSA believes that AIDS education should be a fundamental component of
medical school curricula and clerkships. AIDS encompasses all afeas of health care and
transcends cultural, racial, and age boundaries. Managing HIV infection and preventing
its spread is the responsibility of all pi Airgeons, obstetricians, and internist,,
alike. Therefore, programs like the Health Resources and Services Administration's

273
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AIDS Education and Training Centers (AIDS/ETCs) need continued support from this
Sub-Committee, and authonzation for continued expansion. Undergraduate health
professionals also need to learn how to deal with the special medical, social,
psychological, and ethical problems associated with treating AIDS patients. Therefore
AMSA recommends expansion of AIDS/ETC to involve the pre-clinical curriculum.

Conclusion

Title VII contains programs that address many of the health problems facing our
country: minority recruitment and education, health professional shortage areas, access
to care, AIDS education and research, and primary care training. AMSA believes that
the programs authorized within the Public Health Service Act help meet the health
requirements of the nation, as set forth in the HHS report ficAllty_Ecoillt_aaa and
deserve continued authorization by this Sub-Committee.

Thank you, and we look forward to workingwith the Sub-Committee to develop
legislation on various Title VII programs in the coming weeks.

For more information, please contact:

Shelby Rash
Legislative Affairs Diwtor, AMSA

1890 Preston White Drive
Reston, VA 22091

(703) 620-6600 F-XT 211
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POSITION SUMMARY

AMERICAN MEDICAL STUDENT ASSOCIATION

THE HEALTH EDUCATION ASSISTANCE LOAN

MAY 1991

AMSA believes that the HEAL program remains a vital part of the federal student loan system. However,
we recognize that acme difficulties exist. The following is a brief summary of AMSA's recommendations
on changes that can be made to improve the efficacy of the HEAL program as related to the default rate,
loan repayment options and fmancial aid information disbursement. The enclosed tcxt is an expansion of
these recommendations.

1. The High Default Rate

AMSA recommends:

1. The creation of a single deferment form for all federally administered loans and the
establishment of a Central Deferment Office.

2. The establishment of a Central Borrower-Lender Data Base to act as a resource for both
holders and borrowers.

3. Standardization of loan notification forms to eliminate administrative confusion.

4. Establishment and enforcement of duc diligence and cure procedures.

H. Loan Repayment Options

AMSA recommends:

1. Increasing the number of options available for loan repayment schedules, including
repayment based on percentage of income.

2. Establishing opportunities for employers to buy out a borrowers student loans.

3. Residency program participation in student loan repayments.

4. Offering a rcward to borrowers who participate in an early repayment schedule.

III. Financial Aid Information Disbursement

AMSA recommends:

1. Offering a standardized training program for all financial aid officers.

2. Offering borrower counselling just prior to the start of repayment.

For further Information, please contact:

Shelby Rush
Legislative Affairs Director, AMSA

1890 Preston White Dr.
Reston, VA 22091

(703) 620-6600 EXT 211
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POSITION

AMERICAN MEDICAL STUDENT ASSOCIATION

E HEALTH EDUCATION ASSISTANCE LOAN

JUNE 1991

Background:

The Health Education Assistance Loan (HEAL) is a federally insured loan program authorized under
Title WI of the Public Health Service Act. 8% of the initial principal is deducted before disbursement
and contributed to an insurance fund known as the Student Loan Insurance Fund (SLIP.). The interest
rate is set at 3 percentage points above the T-bill and begin: to accrue at the time of disbursement.
Interest may be compounded annually or biannually according to the terms of the lender. The
borrower can defer payments on the principal and interest of the HEAL loan during a 9 month grace
period after graduation and up to four years while in an accredited residency program. In this instance
the interest may be added to the principal balance at the discretion of the fmancier. Finally, the loan is
repayable over a period of either 10 or 25 years.

In fiscal 1990, 12,635 students (40.7% of borrowers) at allopathic medical schools borrowed a total of
$107 million (39.5% of total HEAL dollars). During the same year, 4,311 students (13.% of
borrowers) at osteopathic schools borrowed a total of $46 million (17.0% of HEAL dollars). The total
number of HEAL dollars lent in fiscal 1990 was $270 million to a total of 31,071 borrowers. The
medical students totaled 54.6% of HEAL borrowers and used 56.5% of HEAL dollars. Medical
student borrowers contributed a representative amount of S12.2 million to the SLIF in 1990. The
Department of Health and Human Sc.-vices (DHHS) states that 38% of medical students have HEAL
money included in their financial aid portfolio.

AMSA recognizes that the original purpose of the HEAL program was to .naice money available for
health professional students, at no cost to the federal government. The loan was designed to allow
capable students, with needs beyond the scope of esisting grant and loan programs, to obtain an
education ia the health professions. Thc HEAL loan is the loan of last resort' and was designed to be
completely self sustaining. We believe tha: while there arc significant problems in the program, the
HEAL is of tremendous importance to medical students. Phase out of the HEAL program is not
warranted at this time, but improvements are necessary to alleviate some of the difficulties. Specific

problems which need to be addressed include the high default rate, the high cost of the loan to the
borrower which we feel contributes to the high default rate, and various administrative complications.

I. The Default Rate

In 1990, the government paid $26.1 million in HEAL default claims. Amounts paid for borrowers from
allopathic schools totaled $6 million or 23% of total default dollars and $2.8 millian from osteopathic
schools or 10.7% c total default dollare The total default rate was calculated at 7.7% of borrowers
acid 9.7% of disbursml dollars. 4.3 % of borrowers who attended allopathic medical schools defaulted
on their HEAL loans. The default rate was 4.8% for those who attended osteopathic schools.

Although medical sudents borrow a large amount of total HEAL dollars, the percentage of medical
student borrowers in defauk is low. However, students of the medical profession account for a large
portion of default dollars due to the size and numbers of their loans. The amount of money owed by
medical student borrowers at the time of repayment reflects the high cost of medical education and the
length of time to licensure. As students rely increasingly on HEAL dollars to fund their education, the
number of loans in default may change. The 1990 claims for all medical students, although still

P1
I



273

sigrifieantly smaller than the claims paid for other disciplines, is more than double the dollar amount
of claims paid in '1989.

There are several factors contributing to the high default rate among physician borrowers. Technical
default, defaults arising from incorrect administraticn cf deferment forms, makes a significant
contribution. In 1990 the Association of American Medical Colleges matched the list of allorathic
physicians in default with its list of physicians enroled in residency programs. They determined that
over 60% of the defaults of loans held by allopathic physicians should have been listed in deferment
secondary to enrollment in residency training programs. Somewhere in the paperwork process and
conhision that accompanies gaduation from medical school, relocation and starling a residency, the
borrower encounters difficulties and fails to send the appropriate forms to the correct institutions and
servicers.

Other administrative complications exist. A significant number of defaulters madc good on the loans
after the time of litigation. This wotici indicate that failure to repay may have duc to a

communication failure in the notification of due payments, Maccessibility of the borrower to the holder,
or other misunderstandings between the holder and the borrower. Loan portfolios for health
professional students tend to be very diverse, and this increases the borrower's misunierstanding.s of
his loans. Managing repayment of all thc different loan.s requires good administrotive skills, in addition
to adequate income.

Insufficient income in the first years of repayment also contributes to the high default rate. All
education loans taken by physicians come due either during residency training or during the early years
of practice. Considering that thc HEAL is the "loan of last resort," borrowers will have multiple other
loans of substantial size which come due either before or at the same time as the HEAL loan. These
payments may be as large as $750 to $1,000 a month. The salaries earned by residents in the last years
of residency are rarely more than $33 thousand. Payments of this caliber arc simply not possible on an
imome of this size.

Currently, there is no cure process for HEAL loans. Once a borrower becomes established, hc may
emer repayment on previously defaulted loans but these loans remain within thc default statistics. Thc
DIIHS should establish a means by which these borrowers can be cured from the default calculations.
Furthermore, HEAL regulations should inchute due diligence processing equivalent to that for the
Health Professional Student Loan or the private loan market.

Althuagh it is impossible to completely eliminate the defaults a number of steps may be taken to
deaease the rate of default.

Recommendations:

1. Single Deferment Form and a Central Deferment Agency

Currently there is a great deal of contusion concerning the submission of deferment forms. IndMduals
who bortow from multiple programs must fill out a separate form for each program. Each form may
have specific information requesu and all must be signed by the residency program director who must
then forward it to the appropriate agency. For the bonower who uses multiple lenders and multiple
loans, there may be 10 or more deferment forms involved. All this paper-work creates a number of
places where the process can break down, for any of thc different loans, leading to technical default.

AMSA recommends the creation of a single multiple copy dthrmeut form and a Central Deferment
Agency to help alkirlate the problem of technical default. A single multiple copy form can be designed
with sufficient information to satisfy the needs of the various programs, including both Department of
Health and Human Services (DHHS) and Department of Education (ED). Once the student has filled
out his section, he would forward the form to the Director of the residency program as is currently
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doat. The Director would verify the borrower's enrollment in the program and redirect the
appropriate copy of the form to a Central Deferment Agency.

The Central Deferment Agency would be a federally administered office responsible for informing the
loan holders, the loan servicers, and DHHS and ED of the borrower's status. This agency would be
responsible for notifying the borrower when his loans enter into deferment. By simplifying the process,
technical defaults due to incomplete administration or complete failure to submit forms would be
diminished.

2. Central Borrower-Lender Infonnation Data Base

To alleviate the defaults due to other failures in communication between the holder of the loan and the
borrower, AMSA renames& establishing a central data bank containing the following Information:

a. The borrower's name, address, and telephone number.

b. The name, address, and telephone number of two
other people who know where to reach the borrower.

c. The name, address and telephone number of the
school from which the borrower received his/her
degree or which the borrower most recently
attended.

d. The borrower's (expected) year of graduation.

c. The name, address and telephone number of the
boerower's residency program.

f The name, address and telephone number of all
holders of the loans used by the borrower.

g. The type of loans, with the year disbursed, the
principal, and interest rate of each, current
status of the loan, and when repayment begins.

When there are difficulties in communication between the borrower and holder, either one may access
this data bank for the purpose of improving communication And obtaining this centralized information.
As is the case currently, to update the information, the borrower would have to request a new form and
fill out the appropriate section(s).

3. Standardized Notification Forms

Standardized notificatior. forms would also eliminate a lot of administrative confusion for the borrower.
Currently many forms contain vague information concerning the terms of the loan, the bank from
which the loan was borrowed, the interest accrued, repayment dates, etc. 'NASA rernmmends a
biannual distribution of a standardized loan notification form which would contain the following
information:

a. The name, address and phone number of the holder.

b. The type of loan, date and amount of disbursement.

c. The interest rate.

2 '7 )
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d. The amount of interest accrued.

e. The compounding schedule.

f. The date repayment begins.

g. The expected monthly payment.

h. Thc breakdown of interest to principle per payment,
based on an amortization schedule.

i. The current deferment status of the loan.

4. Due DiligerJ Procedures

While most borrowers do not have adequate incomc at the time repayment begins to fulfdl thcir
monthly obligations, most will achieve the financial security necessary within a few years. However,
when repayment begins, if the borrower does not have adequate income, the loan may enter litigation
with subsequent default. Currently there is no process for curing these loans. Once a loan has entered
default, it is always in default despite future efforts of the borrower to repay. AMSA recommends that
all methods for collection on a loan, equal to those used in the private loan market, be exhausted
before a loan enters default. Additionally, once the loan is paid by the Secretary, all efforts should be
made to bring the loan into repayment and cure it from the default rate. Given the opportunity to
repay the loan in this manner, we believe that the 8% insurance premium will more than adequately
cover the costs of defaults and duc diligence and curc procedures.

H. Loan Repayment Options

As noted earlier many defaulters demonstrate insufficient income at the time of default to make loan
repayments. AMSA believes that expanding the options in loan repayment will help alleviate the
problems associated with inadequate income,

1. Expanding Optiens For Loan Repayment Schedules

When loans initially come due, physician borrowers are often in residency training or entering into the
first years of practice. During these years borrowers have a high debt to income ratio even though they
will earn sufficient income later to make complete and timely payments. Because of the high debt to
income ratio, loan repayments become burdensome or even impossible.

AMSA recunmends that borrowers be given additional repayment options based on projected
income. For example, by graduating the loan repayment schedule bascd on a percentage of income
rather than a flat rate, borrowers could repay to the extent that they are capable. As the borrower's
income increases, the monthly payments will increase proportionately. Alterntaively, the percentage of
income due could increase as total income increase All repayment schedules still are to be completed
in 25 years. These options are a few of the variations that could be arranged.

2. Employer Loan Buy Outs

As an incentive for physicians to work in primary care field in underserved areas, MUSA recommends
that employers be given the opportunity to pay a borrower's HEAL debt, provided the employers
agree to reduce the interest rate on the loans. The administration of such a program may be handled
through the employer or it may be contracted out. Accordingly, the borrower would make payments to
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the employer directly or to the servicer. The federal government would continue to insure tin: loan.
The decreased interest rate on tie: loan will serve as a recruitment tool for employers, particularly
those in undorserved .neas who arc looking for primary care practitioncrs. Ultimately, this plan kssens
the cost of medical education.

Also, a community could offer to repay the loan in part or entirely in return for i ser ice contract.
This option acts as an irceative for horrmsers to work in communnies which have the most ned for
physician services. The agreed on terms of rhe service contract would be klt to the community anti the
borrower.

3. Residency Program Involvement in Repayments

Loan repayment arrangements could ati as an incentive for primary care residency proc;rains to attract
students whose level of indebtedness might otherwise direct them towards the better paid tertiary care
subspecialties. Medical students consistently steer away from the primary care specialties at a time
whcn many of the already practicing phi.sicians are retiring. As a result of this trend, the shortage nf
primary care practitioners continues to grow rather titan diminish. Primary care specialties typically
earn significantly smaller salaries than the highly technical tertiary care subspecialties Moreover, the
cost of medical education continues to rise, and medical stodent debt rises with it. The high siOt to
income ratio serves as a disincentive to students who might be interested in primary Care. By
encouraging residency programs to offer loan repayment options, that disincentive may bc dirniniNhcci.

AMSA recommends encouragement of residency program participation in student loan repayment.
There are multiple possibilities for loan repayment. A lump sum bonus could it paid directly to the
lender in the name of the interns and residents, at the start of each year. Payments may be made on a
monthly basis directly to the borrower. Or additional sums of money could be added to the
participant's salary as a bonus for repaying student loans. The amount of thc repayment bonus may be
a topic of negotiation between the institution and the resident.

There are additional benefits in encouraging residency programs involvement in the student loan
repayment plan. For the loan holders and the federal government, there is diminished tharice of
default with all of the financial and administrative benefits expected. Moreover, a mechanism fir knit'
repayment at this juncture would create a place to offer financial counselling to the borrower. For the
borrower, early payments on the loan diminish the ultimate financial commitment. And it gives the
residency program a strong recruiting tool.

4, incentives for Early Repayment.

As the loan system currently exists. boreowers are discouraged from defaulting rather than encoucaged
to pay. The incentive for repayment is lack of punishment. AMSA believes that rewards for diligence
and early rrpayment would promote good borrowing behavior and early retirement of det,t,to the
benefit of the borrower and the federal government.

For example, the federal government could offer a subsidy of I interest Ix-lint on a loan to borrov;ers
who made regular payments daring residency. In order to receive this benefit, borrowers weuld be
expected to repay a specified minimum monthly payment, possibly $50 to $100. far the duration of their
post graduate education (See AlTACHMENT A). Alternatively, the reward s!,stetri could focus on
early repayment after resident/ is completed. A young practicing physician could agree to retire the
loan in a shorter period of time in exchange for a cut in his interest rate. AMSA believes that this type
of reward system will encourage borrowers to develop good repayment habits. Moreover, a cut in the
debt burden benefits the federal government by potentially diminishing the default rate.
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III. Financial Aid Information Dissemination

CU federally administere 1 loan pogroms arc complicated and confusing. A borrower's otth contact
with the kat, systeal is often the medical sehool loan coutuLloi, v.ho acts as a gate-keeper by advising
the borrownr on the best !ono Nsritagt. 1tile hi,rowers receive information tlarouithout their
undergraduate kri;ninsz and at . sit interview. the 'mforenatiou concerning repayment schedules Ls

sometimes intramplete or cft portunc times: i.e. ytars before the ileuml start of loan
repayment. Men t bocrwer begins to ...a:amine he kin repayment situation, ne is often confused
and so:stem/lett de21 of time wilting ont loan repanurnt schedules and options which arc
compebbk tviti, his incordr. The previous mccions contained commerrs on ;he administrative aspects
of informMica disbursement. Mi3 section wul vontain some recommendations on the format of
informadon dissemination.

Fitunii31 Aid Persotritel Cotins.efiiitg

The Er.lcIII oh Evict al losiu pmgrams is cimpheared, Ana eligibilio; for loan paeLagse saries trequ school
to school. financial aah officers ati the Fa:mowers major et:swat:I with the fmkrai student loan system
.ind cove as a alapor source of information. Moreover, it is the finariciL' sid offker who is responsible
tot determining, actordina to federal guidminec. writ& studcnu are el.. /le for various loan programs.
There is no specific uatniag procr.s.; (Lc finannial aid officers, which often tcsults in an information gap
conattning the availiability and tines 'tier= pro MM. MitaalCiy, borrower, mn :. nol reCr.i;C the
max: desirable lona package tAileh may rt:sult 11 s lig:firs:4ot increase in air cost or their education.

h%CalL5C. the financial aid office ;s so critical to Oxaming Mc mos: c..tnitt,ble loan pAar:. AMSA
cremators& the tetabilstiesrsit a a federally administered financial aid ofTkec training program
The program weni.i offer tutu:Lai aid offimrs int-rotation on each of the !oar pi ogams. the rria
for qualification for the programs. and infoonatiou concerning the atinaintitration of :hese programs.
By era rblishing a more edutiated loan officer pool, AMFA believes that boi rowers will use federal loan
protvams matt wisely and will receive better loan packsgcs le addition, unintentiona/ misuse of
federal ban programs doe to unclear it:forma:ion will decrease. Eoth the hrmver and the federal
government will ultimately spend k.st on mr teal education as a result.

2. Borrower CCtinE.ftliink:

Coven:1y borrowers usim; the stndeat hsms postotams are required a., menr anim.eilinu both upon
receiving the loan asid during the exit Mtmssew ,ast prior to graduation . This sodn.seiling Ls reces..sary
to edocate borrowers on all issues reiwed to stadrut 'or:tr.:inn some of thc issues Mated to itiau
defectonals. I.lowestmt. in terms of motel loan repayment. i: occlaN ;.C'e) far in advance. Much of thc
informinios erckingeo a ;hate intervk Ass about the specificzi of loan repayment schedules is lust or
forgotten by the time the borrower omit to use it.

kMSA reermusessdo that additinool counse(ling eetwers the sioltki and the borrower mkt place
sheet)? banbre luau repayistenc is actardatied to iieMo. The counselling cued not take place throagh a
meeting. Teel Mine and/ttr mailing information may be adequate, presided there Ls proof that the
borrower bre treeived the .tlfrirmatksci. The hi Ater of ens loan knows kin rStIA: about the bort ewer's
detai aud repayment possibilities. Thereiorei, it is logical flier tho lkilder be respoasibk for the
dispersal of information eorierning the spetifict Lif the borrower's loan repayment schedule.

The counselling program should idelude the following information:

The. type and number of loans toe borrower holds.

b. 'Om i-MXItifit of rninciple and 2n::7 Ind interrst.
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c. The interest rates and compounding sclm.dides.

d. Possibilities for loan repayment schedules.

e. Possibilities for loan cousolidation.

1. The amount of monthly payments, including the
breakdown of interest and principle.

g. The name, address, and phone number of the holder.

Amsa believes that counselling offered in a timely fashion will increase prompt repayment and diminish
confusini related to unclear repayment s-hedules. Moreover, it will permit borrowers the opportunity
to arrange repayment schedules which will more adequately fulfill their needs.

Conclusion:

With these improvements to the HEAL progam. AMSA believes that the federal government can
continue to assist qualified people as they pursue careers in the health professions. Without this
program, AMSA has reason to believe that many professional schools, espeeally those that arc rely on
tuition for support rather than research grants, will close. For a number of years, AMSA has
attempted to establish a privet loan market for our student members. We have not been able to find
private investors or investors within the banking and insurance industries. The Association of
Americal Medical Colleges has established a private loan market (MED Loans), but has expressed
concern over decreasing capital for future borrowers and problems meeting current demands. Any
chance that AMSA or other organizations has will be jeopardizeu by a breakdown in the government
guaranteed market, for obvious reasons. Therefore AMSA recommends reauthorization of the HFAL
program with adequate borrowing ceiling to allow adequate support of the health profession students.

For more infomiation concerning AMSA's position on improvements for the HEAL program please
contact:

Shelby Rush
Legislative Affairs Director, AMSA

1890 Preston White Drive
' Reston, VA 11091

(703)620-6600 EAT. 111

C.
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ATTACHMENT A

SUBSIDIZED HEALTH EDUCATION ASSISTANCE LOAN

RATE COMPARISON DURING RESIDENCY

Annual Amount $10,000

Number of Years 4

AMSA interest rate during residency 8.95%

AMSA subsidized interest rate during residency 7.95%

Interest accrued during residency $19,625.02

Interest accrued during subsidized residency $17,125.67

Cost to subsidizer $2,499.35

Overall savings to the student
over 25 years of repayment

$6,844.55

SOurce: Knight Tuition Paymcnt Plan. The saving.s to the borrower only include the cc t of the
subsidind intcrcst. The savings arc further increased by the monthly interest payments mad.: u vier
this plan.
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Eilll'H American Physical Therapy Association
1111 North Fiona, 55,41 Alvaildm 1,1Ovira 22314 UM 0031664 2 182 FAX 1701684 T.143

June 10. 1991
V

The Honorable Henry Waxman, Chairman, and Subcommittee Members
Health and the Environment Subcommittee of the Energy and Commerce Committee
512 House Annex I
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman and Subcommittee Members:

On behalf of the American Physical Therapy Association (AFTA), a national membership association
representing 51,000 physical therapists, physical therapist assistants and students of physical therapy, I
wish to submit the following comments on the reauthorization of Title VII of the Public Health
Service Act. Specifically, the APTA is very supportive of H.R. 1466, the Allied Health Professions
Pmmotlon Act of 1991, Introduced by Representative Bruce.

As the Subcommittee is aware, the nation continues to face serious shortages of key medical
rehabilitation professionals, with the most dramatic reeds being in physical therapy. Many facilities
including hospitals, nursing homes, home health and rehabilitation agencies and other service providers
am increasingly unable to recruit sufficient numbers of physical therapists. The skills and SCIVIM of
these practitioners are critically important in the provision of care to the elderly the cluonically ill and
individuals with disabilities.

The following Illustrates some of the current/projected statistics for the physical therapy profession:

The Shortage of Physical Therapy Personnel

Based on current data, there are an estimated 71,C00 hawed physical therapists in the
United States today. Of the 71,000, 70% (49,700) work full-time, 23% work part-time
and 7% (4,970) are retired or not workthg. Thus, the current work forte is estimated
to be 66,030.

The Bureau of Labor Statistics has projeaed that physical therapist positions will
increase by between 48% to 62% by the year 200 If one takes the Bureau's
moderate percentage increase of 57%, then this n...ns that the number of positions
should increase by 39.G00 over the 1988 figure of 68,000 positions, in other words,
there should be approximately 3.250 new positions added to the market each year for
the next twelve years.

Approximately 4,200 new licensees entered the physical therapy work force last year.
An estimated 2.4% of the total work force (1,585) leave practice every year to
attrition. This results in an annual gain in the total work force of 2,615 physical
therapists. We predict, based on the current numbers of enrolled students, that the
demand will continue to outstrip the supply.

0 L.
4,0 t )
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Demand

The practice settings experiencing the greatest shonagea am rehabilitation centen,
hospitals, schools, nursing homes, and home health agencies. It should be noted that
patients of all age ranges are included. The surveys conducted in several states
(Georgia, Maryland and New York) indicated that a 15-19% vacancy rate for physical
therapists exists in these settings.

Research conducted by the APTA has shown that the application to acceptance ratio in
physical therapy entry-level education programs is nearly 5:1. Thus a large number of
qualified students are adveracly affected by a lack of funding. If funds were available
to increase enrollment, greater numbers of physical therapists could bc graduated to
meet the demand.

Physical therapy education is experiencing a short-fall in qualified faculty. The final
report of The Task Force of Faculty Shortage (November 1985), funded by the APTA,
predicted that an additional 300 faculty prepared at the doctoral level will be needed to
teach in physical therapy entry-level education programs las 1997. This number did
not account for increases in the numbor of programs or increases in the number of
students enrolled. Consequently, the number of faculty must be increased beyond this
figure to meet the increase in class SIZCS necessary to graduate the additional therapists
to meet the demand.

'Me number of full-time physical therapy faculty has increased since 1985. However,
the number of sigancies has increased from 66 in 1985 to 104 in 1990 and is
mojected to increase to 105 vacancies for the academic year 1990-91 representing a
12% vacancy rate. In addition, the number of new programs in institutions previously
without physical therapy education programs has increased, further expanding the need
for new faculty. See enclosed anicle for additional details.

Based on these statistics, it is obsious that the number of available physical therapist positions far
exceeds ihe current supply of graduates from physical therapist education programs. The soliaion to
the inadequate supply problem is to increase the number Cif ohysical therapists bY excianding the
number of faculta and thc claas size in existing orograms. A solution lies in the passage of H.R. 1466,
the Allied Health Professions Promotion Act of 1991.

The Bruce bill provides a much-nceded authorization for expansion of faculty and mogram resources
and cntry-level student trainceships. The APTA is particularly supportive of the provision which
earmarks 75 percent of this proposed funding for those allied health professions with the most
significant national/regional shortages and who play a significant role in the care and rehabilitation of
the elderly or disabled. This is certainly the most efficient allocation of funding because it would
benefit those allied health professions with the greatest needs.

The bill also movides funding for 'he advanced training of allied health personnel, which would assist
with increasing the number of faculty and an Advisory Council on Allied Health, which would have
eight members front allied health professions on it who could advise and male tecommendations to
the Department of Health and Human Services, The APIA believes that both of these provisions
would be very beneficial.

r / ,
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For fiscal year 1991, Congress authorized $6 million and appropriated $1,659,000 to be used for ;. rants
for allied health faculty and program development. This is only the second time since 1980 that
funding been appropriated fnr this purpose: it does not begin to meet the funding needs of physical
therapy ' the other allied health professions. As proof, the Bureau of Health Professions received

.1.2d 'oasts for FY 91 (49 had physical therapy components) and will only be able to provide
fun tern.

P did with the nursing profession. the American Physical Therapy Associatice urges your
support for H.R. 1466 at the full authorizatio&levels. We do appreciate your interest in physical
therapy and the other allied health professions714

Sincerely,

Pamela Phillips
Associate Director, Oovernrnent Affairs

Enclosure

f 1
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Facul.ty Issues
Hy Erten N. Wisats

As the demand lot physscal therapy
,ervaces increases, the shortage of fnc .
ulty to educate future physics'l thera.
pests and physscal therapist assistants
becomes more and more of a pnonty
issue tot the professoon. When Huse
Sgar lat Myers. PhD, PT, joined APIA
Iii 19731 is associate threClUe of blisca
hon. her first assignment was to pre.
pare lor mectirp of the Faculty Shi wt.
ijic TuSk Pince. In the seven years
since this group completed its work,
ArrA has worked hard to address
Issues [elated to the faculty shortage,
such J, tecluitment, retention. and de-
velopmeni. In the following Interview,
Mscis mdlers her thoughts on faculty
miners.

Progrns Report: Why has the faculty
shortage become such a priority issue
for the physical therapy profession?

Slyen: In order to have a physical
therapy educatiou program at all, yru
must have faculty with appropriate
credentials and enough faculty in dv .
vtlop and maintain a high-quality pro-
gram In addition, if programs arc go .
mg ni he in colleges and umversioes.
your faculty must be capable of being
promoted and achieving tenute

"the do..toral degree has been'''ic
une du bow credentials for lac
ulty in higher education. Addition.
ally, the faculty member must he
able to design. conduct. and report
research. They must studs, syndic.
site, analyze, and interpret the trier.
aline to create new knowledge in a
scholarly fashion. Even the smaller

Ram Sgareat Myem

our 'acuity as a whole, but the tre
mendous increase in the number of
physical therapy education programs.
Thal relates to supply and demand.
It's pure and simple. We've cenamly
increased the number of faculty since
1984. which I use as a base year. That
was the NM year AMA's Faculty
Shortage Task Force met. The num-
ber rt, people holding doctoral de
gre-s has increased rather dramati-
cally as well. We just have not been
able to keep up with the demand. In
1970. there were 411 institutions with
phymcil t herapy education plugrams.
'1 madly. there arc 131 promams in 119
institutions with 102 full-time faculty
vacancies in accredited programs.
There are an additional 17 developing
physical therapist programs. (Sec
chart below.)

r APRA DLPARTNLINT EIMICATION
Voulty-Plipekalflaropitl lammim

1

years
Prowled,

Imatatam.
Pttehty

Pult.hase
Pacelty
fludolal Vhcaram

Proancurd ,

1/a.m.. I

1943-4 101(1021 626 149 (23,4) 59 pi%)
1944-; 112 095) 654 11e1 aft' h2 (99)
1991 4 121(113) 645 218 (51%1 95 'I)'O
140 9 lb WM 722

254 (3Shi 92 111%1 illt
1949-90 Itt 010 17'9 NS (IPS 104 .1211, till

le Icebniary 1991 thi Departaxat M Kendal.* way the Salivates
Phyaisal Thatapial DEVEI.OPING PROGRAMS 17.

obad.1. (4).
Wheeled Deduation taunt (6).
lbsed a C.Imirtil

liberal arts colleges are busing pro
motion and tenure on thc research
productivity 1,1 the faculty.

Physical therapy has fallen short
in this area and this is why the fac-
ulty shortage is such an important
issue. Many physical therapy faculty

have the appropriate crotch
tlals ut skills that ( lust mentioned.
!hey haven't earned a doctoral de-
gree and they have mit been part of
ihe research community. 'that's 1101
a knosk on the profession ii the
faculty Look ai how we began.
Mans mil our programs were in hos
finds anclor were certificate-level
ptomains. So Im a voting profession.

,understandabk that we haven't had
a huhu r-kvel research base

Whit has called attention to the
faculty shortage in the Do its.. years

. eh. 11. I rtederm

Novell !fond: HON 011111, faculty
members are necessary to adequately
MAI a physical therapy education de-
partment?

Myers: In my opinion, you need rune
lull.tone faculty members. I his in-
cludes an academic administrator.
an academic coordinator of clinical
education, and Seven faculty meni
bets You need a class ..ire Iti
students to support a program NO%
that s my opinion. I know that sonic
people will say 'WcIl. you can get by
with number of part-time cm,
cians Hut yin may burn out your
fullainie Dennis Pariaime licutrs
con. In In teach a course and that's
usually it i hey arc not there to
advise students mg tin do the adrurn

intervielv nein." 1),
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Istra Ide dodo of &department. such
trs (*.liberate on Art aaJenvccueric
U113111 seltnnilline in A lwmanotnin and
tenute committee

In addition, pet IteM liLuith typ.
wally Jon I has, the a:Adeline ere
ricotta!, for herhet rdo
I hAt's wt.) phssual therapy It
paetments don't hoe as much sa
life In Ille onilelsincs is the ph.,
1:, &munch eic the tnertwal
school Aka% if sod hi. edict
w rutted !Acuity, n's sr) .1 !Intuit
fro them lie le pan of the um, rest!s
communtts and to smooth. to
.1101Ari1 feseAtch

that's why I heist, you need
se.. full bow fscults members.
And 11,10 not happenrcg rn rood
Sa.hinde 1 AA Is MA TO tl> that t 1.r11

lAns Al pare tont lacully AMC,
valuahk I don't thenk we should

284

siloonlum'l he fellong softly on them
to solve the faculty thonsge

Peeves. 1,41/0/1 Vtlal has Arr.%
ebeeee lo help *else lhe (ocally shad.
abet

%Item APIA. Fakully Slarrear
la.k Forte met :n lune And made
festanntendalsonc I, lIne Hoard ud li
leslors and 10 the phyucal thetaps
t ducats. commune) line Ruud al,

I sonneAted many of the reuunmencla,
bons into the bive-TemPkrin of Post-
IlwcalsureAte tuttrela-vel bduealsoo
Ilus plan adder,. s maga issots
In;ultv tinglopmend recrutment. end
retention.

The Foe Neat Plan also calls fru
of nrembeeshtp dues to be ilk,.

:tied lot faculty development this
ttioney goes to the FotoltlAtron for
Physreal Therapy's dew-total educa

p411 ol lit Ainisn.ltaltet NC IN In
AP I A siker: alred insurance plumm

trAtImms to go to this fund I.01 leal.
the AsunmiAllon ion:Muffled als.tut
Ii li).1111110 the Fentndanemn fon h.10,..
10tAl

Al.ilunJed etedeal,
doctoral education. which met m
September lurtu It w us /Pry lc I to
fatuity form physical thetAph
Or programs I he group matte ice
onuttetul .sons to tt.e Ward the
llostd I len Appointed i ask lour
the. 'sok many t,f the recommend.,
Dans nd developed a plan
nItenplhen Ice dowlimtal progitnis in
physical therapy And to entreAse tto
number I if flatknis eniolled lit

Alltlined in Ftovnfltttit.
and Its tn., mien! 0 10 retruil ,11/
dents dont elan tint and post
entry ItsU rotund who -re poet,
101 faculty members

YA110A. Attencic, lmmnnls, And
state hp/Janus And has e tesofted In
support of faculty-Mated swum In
Addrhon. staff his ass.Veit nil leg
Walnut. OlCh is lit VII. sh en.
stud, luntts Ito do tilts deselop

, men! Anti tt Writes:
tint hetet corferenses

tours tel.11-nit 10 the I

ape des eloped pubh. Athol s tin at ad
stale pf °grams Ith ns.d theta

and sonftntrd to collect Jo.,
out mho< members es ul academic
appointments and graduate edit"
Inur

Progreso 141.1:( int you Sell se abool
N es lestilateoes (hat host destioptd
measliest engross for reentelleg.
developing, or relatteag

Meet, 1 extn't know 1,1 att Itnpvt tt.
ell, school 1,1 .111..doel

lit worlohr set hod ro
nob, three problem. But I so, tell
sou About some 4,1 tile mole ct 0-

pt Asia es Mans Ili, titelim
n tv- hued faculty whel hays niae.
1, ttertrres and then lunird ,,hth
',repotted the fascIty 'mother
through graduals school Ils went,
Mose people throJgh Meted...dr!
work. the instalments Ate d<yeloping
Liele sismdl IA01111

(Inc 01,111114,m has developed s
ir.onteshy for non physical theta,
pots lyWhog a rkstotal deur, to
another disstptine ihrting the 'fain
veship Mr sleeked sumpletes an

"I noulti like to sew tr
signihnini allInhvr rtl
student, enter
therapy entry-levyl
ethinition programs
wah on neodemu-
conwr in their plans.

entry .kcel phystcal thetaptst pro
green and participates in physwal
therapy research. Simi of Ore 110
dents compkettng thm pondArn his s
Necklet% pheywAl therapY faculty
members

tiome schotis that arc afhliated
with hospitals hod' nsunteceeitise
agreement with hospital li1.114..1 tied
oho teach part lime Others share
faculty between ensirtutsons tn the
same city. filtre Ale Al., A Eseninp
nuMber of fatuftv platlise plum

pram. Although this option is nett
owsible en every Institution it Is a
one way of adding tmenttve for far
Ulls II 1150 plie lie ultiatlinis al
outlet to expand used competence
and s An 111.111lile lin., al reseat, h

Hy And large..1.1 Inonl Knotml,
have none is hue clinicians in ,PC
clatri Mi. 10 ieblh mule It 1.0

, 1,10Mes III C01.114. thls It n'l me
Ally fall unit, the category tel inn,
iilmSe because Ne hale NCO] lining
0.1 PnIkApPes 011 a part litre bate,
Iew dtcites

Proms, Report What de APOA Red
lee /Mesa.. least la do le the mat
kw years le addreso the fatuity abort.

Myers: Yet, as a prolesmon. must
b



285

t wren! and piaci.... I ,
ulty need to obtain thee dictolat
degrees and prepare Me scholarly
saiterS

PhyarCill thelapfsis who have
earned certification in a specialty
area need to bit1:001t an integral part
of the education coma/slay riot
nettss rils. full lane. bul on a pt rtria
nr111 parlitimg hosts They Can COM
Ione clinical practise nah a dedca.
lion to leaching and research, and, in
effect, become clrmeal scsentists

APIA needs to coovince federal,
slate, and other approprmie ar n
cia, 10 make funds available for
I acidly dmilopyrient And *e nerd
to continue to powtde 1101(1016 fir
doctoral training through the Foun-
dation or through other meant.
APIA will also Continue to Novick
information on faculty schemes,
research and other relevant infra.
crouton

In &Aaron, Me Main emplamis
should ht rat recruiting new students
for doctoral educate:el in physeal
therapy. Through this Methanisin
the profession should develop an
ample supply of docrarally prepated
members to assume faculty positions
in the entry level and graduate pro-
grams. Moor course imam that we
must recruit S1Udenli gnio the entry.
taint prOglarns wisD loot an Ka
demie c ccccc in mind llu.se alu
dents mum be carefully mentoted
and nurtured as they prolpass
thiough the entry.kstl and graduate
Pfoiram

Propose Repser: I( pm meld petal ea
Ideal planet Other Met Ilee years la
regard la the Wally ailleUel, afar
seseild yen me?

Myers: I would like !QM!. air: of the
physical therapy faculty members
prepared at the dottiest level and
terming a research career if not
already InvoNed tn rematch I
would idie to see larger entrylevel
programs with gremer numbers of
faculty and students I would also
like to sea an increase in the number
of doctotal programs Most armor.
tenth., I *seat' Ida to see a Sitindi
cant number or students enter phys
ICA therapy calm-level education
piovams with an acadtmte c ccccc in
Meli plans.

And finally, and this is really me
in-the.sky, I would like the material
community to umbra that APTA has
not created the shortage to tame sal
ants. APIA has put a lin of tone and
funds into Me number of
faculty, which in turn nal hely in
crease the nurrthei of physical theta.
pots What recede Mug fralite 0
that the shortage has come about
because the lisOpr of physical ther
apy has expanded in the last le*
Stan and the population as a whore
has realised the ac.'s antage of phys
cal therapy in improving ihc (Nal; g
ril lite lhis sr what has culled the
tremendous dentand for our RI%
Kai

I would invite others who henent
11001 physical theraps. and this in
clu.ks hospitals ahd Intitutions ol
higher education. to loin us in solv-
ing ale faculty shorten

r If coo hi, le di la It, I
fik Im I 0 nrlatrj liar, .ah Mier,
sou ran rail her di *NJ 2tIC; cut
3;(4)

IMIMINIMMI111111111111M1

45-904 0 - 91 - 10



286

ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN MEDICAL COLLEGES

The Assoc;ation of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) appreciates the opportunity to

submit out recommendations for the reauthorization of Title VII of the Public Health

Service Act. The AAMC serves as the national voice for our nation's 126 medical

schools, 420 teaching hospitals, and 90 academic and professional societies whose

members seek to promote public health by providing leadership on policies to educate

60,0(X) medical students, train the 68,000 residents in graduate medical education

programs, develop advances in medical knowledge and improve the delivery of health

care.

The AAMC strongly believes the programs under Title VII of the Public Health Service

Act should reeeivt, full reauthorization. The AAMC shares the Subcemmittee's concern

about access to health care in this country and commends the current review of the

expiring federal programs in Tide VII that serve to expand the availability of primary

care physicians and other health professionals. Since the enactment of the Health

Professions Education Assistance Act in 1963, federal health manpower assistance policy

has shifted its original emphasis of increasing, in the aggregate, the national supply of

health manpower to improving the geographic and specia;ty distribution of health caq

professionals. Overall supply considerations have now been replaced with a special focus

on the absence of primary care physicians, particularly in many rural and inner-city areas

and the underrepresernation of minority students in the health professions. It is clear

that an enhanced federal commitment to Title VII programs is crucial to support the

goal of improving the nation's health.

The Title VII programs of greatest concern to the member institutions of the AAMC are

those programs concerned with student financial aid, minority and disadvantaged

recruitment and retention, primary care residency training, and the piograms that address

geographic and specialty needs, such as Area Health Education Centers (AHECs) and

Geriatric Education Centers (GECs).
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StEinanciallissiganment_

For medical schools and students, rising levels of educational indebtedness is a pressing

problem. The AAMC is concerned about the effect high levels of debt may have on

access to medical education, the extent of repayment burdens, and the frequency of loan

defaults. Decreasing availability of grants and scholarships has exacerbated the medical

student's debt burden, particularly for the most needy students. For the vast majority of

students, loans are the primary source of financing medical educati3n. Seventy-nine

percent of 1990 medical school graduates borrowed to finance their education. This

group of students would have found it very difficult, and in many cases impossible, to

finance their education without the Health Education Assistance Loan (HEAL) and

federal guaranteed student loans administered by the Department of Education.

As borrowing has become the chief vehicle for financing medical education, the rectmt

escalation in levels of educational debt has meived greater attention. Indebtedness

am-mg graduates of medical school has increased almost 200 percent in the last decade.

The average 1990 total debt (including medical and pre-medical loans) of medical school

graduates who borrowed to finance their education was $46,224; over twelve percent of

graduates had debt in excess of $75,000. Minority students acquired a higher average

debt of $51,000; 21 percent graduated with debt in excess of $75,000. Medical educators

and financial aid administrators are concerned that these Elk bts are becoming

unmanageable for many borrowers, particularly in the first few years of repayment when

a significant number of physicians are in residency training programs. A medical school

graduate must complete a residency training program, lasting between three to seven

years to be eligible for board certification. During this period, medical residents earn

annual stipends ranging from $25,000 to $35,000, depending on their residency year and

region of the country. Clearly, a recent medical school graduate's debt-to-income ratio

makes loan repayment very difficult during their postgraduate training and early years or

practice.

2
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Data collected each year by the AAMC through its graduate questionnaire indicate that

debt level is not a major factor in decisions about specialty choice. While AAMC data

do not show a clear relationship between debt level and specialty choice, the medical

education community is concerned that indebtedness may be affecting decisions about

whether to pursue professional education and about the impact high debt may have on

loan dlaults. Without Title VII student financial assistance programs, many

disadvantaged, minority, and middle-income students would not be able to pursue the

study of medicine. To uphold the goal of equal access and to ensure that every capable

student, regardless of income, has an opportunity to attend medical school, the federal

student financial aid programs must be. continued and expanded.

The AAMC strongly recommends that the Exceptional Financial Need Scholarship

program be authorized at levels high enough to provide grant assistance to help meet the

financial needs of a greater number of minority and disadvantaged students. For FY

1991, the program received $9.8 million. In tne 1989-10 academic year, medical students

received $3 million in federal funds for EFN scholarships which provided assistance to

only 532 students (fewer than one percent of all medical students), with an average

award of $5,639. The AAMC recommends an authorization level for FYs 1992, 1993 and

1994 of $12, $15, and $18 million to increasit the number of scholarship awards to assist

the large number of needy students in all four years of medical school.

Scholarship support provided through a set-aside from the Health Careers Oppo tunity

Program (FICOP), the Financial Assistance to Disadvantaged Health Professions

Students (FADHPS), is also a much-needed source of financial aid to minority students

with documentcd need. The FY 1991 appropriations for the FICOP program was $30

million and of that, only $3.6 million assisted approximately 1.500 medical students with

average awards of $2,400 in 1989-90.

These two modest scholarship programs provide valuable and critical support for the

most needy students who incur large educational debt. If Congress eliminates the

3
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FADHPS programs, minority health professions students will be at a serious loss for

federal scholarship assistance which, in turn, will continue to exacerbate the problems of

the representation of minority and disadvantaged students in the health professions.

The Health Professions Student Loan (HPSL) is a campus-based revolving loan fund

which provides students with low interest loans on the basis of need. In 1989-90, HPSL

provided loans to 9,175 medical students. Although HPSL is designed to provide support

for both educational expenses up to $2,500 plus the cost of tuition, in recent years loans

have diminished to a point that the average loan now totals $3,502, while average tuition

costs are approximately $12,500. The AAMC supports the Administration's proposed

$15 million capital infusion to the HPSL program, and urges the Subcommittee to

authorize "such sums as necessary" to promote continued growth in the program.

The AAMC recommends lifting the "exceptional financial need" requirement under

HPSL for medical students. This requirement does not apply to any other health

discipline. HPSL awards are mad t on a per capita basis. Thus, medical schools would

not necessarily receive a greater share of HPSL allocations if the exceptional need

requirement were lifted, but financial aid officers could offer relatively low-cost HPSL

funds to a greater number of eligible medical students.

The Heahh Lineation Assistance Loan (HEAL) program provides a vital source of

funding for medical students. Although it is sometimes referred to as the "loan of last

resort," the availability of HEAL enables thousands of students to meet the costs of

medical education, and thus, begin a career in medicine. In the 19E9-90 academic year

alone, approximately one-fifth of all medical students, a total of over 12,000 individu:;s,

bort..)wed in excess of $100 million from the HEAL program. In this regard, the

availability of HEAL plays an important role in assuring that the nation has an adequate

supply of physicians. The AAMC urges Congress to reject the Administration's proposal

to phase-out the HEAL program. The AAMC is aware of the need to minimize the

number of claims and, thus, maintain the financial integrity of the Student Loan

4
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Insurance Fund (SLIF). However, the Association does not support the Administration's

proposal to replace the HEAL program with the HPSL program, The HPSL program

supports loans to a limited number of all financially needy medical students, not to the

broad cohort of students who borrow from HEAL Eligibility for and resources available

from HPSL would have to increase dramatically to support the needs of HEAL

borrowers. Such action woukl jeopardize the success and continued integrity of the

HFSL program. The AAMC believes the HPSL program should remai, a program to

provide subsidized, low-interest loans to very needy health professions students and that

HEAL must be retained, with appropriate programmatic reforms, to ensure that all

students can borrow the funds necessary to attend a health professions school.

The AAMC supports the concept of asking institutions, lenders, and secondary markets

to meet certain standards for the purpose of alleviating the problems and expense

associated w;th HEAL defaults. However, such accountability must be commensurate

with each participant's role in the HEAL program. The responsibilities and initiatives

necessary for an institution, lender, or secondary market to achieve compliance with an

accountability standard must involve factors w:thin the participant's sphere of influence

and control and also in the context of the program's stated objectives. Therefore, in

!aking steps to correct the default problems in the HEAL program, the AAMC supports

implementing a reasonable performance standard on medical schools participating in the

HEAL program.

Moreover, the AAMC supports establishing a 12 percent cap on the HEAL interest rate

to help curb the large expense students face with the HEAL loan. The interest rate is

determined by adding three percent to the average bond equivalent rate of the 91-day

Treasury Bill. In periods when the calculation exceeds an interest rate of 12 percent,

the government would be iesponsible for providing the necessary subsidy to a lender so

that the borrower would not be charged over the legal interest rate cap. Currently, the

interest rate is 11 percent and the HEAL program has no legal cap on the interest rate.

It is important to note that an e...s tablished 12 percent interest rate will eliminate the
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potential for the rate to rise as high as 19 1/2 percent, as it did in the early 198e's. A

limit on the HEAL interest rate will ease repayment and is likely to help reduce the

number and cost of defaults.

Finally, the AAMC recommends repealing Section 729 (a) (2), which prohibits including

HEAL in loan consolidation programs. Currently under the loan consolidation program,

borrowers with a minimum of $5000 in student loan debt can refinance loans received

from a variety of lenders participating in Stafford, SI.S, Perkins, and HPSL student loan

programs. Typically, the monthly payments are lower after consolidation than they would

be in aggregate for borrowers with multiple loans, and, consequently, consolidation has

the effect of reducing borrower defaults. The inclusion of HEAL in loans eligible for

consolidation would greatly ease the payment burden for health professions borrowers

with heavy student loan debt, and, thereby decrease federal loan default costs.

Minority Recruitment 2nd Retention

Tit If: VII plays an important role in the effort to increase the number of minority and

disadvantaged students in medicine. The Disadvantaged Assistance program is the

primary source of funding to assist in the recruitment and retention of minority students.

The program, known as the Health Careers Opportunity Program (HCOP), provides

grants to schools and other non-profit institutions to support the identification,

recruitment, admission, retention, and placement of minority and disadvantaged students

in the health professions. This support has helped participating medical schools

establish and maintain a number of effective and creative recruitment and retention

programs, including pre-matriculation courses, basic science enrichment courses, medical

academic advancement programs, health careers information workshops, and academic

assistance and tutorial programs. Together these initiatives have helped increase the

applicant pool and reduce the attrition rate of minorities in medical school.

The Disadvantaged Assistance program is an essential component in national efforts to

achieve a laudable and necessary goal, a goal to which the nation's medical schools and

6
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the federal government have been long and deeply committed. The AAMC recommends

that thc Disadvantaged Ass;stance program be extended and authorized for FY's 1992

through 1994, at levels of $35, $37, and $39 million.

The AAMC supports the Excellence in Minority Health Centers program which provides

critical support to medical schools in their effort to increase minority representation in

medicine. The percentage of Black, Hispanic, and Native American health professionals

is still far below parity with their numbers in the general population. Federal efforts are

necessary to help schools strengthen programs to enhance the academic performance of

minority students attending school. These programs are used to train, recruit, aad retain

minority students and faculty, and contribute to improving actuities in information

resources and curricula development with respect to minority health issues.

The AAMC is committed to increasing minority representation in medical schools. In

July, 1990, the Association initiated "Project 3,000 by 2,000 r to achieve the longstanding

goal of proportional representation in medical schools for stu tnts from

underrepresented ethnic groups. The project goal is to increase the number of new first

year minority student.: to 3,000 by the year 2,000, an increase of over 100 percent. The

i'lcus of A AMC efforts will be on early intervention in the education process. Specific

projeas will concentrate on expanded career options, educational enrichment, mentoring,

and financial assistance. The AAMC will encourage academic medical centers to take

the lead in organizing these efforts and work with others to promote minority youth

success. Federal funding will be critical in enabling individual institutions to implement

programs designed to achieve the AAMC's national goal.

Primary Care Training

Over the past five years. thc number of graduates planning to be certified in primary

care specialties has decreased from 30 to 23 percent. Approximately 2,000 communities

in this country are still designated as Health Professions Shortage Areas (HPSAs) and

4,300 physicians are needed to provide primary care services in them. Moreover, 1990
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National Resident Matching Prograin data indicates that only 55.7 percent of the

available family practice residency positions were filled by graduates of U.S. medical

schools. In general pediatrics, 55.6 percent of the available positions were filled by

graduates from U.S. medical schools, and for general internal medicine the rate was 61.5

percent. Approximately 300 each of general internists and general pediatricians graduate

annually from primary care track residency training programs. As more medical schools

and teaching hospitals seek to increase their commitment to primary care education,

model programs, as supported by Title VII grants, will be looked to for guidance in

planning new educational approaches nationwide. The Title VII primary care grant

programs are a valuable and necessary source of funding for the development and

continued existence of primary care educational programs for many medical schools and

teaching hospitals.

Federal funds have been crucial in the development of many Family Medicine

Departments and Family Medicine Residency and Dainin: programs. In the 1980's,

federal funding partially supported about 40 percent of the family practice programs

which train about 50 percent of the graduates. Currently there are 100 medical school

departments of family medicine providing ambulatory based training to prepare residents

and medical students for ambulatory biLsed practice to encourage graduates io practice in

rural and other underserved areas. The family medicine depar...,ents, as a result of the

nature of their training facilities, are often faced with difficult financial constraints. Over

two-thirds of the residency programs are located in community hospitals, rather than

traditional tertiary medical centers. In addition to the community hospitals, family

practice residency programs are affiliated with community health centers, migrant health

centers and free clinics. Location in non-traditional training sites, coupled with an

ambulatory based training model, presents the residency programs and departments with

serious nik.ncial challenges. Patient revenues have not been able to provide support for

major family medicine programs. Furthermore, the presence of an education mission in

family medicine clinics decreases the productivity of such clinics. As a consequence,

primary care residency programs depend heavily on federal support. Enhanced targeted

8
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federal support is essential for these programs to support the goal of increasing the

number of primary care physicians. The AAMC recommends "such sums as necessary"

for these programs to encourage continued growth.

The General Internal Medidne and General Pediatrics Residency programs have been

very effective in increasing the number of general internists and general pediatricians.

These residency progmns have been heavily involved in the process of primary care

education because of the programs well-defined, closely monitored, continually evaluated

curricula and a strong administrative structure. These federally-funded primary care

training programs provide physicians greater exposure to continuity of care settings, more

comprehensiveness in clinical rotations, greater diversity in community-based training

sites, and training in geriatrics education. It is these characteristics that enhance the

quality of training in primary care and increase the number of physicians entering the

held because the of the documented positive educational and professional experience.

The AAMC recommends that the Title VII reauthorization legislation include language

establishing pre-doctoral clerkships for general intern& medicine Enid pediatric programs.

Smch predoctoral programs are already authorized for family practice under the current

legislation and have proven quite successful. The AAMC recommends for FY's 1992

through 1994, total authorization levels of $27, $31 and $36 million for the existing

programs, assuming in successive years the proposed $2, $3, and $4 million will be

allocated to re-doctoral clerkships.

Geographic Ma !distribution

The Area Health Education Centers (AHECs) program supports the dispersion of

primary car physicians and other health care professionals into medically designated

shortage areas by providing incentives for students through training opportunities and

practical expt..rience in geographically remote areas away from the main campus.

Currently 38 AHEC programs exist nationwide, constituting a national mom- I'm

dissemination of federal pri3rities and new technologies to health professionals in clinical

settings. The AHEC program has been successful in linking the resources of university

9
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health science centers with the health care and educational needs of communitics. The

AHEC program was established as one of three parts of a vital triad created to help

solve the nation's health care delivery crisis. The Community and Migrant Health

Centers assured the delivery of health services to medically underserved areas, the

National Health Service Corps assured a supply of health professionals to staff those

centers, and the AHEC program assured the support of the health professional schools

in the recruitment and retention of providers who would work in medically underserved

areas. Tne same health care issues that plagued the nation in the 1970's are as

important today. The AHEC program is a crucial component of health care delivery in

our country, The AAMC recommends reauthorization for FY's 1992 through 1994 of

$23, $25 and $27 million.

Health FAucation Training Centers (H2TCs) improve the supply, distribution, and

quality of health care services along the border of Mexico and the United States, and in

other severely medically underserved areas. Emphasis on health promotion and disease

prevention through public education should continue to be emphasized througl the

HETC program. For FYs 1992 through 1994, the AAMC recommends reauthorization

levels of $8, $12 and $16 million,

Geriatric Train* and Faculty Development enables physicians to be trained in geriatric

medicine. The giants support medical schools, teaching hospitals, and graduate medical

education programs for academicians and researchers. Funding provided for curricula

development and patient care delivery systems are essential to accommodate the

increasing health care needs of America's aging population. The AAMC supports

geriatric training and faculty development and the appropriate role they play in

encouraging the focus of mediral educators in gerontolog and geriatric medicine. To

support ihese goals, the AAMC recommends reauthorization levels of $5, $5.5, and $6

million, for FYs 1992 through 1994.

10
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Geriatric Education Centers (GECs) provide short term faculty training, curriculum and

other educational resource development, technical assistance, and outreach. The

programs continue to emphasize multidisciplinary education and are affiliated with ether

educational institutions, chronic i.r.d acute care hospitals, community-based centers for

the elderly ambulatory care centers, nursing homes and VA hospitals. Many centers

include geriabic evaluation units that function as centers for clinical training. These also

serve both continuing education and clinical rotation functions for training health

professions students. The AAMC recommends reauthorization levels of $16, $19, and

$22 million for FYs 1992 through 1994.

Special Projects

Preventive Medicine Residency programs provide funding for the development of new

residency training progiams and assist residents in preventive medicine training programs

through financial aid awards. In addition, the Special Projects Section 788 provides

funding for a number of important model education projects for health professions

training in this field of growing concern. For FYs 1992 through 1994, !he AAMC

recommends reauthorization levels of $5, $5.5, and $6 million for these programs.

Rural Health

Grants under section 799A provide interdisciplinary training for health professionals to

provide services in rural areas. These rural health initiatives help promote and

encourage medical students to elect the critical career choice of practicing in

underserved, rural areas. The AAMC recommends reauthorization levels of $5, $5.5, and

$6 million for FYs 1992 through 1994.

5=10Z
Titl: VII represents a successful partnership between the federal government and the

nation's medical schools and teaching hospitals which continues to have beneficial results

for the health of the American people. It is clear that federal support should continue to

be targeted to student assistance, minority recruitment, and expanded primary care

training opportunities in conjunction with other programs designed to help solve our

nation's geographic and specialty maldistribution problems. Title VII is a relatively small

set of programs, but its influence on access to high quality education has been crucial to

the continuing excellence of the U.S. health care delivery system. The AAMC supports

reauthorization of the key programs mentioned above and appreciates the opportunity to

participate in the debate of developing effective policies to ensure the availability of well

trained physicians and appropriate modalities of nellth care in our nation.
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Testimony of

David Satcher, M.D., Ph.n.
President

THE ASSOCIATION OF MINORITY HEALTH PROFESSIONS
SCHOOLS

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, thank you for

the opportunity to present the views of the Association of Minority

Health Professions Schools regarding the reauthorization of the

Health Professions Training Assistance Act.

Our Assocation is comprised of 8 historically black health

professions schools; the Meharry Medical and Dental Colleges, in

Nashville, TN; the Charles R. Drew University of Medicine and

Science in Los Angeles, CA; the Morehouse School of Medicine in

Atlanta, GA; the Florida A&M University College of Pharmacy in

Tallahassee, FL; the Texas Southern University College of Pharmacy

and Health Sciences in Houston, TX; the Xavier University of

Louisiana College of Pharmacy in New Orleans, LA; and the Tuskegee

University School of Veterinary Medicine in Tuskegee, AL. These

institutions have trained 40% of the nation's Black physicians, 40%

of the nation's Black dentists, 50% of the nation's Black

pharmacists, and 75% of the nation's Black veterinarians. Most of

these graduates are working in the nation's underserved rural and

inner city communities.

Mr. Chairman, we are very proud of the accomplishments of our

institutions, especially given the significant challenges that we

have overcome throughout our existence. Our schools are considered

by many to be a national resources. Only recently has the federal

commitment to supporting these institutions and the students who

attend our schools become a significant issue.
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2112rtaaes of Minorities in the Health Professions:

The gains made in black enrollment and graduates in health

professions education programs peaked in the mid-seventies. The

deteriorating pool of minority applicants to medical schools, the

growing debt burden of minority students pursuing health careers

and the persistent shortage of minority faculty in medical schools

were all cited by the Council on Graduate Medical Education as

major factors contributing to the deteriorating state of minority

representation in medicine.

According to the COGME report the problem of recruiting

minority students to medical school is directly linked to poor

early academic preparation and insufficient encouragement. There

is a high dropout rate among minority students and evidence that

those who remain in the educational pipeline are often inadequately

prepared for study in the health sciences.

The report also noted that minority students incur higher debt

levels thc.n majority students, and are being more severely impacted

by rising tuition costs and 'he decreasing availability of

scholarships and other desirable forms of financial aid. If this

situation continues it will exacerbate the decline in minority

applicants to medical school and will further discourage minority

students from choosing to practice in primary care specialties and

in underserved areas.

2
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Finally, the report noted that minorities are severely

underrepresented on the faculties of U.S. medical schools and the

this underrepresentation has a negative effect on both the

recruitment, enrollment, and graduation of minority students and

the professional development of all medical students.

The attrition rate of minorities In health professiuns schools

has also been identified as a major problem. Comparatively, the

retention rate of minorities is much lower than that of non-

minorities. It is clear that it is very important to keep these

students enrolled once they are in school, given the already

significant investment made in nurturing these students.

For a long time our schools have struggled against terrific

odds to survive. The support of your subcommittee in terms of

federal resources for programs impacting our students and our

institutions has had and will continue to have a significant impact

in enabling us to achieve our m:ssion - to improve the poor health

status of Blacks and other minorities and to address the

underrepresentation of blacks and other minorities in the healtb

professions.

Mr. Chairman, uespite the recent federal support that has been

provided to our institutions, there is a historic shortage of

minorities in the health professions While Blacks represent

approximately 12% of the U.S. population, only 2-3% of the nation's

3
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Physicians, dentists, pharmacists, and veterinarians are Black.

Studies have demonstrated that when blacks are ',:rained in the

health professions, they are much more likely to serve in medically

underserved areas, more likely to take care of other minorities and

more likely to accept patients who are Medicaid recipients or

otherwise poor. For this reason, it is imperative that the federal

commitment to training blacks in the health professions be strong.

It is also important to note that our institutions endure a

financial struggle which is inherent in our mission to train

disadvantaged individuals to serve in underserved areas. Because

of the 'financial plight of our students, our institutions are not

able to use tuition to respond to the discontinuation of capitation

or other forms of federal support for health professional

education. In addition, because the patient populations served by

these institutions have been historically poor, they have not

earned money from the process of patient care at a time when the

average medical school gets 40 to 50% of its revenue from patient

care.

29.121._iieslith,51.4111s_ of Blacks

There is a direct correlation between the underrepresentation

of minorities in the health professions and the health status

disparity among Blacks and Whites. The Ilu HMS Secretary's Task

4
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Force MAROOlt DiAAh And Minority Uealth documented that the

infant mortality rate for Blacks is almost double that of Whites,

and that life expectancy for Blacks is significantly shorter than

thtt for whites. Blacks suffer disproportionately high rates of

cancer, diabetes, pulmonary complications, and other disorders that

contribute to 60,000 annual excess deaths per year among blacks

when compared to whites. If not for the efforts of historically

black health professions schools, the health status disparity

between minorities and the general population would be even

greater.

Unfortunately since this historic report the health' status

disperity between the two groups has actually worsened. Black life

expectancy has decreased and AIDS, which was not even mentioned in

the 1985 report is now a leading cause of death and

disproportionately affects blacks and other minorit'es - minorities

who constitute 24% of the population but 45% of the AIDS victims.

Reauthorization of Health Professions Initiatives

AMHPS is very supportive of the continued existence of the

various programs in the Health Professions Training Assistance Act.

Please allow me, Mr. Chairman, to express the appreciation of our

Association for the action your subcommittee took last year to

approve the Disadvantaged Minority Health Improvement Act. That

5
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initiative included many progrims to aid minority health -

including an expansion of the Centers for Excellence

program and new authority for Health Professions Loans, a

Disadvantaged Minority Scholarship program, Health Services for

residents of public housing, and statutory establishment of the

Office of Minority Health.

We are concerned that there may be a growing sentiment to

trade the support for current health professions programs for the

minority health initiatives. This would be inappropriate. The

minority health initiative is a distinct and critical thrust which

is not intended to replace support for traditional health

professions training programs.

Exceptional Financial Need

EFN resources are among the most critical in our institutionsl

ability to offer a bright student a promising educational

opportunity. Although Congress has allowed for greater flexibility

in the distribution of funds so that EFN funds are eligible for

more students, the authorization levels have not been increased

accordingly. We believe that the authorization level must be

increased to allow for continued support to the increased number of

students eligible for these scholarships.

6
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Disadva_ltacied Assistance (H-COP)

The Health Careers Opportunity Program (H-COP) is a valuable

resource in our ability to identify, recruit, retain and train

minority health professionals. It is the primary health

preparation program for underrepresented minorities entering the

health professions. These programs have gone a long way toward

maintaining or increasing minority enrollment in many health

professions schools. These contracts and grants are very important

to our school's ability to attract disadvantaged students into the

health professions. We firmly believe that the committee should

carefully look at the original intent of the legislation to support

select programs that contribute significantly to training

disadvantaged minority individuals. Currently we believe the

program funding is spread too thinly among too many institutions to

have the type of impact that was anticipated.

Health Professions Student Loans & Health Education Assisanoe

Loans

We are concerned that HPSL loans will be viewed primarily as

a replacement and not as supplement to HEAL loans. HPSL funds will

be used to assist minority institutions develop and maintain a

sufficient revolving fund as many minority institutions have not

had sufficient time or resources to develop revolving funds.

7
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The HPSL program is insufficient to replace the intended

function of HEAL loans. HEAL loans are an important component of

the overall health professions authority, yet they often carry a

prohibitive interest rate that discourages an individual,

especially a poor minority, from seeking a health professions

career. AMHPS recommends that there be no limit placed on these

loans and that compounding of interest is reduced in order to lower

repayment amounts. Minority students incur a higher debt than

majority students and consequently would be disproportionately

affected by a phaseout of this program.

Area Health Education Centers Program

The AHEC program is designed to increase the number of health

practitioners in shortage areas by awarding funds to modical

schools that provide training at remote sites that are designated

health manpower shortage areas. Our Association adamantly opposes

the elimination of this important program and in fact supports an

expansion of this important initiative.

iaecial Education InitiatimeS

We believe that the Health Professions Special Education

Initiative, which supports two year medical schools, such as the

Charles R. Drew University of Medicine and Science, is an extremely
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important priority. The support for the development and

enhancement of basic science or clinical medical educational

efforts aids two year schools which are improving their medical

curriculum and making preparations to become 4 year schools.

Mr. Chairman, thank ycri for the opportunity to appear before

your committee. We deeply appreciate the support you have

demonstrated in the past for training minorities in the health

professions, and pledge our support for the reauthorization bill.

9
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ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSORS OF MEDICINE
and the

ASSOCIATION OF PROGPAM DIRECTORS IN INTERNAL MEDICINE

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

The Association of Professors of Medicine (APM) and the Association of Program

Directors in Internal Medicine (APDIM) are pleased to have the opportunity to submit

testimony on the health professions training programs of funded under Title VII of the

Public Health Service Act.

The APM represents the chairs of departments of medicine at the 126 American

medical schools. One of the capacities in which APM members serve is as directors and

Jvera ll supervisors of the internal medicine residency training programs in academic

medical center and major university teaching hospitals. In this role as teachers to young

physicians, APM members and their faculty provide training during the standard three

years of the residency program in general internal medicine. That is, residents are given

a broad exposure to a variety of system-related conditions, both on the ambulatory and

in-patient basis, the care of intensively ill patients, instruction in numerous procedures

used in practice, the management of patients on an continuity basis, and other cognitive

and procedural skills necessary for the practice of internal medicine.

The APDIM is a national service orgE.nization representing over 1000 individuals

responsible for the training and education of all internal medicine residents at accredited

residency programs, including university, community, municipal, and VA medical center

hospitals throughout the United States and Puerto Rico. Program directors and their staff

interact with over 19,000 internal medicine residents on daily basis and facilitate meeting

the primary health care needs at both urban and rural sites throughout the United States.

Data clearly indicate the societal need for more general internists. At the same

time, however, there has been a decline in interest in internal medicine and other primary

care careers among graduating students. The reasons behind this decline are varied, but

two appear to play a large role in the eyes of the APM and APDIM: First, the generally

high levels of debt incurred by medical students and the relatKaly low (compared to other

specialties) compensation received by general internists early in their careers. While there

is no hard evidence to support this belief, a large body of anecdotal evidence points to

it having a large impact on the career decisions of young physicians. [The APM plans

1
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to explore possibility of an in-depth study of the impact of medical student debt on the

choice of internal medicine as a career.) Second, high demands to provide patient care

services are placed upon residents in most major teaching hospitals, in large part due

to the high acuity of illness of the patients admitted to these hospitals. This situation

makes the residency itself a demanding undertaking, compared to other fields. As

student's concerns over lifestyle" during residency apparently increase, this situation

becomes more of a factor. In addiiion, the need for all physician services, both resident

and faculty, to cover the in-patient population, makes development of a generalist

curriculum more difficult.

A fairly large number of internal medicine residency training programs use the so-

called Iracking" model for their training programs, where early on in their residency

trainees choose a curriculum that will orient them towards training either in primary care

general internal medicine or towards one of the medical subspecialties (nephrology,

cardiology, gastroenterology, infectious diseases, etc.). The aim of the primary care

tracks is to design teaching modalities and sites where training can flourish that will

prepare these physicians to care for a wide variety of patients on a continuous basis.

Since their inception in the 1970s, many medical school departments of medicine

have received a grant under section 784 of Title VII. Of the 55 grants currently being

funded under the combined general internal medicine/pediatrics program, 29 havebeen

awarded to departments of medicine. These funds are invaluable to the operations of

general internal medicine programs, because, one they place training funds directly into

the hands of the chairmen or program directors, unlike different sources of graduate

medical education support that are filtered through other parts of the academic medical

enterprise.

In addition, these grants are also useful because of their dual purpose; funds

awarded under Section 784 can be used for both residency training as well as faculty

development. This is particularly important because the development of faculty dedicated

to teaching general internal medicine is one of the keys to increasing the numbers of

students entering general internal medicine, because of the proven influence of positive

faculty role models. Clinical skills are valued very highly for instructors of this type, and

2
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they must necessarily be nurtured along a different path thai more traditional, sub-

spedatty based faculty. Title VII funds help compensate departments for lower amount

of patient care revenues produced by generafist facutty, as well ss the additional dollars

lost due to time spent teaching. It would be difficult in many cases for departmaits of

medicine to support the same number of primary care faculty in the absence of the Title

VII funds.

It should also be noted that general internists and other primary care physldans

provide the majority of the medical care services to undeserved populations, both In the

inner-cities and in rural America. Still, there are not enough of these types of physicians

to care for the undeserved as well as provide for the needs of the general population.

As the APM and APDIM have submitted that Title VII funds aid in the training of increased

numbers of general internists, the need for these physicians by the least fortunate in our

society is reason enough for their contnuance.

The APM, APDIM and the other major primary care organizations, supported

testkriony recently presented before the subcommittee by Robert Graham, M.D. of the

American Academy of Family Physicians. The testimony draws attention to the Bush

Administration's proposed elimination of funding for the general internal

medicine/pediatrics and other health professions training programs funded by Trite VII.

We strongly opposes this discontinuance; we believe that this could lead to the closure

of a number of primary care residencies or, at the very least, a reduction in the number

of primary residency pottions.

Overall, the APM and APDIM recommend the following levels be authorized in the

Subcommittee's bill for section 764 of Title VII: $27 million in FY 1992, $31 million in FY

1993, and $36 million in FY 1994, Both Associations believe that this increase is justified

by the identified need for increased numbers of primary care physicians.

The joint testimony also urges that funds authorized under Section 784 be made

available for pre-doctoral training in general internal medidne end pediatrics. Interviews

with medical residents and students and other data sources show a dear connection

between exposure to primary care at an early k iel and career choice. In fact, studies

have consistently shown that positive experience during the clinical clerkships -- the

3
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period, usually during a medical student's third year, when they spend a specified period

of time working in clinical medical specialties, such as internal medicine, surgery,

psychiatry, pediatrics, etc -- plays a great role in their selection of a residency. Therefore,

the we support the addition of $2 million in FY 1992, $3 million in FY 1993, and $4 million

in FY 1994 for pre-doctoral training under section 784.

The APM and APDIM would also like to express their strong opposition to

legklation, H.R. 2231 "The Primary Care Training Amendments of 1991", introduced

recently by Rep. Jim Cooper. This legislation would mandate that in order to be eligible

to receive a Title VII grant, a medical or osteopathic school must have both a department

of family medicine, as well as required clerkship in family medicine during the students'

third year. Our reasons for opposition are two-fold: First, it is highly Inappropriate, and

without precedent, for the federal government to micromanage medical school curriculum

in this type of manner. The mission of each of the 126 medical schools, while having the

common purpose of training high quality physicians, is in someway different espedally

among those with a strong commitment to, and investment in, biomedical research; it

would be a mistake and bad public policy to mandate that these institutions develop

family medicine departments from scratch.

Second, should institutions be forced to develop departments and clerkships in

family medicine, the funds used to establish these units would be taken from the very

training programs Title VII funds now help support and the trainees to which they are

dedicated. The overall financial situation in academic medicine Is not particularly good;

funds would have to be taken from existing programs -- such as internal medicine and

pediatrics -- In order to establish the new family medicine training efforts. The end result

would most likely be that fewer overall primary care physicians wouk. e trained through

Wnoliance with ttls_fecleral prescription,

Rep. Cooper's legislation is also flawed in that it equates only family medicine with

primary care; In fact, general internists cars for more patients in all Illness and

income categories than do their family medicine colleagues. The APM and APDIM

believe that the general internist is also trained in a manner that provides him the best

training and clinical skills necessary to care for the majority of patients needing medical

4
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care.

The APM and APDIM also wants to mention the Administation's proposed

elimination of the Health Education Assistar.:e Loan (HEAL) program. There are serious,

and legitimate, concerns raised about the level of debt that a medical student can incur

under lows froin this program, As mentioned earlier, the APM believes that

indebtedness has a major impact on why fewer students are choosing careers In internal

medicine and other primary care careers. We support measures aimed at loan

forgiveness as an incentive to enter primary care fields, such as the National Health

Service Corps. Nevertheless, we oppose the elimination of the HEAL program in the

absence of another federally-guaranteed program for general financing medical student

education,

In conclusion, the we urge the subcommittee to rejoct the Administration's planned

cut-off of funding for section 784 and other training programs funded by Title VII. These

funds are very important to efforts at training more primary care physicians needed by

millions of Americans. We would be happy to provide the Subcommittee with any

additional information it wishes.

5
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Statement of the

Association of Schools and Colleges of Optometry

OPTOMETRIC EDUCATION: VISION FOR THE FUTURE

THE CHANGING WORLD

Vision is our most precious sense. It is the primary means by which we

acquire knowledge and perceive the world. Most citizens of the United States

who seek to protect, preserve, and enhance their vision do so through the

services of optometrists. Optometrists also serve as a primary entry point

into the health care system through the diagnosis of ocular conditions which

indicate such disease as diabetes, hypertension, and other systemic

abnormalities which are often first revealed by ocular symptoms.

The "graying of America" has substantially increased the demand for vishn

care and rehabilitation. At the same time, there is an increasing need to

improve the learning skills and educational capabilities of our children to be

compeitive in a technological world. Both gerir' 'c and pediatric vision

care have always been important traditional aspects of optometric service.

Of striking consequence is the change in the scope of optometry during recent

years, from a profession initially accountable for facility of visual function

- such as improving visual acuity, and providing coordinated, clear vision -

to additional responsibility for the integrity of the ocular structures such

as dealing with pathological conditions of, and injuries to, the eye. The

need to enhance and develop existing and new curricdla as well as applicable

clinical and residency exposures for increased training has placed an extended

burden upon optometric education
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Computerization and related electronic innovation have markedly altered the

technology and instrumentation for examination of the eye and diagnosis of

ocular diseases. These developments have not only improved reliability but

also expedited examination procedures. The acquisition and integration of

this expensive equipment into the didactic and clinical phases of optometric

education has presented a major challenge.

A number of hiqhly original research techniques are in process which have

tremendous diagnostic and prognostic importance. These techniques have the

potential for indicating abnormal conditions far in advance of present day

procedures. There is a critical need to integrate these procedures, and

accompanying critical instrumentation, into the customary routine of vision

care.

THEN AHD NON

In the 1960s, the Health Professions [ducat nal Assistance Act (HPEAA)

provided construction funds to the existing schools and colleges nc

optometry. In 1964, optometry students became eligible for scholarships and

loans under this Act. In 1971 the Comprehensive Health Manpower Act, which

replaced the HPEAA, included capitation grants. basic improvement grants, (a

continuation of provisions of the HPEAA) ahd special project grants.

However, institutions established since 1971 have received only minimal
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support from this and succeeding legislation. Since 1979, federal assistance

to optometric education institutions has been limited to student loans and

scholarships. During this time, no support has been received through

capitation grant.., basic improvement grants, or special project grants.

Congress is to be commended for its recognition of the promise of optometric

education and service and for its past support. However, the Comprehensive

Health Manpower Act of 1971, and succeeding legislation, have not met the

urgent needs of the present. Reaffirmation of federal support is needed to

continue the positive effect of the achievements in optometry. These

achievements apply significantly to:

o early recognition of major systemic disorders through ocular symptoms

o devices to improve low vision resulting from the debility of aging

o rehabilitation of visually handicapped children

o improvement of learning skills and anticipated improvement of the

United States' competitive edge in a world of increasing technology

improvement In industrial production resulting from sharper vision,

and a visually enhanced environment

o general enrichment of the quality of life

Funding limitations may not only inhibit lhe leallzatIon of these

achievements, but also restrict future research and development. Another

result could be to discourage the entry of promising young people Into the

field of optometry.
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These issues are national in scope. Visual and ocular anomalies affect most

of our population and include members of our families, our friends, and our

neighbors. Among our most significant losses are those who are unable to

realize their innate potentials because visual impairments limit their powers

and their consequent contributions to society.

OPTOMETRIC AND DENTAL EDUCATION: SIMILARITIES

In order to pro.cle a basis for comparison, it should be pointed out that the

funding needs of optometry schools are essentially the same as those of dental

schools. This conclusion is based on the following similarities:

o Both involve four academic years plus clerkships, internships or

externships.

o Both require the same period of undergraduate collegiate education.

o Both devote approximately half of the curriculum to basic and clinical

sciences and half to clinical training as well as some didactic courses

involving professioinal practice.

o Both are expected to be productive in basic and clinical research.

o Both produce independent practitioners who are primary health care

providers.

o Both provide unique selvices In d specialized area, but one in which a

majority of the population require care.

rt
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RESTORING THE COMMITMENT

This statement has been prepared by the Association of Schools and Colleges of

Optometry which represents the seventeen schools and colleges of optometry in

the United States. Its purpose is to describe to Congress the needs of

optometlic education. On behalf of the millions of Americans who depend upon

the optometric profession for the attainment and preservation of clear,

comfortable vision and eye health, Congress is asked to consider the

recommendations in this document as a first step towards renewing its

commitment to the promise of enhanced eye care.

Optometric education in the United States is, without question, the best in

the world. A considerable reinvestment in the infrastructure of optometric

education by the federal government will preserve and expand this status.

Congress must renew its Investment in the critically required facilities,

services, personnel, and research support. A survey of all seventeen U.S.

optometry schools, condurted in May of 1990, indicates that the following

areas demand immediate attention:

I. CONSTRUCTION AND RENOVATION OF PHYSICAL FACILITIES

Those instittP:ions which delived funds for contnction 1n the years 1960

1970 now facu the urgent need to refurbish the normal debilities of time and

wear. Many of the seven schools established since 1971 have received no

federal support for construction or renovation. In addition, over the same
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period, the changes in the scope of practice of optometry have necessitated

introduction of new facilities and/or redistribution of the space available in

even the best conditioned buildings.

II. CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT

The replacement and introduction of specific clinical equipment is a primary

concern. There is a need for ongoing refvbishing of examining instruments

and equipment, which suffer extraordinary stress through constant use by

students and interns. This need also includes the continued updating of

automated and computerized devices which enhance methodology by both im- Lied

reliability and expedited procedures. Unfortunately, these devices are

extraordinarily expensive. A further necessity is the technical development

for clinical applications of special "imaging" laboratory processes.

These methods have the potential to reveal conditions at very early stages,

well in advance of most presently used diagnostic procedures. Finally,

expansion of clincial facilities is essential to increase patient access to

the "state of the art" of present day optometry.

III. CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT

Optometric curricula: particularly pharmacology, pathology, immunology, and

related biomedical fields are experiencing a needs explosion for space, for
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new equipment, and particularly, for additional specialized members of the

faculty. Continuing curriculum development in these and other areas of

optometric education is vital to the ongoing enhancement of optometry's role

as provider of the diagnosis, treatment and management of ocular disease.

Augmented clinical training is also required to accompany an expanding

didactic educational experience.

The ability 4o constantly "renew" existing faculty is crucial to optometric

education so that they may keep abreast of advancements in instrument and

computer technology, methodologies, and research functions. Residency

education involving post graduate clinical specialization has grown in the

last fifteen years, and has become a significant new source of clinical

education in optometry. It is now apparent that residency education must be

further expanded and better coordinated into the teaching programs.

IV. REHABILITATION OF VISION

While rehabilitative optometry includes a number of aspects, major emphasis is

placed here upon three: geriatrics, low vision, and pediatrics. The graying

of America has introduced a genuine problem of the specialized visual needs of

the geriatric population. The Association of Schools and Colleges of

Optometry, through a federally supported grant, has already initiated a

curriculum in geriatrics and has developed a gerontology manual. However,

development of the geriatric curriculum is still needed.

t.)
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Present indications are that reduction and loss of vision is a normal

accompaniment of advancing years. An increase in the number of individuals

bound to suffer from low vision can be readily anticipated. The development

of both devices and procedures for augmenting available vision and appropriate

training in vision rehabilitation is essential.

The development of pediatric optometry indicates the profession's concern with

correcting poor vision in children, which may also play a major role in

reducing adult illiteracy. The public concern with the effect of illiteracy

upon individual lifestyle, contributions to society, and international

industrial competition has long been recognized by optometry. Research in the

relationShips between visual defects and illiteracy and the potentials for

correction needs to be greatly expanded.

V. RESEARCH

ihe importance of research to any scientific field is evident. In optometry,

clinical research requires development and expansion particularly in, although

not confined to, the areas reflecting the broadening scope of prActice.

Research is also greatly needed in the further generation of state-of-the-art

technology. Equally critical is the amplification of the imaging techniques

and technical development of the instrumentation applicable to clinical use.

flk )
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Continued research in existing environmental and industrial studies will help

to identify and create proper indicies oF lighting and colors, thereby

increasing safety and efficiency. Studies measuring the relationship of

visual aptitudes to all types of human performance and the impact of

specialized training on accomplishment are also increasingly important.

Clincial research requires support in facilities, specialized equipment,

trained faculty, support personnel, and graduate student participation.

Educational research to assist in developing improved strategies in teaching

and learning within the optometric profession are also critically needed.

VI. MINORITIES

Support is needed for recruitment of minority students into the profession of

optometry and for retention of such students to graduation. Some success has

already been achieved by virtue of summer enhancement programs and making

tutorial programs more available. Additional programs for this purpose must

be developed and instituted. Equally important is the need to provide

adequate financial s!pport to minority students, particularly those who are

often financially disadvantaged and thus, most burdened by the rising cost of

optometric education.

In addition, funds to recruit and retain faculty and to assist eligible

students in graduate programs leading to faculty positions are essential in

order to establish appropriate role models in teaching, research, and

administration.

VT')
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VII. STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Eighty six percent of optometry graduates in 1990 required federal financial

assistance. In spite of the fact that the average amount of indebtedness

continues to escalate, in some cases as high as $80,000, and the costs of

establishing a practice are considerable, the repayment record of optometry

graduates is the best of all the health professions. In order to keep these

debts at manageable levels, it is imperative that optometry students continue

to fully participate in all federal financial assistance programs and that

they have access to scholarship funds and loans at affordable rates.

NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES

The needs of optometric education are compelling. There has been no major

infusion of federal funds for optometric education in many years. This

situation has led to a potential shortage of equipment and deterioration of

physical plants. A major challenge is the development of curricula requ:red

to keep pace with the rapid advancements occurring in eye and vision care.

This development involves physical and clinical facilities, equipment, numbers

of faculty, and faculty preparation and training. In the national interest,

there is an immediate need to fund innovative educational programs required to

meet the growing eye care needs of the American people.

. ;)
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A3SOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PROGRAMS IN HEALTH ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee-

My name is Gary Filerman and I am President of the Associa-

tion of University Programs in Health Administration, a consor-

tium that includes 53 U.S. graduate schools with a network of

collaborating health services foundations, business organiza-

tions, and government agencies. Our primary mission since the

time the Association was founded back in 1948 has been to focus

the resources of higher education on a single goal: managing

health services with optimum quality, efficiency, and

responsiveness.

Mr. Chairmln, perhaps the most critical challenge confront-

ing our health care system today is the coordination and manage-

ment ot a system that will cost-effectively serve the health

needs of all citizens. And never has that challenge been so

great.

For in spite of more than a decade of intensive efforts to

curb health care costs, medical spending by Americans continues

to grow faster than the rate of inflation. At the same time, we

are seeing an explosion of new types of health care organize-

tions--such as HMos, PPOs, and home health agencies--that empha-

size prevention, primary care, and low-cost alternatives to

traditional health care systems.

Unfortunately, many of the efforts that have been undertaken

to control rising costs and find more cost-effective methods for
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meeting America's health service needs have met with only limited

success.

Why? In large part because these efforts outrun the manage-

ment capabilities of the very system they are intended to help.

The fact is that nearly every aspect of health care policy--

from assessing expensive new technologies to AIDS patient manage-

ment to dealing with nursing shortages--is ultimately the respon-

sibility of health services administrators. Administrators must

create the conditions under which physicians, nurses, and other

health professionals are most productive by drawing together the

needed resources, while making sure that quality and cost control

systems function properly.

Whether or not they are up to the task will in large measure

determine the success or failure of new federal policies where it

counts--in the community.

The sad fact is that management competence in health servic-

es is grossly uneven.

As critical as these positions are to our health care sys-

tem, we know that as many as two-thirds of the nation's health

services administrators lack the professional management skills

needed to deliver quality health services on an equitable and

cost-eflective basis. And while some may argue that there is an

oversupply of health professionals, quite the opposite is true

when it comes to health services administrators.

There are in fact extremely serious management shortages in

HMOs, emergency medical systems, nursing homes, home health agen-

I
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cies, community health centers, and rural hospitals. In fact,

while the Department of Health and Human Services seeks to ter-

minate funding for Health Administration, another arm of the gov-

ernment--the U.S. Department of Labor--has designated health

services administration as the area with the largest unmet need

of the decade.

From a practical standpoint, what does all this mean?

It means that whatever steps you and your colleagues here in

Congress take to contain costs or improve services will be lim-

ited by managers' inability to effectively implement federal

policies.

It means that physicians and other health professionals will

not be fully productive because the settings in which they prac-

tice will not be properly managed.

It means that any efforts you in Congress make to achieve

equity in rural or inner-city health facilities will be hampered,

thereby discouraging practitioners who might otherwise be moti-

vated to serve there.

RECOMMENDATION

To help avoid those problems and ensure a supply of ade-

quately trained health administrators,Mr. Chairman, I am here

today to urge the subcommittee to extend and expand the authori-

zations for two Title VII programs: $3 million for Health Admin-

istration Grants currently authorized under section 791 and $1.5

million for Health Administration Traineeships authorized under

section 791A.
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I realize that such comparatively small sums of money are

easily brushed aside or overlooked. Some are inclined to think

that programs that are this Gmall cannot possibly have any real

impact.

Quite to the contrary, Mr. Chairman.

Both programs have a proven track record of success. Fur-

thermore, both serve to leverage a substantial investment of

matching funds from universities and other sources. Each year,

in fact, the rederal dollars Congress has appropriated have at-

tracted resources well beyond the statutory matching require-

ments--often as much as $8 in private funds for every federal

dollar.

BUt most importantly, Mr. Chairman, these modest programs

represent one of the very few direct line investments the federal

government makes to help strengthen the management of our health

care system. And without appropriate management competence, no

enterprise as large or as important as this country's health care

system can operate effectively.
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Thank you for holding this hearing today. AA you well
know, I an very concerned with the allied health
professional shortage we are currently facing. It frightens
me to think that wh.le I and many of our colleagues are
fighting for comprehensive health care reform for the
millions of uninsured and underinsurod Americans, we do not
have adequate numbers of health professionals to care for
them. Not only are we faced with a shortage, we also must
improve the quality of education and training that our
health professionals today are receiving. One of the
results from a hearing held by the House Select Committee on
Aging, which I chaired, showed that many practicing
profeesienals lack adequate training.

I along with my colleague, Representative Bruce have
introduced the "Allied Noalth Professionals Promotion Aot of
LOW (N.R. 1444). Thin legislation was promulgated by the
findings discussed at the March 4, 1991, hearing, "Long Term
Care Personnel: Incentives for Training and Career
Development". This hearing revealed several problems.
First, no federal funding programs were authorized to
support allied healthedacation during the period of 1981 to
1989. Public Law 100-607, the Health Professions
Reauthorization Act of 1988, authorized $6 million, but only
$737,000 was appropriated for grants and contracts. For
Fiscal year 1991, $1,659,000, was appropriated for grants
and contracts. That money will only make it possible to
provide continuation support for seven grants and perhaps
fund ten new projects.

Another issue we addressed at the hearing was the
effort to incorporate elder care into the allied health
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curriculum. unfortunately, recent attempts to include elder
care into these curriculums have been inadequate and
personnel shortages will persist and worsen unless we take
action now. A startling fact which illustrates the gross
shortages Me are facing was reported by the Institute on
Medicine (IOW). The 10M report, "Allied Health Services:
Avoiding Crises," found that the ratio of FTE physical
therapists to registered nurses is 1:2 in rehabilitation
hospitals compared with 1:43 in acute care hospitals. We
cannot provide access, nor quality care to the 34 million
uninsured and underinsured Americans, much 10q8 strive to
provide quality health care for all Americans i we lack the
allied health professionals.

The final point I want to address which resulted from
the March 4, hearing, is the curricular reform barrier the
shortage is creating. The IOM study concluded that improved
education in geriatric care would: 1) aid in tv retention
of existing practitioners; 2) illuminate the , dards of a
geriatric career for students and augment recruitment; and
3) encourage faculty to engage in geriatric servicm and
clinical research relevant to long term care. I refer to
this study because it emphasizes the need to move forward
with an initiative that addresses the allied health
personnel shortage. It is a shortage which we must address
in the 102nd Conwress. We are hearing more and more about
health care for all Americans and allied health
professionals are a necesssary component of any kind of
health care reform.

H.R. 1466 addresses the problem of the lack of allied
health professional& and insufficient education and
training. This bill whAch I introduced wir., ft-. Bruce
establishes four objectives: 1) provide project vents to
those allied health fields determined by the SecretaLy to be
in short supply; 2) provide allied health student
traineeships; 3) provide advanced training of allird health
personnel; and 4) authorize the establishment within the
Health Resources and Services Administration an Advisory
council on Allied Health. Our goal is to provide $96
million total funding for this initiative by the fiscal year
1994.

We cannot allow these problems to persist.
Procrastination and denial that there is a problem in the
area of the allied health professions will only contribute
to the growing problem. If we are to implement a national
health care system that will provide access to all
Americans, we must build a quality system that works, not a
system where the health care demand exceeds the provider
supply. It must be a system that works because it means
quality and access for all Americans.

Again, I thank you for addressing this issue and giving
me the opportunity to include my remarks. I respectfully
request that this statement be submitted for the record.

4) ,)
t) I) I.
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M. MURTAZA ARAIN, M.D.
CHAIRMAN

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN PHYSICIANS

Chairman Waxman and members of the subcommittee, thank you for

the opportunity to present the views of the International

Association of American Physicians on the Health Professions

Reauthorization.

The IAAP is a coalition group consisting of the American

College of International Physicians, the American Association of

Physicians from India, the Association of Pakistani Physicians of

North America, the Association of Philippine Physicians in America

and The Islamic Medical Association of North America. The /AAP

represents over 40,000 physicians from many countries practicing in

the U.S.

There are currently an estimated 569,000 physicians in the

United States, 130,000 of whom are international medical graduates

(IMGs). These physicians - 23 percent of our nation's medical

doctors - are more likely to serve the disadvantaged and indigent

in inner-cities, State hospitals and VA hospitals than domestic

medical graduates. In Illinois, 33 percent of the practicing

physicians are international medical graduates.

In 1956, dile to physician manpower needs, the Educational

Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates was established. The

ECFMG assesses the qualification of IMGs to enter U.S. residency

training. Since that time, IMGs have filled the gaps of medical

care where USMGs have not been serving. IMGs can be found

2
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disproportionately to be serving in VA hospitals, mental

institutions and inner-city hospitals serving the poor and

uninsured. It is important to note that while 80 percent of IMGs

provide direct medical care, 20 percent serve on the faculty of

U.S. medical schools and teaching hospitals. 50 percent of the

research physicians at the ratioLA' Institutes of Health are IMGs.

These 130,000 internationally trained physicians are legal

residents, most of whom are American citizens. These practicing

physicians nave passed U.S. medical licensing exams
, received

residency training in the United States and obtained a license to

practice in a state.

Studies have shown that there are no discernable differences

in the frequency of litigation involving the two groups and that

the level of patient satisfaction is equal for the two groups. An

exhaustive study by the Journal Medical Care revealed that there

are no significant differences in the performance of USMG and IMG

attending physicians, house staff physicians, or in the ambulatory

care setting. Yet despite the significant contributions to medical

care in this country that we have made, we are subjected to a two-

tiered system of medical licensure.

Mr. Chairman, it has been our contention for several years

that the differences in medical licensure requirements between

domestic medical graduates and international medical graduates have

3
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been used as a discriminatory vehicle to create additional

obstacles in licensure by endorsement for international medical

graduates. Licensure by endorsement is the process whereby a

licensed physician seeks medical licensure in a second state.

There has been one significant change with regard to IMGs

since you last held hearings on health manpower. Organized

medicine has agreed to implement a new single United States

Licensing Examination scheduled to begin next year. This nnw

licensing exam will replace the separate exams (The National Board

of Medical Examiners and the Federation Licensing Examination)

which were previously given to domestic and international medical

graduates. The elimination of all differences in medical licensure

requirements - not just in testing - is the mission °of our

association.

During the last Title VII reauthorization, you asked the

General Accounting Office to look into discrimination practiced by

medical state licensing boards against international medical

graduates. That May 1990 GAO report entitled "Medical Licensing By

Zndorsement: Requirements Differ For Graduates Of Foreign And U.S.

Medical Schools" did recommend that a national repository for

physician credentials be established in order to streamline the

process of state-to-state licensing. Consistent with those

recommendation, the Educational Commission For Foreign Medical

Graduates has worked with the Federation of State Medical Boards

4
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and the American Medical Association in developing a National

Repository for physician credentials. The purpose of this

repository will be to house information relevant to medical

licensure for applicants in order to prevent the interminable

delays experienced by international medical graduates who apply for

licensure by endorsement.

Often a licensed, practicing physician must provide

informat-on to a second state licensing board that has already been

provided to one state licensing board. It frequently takes much

longer for a practicing IMG to process applications for licensure

by endorsement than it does for domestic medical graduates because

of the difficulty involved with providing the requisite information

to state licensing boards from international medical schools.

Document retrieval is often near impossible for IMGs and extensive

delays or minimal notice of opportunity for a hearing by a State

board are not uncommon. In their research, the GAO uncovered the

case of an internationally trained physician who was licensed to

practice in five states yet was denied licensure in a sixth state

because that state's board requested information concerning the

physician's medical school that he or she could not verify. That

is blatant discriminat:Ion because the information asked would not

be asked of a USMG who had been licensed to practice in five

states. This is an example of reciprocity discrimination.

5
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Currently state medical boards place the burden on the

individual physician to prove the equivalency of his or her medical

degree. A clearinghouse for applicants records will streamline the

process for state-to-state licensiag and e41l limit duplicative

state efforts as well as avoid delays for practicing IMGs who seek

licensure in a second state. The repository will make it easier

for states to authenticate and verify educational and training

credential for all physicians.

The IAAP believes that the role of a national repository for

medical licensure applicants' educational backgrounds and

credentials will go a long way toward ensuring high quality health

care to the American public. The function of a national rapository

is to promote fairness in medical licensure by expediting the

process of licensure by endorsement for international medical

graduates as well as for domestic medical graduates.

The IAAP strongly believes that since international medical

graduates will be the principal users and payors of a national

clearinghouse for medical education documentation, appropriate

representatives from the international medical graduate community

should be actively involved in the oversight of the operation and

implementation of such a repository.

While we would prefer a federally operated repository in order

to ensure fairness, we recognize that there is no need for the

6
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federal government to duplicate private sector efforts to create

such a repository. For this reason the IAAP supports a private

organization to administer the national repository. However in

order to ensure fairness, it is absolutely imperative that a

coalition of IMG groups be involved in the process of oversight of

the operation and implementation of the national repository.

Proper oversight would be Lssured by the creation of an HHS

advisory council whose furrtion would be to issue recommendations

to the Secretary on how to oversee the repository and to monitor

the implementation of the repository for its first three years of

operation.

Congressman Mervyn Dymally has introduced legislation in the

House of Representatives which would create an HHS advisory council

consisting of representatives from the FSMB, ECFMG, IAAP, AMA, a

U.S. medical school, an international medical school and any other

organizations deemed necessary by the Secretary of Health and Human

Services. Congressman Solarz is introducing similar legislation

today.

Mr. Chairman, the GA0 report stated that while the.2e is a

consensus on the need for the clearinghouse's concept and design

all relevant groups "agreed to address basic questions, such as

which organization would be best suited for administering the

clearinghouse and what types of information it would maintain."

Other issues such as the prevention of the potential abuses of a

7
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repository and the requisite coordination with state medical boards

must be addressed and implemented in a manner approved by all of

the relevant interest groups to a repository. This advisory

council will provide the proper forum for these very important

issues to be addressed and will ensure that the views of IMGs are

properly eXpressed.

Funding for the actual operation of a national repository for

medical credentials is self-sufficient based on fees assessed to

physicians who are using the service.

H.R. 319 would also prohibit discrimination in state medical

licensure and reciprocity standards by prohiLiting any

discrepancies in requirements by the States between domestic and

international medical graduates. The different licensure criteria

for the two groups is a means of limiting competition.

The IAAP has comprised many cases of disparata treatment of

licensed international medical graduate physicians who applied for

license in another state. These differences included requirements

of extremely expensive and time consuming primary source documents

from medical schools and other institutions many years later, often

when duplicate original documents were available from other

sources. Another example was that some states required a higher

FLEX (Federation Licensing Exam) score of international medical

8
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graduates than the score which is normally required of both

international and domestic graduates.

Another area of discrimination which Congressman Dymally's

bill addresses involves residency training and first time

licensure. Fnr initial licensure, passing the licensing

examination is stfficient evidence that an IMG has medical training

from an institution that has provided the necessary training. Such

training includes providing the current medical literature and

teaching the latest medical progress. Some hospitals and residency

programs state that either no international medical graduate

applicante will be considered or would only be considered with far

superior qualification than USMGs. Quotas have been set for IMGs

in one program in Illinois.

A third area of discrimination addressed by H.R. 319 involves

employment, promotions and hospital privileges. This includes the

improper use of restriction or denial of hospital privileges based

on minimal charges by domestic medical graduates who were

competitors in the community. Many advertisements in medical

journals and other publications limit applications for positions to

Uomestic medical graduates. Although job notices and hospital

privileges that aro denied to IMGs can be fought in the courts on

a case by case basis, we believe that legislation addressing this

aspect of discrimination is necessary.

9
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I would like to make it clear that we do not support

legislation whose purpose is to decrease the standards for

licensure or reciprocity. H.R. 319 would not infringe on the

principle that grants to the people of the States the right to

determine who shall be licensed to practice medicine. It would not

determine what a particular states requires of its licensure

applicants. It would require States to eliminate the discrepancies

in licensure requiremere's that many States have adopted. We want

to eliminate discrimination and the second class citizenry that we

have been experiencing. The enactment of this bill would do that.

Again, we do not wish to infringe on a State's right to set

standards, only to ensure that when a State sets its licensure and

reciprocity requirements that discrimination is not an unknown or

clandestine byproduct.

On April 25 of this year, Dr. James Todd, the Executive Vice

President of the AMA said that separate treatment of IMGs is "a

continued embarrassment to the medical establishment in this

country." And, Mr. Chairman, you will recall that during the 1988

hearings on the reauthorization of the Henith Professions, Dr.

Bryant L. Galusha, then the Executive Vice President of the

Federation of State Medical Boards stated that "The federal

government can play a role in assisting the states in dealing with

the foreign medical graduate." A recent AMA survey of IMGs

indicated that the number one priority of IMGs was the elimination

of discrimination through federal legislative means.

10
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We are greatly encouraged by the implementation of a single

licensing exam for all physicians, by the GAO's recommendation for

a central clearinghouse to maintain and verify information on

licenaure applicants' educational backgrounds and credentials and

by the AMA's implementation of such a clearinghouse. But there is

a great need for a federal role. 74 members of the House and 5

members of the Senate cosponsored IMG anti-discrimination measures

to eliminate differences in licensure requirements. It is now

imperative that the Dymally bill, which would end discrimination

and would establish federal oversight over a clearinghouse for

medical credentials, be enacted.

11
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STATEMENT OF THE

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR CLINICAL LABORATORY TECHNOLOGY

The International Society for Clinical Laboratory
Technology (ISCLT) is pleased to present its views to the
Health Subcommittee regarding the reauthorization of Title
VII of the Public Health Service Act. ISCLT was founded in
1962 and is currently one of three national professional
associations representing laboratory technologists and one of
four private professional organizations which certify
laboratory technologists.

The Committee has already received substantial testi-
mony regarding the acute shortage of clinical laboratory
personnel. This problem is particularly severe in rural and
inner city areas where many of our members are employed.
Studies recently conducted by the American Society of
Clinical Pathologists (ASCP) and The American Society for
Medical Technology (ASMT) find alarming shortages of
laboratory personnel. According to the ASCP survey, vacant
positions have doubled since 1908 and over two-thirds of all
laboratory managers report difficulty filling openings for
medical technologists.

ISCLT strongly supports H.R. 2405 which was intro-
duced by Representative Jim Slattery (D-KS) and 42 other
Members of Congress on May 20. This legislation provides a
comprehensive response to the laboratory technologist short-
age. The bill will help avert an even greater crisis which
is likely to occur if the CLIA '88 personnel rules proposed
by HHS are implemented as drafted.

H.R. 2405 has three major components. Section 2
establishes programs designe'd to attract more laboratory
technologists to rural areas through loan repayment programs
for students and financial assistance for special training
programs. Section 3 requires the Secretary of HHS to develop
a program for accrediting State and nonprofit entities which
certify laboratory personnel. Section 4 directs the
Secretary to develop and administer a competency-based
examination to certify laboratory technologists until such
time as the Secretary has established accreditation standards
for private certifying agencies.

Each of the provisions is critical to the legisla-
tion. In particular, we would like to express our strong
support for reauthorizing the HHS proficiency examination.
The development and administration of an HHS proficiency exam
is supported by over 22 state hospital associations, the
three professional organizations representing medical
technologists, and several major veterans organizations. In
addition, 78 Members of Congress signed a letter to Dr. Gail
Wilensky, the Administrator of HCFA, asking her to conduct
this type of test.

Past examinations offered by HHS have been extremely
effective at reducing the shortage of clinical laboratory
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personnel. Between 1975 and 1987, over 65,000 laboratory
professionals took the HHS exam and 30,799 or 46.9% passed.
A high percentage of the laboratory technologists practicing
today in rural and inner city independent and hospital
laboratories qualified through the HHS exam.

Authority to conduct this exam was eliminated in 1988
for two reasons. First, it was argued that the private
professional organizations could provide an adequate supply
of baccalaureate-aegreed individuals to meet provider's
needs. Second, the claim was made that anyone who wanted to
take the HHS proficiency exam had an opportunity to do so
during one of the seven administrations of the test.
Irrespective of whether or not these claims were legitimate
in 1988, it is clear that they are not valid today. The
shortage of personnel has been thoroughly researched,
documented and reported. Moreover, thousands of individuals
who either have recently graduated from military and other
training programs or who have been practicing in physician's
offices or hospitals, have not had an opportunity to take the
HHS proficiency exam.

In repealing this authority in 1988, the conferees
acknowledged that future exams might be necessary:

". . . there may develop a shortage of such personnel
in the future. If this occurs, the conferee&
anticipate that consideration could be given to the
appropriateness of authorizing a new examination for
such personnel.' House Conference Report No. 100-
661; May 31, 1988.

Moreover, the Energy and Commerce Committee suble-
quently voted to reinssate the exam as part of the 1988
Health Professions Reauthorization Bill. We urge the
Committee to include a similar provision in this year's bill.

Each of the four private certification agencies
currently conduct written examinations as a principal
component of their own certification programs. Clearly these
organizations believe that a written examination can be an
important evaluator of laboratory knowledge, otherwise they
would not require applicants to take these tests. We believe
that these groups, working with the Secretary, can develop an
examination which could be used to assess the laboratory
knowledge of the personnel currently in the field.

The administration of such a test is far superior to
grandfathering all existing personnel regardless of ability,
as some have suggested, or to refusing to allow experienced
laboratory staff to continue to practice their profession.

31,3
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While not a perfect solution, this is a very realistic and
reasonable approach to this problem.

We believe that absent Section 4, this legislation
will not be effective in resolving the current crisis. The
education loan and grant provisions and the private
accreditation provisions are valuable and we hope they will
make a significant contribution toward reducing the long-
term problem. However, they will not provide any immediate
relief to independent labs, community hospitals, and
physician office laboratories.

The administration of additional proficiency sxams is
particularly critical for non-degreed individuais who are
practicing in hospitals and physician offices. Under the old
rule, these laboratory staff had little incentive to take the
HHS exam because it was not required to practice in these
sites. However, under the new CLIA rules, these individuals
will probably lose their jobs. Many of these professionals
have worked their entire careers in laboratories. They
should be permitted the same opportunity as their colleagues
working in independent labs to prove their competency through
a proficiency exam.

For these reasons, we urge you to incorporate H.R.
2405, as introduced, in your reauthorization of Title VII.
This legislation is also supported by:

American Association of Bioanalysts
American Hospital Association
American Medical Technologists
American Society for Medical Technology
House Rural Health Care Coalition
National Vietnam Veterans Coalition
Fleet Reserve Association
Air Force Association
Non-Commissioned Officers Association
Naval Reserve Association

and the following 22 state hospital associations:

Alabama Hospital Association
Arkansas Hospital Association
Colorado Hospital Association
Association of Delaware Hospitals
Iowa Hospital Association
Illinois Hospital Association
Indiana Hospita] Association
Kansas Hospital Association
Kentucky Hospital Association
Louisiana Hospital Association
Massachusetts Hospital Association
Minnesota Hospital Association
Missouri Hospital Association
Montana Hospital Association
Nebraska Hospital Association
Nevada Hospital Association
North Carolina Hospital Association
Ohio Hospital Association
Oregon Hospital Associ,tion
South Dakota Hospital Association
Texas Hospital Association
Washington State Hospital Association.
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National Association of Pediatric
Nurse Associates & Practitioners

Mr. Chairman and distinguished Members of the Subcommittee, my name is

Ruth Mullins. I am a Certified Pediatric Nurse Practitioner (CPNP), Director of the Pediatric

Nurse Practitioner (PNP) program at California State University, Long Beach, California, and

President of the National Association of Pediatric Nurse Associates and Practitioners

(NAPNAP).

My statement is on behalf of the National Association of Pediatric Nurse Associates and

Practitioners which represents over 3,300 pediatric nurse practitioners (PNPs) in the country.

My statement addresses the needs of nursing education programs -- specificrily, nurse

practitioner programs -- as the Committee undertakes the reauthorization of Title VIII of the

Public Health Service Act.

Title VIII

The Nurse Practitioner/Nurse Midwife Program is authorized under Section 822(A) 3f

Title VIII. This program provides grants to assist eligible institutions to meet the costs of

educating nurse practitioners and nurse midwives. Grants are used for programs to train nurse

practitioners and nurse midwives to work in primary care settings and other health care

institutions.

The original purpose of the legislation, dating back to 1964, was to increase enrollments

at the various nursMg schools and to assure the financial viability of schools offering these

programs. Over the years, the legislation has focused on "advanced nurse training" -- i.e.,

PNPs. The need for this program still exists.

Pediatric Nurse Practitioners

PNPs provide basic health care and preventative services to children from birth through

the age of 21. PNPs are critical links in the delivery of primary prevention services to children

who traditionally have no other access to care. They staff well-baby clinics, administer

immunizations, conduct screening programs and b h parenting skills, growth and development,

2
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and nutrition and safety. PNPs can independently manage a broad range of health care needs,

including the management of colds, ear infections and other common childhood diseases, In

addition, PNPs coordinate the management of many chronic iHnesses and can deliver direct care

to those children with stable chronic conditions. In essmce, their practice base extends the

entire spectrum of care delivery for children. PNPs are found in community health centers,

health maintenance organizations (HMOs), primary care centers, private practices, and hospitals

throughout the U.S.

Access to Health Care for Children

You can hardly pick up a newspaper without seeing something about the crisis in health

care -- and its most innocent victims -- children. In fact, recent discussions by Congressional

leaders have indicated that the health and welfare of the children in this nation will be one of

the pivotal domestic programs of this decade. The health care problems of children are

multifaceted ranging from access to health care, the availability of health care providers and

health care delivery to medically underserved populations. Historically, the Congress has

supported pediatric nurse practitioners. As a result, children in medically underserved areas

have received health care that would have otherwise been unavailable to them. On behalf of

these children, we thank you and your colleagues for your past support, and urge that you

maintain and strengthen that support this year as you adi.,ess the pressing problems of children

in our society.

Authorization Requtil

We request a three year authorization of Section 822 as follows:

FY 1992 FY 1993 FY 1994

$23,500,000 $26,332,000 $29,400,000

In addition, we seek further emphasis, through bill and report language, that would

emphasize Pediatric Nurse Practitioner programs. PNPs receive advanced training emphasizing

pediatrics and child health issues. This education provides the basis for PNPs to provide

3
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primary care services without immediate supervision of a physician. Often, this occurs in

medically underserved areas. Studies have found that nurse practitioners provide cost-effective

care and increase the productivity of medical practices. What follows is some background

information on the education of a PNP.

EducatimuLtlitir
A PNP is a registered nurse who has completed an additional formal education program.

The majority of all PNP education programs are at the Masters level. The program content

includes courses in growth and development, family and cultural issues, pediatric physical and

development assessment and the mar-gement of common childhood illnesses and problems. All

programs have a strong clinical component. After graduation, a PNP can obtain professional

certification, which is a confirmation of professional competency.

PNP_Educatlon Progiims

Nurse Practitioner (NP) programs are expensive. Many educational institutions and most

state supported universities cannot support or afford to offer these programs because of the high

costs associated with them. Most programs average 8 16 students per class. The costs are

due mainly to the necessary faculty-student ratios.

Today, there are 44 PNP education programs in the country. Unfortunately, only seven

are receiving federal funding support through the Nurse Education Act funds. Most recently,

three PNP education program applications were approved but notified they will go unfunded due

to a lack of resources.

For the entire Nurx Practitioner and Nurse Midwife traineeship program, the Division

of Nursing expects that there will be about 14 - 18 unfunded but approved grant applications

amounting to about a $2.7 million shortfall. Last year, 13 grants for federally assisted

educational programs were approved and unfunded.

We are appreciative of the support Congress has given the nurse practitioner/nurse

midwife program in the past for both the authorization and appropriations. We also recognize

4
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that the funding levels have not kept pace with the authorization levels. However, in the

appropriation process the nurse plactitionedmidwife program has fared better than most other

nurse educadon programs. Last year's appropriation was over $15 million. However,

according to Division of Nursing Staff, after reductions and expenses are taken oet for

'evaluations" and other expenses, only about $13 million to $14.6 million will be realized for

funding of grants.

Because of the number of meritorious programs that are going unfunded, which could

make a critically important difference in the health care that is delivered to children in medically

underserved areas, we urge Congress to support our authorization level request for the nurse

practitioner/nurse midwife program.

We believe a higher authorization level is needed to increase the pool of money for these

primary health care providers -- nurse practitioners, nurse mid-wives. Such an increase will

help to spread the allocation of monies among the various specialties.

Federal funding for nursing education programs does make a difference! Without such

support, the number of PNPs will decline at a time when the needs of children are ever

increasing. Low birth-weight babies, immunization problems, school screening programs,

substance abuse and child nutrition are but a few examples of problems which PNPs can help

resolve.

nips Role 85 Health Cure Provider

The demand for PNPs exceeds their number. PNP program education directors receive

numerous requests for PNPs to work in a number of settings such as HMOs, schools, private

practices and rural health settings and other primary care centers in medically undeserved areas.

In adeition, there is anecdotal information demonstrating increasing needs for PNPs in urban

areas. For example, in the Los AngelesOrange County area there are currently 15 unfilled

open positions for PNPs.

The profile on America's child health has improved in some areas over the past 40

years; but problems still exist. Injuries have now replaced infectious diseases as a great concern

5
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for the health of children, Motor vehicle accidents, drownings, falls, poisoning, fires and

homicide still remain problems at the top of the list.

Other primary and preventable problems include homicide, suicide, child abuse and

neglect, developmental problems and lead poisoning. Some infections such as influenza and

respiratory illnesses, and asthma, remain major child health problems.

Childhood is the time to focus on human development. A good health plan for children

helps to prevent bad health behaviors, i.e., drug abuse, smoking, alcohol and diet -- and

establishes good healthy behavior.

PNPs are well prepared to focus on these issues as well as mandge and deliver this kind

of health care. PNPs are an integral part of the health care team to provide primary health care

servicts. This concept has been supported by numerous federal agencies and the Federal

government.

Throughout the last 25 years, PNPs have helped to make a difference in children's

health. But, there are only about 6,000 PNPs available to provide this care. Most recently,

the Graduate Medical Education National Advisory Committee (GMENAC) Final Draft Report,

HRSA 240-89-0041, 1991, p.5, highlighted PNPs as a potential contributor to the delivery

of child health care. The GEMNAC report also suggested "the balance of care (child care) is

felt to be ideally provided by non-physician professionals while medical needs would be roughly

50% higher if no care was ever delegated." (GMENAC Final Draft Report, 1991, p. 9). It

also stated that there was a need for more mid-level providers and primary care nurse

practitioners.

SuMmary

PNPs provide access to health care; however, nurses need access to education programs

to obtain the necessary credentials to provide care.

Today, both of these issues are critical to address the acute problems which exist with

this nation's most precious resourcc and hope for the future -- its children.

6
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We respectfully request your favorable consideration in reauthorizing the nurse

practitioner/midwife traineeship program at:

FY 1992

$23,500,000

FY !993

$26,332,000

FY 1994

$29,400,000

We also request that you include language in the bill and report that would assist in

fairly distributing the monies among the various nurse practitioner groups so that the specialty

of pediatric nurse practitioners continues.

Thank you again for this opportunity to present our views.

7
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STATEMENT

OF ME

NATIONAL REHABILITATION CAUCUS

ticalikTrofolionLItainintArlikataimizatian

The National Rehabilitation Caucus (NRC) is a coalition of organizations
representing health care professionals, consumers and institutional, home and
community-based providers of medical rehabilitation services. The Caucus urges
Congress to address the growing shortage of medical rehabilitation professionals during
the reauthorization this year of the Health Professions Training Act (Title VII, Public
Health Service Act). A renewed commitment to the education and training of
occupational therapists, physical therapists, respiratory therapists, speech-language
pathologists, audiologists and other key rehabilitation personnel is essential to stem the
escalating dimensions of vdsting shortages and meet the health care needs of the elderly
and individuals with disabilities in the years ahead.

Legislation has been introduced by Senator Tom Harkin (D-IA) and
Representative Terry Bruce (D-IL) which would expand the existing allied health
education and training authorities contained in Title VII and target resources to areas of
greatest need. S. 694 and KR. 1466 would develop and expand allied health education
program and faculty resources and increase student enrollments in those disciplines
experiencing the most severe shortages and which will be in greatest demand into the
next century. The Caucus strongly urges approval of these proposals during the Title VII
reauthorization process.

Dackground

Hospitals, nursing facilities, home health and rehabilitation agencies and other
service providers are increasingly unable to recruit sufficient numbers of qualified
occupational therapists, physical therapists, respiratory therapists, speech-language
pathologists and other medical rehabilitation professionals to provide essential services.
The skills and services of these professionals are critically important in the provision of
care to the elderly, the chronically ill and individuals with disabilities.

The personnel shortages in these professions are approaching unprecedented
proportions, and will intensify in the years ahead unless Congressional action is
forthcoming to assure the availability of an adequate number of practitioners. A broad
range of authoritative sources provides evidence:

The most recent American Hospital Association (AHA) human resource survey
conducted among hospitals nationwide reveals, for the second year in a row,
serious difficulties recruiting and retaining medical rehabilitation professionals.
The highest staff vacancy rates nationally are 16.4 percent for physical therapists
and 13.6 percent for occupational therapists. Other professions classified as
personnel shortage categories include speech-language pathologists (9.9 percent),
respiratory therapists (8.9 percent) and occupational therapy assistants (8.2
percent). These shortages are being experienced by rural and urban hospitals
alike. Vacancy rates in many individual states have reached such serious levels
that hospitals are responding by reducing seivices, closing beds or units and
diverting patients to other facilities when medically appropriate. These staff
shortages are also confirmed in a staff study conducted by the Prospective
Payment Assess,nent Commission (ProPAC).
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The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) medical system is ezirriencing
even more severe recruitment and retention difficulties. The most recent fiscal
year 1991 data show vacancy rams for physical therapists at 27.3 percent and
vacancy rates for occupational therapists at 18.8 percent.

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' 1990 Annual Report to :he
President and Congress on the Status of Health Personnel in the United States
noted that "...the allied health field is faced with growing shortages of personnel
in a number of critical professional categories, reductions in program enrollments,
closures of training programs, underrepresentation of minorities and shortages in
faculty and trained researchers".

Additional reports from the Institute of Medicine, the U.S. Department of
Education, the Institute on Aging, the American Medical Association, the National
Easter Seal Society and the American Association of Retired Persons underscore the
growing threat these shortages represent to our nation's ability to provide important
health and rehabilitation services.

A principle factor contributing to these shortages is the escalating demand for
services from a population with more individuals surviving into old age, frequently with
chronic conditions or multiple disabilities. According to the 1990 HHS report, "As the
number of elderly increases, the demand for allied health practitioners in a vanety of
fields will rise accordingly, and combined with greater longevity will have a :ignificant
impact on Jemand for practitioners in rehabilitation fielGs such as occupational therapy,
physical therapy, respiratory therapy and audiology." Further, advancements in medicine
and technology have increased the frequency of survival from from accidental trauma or
severely disabling conditions present at birth, thereby heighting demand for services to
enhance functional independence and quality of life.

Future Demand

Future projections illustrate the need for Congress to take action now if a crisis
in health care is to be averted in the years ahead. The National Academy of Sciences'
Institute of Medicine, in a major study conducted in 1988, noted that unless Federal
policymaicers intervene the nation will suffer from a "serious shortage of allied health
professionals". More specifically, the loM projected that the most serious personnel
shortages by the year 2000 could occur in the fields of occupational and physical therapy.

U.S. Department of labor estimates lend further crldence to this warning.
Projections by the Bureau of Labor Statistics indicate that between now and the turn of
the century, the nationwide demand for physical therapists and occupational therapists
will increase by 57 percent and 49 percent respectively, with 34 percent increases for
speech-language pathology and respiratory therapy, and similar increases for other allied
health professionals.

t`"
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Title VII

In addition to significantly incieased demand for services, a serious lack of
focused Federal support for the education and training of alliee health professionals
generally, and medical rehabilitation professionals specifically, has compounded the
personnel shortages currently being experienced. While historically the Title VII health
professions programs represented the prin'ary source of Federal support for the training
of allied health professionals, authorization and appropriations for these programs ended
after 1980. Some modest initiatives to redress this situation were enacted when Congress
reauthorized the Title VII programs in 1988 However, annual authorization levels
targeted to allied health totaled only $6 minim:, and appropriations over the three year
period totaled only $2.3 million.

The educational system for rehabilitation professionals has not been able to meet
the surging demand. This inability to produce an ample supply of qualified practitioners
is caused by a variety of factors including an inadequate supply of faculty, an inability to
increase class sizes because of a lack of resources, a shortage of education programs in
some professions, and a decrease in funds for scholarships to attract students into
programs.

Recommendations

The Caucus strongly urges Congress to build on the modest initiatives
incorporated into the 1988 reauthorization of Title VII by adopting the provisions
contained in the legislation introduced by Senator Harkin and Representative Bruce.
These provisions would target Federal support to those allied health fields or specialties
that are experiencing the most severe personnel shortages. The legislation would also
seek to meet the future needs of the nation's aging population and those with disabilities
by directing support to those fields which play a significant role in the care and
rehabilitation of the elderly or disabled. The proposals will assist in expanding existing
allied health education programs and in the creation of new programs, will address the
shortage of qualified faculty, and will provide incentives for attracting individuals into
key allied health professions.

The specific provisions of S. 694/H.R 1466 are as follows:

Allied Health Project Grants This section would authorize the Secretary of H.H.S. to
make grants and enter into contracts with schools of allied health to assist in the
improvement and expansion of education programs and faculty resources and to assist in
the recruitment of individuals into allied health professions. The Secretary is required
to direct 75 percent of the funds to support programs in those fields or specialties that
have substantial shortages and play a significant role in the rehabilitation of elderly
persons or individuals with disabilities. Authorization levels under this section would be
$7 million in fiscal year 1992, $9 million in FY '93 and $1 1 million in FY '94.

Traineeships for Advanced Training - This section would authorize grants to schools of
allied health to assist them in the development and operation of post-graduate programs
for the advanced specialty training of allied health professionals who plan to teach and
to provide assistance to post-graduate students in the form of traineeships or fellowships.
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Support under this section would be directed to those fields or specialties that have
significant shortages, insufficient numbers of faculty, and a significant role in the care
and rehabilitation of elderly persons or individuals with disabilities. Authorization levels
proposed are $7 million in fiscal year 1992, $9 million in FY '93 and $11 million in FY
'94.

Entry Level Student Traineeships - This section would authorize grants to schools of
allied health to assist students in meeting the costs of entry level education, with 75
percent of thc funds targeted to fields or specialties having the most significant shortages
and a significant role in the care and rehabilitation of the elderly persons or individuals
with disabilities. Authorization levels for this section are $10 million in fiscal year 1992,
$12 million in P./ '93 and $14 million in FY '94.

Advisory Council on Allied Health - The legislation would establish a new Advisory
-ouncil to provide advice and recommendations to the Secretary of H.H.S. and the
Congress on polic!, :natters relating to the education and training of allied health
professionals.

ac-ona n - 91 - 12
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THE UNIVERSITY or- NORTH CAROLINA
Al

(HAM HILL

June 14, 1991

The Honorable Henry A. Waxman
Chailman, Subcommittee on Health

and the Environment
2418 Rayburn Howse Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Waxman:

Ita N eh ( 4/3. (1.64'ef flU
'It?. V. .6 C. of Needle*

?UM NUL 13594-)16S

Or behalf of the Directors of Area Health Education center (AHEC)
Projects serving 34 states, I am sending this statement for the
record to you as Chairman of the Subcommittee on Health and the
Environment. The statement includes two requests relative to the
future of the National AHEC Program a I the Health Education and
Training Center (HETC) Program. aril we ask that the National
AHEC Program and the HETC Program be maintained through the
reauthorization of Title 7 of the Public Health Service Act.
airmid, we ask that modifications be made in the authorization
ievels of both Programs and thnt a new type of AHEC be added to
the authority. These new AHECs would be called "state-supported
AHECs" to indicate that their survival has withstood the
termination of federal AHEC funding by virtue of stable state and
local funding but that they can continue to serve federal goals
for improved access to health care for underserved populations
through the continued availability of modest levels of federal
funds through a matching arrangement.

Taut AREC c3211Q22t

Th,.! AlieC concept WAS set forth by the Carnegie Commission in its
1970 Report, "higher Education and the Nation's Health." Facing
serious erosion in the ability of our nation's rural and inner
city communities to recruit, retain, and keep physicians and
other health professionals up-to-date, AHEC was proposed as a new
type of regionel education and training center that would link
university health scienee centers with underserved comounities in
order to improve access tu health care services. Prior to the
creation of AHECs, outreach by university health science centers
to communities resembled the many spokes on a wheel. It was

tt./ ; )
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apparent that this type of outreach was inefficient and of
limited capacity considering the great number of underserved
communities that could benefit from professional development
activities in as.ociation with the university.

AHECs have drawatically altered the capacity for university
outreach to underserved communitiep on a national scale. Inmofar

a one university health science center may work with five or
more regional centers (AHECs) and insofar as each AHEC Works with
communities in several rural counties or inner city
neighborhoods, it can be shown that the National AHEC Program has
brought saucation and training programs to rural and inner city
communities throughout the nation. Many of these comsunities are
in some of the mopt underserved parts of our nation ranging from
the Mexican border, to the Caribbean Basin, to frontier areas, to
Appalachia, to the inner city area. of Cleveland, Atlanta, Boston
and Miami, and to the vast roaches of Alaska and northern Maine.

AHECs are corporate entitie. based in communities that are
geographically distant from the university health science center.
Most are also administratively separate from universities and
negotiate relationships betwen both the university and community
service agencies to bring educational programs to the community.
Education and training programs cover the continuum of the
educational process for all types of health professionals and
support personnel. Programs ncompass allied health
(e.g., physical therapy, occupational therapy, laboratory
technology, etc.), dentietry, medicine (both allopathic and
osteopathic), mental health, nursing, pharmacy, public health,
social work, etc.

AHEC Accomplishments

Programs are conducted in the following categories:

1. Health Science Student Rotations

Many thousands of medical, nursing, and health science
students are rotated from universities to community
settings each year. These rotations eXpose students to
community practice, to primary care, and to comnunity
practitioners. Since 1972, a generation of students
has held the opportunity to broaden its educational
base, to become involved in interdisciplinary curricula
and to observe community practice because of AHEc.
Several 'Mates have data to show that these activities
have been associated with an increased retention of
students in their states and, specifically, in
underserved areas.
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2. Interns and Residents

3

Thousands of interns and residents have also benefitted
from training in AHEC settings. Some, such as those in
Arkansas and North Carolina, have received their entire
training in AHECs. In other states, residents have
rotated from university hospitals to community
hospitals, community health centers, public health
dmpartments, and/or private practitioners' offices for
parts of their training.

Since these internships and residencies are largely in
the primary care fields of family practice, internal
medicine, pediatrics, and obstetrics-gynecology, the
National AHEC Program has been a mainstay in the
federal strategy not only to increase the number of
primary care physicians but to increase the likelihood
that they will settle in underserved communities. In
North Carolina, for example, for the 177 physicians who
did a primary care residency in an AHEC between 1977-
1988 and who also attended medical school in North
Carolina, 84 percent (149) are practicing in the state
and about 40 percent originally settled in towns of
under 10,000 people. Thio type of accomplishment helps
make the case that AHEC has been responsive to its
Congressional mandate.

3. Off-camous Degrees

While traditional AHEC activities include the rotation
of university-based students to community settings, it
is clear that there are many health practitioners
already at work in underserved communities who would
like to increase their level of education and tiiining
but who are not able to leave their jobs and families
to obtain a higher level degree through studies at a
distant university campus. This situation is tragic
both for the individual and for the community which
does not gain the benefit of the higher level of
services the practitioner could provide.

AHEC has helped overcome this dilemma by bringing
university degree-granting programs to community
settings. Each day, faculty in different parts of the
country travel to AHEC sites to conduct classes that
offer the same degree that is offered to on-campus
students. For example, nursing faculty might travel to
an AHEC site one day per week over three yearr in order
to teach a cohort of 30 practicing nurses come from
a variety of community hospitals, public health
departments, community health centers, public schools,
and nursing homes and who receive their baccalaureate
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degree in nursing after three years of one-day-per-week
study at the AHEC. The nurses never leave their jobs
or their families. The community is enriched even as
the university bas taken another step to become a
university without walls.

4. Continuing Education

One of the challenges facing our underserved
communities is that of helping to keep practitioners up
to date with the latest in medical information and
technology. AHEC helps communities accomplish this.
Each day, AHECs throughout the nation conduct hundreds
of formally organized and professional credit bearing
continuing education programs for all types of health
practitioners throughout their service regions. While
we have no accurate head counts, we estimate that there
are at least one million participants in these
continuirg ducation activities each year. Insofar as
AHECs conduct these programs both at the AHEC site and
in communities throughout their service areas, the
National AHEC Program can demonstrate that thousands of
counties actually have AHEC programs conducted in them
each year. These programs reflect AHEC's ability to
respond to current health issues and needs such as
AIDS, infant mortality, health promotion/disease
prevention, aging, substance abuse and to assist with
the rapid dissemination of the latest in research
findings from NIH funded research. The demonstrated
level of disciplinary and interdisciplinary programming
suggests that AHEC may well be on its way to becoming
one of the major mechanisms for transferring newly
discovered information to practitioners throughout the
nation.

These activities help not only to keep practitioners
up-to-date but also serve as an important form of
professional stimulation for practitioners who would
otherwise be isolated. /t can reasonably be expected
that the prwsence of these educational programs can
help in the recruitment of practitioners to underserved
areas and in their retention once they have set up
practice in an underserved community. Certainly, they
also help keep practitioners up-to-date with the latest
medical information.

5. Technical Assistance

- While it is relatively easy to demonstrate that AllEcs
have been involved in the training of students and
residents and in the provision of continuing education
programs, it is more difficult to demonstrate another
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important activity of the AHECs. This activity is the
provision of technical aesistance or professional
support eervices to practitioners in underserved
communities. Thousands of AHEC-based faculty and staff
have direct communication with practitioners in
underserved communities on a daily basis. These
contacts often result in the provision of
individualized consulthtive services that help
practitioners with their daily problems. Por example,
in many parte of our nation, nursing directors of small
hospitals are chosen from the ranks of practicing
nurses who have done a good job of clinical nursing in
their hospital. Regrettably, most of these new nursing
service directors receive very little in the way of
training on how to make the transition from clinical
nurse to administrative nurse. As a result, they often
do a poor job of administration and often resign in
frustration.

AMC not only helps such nurses through formal
continuing education programs on nursing management and
administration, but, more importantly, brings nurse
consultants to the community hospital or service agency
to help the new nursing director with her specific
needs. This help might include having consultants who
describe how to develop a budget, how to develop a
staffing plan, how to recruit new nurses, how to
improve in-service ducation programs, etc. While it
is impossible to quantify the xtent of these services
that are provided throughout the nation on a daily
basis, testimony from practitioners who receive them
indicate that such services are vital to their
existence and to their retention ir their current
practice location. Through these mechanisms, the AHEC
Program contributes both to the quality and to the
distribution of health services in underserved
communities.

6. Minority HanDoWer Development

One of the special facets in our concern for the
geographic distribution of primary care health manpower
relates to the inadequate number of minority citizens
who have chosen careers as health professionals. one
major focus of AHEC projects throughout the nation has
been to increase the number of native Americans, Afro-
Americans, Hispanic Americans, and other minorities in
health careers.

AHEC projects routinely conduct programs that reach
students at the junior and senior high school levels as
well as mid-career persons to encourage them to
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consider health careers. Most of these programs focus
on the minority population. AHECs conduct health
fairs, summer health careers camps, "shadowing"
xperiences whereby minority students get to follow
practitioners during their daily routines, and other
activities. Many AHECs run programs that help train
high school guidance counselors and health occupation
teachers so they may better orient and recruit students
to heelth careers. Other AHECs have developed health
careers reference manuals and other educational
materials for recruitment to the health professions.

In addition, several AHECs work with their affiliated
health science schools to conduct programs that
increase the retention of minority students once they
have enrolled in a health science school. Many AHECs
also target recruitment activities toward minority
students at the time of their graduation from health
science schools in order to encourage them to practice
in communities in AHEC regions. Testimony has been
received from throughout the country from consumer
action groups as well as from academic ;roups attesting
to the quality and to the importance of these minority
health career development programs conducted by AHECs
throughout the nation.

7. Likrary_sesi_Information Services

The AHEC Program works because it is a bridge between
the academic community and both the rural and
underserved inner city communities through an
intermediary organization called the Area Health
Education Center. Communication and information
exchange are the hallmarks of a successful AHEC
Project. Communication takes many forms and includes
regular visits by faculty to community settings, by
students who study in community settings, and by
community practitioners who visit the academic centers
in order to bring the realities of the work place to
the classroom.

Another kind of communication relates to the flow of
information that derives from the latest findings in
medical and health services research. Libraries and
their associated information services networks have
been developed by many AHECs throughout the nation and
have become the essential underpinning of AHEC's work.
Major library networks linking underserved communities
with AHEc libraries and subsequently with the major
libraries of the affiliated academic health scisnce
center and through them with the National Library of
Medicine have been developed. In several states,
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computer linkages have been formed between AHEC
libraries and the libraries in smaller hospitals,
public health departments, mental health centers,
practitioner offices, and other service delivery sites
throughout the regions.

Literally hundreds of thousands of information
exchanges in the form of inter-library loans, medical
literature searches, etc., take place on a daily basis.
No longer are practitioner, in underserved areas
isolated from up-to-date information. As was noted in
the description of continuing education activities, the
AHEC library and information services networks are
major conduits for communicating the latest information
concerning health care services and technology to
practitioners. In turn, these services help lessen
professional isolation and make it much more likely
that underserved communities can recruit, retain, and
keep health care practitioners of all types up-to-date.

AHEC: Re-authorizine a National Resourcq

Those who are associated with the National AHEC Program believe
that the many activities and accomplishments outlined above
indicate that AHECs have become a national resource for linking
academic centers with underserved communities through regional
education and training centers. But the accomplishments of AHEc
do not reside solely in the program activities already described.

The broad social goal of AHEC is to improve the distribution of
primary care practitioners in underserved communities, and at the
same time, to increase the quality of their practice. Data exist
in several states which show that improvements have been made in
the distribution of primary care practitiners in underserved
communities served by AHEC activities. In addition, some data
exist to indicate that the quality of health care services has
been improved through activities associated with the AHEC
Program.

Regrettably, improvement in complex social conditions such as the
geographic distribution of health practitioner. is nothing that
is usolved overnight and for all times.. Regular attention to
such conditions is Deeded if our underserved communities are not
only to recruit practitioners but to retain them over time.
There will always be an "ebb and flow" in the number of
practitioners in any particular underserved area. For this
reason, communities will forever need to give attention to the
quality of the professional practice environment and to the
recruitment and retention of practitioners within that

t') f ;
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environment. Insofa: as this is likely to be a long term
struggle, especially in view of the Meclining economic base of
rural and inner city America, the network of Area Health
Education Centers that has been created throughout the United
States of Amerina must be viewed as a national resource that must
be protected and nurtured in order to continuously provide
underserved communities with a measure of easistanca previously
unknown to them. In fact, even in face of the str,my support
given by the federal government to community healLti centers, the
National Health Service Corps, primary care training programs and
AHEC during the past five years, there has been, following a
decade of progress, a recent decline in the supply of primary
care practitioners in rural and inner city areas. Many observers
believe the decline would have been substantially greater had it
not been for the activities of primary care training programs,
the National Health Service Corps, the community health centers
and the Area Health Education Centers Program.

Based on the belief that the National AHEC Program has become a
national resource and that thie resource must be continued over
time, just as the federal government has supported community
health centers in underserved communities over time, the
following suggestions are offered relative to the reauthorization
of the National AHEC Program and the HETC Program through Title 7
of the Public Health Service Act. These suggestions have the
support of the AHEC Project Directors from throughout the nation.
They are offered in four categories:

1. The Basic AHE'." Program
2. The HETC Program
3. "State-Funded" AHECs - a new type of AHEC
4. Reauthorization Levels

1. The agsic AHEC Progrem

The Basic MEC Program, as currently authorized in Title 7,
should be reauthorized to allow for continuation of three
types of projects, (a) New Starts, (b) Completion of
Existing Obligations, and (c) Special Initiatives. Within
each of these we have some specific suggestions.

(a) Rev Starts
While medical schools in a few states may still bid for
nen AHEC Projects, it is expected that within the next
thrna to five years most states will have already
gotten into AHEC activities. While the reauthorization
should continue to allow for new starts it seems
reasonable to have the long term funding of AHEC
icognize the fact that fewer new projects will be
forthcoming.
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cOltileation of Existing Obligationg
The Se.:Letary has existing obligations to AHEC Projects
in several statee. The reauthorization must allow for
the completion of these projects. We suggest, however,
that the statute be changed to allow each center within
a given project to have a maximum of six years of
federal "start-up" funding, eliminating the current
policy that allows a maximum of nine years for a given
project regardless of when it brings its various
centers on-line.

At the same time we support making matching
requirements more stringent so that projects must show
a $1.00 match for each $1.00 federal by the seventh
year of the project.

(c) kpecialanitiatives
This is a mell but increasingly critical part of the
AHEC authority. It allows AHEC Projects that (i) have
completed their multi-year cycle of federal funding and
(ii) continue to exist through state and local funds to
bid competitively for small federal AHEC grants over a
one to two year basis. These grants allow the federal
government to continue to use the many AHEC networks it
has so carefully developed in order to have these
networks continue to Meet federal goals for their
target communities.

The Special Initiative Authority has stimulated many
excellent activities that have contributed to improved
access to primary care services for many underse.Ned
population groups. In most instances these modeqt
federal AHEC grants have been substantially enhanced by
their ability to mobilize local and state AHEC
resources to work together to help meet the federal
objectives.

The Special Initiative Authority is facing a serious
challenge, however. Each year, more AHEC Projects
complete their cycle of federal fundinq and become
eligible for Special Initiative funding. In a few
years there will be more projects in this category than
there will be projects that receive federal funding.
It would be tragic for the federal governeent to ignore
the potential these AHEC networks offer to meet federal
goals.

As an example of the unused potential facing the
federal government, we understand that in the most
recent cycle of federal reviews of Special Initiatives
there were about $1.83 million of Special Initiative
proposals that were approved but unfunded. These

fl )
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approved proposals would have allowed several AHEC
Projects to continue to address federal goals for
increased access to health car services for
underserved populations, but now these potential
projects lie dormant.

Therefore, we urge that the AREC reauthorization raise
the authority for Special Initiative to 20 percent of
the funds appropriated for AEISC or to higher percentage
levels if the concept of "state-supported ANECs" is not
authorized (see #4 below).

2. ma HETC Proaram

W believe the HRTC Program should continue in its
established format but we would favor that each HETC Project
require the participation of a School of Public Health if
one exists in the HETC ervice region and if the School
desires to participate.

3. fitatemeugported ANECs: A new_tvRe of AHEC

The first part of this statement was designed to show that
tho National AHEC Program has resulted in the creation of
AHEC networks in everal states that have resulted in a
dramatic increase in the number of medical and health
professions education programs taking place in rural and
inner city areas. Further, the tatement has made reference
to th2 fact that AHEC networks have contributed to the
improved geographic distribution and quality of primer( care
services.

What has not been explicitly stated in the way of an AHEC
accomplishment is that many states and communities have
committd substantial resources to their AHEC projects in
response to the catalytic effect of feeera/ AHEC funds. For
the 21 projects currently receiving fmderal AHEC funding
from the current appropriation of aLout $16 million, there
is a etato/local match that ranges from 25-84 percent for
the various projects. For the 15 projects that no longer
receive federal ANEc funding thare is a wlde range of
state/local :support.

The continuation of many AHEC Projects through state/local
funding confirms the value of the AHEC projects to the
communities they serve. It also shows that the federal
government has the opportunity to capitslite on the
existence of these projects in order to have them continue
to meet federal goals.

e The "State-supported AHEC" authority should allow the
federal government to continue to support AHEC projects
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with matching funds that would provide $1.00 federal
for every $1.00 state not to exceed $250,000 per AHEC
site or $2 million per state, which ever is less.

Through th4 mechanism the federal government would
acquire the leverage to have established AHEC networks
continue to be responsive to federal goals relative to
access to health care services in undermerved areas.
Federal lupport would also give AHEC projects the added
leveragi to amours that states increase, or at least
maintailt, their level of commitment to AHEC.

As not' d arlier, insofar as the problem of access to
health care in underserved areas requires long term
focused attention and insofar as the activities of AHEC
are one important piece of the solution to the problem
it is important to recognize the need to continue to
build upon the AHEC networks so carefully developed by
the federal government. With time it would be exciting
to see a nationwide network of AHECs that have a long
term obligation to address the needs for an equitable
distribution of primary care services and for the
dissemination of the latest medical information to
practitioners while maintaining a focus on the special
needs of the minority population. The "State-supported
AHEC" concept would allow this to happen.

4. Reauthorizetim_Levele

The AHEC Project Directors believe that the following levels
of authorization can be justified by virtue of the
accomplishments and the potential of the National AHEC
Program and the National HETC Program.

A. Desic AHEC

The following display of decreased funding of the
Basic RAMC Authority ie possible only if the
subeequnt proposal for Btate-supported ABICsu in
its& B is authorised. The decremental funding
proposal should be able to cover existing
obligations to AHEC Projects while also
recognizing the smaller number of new starts that
ars expected in coxing years. Special initiative
funding should be increased to 20 percent per
year.

4. FY '92 $20 million
FY '93 618 million
FY '94 $16 million Special initiative 20%
FY '95 $15 miilion
FY '96 $14 million
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- special initiative funding should be increased to
20 percent in ach year

B. Btate-suonarted AHEC

FY '92 $18 million
FY '93 $24 million
FY '94 $30 million
FY '95 $36 million

C. jutm

FY '96 $42 million

FY '92 $ 8 million
FY '93 $12 million
FY '94 $16 million
FY '95 $17 million
FY '96 $18 million

MAIRE_CSASSIA

If the above itea 8, State-supported AN100, is not authorised
then the Basic' ASIC Authority must not doroase as shown above.
Author, it should be increased at an incremental rate over ths
next thr years until ths loState-oupported MICH span be
authorised. At the same time, the Special Initiative Authority
hould lmo increase above 20 percent in moderate increments each
year o as to have th mt amount of the Basic MC Authority
that is available to mow starts and continuing obligations
roughly equal the dearemestal proposal above. The added
increments for Special Initiative Funding recognize th
increasing number of AMIC Projects that will be eligible for
Special Initiative Funding in the ooming yars. Th added
increments will allow these project. to continue to address
national !mod for improved aooess to health care in underserved
MUS.

Thank you for your willingness to consider the many points in
this letter. We have been appreciative of th support you and
he Subcommittee have given us in the past. We believe we have

Cllfilled the mandate given to us by The Congress and we look
forward to continuing to have our AHEC networks meet national
goals relative to access to care in underserved areas.

Sincerely,

Eugene S. Mayer, M.D.
Associate Dean
AHEC Program Director
(Chairman, National AHEC Directors' Legislative Committee)
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STATEMENT OF THE

SOCIETY OF GENERAL INTERNAL MEDICINE

TO THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT

HOUSE ENERGY AND COMMERCE COMMITTEE

JUNE 13, 1991

The Society of General Internal Medicine (SGIM), a national organization

committed to promoting improved patient care, teaching, and research in primary

care general internal medicine, is pleased to make its recommendations concerning

the reauthorization of Title VII of the Public Health Service Act. We are

particularly concerned with Section 784, the General Internal Medicine and

Pediatrics program.

We are grateful for the strong support for primary care training programs

which the Health and Environment Subcommittee has shown through the establishment

and regular reauthorization of Title VII programs. Without this Committee'';

long-standing support, many primary care training programs across the country

would not exist, and the United St es would be facing an even larger deficit of

general internists, pediatricians, and family practitioners than we are currently

experiencing.

Although there was increasing concern during the early 1980's that this

country would soon have an overall surplus of physicians, it has instead become

increasingly obvious that, regardless of the total number of physicians, we halo

a serious dearth of primary care doctors. A study sponsored by the Health

Resources and Services Administration ORSA) in 1990 found that a mismatch exists

belveen the proportion of primary care physicians needed (about 70%) and the

pooportion in practice (about 30%). We are, therefore, particularly concerned

that in its annual survey of graduatirg medical students, the Association of

Americar Medical Colleges has found a decline s4nce 1988 in the number choosing
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primary care careers. Moreover, in the 1991 National Resident Matching Program,

147 fewer U.S. medical school seniors matched than last year, with only 51% of

the primary care positions filled.

In light of its own data on the primary care physician deficit and

repeatedly acknowledged concern about medically underserved populations,

particularly in rural areas, it is surprising that the Administration has not

recommended reauthorization of the primary care residency training programs in

Title VII.

These programs are now more vital to the country than ever as we consider

the future of our health care system. When the Title VII programs were

established more than a decade ago, there was little attention paid to the need

for a restructured health system. Today, however, those concerned with health

care .,;olicy recognize the need for basic changes in a system which, despite its

quality and technological advances, still fails to be accessible or affordable

to millions of Americans. Whatever modifications we adopt for our system of

care, we will need to train more, not fewer, primary care physicians to serve as

the principal source of medical care.

Not only do primary care programs train the physicians we need to meet

supply shortages, but they also provide the specific skills which are critical

to meeting one of the challenges of the high cost of health care. We in general

internal medicine, as do all primary care specialties, teach cost-effective

medical practice to our interns and residents. When hospitalization is required,

our students learn that facilitating the patient's speedy return to independence

is the responsibility of the cost efficient primary care doctor.

Over the past several years, there has been a national recognition that

hospital care is exptive, and most of this care can be better provided in other

settings. Medical care is being moved out of hospitals, and primary care

3E;c.,
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training programs make this change to lower cost settings possible. In general

internal medicine training, our residents spend from 20 to 25% of their time in

ambulatory settings such as community health centers, ambulatory care clinics,

physicians' offices, shelters for the homeless, and making house calls.

In all such programs, residents work side by side with skilled faculty

preceptors who not only supervise their practice experience and case management,

but also serve as role models. These preceptors demonstrate to young physicians

that a career in primary care can be rewarding and intellectually challenging.

Through such training, residents become familiar with the community and become

knowledgeable about its characteristics and problems. Without physicians trained

in this manner, we will not be able to meet the crises, such as rising infant

mortality, drug and alcohol addiction, AIDS epidemic, and the growing need for

geriatric care. These problems must all be solved within the community more than

in the inpatient or nursing home setting.

Medical students also benefit greatly from community-based training.

Studies indicate that positive, rewarding clerkship experiences for third and

fourth year students are important determinants for their ultimate career

choices. Primary care clerkships which provide for closely supervised

experiences under preceptors in both hospital and community practice settings

vitally influence medical student career choices in primary care.

SGIM recommends that this authorization legislation include language

supporting pre-doctoral ambulatory training for medical students in general

internal medicine and general pediatrics. Similar language exists in the current

legislation for family medicine and has been successful. We recommend that these

pre-doctoral clerkships in genera' internal medicine and general pediatrics be

funded at $2 million for FY 1992, $3 million for FY 1993, and $4 million for FY

1994.
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Why should the Federal Government support primary care residency training

when it does not similarly target funds for other medical specialties? The

answers are clear: no other specialty faces such a profound physician shortage

with such potential negative impact on our communities. Moreover, loss of

Federal funding cannot be made up by medical schools or hospitals. Although

primary care medicine itself is cost-effective for society, the training of

residents in outpatient care is expensive, with no mechanism at present for the

teaching institution to recover these costs. Without Federal support, many of

these training programs would be either greatly limited or even terminated.

We are concerned that the Committee is considering the inclusion of HR 2231

in the reauthorization for Title VII residency training programs in general

internal medicine and general pediatrics. This bill has been introduced by

Representative Jim Cooper. It would prohibit institutions from receiving Title

VII training funds for general internal medicine or pediatric residency programs

if they do not have clinical instruction programs in family medicine.

SG1M is strongly opposed to this provision for the following four reasons:

I. The average Title VII grant of $120,000 per hospital-based residency

training program in internal medicine or pecEatrics will have no

influence on decisions regarding the development of departments of

femily medicine at the affiliated medical schools.

2. Family oriented training is a well-established part of primary care

curricula in the primary care residency programs of general internal

medicine and general pediatrics.

3. This stipulation will reduce the total number of primary care

training programs in the nation and could eliminate some of the most

successful primary care residency and faculty development programs

in general internal medicine and general pediatrics.
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4. This provision would set a precedent of the Federal Government

determining medical education curriculum.

During the process of reauthorization this year, a very cordial

collaboration has been developed among the representatives o the societies

mentioned above and also the American Academy of Family Physicians, the American

College of Physicians, the Association of American Medical Colleges, and thd

Association of Professors of Medicine. Given the primary care crisis, it is

vitally importan, chat this collaboration continue. The legislation proposed by

Representative Cooper will seriously complicate such collaboration and therefore

SUM opposes it for all of the reasons listed.

SGIM is in no way opposed to family medicine training. Indeed, SGIM has

been collaborating closely with leaders from family medicine Leaders from the

three primary care disciplines have been collaborating closely for a number of

years. This collaboration has resulted in the creation of a joint certifying

2xamination in geriatrics, in collaborative programs for faculty development, Id

in joint participation at the Annual Meetings of three primary care societies

(the Society of General Internal Medicine, the Society of Teachers of Family

Medicine, and the Ambulatory Pediatric Association). This collaboration has not

only strengthened general internal medicine and general pediatrics, but it has

also strengthened departments of fami'y medicine.

SGIM is also concerned about a proposal advanced by the Administration to

pha:e out the HEAL loan programs. We are strongly committed to the principle

that America's physicians should be drawn from all sectors of the population.

This principle was articulated by John Millis in his report entitled "A Rationai

Public Policy for Medical Education and its Financing", in 1971. While the HEAL

loans are the loans of last resort because of their high interest rates and

payment requirements, these loans do make it possible for bright students from
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all socio-economic backgrounds to attend medical school. Unless expanded funds,

or new programs are initiated, cancellation of this loan program will limit

careers in medicine to individuals from middle and upper class economic

backgrounds. SGIM believes that all qualified students regardless of their

families' incomes should be able to pursue medical careers. The Federal

Government should be expand4ng financial aid alternatives, not eliminating them.

The Federal Government and the institutions training the next generation

of health professionals must continue the partnership to reduce the 'deficit of

primary care physicians and meet the health care needs of our local communities.

Although achieving this will entail an increased financial commitment, we are not

asking Congress in this period of limited financial resources to assume a

disproportionate share of the cost of achieving our mutual goal. Over the life

of the reauthorization we seek a $16 million increase, $9 million of the increase

to fund a new pre-doctoral clerkship program as mentioned. Specifically, we

request the Committee to authorize the following levels: for FY 1992 $27

million; FY 1993 -- $31 million; FY 1994 -- $36 milfion. We strongly believe

that the goal to meet the national primary care shortage justifies this moderate

increase in general internal medicine and general pediatrics funding, and we

respectfully urge the Subcommittee to adopt these authorization levels.

9 I*, 0
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Statement of

the

Society of Nuclear Medicine Technologist Section

The Society of Nuclear Medicine Technologist Section strongly supports the reauthorization

of Title VII of the Public Health Service Act and appropriations necessary to revitalize

essential training programs for the allied health professions. The Society of Nuclear

Medicine is a scientific organization of over 10,000 members, including 5,000 members of

the Technologist Section.

Nuclear medicine is the medical specialty that uses small amounts of radioactive materials

for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. There are approximately 10 million diagnostic

nuclear medicine procedures performed annually in the United States. One of every three

hospital inpatients is likely to undergo a nuclear medicine procedure. The nuclear medicine

technologist (NMT), under du supervision of a physician, directs or participates in the daily

operation of the nuclear medicine department. The responsibilities of the NMT are varied

and include: preparing and administering radiopharmaceuticals; positioning patients for

imaging procedures; interacting with patients; operating nuclear medicine equipment;

maintaining radiation safety; analyzing biologic specimens; computer data analysis and

performing quality control measurements.

The decline in the number of allied health professionals, compounded by an increased

demand, has created a crisis situation in the American health care system that threatens

access to quality medical care. This crisis is also apparent in the field of nuclear medicine

as hospitals and training programs have been unable to achieve their goals ii recruitment

and reention efforts for qualified nuclear medicine technologists at a critical time when the

available technology has greatly enhanced diagnostic and therapeutic capabilities.
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According to statistics from the Joint Review Committee on Educational Programs in

Nuclear Medicine Technology, for the academic year 1988 - 1989, the enrollment was

approximately 73% of student capacity. Data for 1990 from the Committee on Allied

Health Education and Accreditation indicates that there are 110 accredited nuclear medicine

technology programs, a decrease of 22% from 1985. The Nuclear Medicine Technology

Certification Board (NMTCB) reported that for the period 1985 - 90 there has been an 18%

decrease in the number of applicants taking and passing its examination. Ultimately,

decreases in enrollees and prospective examinees result in fewer practitioners.

In 1987, the Technologist Section conducted a survey of the directors of departments of

nuclear medidne to determine the impact of the Prospective Payment System (PPS) on the

delivery of nuclear medicine services. Over 34% of the respondents required more than

three months to fill a technologist position. Forty-three percent (43%) of the respondents

indiceted that there had been a decrease in the supply of nuclear medicine technologists in

their area. In regard to the perception of the supply of nuclear medicine technologists in

their geographic area, 57% of the respondents perceived a shortage as compared to 19%

in 1984 in the Technologist Section's Human Resource Survey. similar responses are

reflected in the American Hospital Association's (AHA) 1989 Survey of Human Resources.

According to the AHA survey, the full-time vacancy rate for nuclear medicine technologists

is 8.9%; seven percent is the baseline used in the survey to define a shortage. It is

interesting to note that the U. S. Labor Department projected a 30% increase in jobs in the

U. S. between 1988 and 2000 for nuclear medicine technologists.
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Since the advent of the Prospective Payment System in 1983, cost control has become a

decisive factor in hospital management. These changes in reimbursement and a shift in

utilization from inpatient to outpatient diagnostic imaging centers have contributed to the

shortage of qualified nuclear medicine technologists with the closing of hospital based

training programs which am recorded as nonrevenue producing. Technological advances

have resulted in an increase in the types and complexity of diagnostic imaging procedures

being performed. Nuclear medicine exams are cost effective diagnostic tests and are

expected to be utilized even more in the future, given the cost control initiatives implement-

ed by health care providers and insurers.

The Society of Nuclear Medicine Technologist Section has been active in developing and

implementing recruitment strategies that promote and market nuclear medicine technology

as a career through public relations activities and the development of scholarship funds.

However, Federal assistance is necessary to aid individual educational prograuts in

implementing their own recruitment efforts. In addition, Federal assistance is needed to

help nuclear medicine schools recruit and retain qualified faculty. The Technologist Section

is offering assistance in this area by sponsoring workshops each year for educators, focusing

on topics such as clinical evaluation, curriculum development, and faculty development and

retention.

As quality of care and access to health care are dominant ihemes in the heaith care delivery

system, consideration must be given to the implications of the decreased number of nuclear

medicine technologists. Specifically, as the patient population ages, more nuclear medicine

procedures will be performed to detect cancer, neurological diseases and cardiac diseases.

3
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Significant implications in the clinical applications of radioisotope imaging have evolved in

the last decade as a result of new indications for established radiopharmaceutical procedures,

the refinement of imaging modalities and the approval of new radiepharmaceuticals. NMTs

will require additional training in order to perform the more complex procedures. The

current shortage of NMT's aggravates this problem, and if allowed to persist, will severely

curtail the provision of critical medical services.

The Technologist Section is gravely concerned about the declining applicant r,ol of qualified

nuclear medicine technologists. We fully support the recommendations of the American

Society of Allied Health Professions (ASAHP) for fiscal year 1992 to reauthorize and amend

Title VII of the Public Health Service Act:

Entry-level education traineeships ($12 million) -- grants to educational

programs to assist students in meeting the costs of entry-level education;

Advanced-level traineeships ($12 million) -- grants to training centers for

doctoral programs and traineeships to doctoral or post-doctoral students;

Grants and Contracts ($12 million) -- comprehensive program to benefit

academic and clinical researc'n initiatives;

A lied Health Research ($20 million) support for innovative research

projects, including projects to Onielop the basis for practice in allied health

professions;

Coc,-rulission on Allied Health ($1.5,million);

4
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Allied health data system ($5 million) -- create a comprehensive and uniform

national database to monitor trends in allied health manpower and education

and to make projections on allied health requirements in the Hum;

Division of Allied Health within the Bureau of Health Professions (5 full-time

equivalent personnel) -- in conjunction with the Commission on Allied

Health, to represent the allied health professions and advise Federal agencies

and congressional committees.

The Society of Nuclear Medicine Technologist Section believe that the manpower shortage

is the greatest issue currently facing nuclear medicine technology. We urge your support for

a comprehensive federal initiative. We believe there should be equity in the Federal

government's support for the training of all health care professionals: allied health

practitioners as well as physicians. An immediate response to this problem must be

forthcoming to remedy the current manpower dilemma aid deter a potentially more serious

manpower shortage in the future.

5
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Written Testimony

Honorable Congreuman Henry Waxman
Chair - Subcommittee on Health and the Environment

J. F. Winterstein, D.C.
President

The National College of Chiropractic
Lombard, Illinois

Mr. Chairman, I am grateful for the opportunity to contribute my perspective on the Student
Loan Reauthorization process, particularly as it relates to the chiropractic profession. For
me and for those whom I represent, specifically the students of The National College of
Chiropractic, this is of great significance.

First, allow me to clearly state that I support reauthorization of the educational loan
programs that currently exist. Furthermore, I believe that it would be totally inappropriate
for Congress to pursue the recommendation of the administration regarding exclusion of
Podiatry and Chimp actic students from the HEAL program for reasons which are ostensibly
based upon the excessive default rates of the graduates of these professions. While I do not
wish to excuse the defaults of chiropractic students, I am confident that the full picture on
defaults is not known at this time because there is little experience upon which to judge the
potential defaults that will ensue from graduates of allopathic colleges. In short, I urge you
not to judge any particular profession too harshly before all of the facts are in evidence.
Frankly, it seems the Chiropractic profession has too often been given "short shrift," and I
hope it does not happen once again.

I cannot, of course, speak for graduates of podiatric medicine; however, I am well aware of
the major efforts that have been made through the Association of Chiropractic Colleges,
working in league with Mr. Michael Henningberg toward the reduction of defaults in the
chiropractic profession. I do not know to what extent other professional colleges or to what
extent proprietary schools have worked to address the default rates in their respective loan
programs, but this has been an effort by the Association of Chiropractic Colleges for several
years.

I fully recognize the significance of any defaults within government programs, be they
student loans or federally insured savings and loan institutions, and I for one want to
participate in the solution for such problems. It is to this end that I nave attached a copy
of the HEAL Default Reduction Policy of The National College of Chiropractic. We believe
that there are contributions that can be made by the institutions, and we are committed to
making those contibutions.

With your indulgence, I would make a few other suggestions:

1. Chiropractic physicians should he given the opportunity to perform public
service in exchange for federal loan forgiveness.
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2. Chiropractic students should be included in the Health Professions Subsidized
Loan (HPSL) program, a program from which they have been excluded from
the beginning while all other health profession's students have been included.
It seems to me that there would be little to loose by making this change
inasmuch as only those institutions with a default rate of 5% or less are
permitted to participate in HPSL, in any case.

3. The HEAL repayment schedule is not equitable for gaduates of chiropractic
colleges inasmuch as the repayment begins on the day they graduate with no
opportunity for obtaining licensure, a process that often consumes a full year.
This should be rectified by extension of the grace period and by requiring
repayment to begin within one year from graduation.

4. There is evidence that some of the large guarantors of HEAL loans actually,
in a way, encourage defaut because in so doing, thcy can turn the loan over
for government collection. Some of our graduates have actually been told that
this happens. The result is a lack of re-enforcement by the lending agency
and the guarantor of the significance of personal responsibility in the
repayment of these loans.

5. I believe it would be appropriate for you to consider increasing the SLS
program to provide students with $10,000 per year rather than the $4,000 that
is currently allowed.

6. Reform, I believe, is necessary and certainly valuable not only to the Federal
government but also to the student who must learn the necessity of personal
responsibility for debt. As a college president, I am willing to participate in
these needed reforms but, at the same time, I would ask that acceptable
default rates be "phased in" so that our students, our colleges, and our
profession will not be ravaged by abrupt discontinuation of the relevant loan
sources such as HEAL

Mr. :hairman, I thank you again, and I assure you that if there is any other way that I can
be of assistance, I will make every effort to do so.

Respectfully submitted,

. Winterstein, D.C.

5 (_-) O4 8 4 )
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